"NO WORDS FOR FEELINGS, YET!". EXPLORING ALEXITHYMIA, DISORDER OF AFFECT REGULATION AND "MIND-BODY" CONNECTION

EDITED BY: Domenico De Berardis, Michele Fornaro and Laura Orsolini PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychiatry







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

> The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-034-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-034-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

"NO WORDS FOR FEELINGS, YET!". EXPLORING ALEXITHYMIA, DISORDER OF AFFECT REGULATION AND "MIND-BODY" CONNECTION

Topic Editors:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy Michele Fornaro, New York State Psychiatric Institute (NYSPI), United States Laura Orsolini, University of Hertfordshire, United Kingdom

Citation: De Berardis, D., Fornaro, M., Orsolini, L., eds. (2020). "No Words for Feelings, Yet!". Exploring Alexithymia, Disorder of Affect Regulation and "Mind-Body" Connection. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-034-6

Table of Contents

- 05 Editorial: "No Words for Feelings, Yet!" Exploring Alexithymia, Disorder of Affect Regulation, and the "Mind-Body" Connection Domenico De Berardis, Michele Fornaro and Laura Orsolini
- Prediction of Depression Scores From Aerobic Fitness, Body Fatness, 09 Physical Activity, and Vagal Indices in Non-exercising, Female Workers Laís Tonello, Iransé Oliveira-Silva, André Ricarte Medeiros, Arthur Ney Alves Donato, Felipe Barreto Schuch, Lars Donath and Daniel Boullosa
- 18 Motivated Cue Integration in Alexithymia: Improving Interoception and Emotion Information Processing by Awareness-of-Sensation Techniques Idit Shalev
- 23 A History of the Alexithymia Concept and Its Explanatory Models: An **Epistemological Perspective**

Francisco López-Muñoz and Francisco Pérez-Fernández

31 Alexithymia and Treatment Outcome in Anorexia Nervosa: A Scoping Review of the Literature

Carla Gramaglia, Eleonora Gambaro and Patrizia Zeppegno

- 41 The Mediating Effect of Alexithymia on the Relationship Between Schizotypal Traits and Sleep Problems Among College Students Qianwen Ma, Xiaoxiang Zhang and Laiguan Zou
- 48 Quadratic Relationship Between Alexithymia and Interoceptive Accuracy, and Results From a Pilot Mindfulness Intervention Rachel V. Aaron, Scott D. Blain, Matthew A. Snodgress and Sohee Park
- 59 Emotional Awareness Correlated With Number of Awakenings From Polysomnography in Patients With Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome—A Pilot Study

Indre Bileviciute-Ljungar and Danielle Friberg

67 Interoceptive Abilities in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases and Irritable Bowel Syndrome

Alicia Fournier, Laurie Mondillon, Olivier Luminet, Fréderic Canini, Nicolas Mathieu, Anne Sophie Gauchez, Cécile Dantzer, Bruno Bonaz and Sonia Pellissier

80 Using the Body When There are No Words for Feelings: Alexithymia and Somatization in Self-Harming Adolescents

Alessia Raffagnato, Caterina Angelico, Perla Valentini, Marina Miscioscia and Michela Gatta

90 The Impact of Alexithymia on Treatment Response in Psychiatric **Disorders: A Systematic Review**

Federica Pinna, Mirko Manchia, Pasquale Paribello and Bernardo Carpiniello

111 Rates of Alexithymia and Its Association With Smartphone Addiction Among a Sample of University Students in Egypt

Hussien Elkholy, Mahmoud Elhabiby and Islam Ibrahim

- **117** Alexithymic Traits and Hair Cortisol Concentrations in Pregnant Women Jani Kajanoja, Max Karukivi, Paula Mustonen, Noora M. Scheinin, Susanna Kortesluoma, Ana João Rodrigues, Hasse Karlsson and Linnea Karlsson
- 124 Panic Disorder as Unthinkable Emotions: Alexithymia in Panic Disorder, a Croatian Cross-Sectional Study

Daniela Šago, Goran Babić, Žarko Bajić and Igor Filipčić

133 More Than Words Can Say: A Multi-Disciplinary Consideration of the *Psychotherapeutic Evaluation and Treatment of Alexithymia* Patrice Duquette





Editorial: "No Words for Feelings, Yet!" Exploring Alexithymia, Disorder of Affect Regulation, and the "Mind-Body" Connection

Domenico De Berardis^{1*}, Michele Fornaro² and Laura Orsolini^{3,4}

¹ NHS, Department of Mental Health, Psychiatric Service for Diagnosis and Treatment, Hospital "G. Mazzini", Teramo, Italy, ² Section of Psychiatry, Department of Neuroscience, Reproductive Sciences, and Dentistry, Federico II University, Naples, Italy, ³ Section of Psychiatry, Department of Clinical Neurosciences/DIMSC, Polytechnic University of Ancona, Ancona, Italy, ⁴ Psychopharmacology, Drug Misuse and Novel Psychoactive Substances Research Unit, School of Life and Medical Sciences, University of Hertfordshire, Hatfield, United Kingdom

Keywords: alexithymia, emotional regulation, mind-body connection, affective dysregulation, psychosomatic and emotional difficulties

"No Words for Feelings, Yet!" Exploring Alexithymia, Disorder of Affect Regulation, and the

Editorial on the Research Topic

"Mind-Body" Connection

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Stephan Zipfel, University of Tübingen, Germany

***Correspondence:** Domenico De Berardis

domenico.deberardis@aslteramo.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 10 August 2020 Accepted: 31 August 2020 Published: 18 September 2020

Citation:

De Berardis D, Fornaro M and Orsolini L (2020) Editorial: "No Words for Feelings, Yet!" Exploring Alexithymia, Disorder of Affect Regulation, and the "Mind-Body" Connection. Front. Psychiatry 11:593462. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.593462 "Unexpressed emotions will never die. They are buried alive and will come forth later in uglier ways." (Sigmund Freud)

The term "alexithymia" was introduced by Peter Sifneos in 1973, to designate a cluster of cognitive and affective characteristics that were observed among patients with classical psychosomatic diseases (1). The alexithymia construct was further expanded over the years, resulting from many clinical investigations (2, 3). The construct is multifaceted and dimensional and includes several distinct characteristics: (a) difficulty in identifying and describing feelings, (b) difficulty in distinguishing feelings from the bodily sensations, (c) diminution of fantasy, and (d) concrete and poorly introspective thinking (4). The persons with alexithymia may show affective dysregulation, the inability to self soothe, and manage emotions because of a lack of awareness of emotions (5). Therefore, the adaptive informational meaning of emotions that is essential for emotion regulation often lacks in these individuals (6).

These cognitive features have been ascribed to a compromised capability to elevate emotions from a sensorimotor level of experience to a representational level, where they can be used as signaling reactions to internal or external events and moderated by psychological mechanisms (7). It has been demonstrated in several studies that often persons with alexithymia show significantly higher levels of psychological distress than persons without alexithymia and may develop "functional" somatic symptoms and complaints (8).

As a distinctive trait, the classical features of alexithymia are more evident during meaningful social interactions with high emotional valence (9). The affect-avoiding relational pattern behavior exhibited

by the persons with alexithymia is habitually maladaptive. It may stimulate problems and conflicts in significant relationships, finally subsidizing the risk of the emergence of psychiatric symptoms such as depression and anxiety (10).

Moreover, alexithymia is a relatively stable personality trait, enhancing vulnerability to depressive symptoms, and is generally associated with a higher risk of death for several causes (suicide, accidents, injury, or violence) and is accompanied by an affective dysregulation (11, 12). The affective dysregulation may further impair emotion recognition, further increasing the risk of impulsive/addictive behaviors and the emergence of suicidal ideation and behaviors (13).

As an ideal introduction to the Research Topic, López-Muñoz and Pérez-Fernández provided a comprehensive and intriguing history of the alexithymia concept. They pointed out that the alexithymia construct may be understandable when observed from an epistemological perspective, and it mainly involves a rerun of the age-old conflict between basic and applied science, which in this case takes the form of a confrontation between the therapist's clinical reflection and the critical judgment of experimental methodology.

Alexithymia is the quintessence of impairment of "mind-body connection," and its recognition is crucial in everyday clinical practice to develop ad hoc interventions, considering that persons with alexithymia and concurrent psychiatric disorders are often treatment-resistant (not only to pharmacotherapy but also to psychotherapy) (14, 15). Concerning this point, several papers have explored the issue of treatment resistance and possible interventions. Pinna et al. performed a systematic review to evaluate the shreds of evidence on the role of alexithymia role in influencing the treatment outcome in several psychiatric disorders. They found that the existing data tend principally to correlate low baseline, and/or post-treatment levels of alexithymia and/or an improvement in levels of alexithymia throughout treatment, with a more satisfactory outcome of the treatment of the psychiatric disorders considered. Following this observation, Gramaglia et al. reviewed the treatment outcome in Anorexia Nervosa (AN) in terms of changes in alexithymia as assessed by its most commonly used self-report measure, the Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS). They found that a relevant percentage of persons with AN and comorbid alexithymia reached only partial recovery following treatment. Therefore, the identification of outcome predictors such as alexithymia is essential, as well as that of treatments specifically targeting such predictors.

Accordingly, one can argue that pre- and during-treatment interventions aimed to reduce alexithymia levels may be somewhat beneficial to achieve an excellent therapeutic response (16, 17). Aaron et al. assessed the relationships between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy and sensibility in a sample of healthy young adults and the outcomes of a brief mindfulness-based body scan intervention. The results showed that higher alexithymia levels might be associated with either relatively high or low interoceptive accuracy. They also showed that the meditation mindfulness-based body scan intervention did not result in improved interoceptive accuracy or sensibility above and beyond that of a control group. Therefore, improvements in interoceptive accuracy, interoceptive sensibility, and emotional awareness may require longer or more interactive intervention approaches.

Interestingly, in a Perspective Article of this Research Topic, Shalev suggested that clinicians and neuropsychologists could help individuals who suffer from alexithymia by coaching them to use awareness-of-sensation practices. She argued that these techniques might promote relaxation or self-acceptance, also facilitating interoceptive improvement through an improved distinction between bodily perceptions and psychological interpretation. Besides, as demonstrated by Fournier et al., difficulties in interoceptive abilities (DIA) were predictive of the presence of irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), suggesting that when faced with a new stressful situation, patients in remission would have difficulty in perceiving their internal body changes and thus would have difficulty properly regulating their emotions. On the other hand, in the Crohn's disease group, difficulties in describing feelings dimension of alexithymia were found a predictor of the presence of this disorder. In contrast, in the Ulcerative Colitis group, predictors seem to belong more to the physiological sphere rather than alexithymia. These results were encouraging and opened new perspectives for the healthcare of patients with gastrointestinal diseases, such as the use of Cognitive Behavioral Therapy. Duquette presented a very interesting case series describing the disturbances in emotional awareness in alexithymia, trying to integrate psychotherapeutic and neuroscience findings. Considering the current advances in neuroscientific theory and its application to psychotherapy, she argued that persons with alexithymia should be trained and enhanced in the ability to switch their attention between: their inward interoceptive sensations flexibly; exteroceptive sensory signals from the world, in the present moment (i.e., the context); and their own usual and deeply held prior beliefs about the causes or meanings of sensations.

Several contributions in this Research Topic also aimed to evaluate alexithymia in clinical and non-clinical samples, further contributing to its understanding.

Concerning non-clinical samples, Elkholi et al. evaluated the rates of alexithymia and its relationship with smartphone addiction in a cross-sectional study on a sample of 200 university students and found a strong association between both. These results were consistent with most of the previous literature that pointed out that persons with alexithymia tend to regulate their emotions through several forms of addictive behaviors. Kajanoja et al. examined the relationships of alexithymia and hair cortisol concentrations (HCC), a measure of long-term cortisol levels, and a biomarker for chronic stress in pregnant women. They found that among pregnant women, moderate to high alexithymia was associated with elevated HCC levels, and this association was driven by the subjective difficulty in identifying feelings (DIF) dimension of alexithymia, the only associated with HCC in the whole sample, after controlling for potential confounders. These results are in line with the so-called "stress-alexithymia hypothesis" (18, 19). Ma et al. explored the relationships between schizotypal traits, alexithymia, and sleep problems in 2,626 first-year students of a medical university. They found positive correlations between schizotypal traits,

alexithymia, and sleep difficulties, although alexithymia was found to mediate the relationship between schizotypal traits and sleep difficulties partly. They also suggested that training the ability to express emotion may be capable of improving the sleep quality of persons with higher schizotypal traits.

Concerning clinical samples, Raffagnato et al. evaluated 134 adolescents with "nonsuicidal self-harming, or self-injury" (NSSI). They found that individuals who engaged in NSSI had more problems in the internalizing and externalizing domains than the control group, and internalizing disorders (and affective disorders in particular) was the factor that most strongly characterized the clinical group. Moreover, self-harming persons had more severe somatic disorders and alexithymia. These findings demonstrated that alexithymic traits are linked to the use of the body instead of words to express emotion in the case of psychological disease and may explain body NSSI when the emotional dysregulation and negative feelings are overwhelming. Bileviciute-Ljungar and Friberg investigated the connections between the alexithymia (using the TAS-20) and the level of emotional awareness, as well as depression and anxiety, with objective sleep parameters from polysomnography in patients with myalgic encephalomyelitis/ chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS). The results of this pilot study indicated a biological mechanism such as sleep fragmentation that may affect emotional awareness.

Moreover, they hypothesized that alexithymia and emotional awareness might have different associations with sleep and probably are regulated in different ways, though overlapping each other. On the other hand, Šago et al. assessed the difference in the prevalence of alexithymia in panic disorder (PD) and other anxiety disorders (OAD). They found that the prevalence rate of alexithymia in PD was 27%, and the difficulty identifying feelings (DIF) subscale scores of TAS-20 DIF was significantly higher in the PD group than in the OAD. Because of these results, they

REFERENCES

- Sifneos PE, Apfel-Savitz R, Frankel FH. The phenomenon of 'alexithymia'. Observations in neurotic and psychosomatic patients. *Psychother Psychosom* (1977) 28:47–57. doi: 10.1159/000287043
- De Berardis D, Vellante F, Fornaro M, Anastasia A, Olivieri L, Rapini G, et al. Alexithymia, suicide ideation, affective temperaments and homocysteine levels in drug naive patients with post-traumatic stress disorder: an exploratory study in the everyday 'real world' clinical practice. *Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract* (2020) 24:83–7. doi: 10.1080/13651501.2019.1699575
- Serafini G, De Berardis D, Valchera A, Canepa G, Geoffroy PA, Pompili M, et al. Alexithymia as a possible specifier of adverse outcomes: Clinical correlates in euthymic unipolar individuals. J Affect Disord (2020) 263:428– 36. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.10.046
- Taylor GJ. Alexithymia: concept, measurement, and implications for treatment. Am J Psychiatry (1984) 141:725–32. doi: 10.1176/ajp.141.6.725
- Taylor G, Bagby M, Parker J. Psychological-mindedness and the alexithymia construct. Br J Psychiatry (1989) 154:731–2. doi: 10.1192/bjp.154.5.731c
- 6. Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Parker JDA. What's in the name 'alexithymia'? A commentary on "Affective agnosia: Expansion of the alexithymia construct and a new opportunity to integrate and extend Freud's legacy". *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2016) 68:1006–20. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.05.025
- Meza-Concha N, Arancibia M, Salas F, Behar R, Salas G, Silva H, et al. Towards a neurobiological understanding of alexithymia. *Medwave* (2017) 17: e6960. doi: 10.5867/medwave.2017.04.6960

argued that higher rates of alexithymia in PD might reflect a person's disposition to tighten their emotional experience to elude affect-based psychological sensations. These results are in line with those of previous studies on PD (20, 21).

As an ideal conclusion of the present Research Topic, the paper by Tonello et al. explored fascinatingly the "mind-body connection" and investigated the relationships between depression and objective measures of body fatness, autonomic indices, cardiorespiratory fitness and physical activity levels in 35 non-exercising women. They found that that cardiorespiratory fitness was the best predictor of depressive symptoms independently of body fatness, with maximum oxygen consumption (VO2max) and the sum of skinfolds moderately related to depression scores and VO2max the only independent predictor of depression in several stepwise multiple linear regression models.

In conclusion, all the papers in the present Research Topic provided clarification on the alexithymia construct and the "mind-body connection," also trying to give practical and useful information on their evaluation and possible treatment options. We believe that alexithymia and its impact on "mindbody connection" still represent a challenge for all mental health and healthcare workers. Still, there is a silver lining as early detection of alexithymia has become more frequent in everyday "real-world" clinical practice (22). We hope that the research on these fundamental topics in mental and general health will proceed to explore this construct further and to find an appropriate and reliable therapeutic strategy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The Editorial has been written by DB, MF, and LO.

- Reeves RR, Johnson-Walker D. Alexithymia: Should This Personality Disorder Be Considered During Treatment of Patients With Mental Illness? J Psychosoc Nurs Ment Health Serv (2015) 53:25–9. doi: 10.3928/02793695-20150720-04
- Lane RD, Weihs KL, Herring A, Hishaw A, Smith R. Affective agnosia: Expansion of the alexithymia construct and a new opportunity to integrate and extend Freud's legacy. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2015) 55:594–611. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.06.007
- Orzechowska A, Denys K, Galecki P. [Alexithymia-definition, causes and participation in the etiology of diseases]. Pol Merkur Lekarski (2014) 37:128–33.
- Luminet O, Bagby RM, Taylor GJ. An evaluation of the absolute and relative stability of alexithymia in patients with major depression. *Psychother Psychosom* (2001) 70:254–60. doi: 10.1159/000056263
- Tolmunen T, Heliste M, Lehto SM, Hintikka J, Honkalampi K, Kauhanen J. Stability of alexithymia in the general population: an 11-year follow-up. *Compr Psychiatry* (2011) 52:536–41. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2010.09.007
- De Berardis D, Fornaro M, Orsolini L, Valchera A, Carano A, Vellante F, et al. Alexithymia and Suicide Risk in Psychiatric Disorders: A Mini-Review. Front Psychiatry (2017) 8:148. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00148
- Altamura M, Porcelli P, Fairfield B, Malerba S, Carnevale R, Balzotti A, et al. Alexithymia Predicts Attrition and Outcome in Weight-Loss Obesity Treatment. *Front Psychol* (2018) 9:2432. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02432
- Gunther V, Rufer M, Kersting A, Suslow T. Predicting symptoms in major depression after inpatient treatment: the role of alexithymia. *Nord J Psychiatry* (2016) 70:392–8. doi: 10.3109/08039488.2016.1146796

- Rufer M, Albrecht R, Zaum J, Schnyder U, Mueller-Pfeiffer C, Hand I, et al. Impact of alexithymia on treatment outcome: a naturalistic study of shortterm cognitive-behavioral group therapy for panic disorder. *Psychopathology* (2010) 43:170–9. doi: 10.1159/000288639
- Blaettler LT, Stewart JA, Gubler DA, Egloff N, von Kanel R, Grosse Holtforth M. Alexithymia moderates effects of psychotherapeutic treatment expectations on depression outcome in interdisciplinary chronic pain treatment. J Psychosom Res (2019) 122:69–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores. 2019.04.010
- De Berardis D, Conti C, Iasevoli F, Valchera A, Fornaro M, Cavuto M, et al. Alexithymia and its relationships with acute phase proteins and cytokine release: an updated review. *J Biol Regul Homeost Agents* (2014) 28:795–9.
- Martin JB, Pihl RO. The stress-alexithymia hypothesis: theorectical and empirical considerations. *Psychother Psychosom* (1985) 43:169–76. doi: 10.1159/000287876
- De Berardis D, Campanella D, Serroni N, Moschetta FS, Di Emidio F, Conti C, et al. Alexithymia, suicide risk and serum lipid levels among adult outpatients with panic disorder. *Compr Psychiatry* (2013) 54:517–22. doi: 10.1016/ j.comppsych.2012.12.013

- De Berardis D, Campanella D, Gambi F, La Rovere R, Sepede G, Core L, et al. Alexithymia, fear of bodily sensations, and somatosensory amplification in young outpatients with panic disorder. *Psychosomatics* (2007) 48:239–46. doi: 10.1176/appi.psy.48.3.239
- Bagby RM, Parker JDA, Taylor GJ. Twenty-five years with the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale. J Psychosom Res (2020) 131:109940. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2020.109940

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the Editorial was written in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 De Berardis, Fornaro and Orsolini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Prediction of Depression Scores From Aerobic Fitness, Body Fatness, Physical Activity, and Vagal Indices in Non-exercising, Female Workers

Laís Tonello^{1,2}, Iransé Oliveira-Silva³, André Ricarte Medeiros², Arthur Ney Alves Donato², Felipe Barreto Schuch⁴, Lars Donath⁵ and Daniel Boullosa^{6*}

¹ Educação Física, Universidade de Gurupi, Gurupi, Brazil, ² Escola de Saúde e Medicina, Universidade Católica de Brasilia, Brasilia, Brazil, ³ Educação Física, UniEVANGÉLICA - Centro Universitário de Anápolis, Anápolis, Brazil, ⁴ Mestrado em Saúde e Desenvolvimento Humano, Universidade La Salle Canoas, Canoas, Brazil, ⁵ Department of Intervention Research in Exercise Training, German Sport University, Cologne, Germany, ⁶ Sport and Excercise Science, James Cook University, Townsville, QLD, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy

Reviewed by:

Giuseppe Tavormina, Independent Researcher, Provaglio d'Iseo, Italy Alessandro Carano, ASUR Marche, Italy

*Correspondence:

Daniel Boullosa daniel.boullosa@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 26 January 2019 Accepted: 15 March 2019 Published: 12 April 2019

Citation:

Tonello L, Oliveira-Silva I, Medeiros AR, Donato ANA, Schuch FB, Donath L and Boullosa D (2019) Prediction of Depression Scores From Aerobic Fitness, Body Fatness, Physical Activity, and Vagal Indices in Non-exercising, Female Workers. Front. Psychiatry 10:192. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00192 **Background:** Depression is associated with a decreased cardiorespiratory fitness, and physical activity [PA] levels, higher rates of obesity, and dysfunction in autonomic control of heart rate [HR]. However, these parameters were mostly recorded with indirect methods. Thus, the aim of the current study was to investigate the relationships between depression scores and objective measures of body fatness, autonomic indices (i.e. HRV and HRR), cardiorespiratory fitness and PA levels; and subsequently to present the best predictive models of depression scores for this population, based on these variables.

Methods: Thirty-five non-exercising women (26–43 years; maximal oxygen consumption [VO₂max] ~ 17.4–38.3 mL/kg/min) volunteered for participation in this study. All participants responded to the Beck Depression Inventory [DBI] and were evaluated for body mass index [BMI], percentage of body fat, sum of skinfolds, and VO₂max. Subsequently, over four consecutive days, an orthostatic test and a submaximal exercise on a cycle ergometer were performed to record HRV and HRR, respectively. In addition, incidental PA was recorded during 5 consecutive days using accelerometers.

Results: depression scores were related to VO₂max (r = -0.446, p = 0.007) and the sum of skinfolds (r = 0.434, p = 0.009). Several stepwise multiple linear regression models were performed and only VO₂max was revealed as an independent predictor of the Beck scores ($\beta = -0.446$, $R^2 = 0.199$, p = 0.007).

Conclusion: The present study revealed that VO_2max and the sum of skinfolds were moderately related to depression scores, while VO_2max was the only independent predictor of depression scores in female workers.

Keywords: depression, physical activity, autonomic control of HR, body composition, physical fitness, women

INTRODUCTION

Depression is a multifactorial disease that affects 322 million people worldwide (1). Between 2005 and 2015, there was an increase of more than 18% in the number of cases (1). The global prevalence is 4.4%, however, women suffer more from the disease, with 5.1% compared to 3.1% of men (1). In Brazil, depression affects 7.6% of the population, which represents about 11.2 million people, with a prevalence of 10.9% in women and 3.9% in men (2), therefore ranking Brazil as the 5th country in the world in depression prevalence (2).

Depression is a prevalent risk factor for the development of cardiovascular and metabolic (3-5) diseases (CVDs) (6-10). For example, people with depression presents an increased risk (relative risk [RR] = 1.72, 95% CI 1.48– 2.00) of developing any cardiovascular disease when compared to non-depressed controls. In addition, people with subsyndromal depressive symptoms are already in increased risk for developing cardiovascular disease (11). Although the underlying mechanisms of this relationship are not fully understood, there are several factors that act bidirectionally and independently, increasing both depression and CVDs risk, including aerobic capacity (12), obesity (13), physical activity (14), and heart rate variability (HRV) (15).

Cardiovascular diseases are the main cause of death in women (7, 16) and present an inverse relationship with cardiorespiratory fitness (17, 18). Moreover, cardiorespiratory fitness is inversely related with depressive symptoms severity, regardless depression diagnosis, and this association has been demonstrated to be moderated by sex (12). Thus, people with depression have decreased fitness when compared to people without depression (19, 20). Moreover, a possible relationship between depression, lack of exercise and cerebrovascular disease comorbidity has also been suggested (21).

Overweight and obesity has been associated with depression, in addition to be an aggravating factor for overall health status (13, 22–24). The association between obesity and depression is bidirectional: depressed people are at an increased risk of being obese and, in turn, obese people have a risk of developing depression (25). Interestingly, although the percentage of fat increases the risk for developing depressive symptoms, this association disappears when adjusted for cardiorespiratory fitness levels in both men and women (23), with some sex differences identified in the association between obesity and depression (22).

Individuals with depression have a decreased HRV when compared to healthy controls (15, 26–29), and this inverse association between HRV and depressive symptoms has also shown different sex related interactions (30). The severity of depressive symptoms is an independent factor for decreased HRV and vagal tone in patients with unipolar and bipolar depression (31). The reduction in HRV is commonly associated with cardiovascular morbidity and mortality, thus, depressive symptoms, decreased HRV, and risk of developing cardiovascular disease are closely related (32). In addition, autonomic activity could be also assessed with HRR, which is an index of vagal reactivation after different exercises (33–38). Heart rate recovery has been also found to be inversely related with depression scores (39, 40).

Finally, PA has been previously associated with all of the aforementioned factors and has been recommended as a complement to pharmacotherapy for the treatment of depression (41). Previous studies have also shown that the association of PA with other forms of treatment is a determinant for a decrease in depression scores (42). People with higher PA levels have 17% less risk of developing depression (43). However, these previous studies did not account for the difference between PA (i.e., any movement of the body that is produced by muscle contraction and which increases energy expenditure above basal levels) and physical exercise (i.e., a repetitive structured PA designed to improve or maintain one or more components of the physical condition) (44–48).

Although several studies have independently investigated the relationship between the above-mentioned variables (i.e., PA, HRV, HRR, body fatness) and depression scores, to the best of our knowledge, there are no studies investigating the relationship of all these physical and physiological variables, and their interactions, with depression scores in a homogenous sample of women. Thus, the aim of the current study was to investigate the relationships between depression scores and objective measures of body fatness, autonomic indices (i.e., HRV and HRR), cardiorespiratory fitness and PA levels; and subsequently, to present the best predictive models of depression scores for this population, based on these variables.

METHODS

Participants

All participants were employees of two private Universities in Brazil. All of them worked in the cleaning service or administrative staff. The inclusion criteria were: absence of health related problems or physical conditions; no medications that could interfere with independent and dependent variables; and no practice any form of regular exercise at the time of the study. Thus, 35 adult female workers, aged 34.5 ± 5.1 years (26–43 years), were finally included in this study. All of them were classified as irregularly active or sedentary by the short version of the international PA questionnaire (IPAQ) (49), a short validated questionnaire with eight questions regarding the weekly time devoted to different levels of PA and sedentary time. This research was approved by the ethics committee of the Catholic University of Brasília and all volunteers signed the consent form after detailed explanation of procedures.

Study Design

All participants were evaluated for 14 days following the methods of a previous study (36). The schedule of evaluations is presented in **Figure 1**. During the first week, participants were familiarized with all the procedures, completed the IPAQ and Beck Depression inventory (BDI) (50), and were evaluated for body fatness and cardiorespiratory fitness. During the second week, participants went to the laboratory on a daily basis and were evaluated for HRV and HRR. PA was recorded over 7 days,



but only measures from five days (Wednesday to Sunday) were used for further analyses (36). During the third week, participants completed the cardiorespiratory fitness test.

Measures

Body Composition

Body mass (kg) was evaluated using a digital scale (Model 05, G-Tech[®], China), and height (cm) through a stadiometer (Sanny[®], ES2040, Brazil) to determine body mass index (BMI). Adiposity was evaluated using the sum of the skinfolds (\sum S) (i.e., pectoral, mid axillary, abdominal, supra iliac, thigh, triceps and subscapular) (47), with % of body fatness determined with the equations of Jackson and Pollock (51) and (52).

Cardiorespiratory Fitness

Maximum oxygen consumption (VO₂max) was assessed as a measure of cardiorespiratory fitness, during a maximal incremental test on a cycle ergometer (Lode Excalibur, Lode, Netherlands; or Monark model 8348, Monark, Sweden). The test started with a load of 0 W and thereafter it was increased at a rate of 20 W·min⁻¹, maintaining a constant cadence of 60 rpm. HR was continuously recorded using a telemetric monitor (POLAR Electro Oy, Finland), while ventilatory parameters were assessed breath-by-breath with a metabolic cart (Metalyzer 3B, Cortex, Germany) that was previously calibrated following manufacturer's instructions.

Beck Depression Inventory

The BDI is a valid questionnaire with 21 questions that include cognitive and affective behavioral symptoms and attitudes related to depression. The subjects selected the sentence that best described their answer during their previous two weeks. The sum of the final score can be from 0 to 63 (53). All the questionnaires were individually applied by the same clinician, in a closed room, under a calm environment and without the possibility of any interruption by other people. The cut-off scores for the BDI are: none or minimal depression with <10; mild to moderate depression with 10–18; moderate to severe depression with 19–29; and severe depression with 30–63.

Autonomic Indices

The evaluation of HRV was performed during four consecutive days, through an orthostatic test, performed in the laboratory (07:00–08:00 a.m.) under standard environmental conditions.

During the orthostatic test, participants remained seated for 3 min followed by 4 min in standing position. All HR recordings were obtained using a HR monitor (RS800cx, Polar Electro Oy, Finland) previously validated for this purpose (54). Subsequently, HR data were transferred to a computer and filtered using the customer's specific software (Polar ProTrainer[®] 5, Polar Electro Oy, Finland). If a record presented error >5%, it was discarded (55). After visual inspection, filtering and correction, the data was transferred and analyzed on a specific HRV analysis software (Kubios 2.2, The Biomedical Signals Analysis Group, Finland). Vagal modulation was assessed via the root mean square of successive R-R intervals differences (RMSSD) during the last 2 min of each position (RMSSD_{seated} and RMSSD_{standing}, respectively). Following a previous study (36), we used the average values over the four days of evaluation.

For HRR determination, the volunteers performed a 6-min submaximal cycle ergometer exercise (model 8,348, Monark, Sweden) immediately after HRV evaluations. At the end of the exercise, the volunteers remained seated and relaxed on the cycle ergometer for 5 min for determination of HRR at 1 min (HRR_{1min}) and at 5 min (HRR_{5min}). As in the case of HRV analyses, we used the average values over the four days of evaluation (36).

Incidental Physical Activity

The PA was recorded with an accelerometer (GT1M, Actigraph, USA), being considered the values of five consecutive days, which is enough to reflect weekly AF patterns in adults (56). The devices were placed on the right hip of participants and PA was recorded continuously, except during bathing, sleeping and the cycle ergometer submaximal exercise. Following the procedures of a previous study (36), the parameters analyzed were: steps per day (Steps), and moderate to vigorous PA (MVPA).

Statistical Analyses

The distribution of the data was verified for normality with Shapiro Wilk's test. Scaterplot of the predicted values vs. the standard residuals of the variables were verified for homoscedasticity and presence of outliers. To achieve the statistical assumptions above mentioned, some variables were log-transformed. Subsequently, Pearson product correlation coefficient was used to verify independent associations with the dependent variables, and for multicolinearity of the independent variables. Multicolinearity was considered when independent variables presented correlations with $r \ge 0.7$. Then, a stepwise regression was applied with Beck scores as the dependent variable, and with all other parameters as independent variables. Thereafter, due to the number of subjects in the final sample, some multiple linear regression models were constructed using a combination of up to four variables, one from each different domain (e.g. body composition, aerobic fitness, PA, and autonomic indices) to achieve the better model of prediction of depression scores, preserving an sufficient statistical power for the analyses. A 5% level of significance was adopted.

RESULTS

Characteristics of adiposity, aerobic fitness, PA levels, autonomic indices, and depression scores of participants are presented in **Table 1**.

Significant correlations were found between some independent variables (see **Table 2**). Although multicollinearity was observed in some of the independent variables, none of the regression models included those variables simultaneously. Besides that, Σ S and VO₂max were significantly and independently correlated with the dependent variable (Beck scores), as reported in **Figures 2A,B**, respectively.

The stepwise multiple linear regression model selected only VO₂max as a predictor of Beck scores, with standard β = -0.446, R^2 = 0.199, and p = 0.007. Then, another 16 models were tested, and the better model achieved R^2 = 0.278 and p = 0.039, including VO₂max (std. β = -0.283, p = 0.180), SS (std. β = 0.224, p = 0.279), MVPA (std. β = 0.154, p = 0.338), and RMSSD_{standing} (std. β = 0.117, p = 0.472). Although that model reached statistical significance,

TABLE 1 Demographic characteristics and physical activity levels of participants.

Parameters	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	Range
BDI-scores	12.3 ± 7.1	0.0–28.0
Age (years)	34.5 ± 5.1	26–43
Body mass (kg)	65.5 ± 13.7	48.6-110.0
Height (m)	1.57 ± 0.09	1.28-1.68
BMI (kg⋅m ⁻²)	26.01 ± 4.9	18.1–36.5
Body fat (%)	33.98 ± 6.7	19.9–43.1
Σ S (mm)	206.2 ± 55.8	102-293
VO₂max (mL·kg ⁻¹ ·min ⁻¹)	25.2 ± 5.2	17.4–38.3
Steps.day ⁻¹ (Steps)	8597 ± 3204	3257-15464
MVPA (min∙day ⁻¹)	41.5 ± 22.4	7-84.1
RMSSD _{seated} (ms)	25.8 ± 9.0	8.6-46.5
RMSSD _{upright} (ms)	17.9 ± 5.7	9.8–31.9
HRR _{1min} (bpm)	31.3 ± 7.2	18.7–49.7
HRR _{5min} (bpm)	53.6 ± 5.2	45.5-64.7

SD, standard deviation; BDI-scores, beck depression inventory scores; BMI, body mass index; Body Fat%, percentage of body fatness; Σ S, sum of 7 Skinfold; VO_{2max}, maximum oxygen consumption; Steps-day⁻¹, mean daily steps; MVPA, mean daily moderate to vigorous PA of 4 days of data collection; RMSSD, root Mean Square of the differences between successive R peak intervals; HRR_{1min}, heart rate recovery of the first minute; HRR_{5min}, heart rate recovery of the fifth minute.

none of the independent variables adopted were found to be significant independent predictors of Beck scores. As expected, for other models tested, the only variable who independently predicted Beck scores was VO_2max . The models are presented in **Table 3**.

DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study evaluating the relationship and interaction of depression scores with the autonomic control of HR, PA, cardiorespiratory fitness and body fatness in the same sample. Several models were tested to investigate what variables were able to predict depression scores (see **Table 3**). Thus, we observed that in women who do not exercise regularly, the depressive symptoms are related to the level of cardiorespiratory fitness and body fatness. However, the only variable able to predict independently depression scores was VO₂max. In contrast, and contrary to our hypotheses, incidental PA or autonomic control of HR were not associated with depression scores.

As shown in previous studies (12, 19, 23, 57-60), depression scores demonstrated an inverse association with cardiorespiratory fitness. In addition, our main finding is that cardiorespiratory fitness is the best predictor of depressive symptoms independently of body fatness, confirming the previous findings of the prospective study of Becofsky et al. (23). According to our model, changes in VO₂max values may explain up to 19.9% of the variance in the depression scores, therefore, an increase of $\sim 2 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ of VO₂max would imply \sim 1.2 points less in the depression score. While the relationship between aerobic fitness and depression has been previously suggested to be mediated by PA, this is not the case in the current study. In this regard, exercise has been previously demonstrated to influence depression independently of its intensity (61), perhaps implying that the impact of aerobic fitness per se on depression scores and symptoms could be mediated by other factors. Thus, we may suggest the possible association between aerobic fitness and other biological mediating factors related to mental health and cognition. For instance, previous reports have found a relationship between VO2max, inflammation, and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in different populations (62-64), factors also recognized to be related to depression (65). Therefore, future studies are needed to better clarify the mechanistic link between VO₂max, other aerobic fitness parameters and depression.

In our study, body fat did not correlate with depression scores, however, they were associated with the sum of skinfolds. The association between body composition parameters with depression scores has presented contradictory results in literature, a fact that can be attributed to differences in methods to characterize overweight and obesity, in addition to the existence of a number of confounding variables. For instance, previous studies identified an association between BMI and depression scores (13, 24, 66). In addition, women with % of body fatness greater than 30 were more likely to develop depressive symptoms (23). Our results may be also explained by the fact that % of body

TABLE 2 Correlation matrix of dependent and independent variables (n = 35).

	1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.	9.	10.
1. Beck scores	_	-0.446 [‡]	0.351	0.435 [‡]	0.056	0.173	0.136	0.237	0.188	0.001
2. VO ₂ max	-0.446‡	-	-0.528 [‡]	-0.642‡	-0.038	0.041	-0.088	-0.215	-0.235	-0.138
3. Body Fat (%)	0.351	-0.528 [‡]	-	0.816 [‡]	0.243	0.124	0.042	0.035	0.183	0.211
4. ∑S	0.435‡	-0.642 [‡]	0.816 [‡]	-	0.110	0.060	0.156	0.163	0.198	0.090
5. Steps day ⁻¹	0.056	-0.038	0.243	0.110	_	0.731‡	0.201	0.090	0.567‡	0.536‡
6. MVPA	0.173	0.041	0.124	0.060	0.731‡	-	0.319	0.143	0.383*	0.123
7. RMSSD _{seated}	0.136	-0.088	0.042	0.156	0.201	0.319	-	0.564‡	0.419*	0.171
8. RMSSD _{standing}	0.237	-0.215	0.035	0.163	0.090	0.143	0.564‡	-	0.435 [‡]	0.199
9. HRR _{1min}	0.188	-0.235	0.183	0.198	0.567‡	0.383*	0.419*	0.435‡	-	0.707 [‡]
10. HRR _{5min}	0.001	-0.138	0.211	0.090	0.536‡	0.123	0.171	0.199	0.707‡	_

Beck, Beck inventory depression scores; VO_{2max} , maximum oxygen uptake; Fat%, Body percentage of fatness; $\sum S$, sum of skinfolds; Steps/Day, mean daily steps; MVPA, minutes per day on moderate to vigorous PA; sRMSSD, Root Mean Square of the differences between successive R peak intervals recorded in seated condition; uRMSSD, Root Mean Square of the differences between successive R peak intervals recorded in the standing condition; 1minHRR, one minute heart rate recovery; 5minHRR, five minutes heart rate recovery. *p < 0.05; *p < 0.01.



fatness is an estimated measure, while the sum of skinfolds is an objective measure. Future studies should consider these aspects when verifying these associations in further studies.

Our data did not reveal any relationship between objective measured PA and depression, which is in contrast to previous literature (14, 43, 67-72)]. The lack of association may be attributed to the different protocols used for evaluation of depression scores and PA levels (e.g., selection of cut-off points for different PA levels). However, a strength of the current study is the use of objective measures of PA along with the isolation of incidental PA from exercise, as participants who exercised regularly were not included in the current investigation. Therefore, it may be suggested that this finding is not necessarily in contradiction with previous studies that mostly used indirect measures of PA levels, while they did not differentiate between exercise and overall incidental PA levels. In this respect, it should be pointed out that women in the current study averaged 41 min/day of moderate to vigorous PA. Meanwhile, previous studies showed that 30 min/day, three times a week, of moderate PA is enough to reduce the risk of developing depression by 22% (43). In addition, although the number of daily steps has not been shown to be associated with depressive symptoms, mean values in the current study are above the recommendations of 6,500-8,500 steps for special populations (73, 74). In this regard, given that our sample was composed of female workers, and that probably most PA was performed at work, future studies differentiating between leisure time and occupational PA are needed as these two PA dimensions have both been demonstrated to influence cardiovascular health in different ways (75).

The use of PA and physical exercise for the treatment of depression is currently increasing (42, 73, 74, 76-79). The improvement of cardiorespiratory fitness in a short period of time with regular physical exercise could be suggested as an effective means for this purpose (59). However, PA performed in daily life could also be important in order to improve levels of cardiorespiratory fitness (80). Stimulating the participation of individuals with depression in physical exercise programs can be an effective treatment alternative, given the low barriers associated and their effectiveness for improving depressive symptoms (81). Recently, Busch et al. (82) evaluated the preferences and barriers of exercise for the treatment of depression. The results of this study (82) indicated that the lack of motivation and fatigue are the main barriers to exercise (82). Therefore, in order to identify the best exercise model and the amount of incidental PA for the treatment of depression, it is

TABLE 3 Regression analysis for variables predicting Beck Scores ($n = 35$).

	Regression	VO _{2max}	Body Fat (%)	Σ S	Steps.day ^{−1}	MVPA	RMSSDseated	RMSSDstanding	HRR _{1min}	HRR _{5min}
Model	R ² (p.)	Std.B (p.)	Std.B (p.)	Std.B (p.)	Std.B (p.)	Std.B (p.)	Std.B (p.)	Std.B (p.)	Std.B (p.)	Std.B (p.)
1-Stepwise	0.199 (0.007)**	-0.446 (0.007)**	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
02-Insert	0.227 (0.092)	-0.350 (0.077)	0.166 (0.404)	-	-0.018 (0.915)	-	0.102 (0.539)	-	-	-
03-Insert	0.242 (0.073)	-0.330 (0.095)	0.173 (0.380)	-	-0.010 (0.951)	-	-	0.158 (0.335)	-	-
04-Insert	0.226 (0.095)	-0.332 (0.104)	0.170 (0.396)	-	-0.063 (0.760)	-	-	-	0.115 (0.576)	-
05-Insert	0.227 (0.092)	-0.374 (0.060)	0.162 (0.414)	-	0.067 (0.734)	-	-	-	-	-0.121 (0.535)
06-Insert	0.248 (0.065)	-0.380 (0.054)	0.128 (0.504)	-	-	0.157 (0.364)	0.047 (0.780)	-	-	-
07-Insert	0.263 (0.051)	-0.358 (0.068)	0.138 (0.468)	-	-	0.150 (0.362)	-	0.131 (0.423)	-	-
08-Insert	0.246 (0.067)	-0.385 (0.056)	0.125 (0.515)	-	-	0.169 (0.344)	-	-	0.010 (0.956)	-
09-Insert	0.257 (0.057)	-0.393 (0.044)	0.143 (0.458)	-	-	0.184 (0.262)	-	-	-	-0.106 (0.518)
10-Insert	0.242 (0.073)	-0.286 (0.179)	-	0.239 (0.264)	0.004 (0.981)	-	0.073 (0.659)	-	-	-
11-Insert	0.255 (0.058)	-0.258 (0.224)	-	0.245 (0.245)	0.006 (0.968)	-	-	0.140 (0.393)	-	-
12-Insert	0.243 (0.072)	-0.264 (0.222)	-	0.250 (0.241)	-0.037 (0.852)	-	-	-	0.097 (0.630)	-
13-Insert	0.244 (0.071)	-0.302 (0.160)	-	0.242 (0.256)	0.072 (0.708)	-	-	-	-	-0.101 (0.600)
14-Insert	0.266 (0.049)*	-0.307 (0.145)	-	0.224 (0.286)	-	0.165 (0.329)	0.022 (0.896)	-	-	-
15-Insert	0.278 (0.039)*	-0.283 (0.180)	-	0.224 (0.279)	-	0.154 (0.338)	-	0.117 (0.472)	-	-
16-Insert	0.265 (0.049)*	-0.306 (0.154)	-	0.169 (0.334)	-	0.169 (0.334)	-	-	0.006 (0.972)	-
17-Insert	0.272 (0.043)*	-0.321 (0.130)	-	0.225 (0.279)	-	0.183 (0.258)	-	-	-	-0.086 (0.592)

 VO_{2max} , maximum oxygen consumption; Body Fat (%), body percentage of fatness; $\sum S$, sum of 7 Skinfolds; Steps-day⁻¹, mean daily steps; MVPA, mean daily moderate to vigorous PA daily mean for the 4 days data collection; RMSSDstanding, HR recorded in upright position; RMSSDseated, HR recorded on seated position; HRR_{1min}, heart rate recovery of the first minute after de exercise; HRR_{5min}, heart rate recovery of five minutes after de exercise. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01.

necessary to take into account the effectiveness of every exercise program to improve cardiorespiratory fitness, highlighting the inverse relationship between aerobic fitness and scores of depression.

Although, Busch et al. (82) addressed some characteristics of an exercise model for this population, it is clear that there is no unanimity for the choice of intensities, duration and type of exercise. For instance, high-intensity training could be an interesting option as it has been shown to be effective for improving VO₂max and other health related parameters in a short period of time in different populations (83–85). Therefore, PA and physical exercise should be evaluated separately or in conjunction in future investigations to determine the better doseresponse for the improvement of cardiorespiratory fitness in people with depression.

Previous studies have suggested that autonomic control of HR is directly related to depression scores (15, 29, 86-89). In contrast, the current study did not reveal any association between HRV or HRR and depression scores. Cardiac autonomic modulation, assessed with HRV, besides important associations with cardiovascular diseases (90), has also been suggested as an indicator of the body's ability to adapt to stress (91), thus playing an important role in the interpretation and response to emotional stimuli (92). In the case of people with depression, the reduction of HRV has been demonstrated to be linked to the severity of the disease (15, 29, 89), with sympathetic predominance and reduction of parasympathetic activity, resulting in reduced HRV (86, 87). In this regard, PA and exercise have been highlighted for the improvement of HRV (93, 94). This adaptation is thought to be related to improvements in VO₂max (80). However, the current study did not reveal any relationship between PA, HRV and VO₂max. In contrast, the current results showed some relationships between HRV, HRR, and PA, which is partially in agreement with a previous study of our group (36). Therefore, given the unique characteristic of the current study with objective measures of these parameters, and with participants not involved in physical exercise, it may be speculated that the inclusion of participants practicing exercise would result in higher VO_2max levels, and thus some correlations between aerobic fitness and HRV.

This study is not free from limitations. First, given the cross-sectional design, causal relationships cannot be established. Second, the low number of participants may be another limitation. However, the use of objective measures for all the parameters investigated, with average values over various days for HRV and HRR, in conjunction with stringent criteria for inclusion of adult female participants, reduce the noise importantly when compared to previous studies looking for similar relationships with greater but very heterogeneous samples with unknown confounders. Finally, from a biopsychosocial perspective, other factors such as socioeconomic status were not recorded, therefore, further studies should verify the possible interaction between physical and physiological variables with other psycho-social influences on depression scores and symptoms (95).

CONCLUSIONS

The present study revealed that VO_2max and the sum of skinfolds were moderately related to depression scores, while VO_2max was the only independent predictor of depression in female workers. However, incidental PA, HRV, and HRV were not related to depression scores in this small but homogenous sample. Future studies with greater samples should identify the best models of physical exercise, while monitoring levels of incidental PA, for promoting improvements in cardiorespiratory fitness and other health-related parameters as body composition and autonomic indices. The mechanistic link between aerobic fitness and depression remains to be clarified.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of the Catholic University of Brasília. In addition, a consent from was obtained from every participant.

REFERENCES

- WHO. Global Health Estimates Depression and Other Common Mental Disorders. (2017). Available online at: http://www.who.int/mental_health/ management/depression/prevalence_global_health_estimates/en/ (accessed February 7 2018).
- IBGE. Perception of health status, lifestyles and chronic diseases. Brazil, major regions and federation units. Pesquisa Nacional de Saúde, Ministério da Saúde (2014). (accessed May 15, 2018).
- Vancampfort D, Correll CU, Wampers M, Sienaert P, Mitchell AJ, De Herdt A, et al. Metabolic syndrome and metabolic abnormalities in patients with major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis of prevalences and moderating variables. *Psychol. Med.* (2014) 44:2017–28. doi: 10.1017/S0033291713002778
- 4. Vancampfort D, Stubbs B, Mitchell AJ, De Hert M, Wampers M, Ward PB, et al. Risk of metabolic syndrome and its components in people with schizophrenia and related psychotic disorders, bipolar disorder and major depressive disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *World Psychiatry*. (2015) 14:339–47. doi: 10.1002/wps.20252
- Vancampfort D, Correll CU, Galling B, Probst M, De Hert M, Ward PB, et al. Diabetes mellitus in people with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major depressive disorder: a systematic review and large scale meta-analysis. *World Psychiatry*. (2016) 15:166–74. doi: 10.1002/wps.20309
- Gordon JL, Ditto B, Lavoie KL, Pelletier R, Campbell TS, Arsenault A, et al. The effect of major depression on postexercise cardiovascular recovery. *Psychophysiology.* (2011) 48:1605–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2011.0 1232.x
- Mehta LS. Cardiovascular disease and depression in women. *Heart Failure Clini*. (2011) 7:39–45. doi: 10.1016/j.hfc.2010.08.005
- Elderon L, Whooley MA. Depression and cardiovascular disease. Progress Cardiovascul Dis. (2013) 55:511–23. doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2013.03.010
- 9. Carney RM, Freedland KE. Depression and coronary heart disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* (2017) 14:145. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2016.181
- WHO (2017). "Depression: Let's Talk" says WHO, as Depression Tops List of Causes of Ill Health. Available online at: http://www.who.int/mediacentre /news/releases/2017/world-health-day/en/ (accessed February 7, 2018).
- Ariyo AA, Haan M, Tangen CM, Rutledge JC, Cushman M, Dobs A, et al. Depressive symptoms and risks of coronary heart disease and mortality in elderly Americans. *Circulation*. (2000) 102:1773–9. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.102.15.1773
- Papasavvas T, Bonow RO, Alhashemi M, Micklewright D. Depression symptom severity and cardiorespiratory fitness in healthy and depressed adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* (2016) 46:219–30. doi: 10.1007/s40279-015-0409-5
- Milaneschi Y, Simmons WK, Rossum EF, Penninx BW. Depression and obesity: evidence of shared biological mechanisms. *Mol Psychiatry*. 1:18–33. doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0017-5
- 14. Schuch F, Vancampfort D, Firth J, Rosenbaum S, Ward P, Reichert T, et al. Physical activity and sedentary behavior in people with major depressive

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LT and DB: study design. LT, IO-S, and ARM: data collection. LT, DB, IO-S, and ARM: data analyses. LT, IO-S, ARM, ANAD, FS, LD, and DB: interpretation of the results, manuscript writing, and approved the final manuscript version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

LT and ARM enjoy a PROSUP scholarship grant from CAPES. DB enjoys a productivity research grant from CNPQ (305131/2015-0).

disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect. Disord. (2017) 210:139–50. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.10.050

- Kemp AH, Quintana DS, Gray MA, Felmingham KL, Brown K, Gatt JM. Impact of depression and antidepressant treatment on heart rate variability: a review and meta-analysis. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2010) 67:1067–74. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.12.012
- Madrazo C. Cardiovascular disease in women: reducing cardiovascular comorbidity. *FP Essential*. (2013) 411:11–5.
- Kodama S, Saito K, Tanaka S, Maki M, Yachi Y, Asumi M, et al. Cardiorespiratory fitness as a quantitative predictor of all-cause mortality and cardiovascular events in healthy men and women: a meta-analysis. *JAMA*. (2009) 301:2024–35. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.681
- Myers J, McAuley P, Lavie CJ, Despres JP, Arena R, Kokkinos P. Physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness as major markers of cardiovascular risk: their independent and interwoven importance to health status. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis.* (2015) 57:306–14. doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2014. 09.011
- Boettger S, Wetzig F, Puta C, Donath L, Müller HJ, Gabriel HH, et al. Physical fitness and heart rate recovery are decreased in major depressive disorder. *Psychosom Med.* (2009) 71:519–23. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181a55303
- Vancampfort D, Rosenbaum S, Schuch F, Ward PB, Richards J, Mugisha J, et al. Cardiorespiratory fitness in severe mental illness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Med.* (2017) 47:343–52. doi: 10.1007/s40279-016-0574-1
- Fornaro M, Solmi M, Veronese N, De Berardis D, Buonaguro EF, Tomasetti C, et al. The burden of mood-disorder/cerebrovascular disease comorbidity: essential neurobiology, psychopharmacology, and physical activity interventions. *Int Rev Psychiatry.* (2017). 29:425–35. doi: 10.1080/09540261.2017.1299695
- Stunkard AJ, Faith MS, Allison KC. Depression and obesity. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2003) 54:330–7. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00608-5
- Becofsky KM, Sui X, Lee DC, Wilcox S, Zhang J, Blair SN. A prospective study of fitness, fatness, and depressive symptoms. *Am J Epidemiol*. (2015) 181:311–20. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwu330
- Pereira-Miranda E, Costa PR, Queiroz VA, Pereira-Santos M, Santana ML. Overweight and obesity associated with higher depression prevalence in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Col Nutr. (2017) 36:223– 33. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2016.1261053
- Luppino FS, de Wit LM, Bouvy PF, Stijnen T, Cuijpers P, Penninx BW, et al. Overweight, obesity, and depression: a systematic review and metaanalysis of longitudinal studies. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2010) 67:220–9. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.2
- Davydov DM, Shapiro D, Cook IA, Goldstein I. Baroreflex mechanisms in major depression. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. (2007) 31:164-77. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2006.08.015
- Stapelberg NJ, Hamilton-Craig I, Neumann DL, Shum DH, McConnell H. Mind and heart: heart rate variability in major depressive disorder and coronary heart disease-a review and recommendations. *Austr NZ J Psychiatry*. (2012) 46:946–57. doi: 10.1177/0004867412444624

- Faurholt-Jepsen M, Kessing LV, Munkholm K. Heart rate variability in bipolar disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobeh Rev.* (2017) 73:68–80. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.12.007
- Caldwell YT, Steffen PR. Adding HRV biofeedback to psychotherapy increases heart rate variability and improves the treatment of major depressive disorder. *Int J Psychophysiol.* (2018) 131:96–101. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2018. 01.001
- Jandackova VK, Britton A, Malik M, Steptoe A. Heart rate variability and depressive symptoms: a cross-lagged analysis over a 10-year period in the Whitehall II study. *Psychol Med.* (2016) 46:2121–31. doi: 10.1017/S003329171600060X
- Chang HA, Chang CC, Kuo TB, Huang SY. Distinguishing bipolar II depression from unipolar major depressive disorder: differences in heart rate variability. *World J Biol Psychiatry*. (2015) 16:351–60. doi: 10.3109/15622975.2015.1017606
- Chu IH, Wu WL, Lin IM, Chang YK, Lin YJ, Yang PC. Effects of yoga on heart rate variability and depressive symptoms in women: a randomized controlled trial. J Altern Compl Med. (2017) 23:310–6. doi: 10.1089/acm.2016.0135
- Cole CR, Blackstone EH, Pashkow FJ, Snader CE, Lauer MS. Heart-rate recovery immediately after exercise as a predictor of mortality. N Engl J Med. (1999) 341:1351–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199910283411804
- Barak OF, Ovcin ZB, Jakovljevic DG, Lozanov-Crvenkovic Z, Brodie DA, Grujic NG. Heart rate recovery after submaximal exercise in four different recovery protocols in male athletes and non-athletes. J Sports Sci Med. (2011) 10:369.
- Danieli A, Lusa L, Potočnik N, Meglič B, Grad A, Bajrović FF. Resting heart rate variability and heart rate recovery after submaximal exercise. *Clini Autonom Res.* (2014) 24:53–61. doi: 10.1007/s10286-014-0225-2
- Tonello L, Reichert FF, Oliveira-Silva I, Del Rosso S, Leicht AS, Boullosa DA. Correlates of heart rate measures with incidental physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness in overweight female workers. *Front Physiol.* (2016) 6:405. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2015.00405
- Peçanha T, Bartels R, Brito LC, Paula-Ribeiro M, Oliveira RS, Goldberger JJ. Methods of assessment of the post-exercise cardiac autonomic recovery: a methodological review. *Int J Cardiol.* (2017) 227:795–802. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.10.057
- Medeiros AR, Del Rosso S, Leicht AS, Hautala A, Boullosa DA. of assessment of the post-exercise cardiac autonomic recovery: additional important factors to be considered. *Int J Cardiol.* (2017) 239:23. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.03.161
- Hughes JW, Casey E, Luyster F, Doe VH, Waechter D, Rosneck J, et al. Depression symptoms predict heart rate recovery after treadmill stress testing. *Am Heart J.* (2006) 151:1122–e1. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2006.02.004
- Hughes JW, York KM, Li Q, Freedland KE, Carney RM, Sheps DS. Depressive symptoms predict heart rate recovery after exercise treadmill testing in patients with coronary artery disease: results from the psychophysiological investigations of myocardial ischemia study. *Psych Med.* (2008) 70:456–60. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e31816fcab3
- Schuch FB, Vancampfort D, Richards J, Rosenbaum S, Ward PB, Stubbs B. Exercise as a treatment for depression: a meta-analysis adjusting for publication bias. J Psychiatr Res. (2016) 77:42–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.02.023
- Adams DJ, Remick RA, Davis JC, Vazirian S, Khan KM. Exercise as medicine the use of group medical visits to promote physical activity and treat chronic moderate depression: a preliminary 14-week pre-post study. *BMJ Open Sport Exer Med.* (2015) 1:e000036. doi: 10.1136/bmjsem-2015-000036
- Schuch FB, Vancampfort D, Firth J, Rosenbaum S, Ward PB, Silva ES, et al. Physical activity and incident depression: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2018) 175:631–48. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2018.17111194
- Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Rep.* (1985) 100:126–31.
- Ainsworth BE, Haskell WL, Whitt MC, Irwin ML, Swartz AM, Strath SJ, et al. Compendium of physical activities: an update of activity codes and MET intensities. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2000) 32:S498–504. doi: 10.1097/00005768-200009001-00009
- ACSM. Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription, 8th edn. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams and Williams (2009). p 66–68.

- (ACSM). Position stand. Progression models in resistance training for healthy adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2009) 41:687–708. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181915670
- Foster C, Cortis C, Fusco A, Bok D, Boullosa DA, Capranica L, et al. The future of health / fitness / sports performance. *Front J Soc Technol Env Sci.* (2017) 6:187–211. doi: 10.21664/2238-8869.2017v6i3.p187-211
- Matsudo S, Araújo T, Marsudo V, Andrade D, Andrade E, Braggion G. Questinário internacional de atividade física (IPAQ): estudo de validade e reprodutibilidade no Brasil. *Rev Brasil Atividade Física E Saúde*. (2001) 6:5–18. doi: 10.12820/rbafs.v.6n2p5-18
- Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J. An inventory for measuring depression. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (1961) 4:561–71. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1961.01710120031004
- Jackson AS, Pollock ML. Practical assessment of body composition. *Phys* Sportsmed. (1985) 13:76–90. doi: 10.1080/00913847.1985.11708790
- Siri WE. Body composition from fluid spaces and density: analysis of methods. 1961. Nutrition. (1993) 9:480.
- Gorenstein C, Andrade L. Validation of a portuguese version of the beck depression inventory and the state-trait anxiety inventory in Brazilian subjects. *Braz J Med Biol Res.* (1996) 29:453–7.
- Wallén MB, Hasson D, Theorell T, Canlon B, Osika W. Possibilities and limitations of the Polar RS800 in measuring heart rate variability at rest. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2012) 112:1153–65. doi: 10.1007/s00421-011-2079-9
- 55. Peltola M. Analysis of Heart Rate Variability from 24-hour Ambulatory Electrocardiographic Recordings. Academic dissertation, Acta Universitatis Ouluensis: D, Medica (2010).
- Trost SG, Mciver KL, Pate RR. Conducting accelerometer-based activity assessments in field-based research. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2005) 37:S531–43. doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000185657.86065.98
- Sui X, Laditka JN, Church TS, Hardin JW, Chase N, Davis K, et al. Prospective study of cardiorespiratory fitness and depressive symptoms in women and men. J Psychiatr Res. (2009) 43:546–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2008. 08.002
- Dishman RK, Sui X, Church TS, Hand GA, Trivedi MH, Blair SN. Decline in cardiorespiratory fitness and odds of incident depression. *Am J Prevent Med.* (2012) 43:361–8. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2012.06.011
- Stubbs B, Rosenbaum S, Vancampfort D, Ward PB, Schuch FB. Exercise improves cardiorespiratory fitness in people with depression: a metaanalysis of randomized control trials. J Affect Disord. (2016) 190:249–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.10.010
- Schuch FB, Vancampfort D, Sui X, Rosenbaum S, Firth J, Richards J, et al. Are lower levels of cardiorespiratory fitness associated with incident depression? A systematic review of prospective cohort studies. *Prev Med.* (2016) 93:159–65. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.10.011
- Helgadóttir B, Hallgren M, Ekblom Ö, Forsell Y. Training fast or slow? Exercise for depression: a randomized controlled trial. *Prev Med.* (2016) 91:123–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2016. 08.011
- Zembron-Lacny A, Dzjubek W, Rynkiewicz M, Morawin B, Wozniewski M. Peripheral brain-derived neurotrophic factor is related to cardiovascular risk factors in active and inactive elderly men. *Braz J Med Biol Res.* (2016) 49:S0100-879X2016000700603. doi: 10.1590/1414-431X20165253
- 63. Pedersen NH, Tarp J, Andersen LB, Gejl AK, Huang T, Peijs L, et al. The association between brain-derived neurotrophic factor and a cluster of cardiovascular risk factors in adolescents: The CHAMPS-study DK. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0186384. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0186384
- Hwang J, Castelli DM, Gonzalez-Lima F. The positive cognitive impact of aerobic fitness is associated with peripheral inflammatory and brain-derived neurotrophic factor biomarkers in young adults. *Physiol Behav.* (2017) 179:75– 89. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2017.05.011
- Zhang JC, Yao W, Hashimoto K. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)-TrkB signaling in inflammation-related depression and potential therapeutic targets. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* (2016) 14:721–31. doi: 10.2174/1570159X14666160119094646
- 66. Mannan M, Mamun A, Doi S, Clavarino A. Is there a bi-directional relationship between depression and obesity among adult men and women? *System Rev Bias-Adjust Meta Anal Asian J Psychiatry*. (2016) 21:51–66. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2015.12.008

- Wise LA, Adams-Campbell LL, Palmer JR, Rosenberg L. Leisure time physical activity in relation to depressive symptoms in the Black Women's Health Study. Ann Behav Med. (2006) 32:68–76. doi: 10.1207/s15324796abm3201_8
- Lindwall M, Rennemark M, Halling A, Berglund J, Hassmén P. Depression and exercise in elderly men and women: findings from the Swedish national study on aging and care. J Aging Phys Activity. (2007) 15:41–55. doi: 10.1123/japa.15.1.41
- Teychenne M, Ball K, Salmon J. Physical activity and likelihood of depression in adults: a review. *Prevent Med.* (2008) 46:397–411. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.01.009
- 70. Song MR, Lee YS, Baek JD, Miller M. Physical activity status in adults with depression in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2005–2006. *Public Health Nursing*. (2012) 29:208–17. doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1446.2011.00986.x
- Burton C, McKinstry B, Tătar AS, Serrano-Blanco A, Pagliari C, Wolters M. Activity monitoring in patients with depression: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. (2013) 145:21–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2012.07.001
- 72. Vancampfort D, Firth J, Schuch FB, Rosenbaum S, Mugisha J, Hallgren M, et al. Sedentary behavior and physical activity levels in people with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and major depressive disorder: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. *World Psychiatry.* (2017) 16:308–15. doi: 10.1002/wps. 20458
- Tudor-Locke C, Craig CL, Aoyagi Y, Bell RC, Croteau KA, De Bourdeaudhuij I, et al. How many steps/day are enough? For older adults and special populations. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Activity*. (2011) 8:1.
- Tudor-Locke C, Craig CL, Brown WJ, Clemes SA, Cocker K, Giles-Corti B, et al. How many steps/day are enough? For adults. *J Behav Nutr Phys Activity*. (2011) 8:79. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-79
- Holtermann A, Krause N, van der Beek AJ, Straker L. The physical activity paradox: six reason why occupational physical activity (OPA) does not confer the cardiovascular health benefits that leisure time physical activity does. *Br J Sports Med.* (2018) 52:149–50. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-097965
- Helgadóttir B, Forsell Y, Ekblom Ö. Physical activity patterns of people affected by depressive and anxiety disorders as measured by accelerometers: a cross-sectional study. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0115894. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0115894
- Schuch FB, Vasconcelos-Moreno MP, Borowsky C, Zimmermann AB, Rocha NS, Fleck MP. Exercise and severe major depression: effect on symptom severity and quality of life at discharge in an inpatient cohort. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2015) 61:25–32. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.11.005
- Hallgren M, Stubbs B, Vancampfort D, Lundin A, Jääkallio P, Forsell Y. Treatment guidelines for depression: greater emphasis on physical activity is needed. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2017) 40:1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2016.08.011
- Lambert JD, Greaves CJ, Farrand P, Price L, Haase AM, Taylor AH. Webbased intervention using behavioral activation and physical activity for adults with depression (The eMotion study): pilot randomized controlled trial. *J Med Internet Res.* (2018) 20:e10112. doi: 10.2196/10112
- Hautala A, Martinmaki K, Kiviniemi A, Kinnunen H, Virtanen P, Jaatinen J, et al. Effects of habitual physical activity on response to endurance training. J Sports Sci. (2012) 30:563–9. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2012.658080
- Ekkekakis P. Honey, I shrunk the pooled SMD! Guide to critical appraisal of systematic reviews and meta-analyses using the Cochrane review on exercise for depression as example. *Ment Health Phys Activity*. (2015) 8:21–36. doi: 10.1016/j.mhpa.2014.12.001
- Busch AM, Ciccolo JT, Puspitasari AJ, Nosrat S, Whitworth JW, Stults-Kolehmainen MA. Preferences for exercise as a treatment for depression. *Ment Health Phys Act.* (2016) 10:68–72. doi: 10.1016/j.mhpa.2015. 12.004
- de Sousa AF, Medeiros AR, Benitez-Flores S, Del Rosso S, Stults-Kolehmainen M, Boullosa DA. Improvements in attention and cardiac autonomic

modulation after a 2-weeks sprint interval training program: a fidelity approach. *Front Physiol*. (2018) 9:241. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00241

- Benítez-Flores S, Sousa AF, Totó ECC, Rosa TS, Del-Rosso S, Foster C, et al. Shorter sprints elicit greater cardiorespiratory and mechanical responses with less fatigue during time-matched sprint interval training (SIT) sessions. *Kinesiology*. (2018) 50:137–48. doi: 10.26582/k.50.2.13
- 85. Benítez-Flores S, Medeiros AR, Voltarelli FA, Iglesias-Soler E, Doma K, Simões HG, et al. Combined effects of very short "all out" efforts during sprint and resistance training on physical and physiological adaptations after two weeks of training. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* (2019) 1–15. doi: 10.1007/s00421-019-04125-6
- 86. Kemp AH, Brunoni AR, Santos IS, Nunes MA, Dantas EM, Carvalho de Figueiredo R, et al. Effects of depression, anxiety, comorbidity, and antidepressants on resting-state heart rate and its variability: an ELSA-Brasil cohort baseline study. Am J Psychiatry. (2014) 171:1328–34. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.13121605
- Kemp AH, Quintana DS, Quinn CR, Hopkinson P, Harris AW. Major depressive disorder with melancholia displays robust alterations in resting state heart rate and its variability: implications for future morbidity and mortality. *Front Psychol.* (2014) 5:1387. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01387
- Hage B, Britton B, Daniels D, Heilman K, Porges SW, Halaris A. Low cardiac vagal tone index by heart rate variability differentiates bipolar from major depression. *World J Biol Psychiatry.* (2017). doi: 10.1080/15622975.2017.1376113. [Epub ahead of print].
- Hage B, Britton B, Daniels D, Heilman K, Porges SW, Halaris A. Diminution of heart rate variability in bipolar depression. *Front Public Health*. (2017) 5:312. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00312
- Thayer JF, Yamamoto SS, Brosschot JF. The relationship of autonomic imbalance, heart rate variability and cardiovascular disease risk factors. *Int J Cardiol.* (2010) 141:122–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2009.09.543
- Thayer JF, Lane RD. Claude Bernard and the heart-brain connection: further elaboration of a model of neurovisceral integration. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2009) 33:81–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.08.004
- Park G, Thayer JF. From the heart to the mind: cardiac vagal tone modulates top-down and bottom-up visual perception and attention to emotional stimuli. *Front Psychol.* (2014) 5:278. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.201 4.00278
- Buchheit M, Simon C, Charloux A, Doutreleau S, Piquard F, Brandenberger G. Heart rate variability and intensity of habitual physical activity in middle-aged persons. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2005) 37:1530–4. doi: 10.1249/01.mss.0000177556.05081.77
- 94. Buchheit M, Simon C, Charloux A, Doutreleau S, Piquard F, Brandenberger G. Relationship between very high physical activity energy expenditure, heart rate variability and self-estimate of health status in middle-aged individuals. *Int J Sports Med.* (2006) 27:697–701. doi: 10.1055/s-2005-872929
- Sjöholm L, Lavebratt C, Forsell Y. A multifactorial developmental model for the etiology of major depression in a population-based sample. J Affect Disord. (2009) 113:66–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2008.04.028

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Tonello, Oliveira-Silva, Medeiros, Donato, Schuch, Donath and Boullosa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Motivated Cue Integration in Alexithymia: Improving Interoception and Emotion Information Processing by Awareness-of-Sensation Techniques

Idit Shalev*

Laboratory for Embodiment and Self-Regulation, Department of Psychology, Ariel University, Ariel, Israel

Recent findings indicate that alexithymia is the result of a multidomain, multidimensional failure of interoception. Whereas much of the literature addresses the cognitive and affective aspects of alexithymia, less is known about the association between the failure of interoception and the process of motivated cue integration. The theory of motivated cue integration integrates high-level control processes with low-level embodied and contextual cues, suggesting that selective attention to internal and contextual cues results in the creation of meaning that, in turn, influences judgment and action generation. Conceptualized as a special case of the cue integration problem, alexithymia may be associated with restricted access to emotional cues, indicating impaired connectivity between low-level embodied cues and top-down goals and values. This problem may also be viewed as a means substitution problem, indicating the individual's need for alternative multisensory information. Based on this reasoning, interventions that exploit awarenessof-sensation techniques (e.g., mindfulness, experiential approach, focusing) may help to improve the distinction between bodily sensation and interpretation and to create meaning of situational state by substitution of inaccessible affective cues with alternative cues. Accordingly, clinicians and neuropsychologists can help individuals who suffer from alexithymia by training them to use awareness-of-sensation techniques and directing their attention to alternative multisensory cues as well as alternative cognitive configurations (e.g., mental images). Integrating peripheral cues in the moment-by-moment generation of meaning and self-regulation can improve affective judgment through the exchange of inaccessible affective cues with alternative ones.

Keywords: alexithymia, interoception, embodied cognition, focusing, mindfulness, awareness, motivated cue integration

ALEXITHYMIA AS A MARKER OF ATYPICAL INTEROCEPTION

Alexithymia is a personality trait characterized by difficulty in experiencing and expressing emotions (1, 2). Viewed as a continuum (3, 4), alexithymia manifests as difficulty in identifying feelings and in distinguishing them from bodily sensations of emotional arousal; difficulty in describing one's own feelings; and an externally oriented cognitive style, i.e., a focusing of one's attention externally

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy

Reviewed by:

Federica Vellante, Università degli Studi G. d'Annunzio Chieti e Pescara, Italy Carmine Tomasetti, SPDC di Giulianova, Italy

> *Correspondence: Idit Shalev shalev.idit@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 28 March 2019 Accepted: 29 April 2019 Published: 10 May 2019

Citation:

Shalev I (2019) Motivated Cue Integration in Alexithymia: Improving Interoception and Emotion Information Processing by Awareness-of-Sensation Techniques. Front. Psychiatry 10:329. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00329

18

with little introspection or insight into one's own feelings (5). Recent findings indicate that alexithymia is the result of a multidomain, multidimensional failure of interoception (6, 7). Garfinkel and Critchley (8) differentiated between the different dimensions of interoception. Accordingly, they defined interoceptive accuracy as the ability to detect signals from within the body and interoceptive sensibility as the ability to report on body states (9). Lastly, interoceptive awareness refers to both the awareness of body states and confidence in the accuracy of interoceptive states [see Ref. (10)]. From the perspective of the dimensional elements of interoception and in light of the results of recent research, the impairment in alexithymia may be associated both with reduced interoceptive accuracy and with poor integration of interoceptive information with ongoing cognition, regardless of the interoceptive signal under consideration (7).

There is evidence that both the symptom commonalities between psychiatric disorders and the symptom heterogeneity within disorders may be based on interoception (11, 12). The link between interoception and alexithymia accounts for symptom intercorrelations, suggesting that interoceptive ability may underpin the p-factor, a first-order umbrella factor that describes the severity of psychopathology and its associated neural dysfunction and that is found by performing confirmatory factor analysis on the co-occurrence of particular symptoms across diagnostic categories (6, 13–15). Accordingly, the failure of interoception found in alexithymia has been shown to affect functions of higher cognition such as learning (16), decision-making (17), emotion processing (18–21), and cognitive control (22).

Following this view, the neural processing in alexithymia is activated mainly on the physiological, motor-expressive level and less in associating the produced information with cognitive and emotional response domains (22, 23). These and similar findings suggest that alexithymics exhibit amplified activity-shown by greater hormonal arousal responses during visceral painin brain areas believed to be involved in physical sensation. Likewise, increased activity has been reported in the insula, anterior cingulate cortex, and midbrain (22, 23). These structural deficits reveal themselves in complex social situations, indicating that alexithymia presents with limited subjective awareness of the internal state of the body along with impaired cognitive processing of emotion. Alexithymics thus may be unable to use affective signals as guidance for their behavior. Following this view, affected individuals are characterized by exaggerated concentration on and amplification of the somatic sensations associated with the emotional arousal caused by alexithymia. The misinterpretation of these sensations can foster hypersensitivity to bodily sensations and somatic complaints and can lead to hypochondriasis or somatization disorder (24). Indeed, the failure to cognitively regulate distressing emotions may cause prolonged states of sympathetic nervous system arousal (25) that, in turn, could contribute to the development of certain types of somatic illness, such as functional gastrointestinal disorders (26) and essential hypertension (27).

At the neuropsychological level, findings demonstrate that processing and automatically using high-arousal emotional information to respond to concomitant behavioral demands is difficult in alexithymia (28). Likewise, there are strong indications that alexithymic characteristics are associated with impairments in the controlled processing of facial and lexical emotion stimuli. Research has shown that alexithymic individuals suffer from deficits in the automatic recognition of affective valence and reduced involuntary allocation of attention toward emotional information. Such deficits are associated with difficulty in developing healthy emotional reactions and in understanding emotional stimuli at a conscious or controlled level of processing (29).

These findings help explain the feelings of stress, ambiguity, and indecision reported by individuals who suffer from alexithymia. The difficulty alexithymic people have in learning and in decisionmaking may exacerbate the levels of stress they feel when confronted with the constantly changing environmental demands of daily life. Likewise, the mismatch between physiological arousal and emotional awareness that manifests in alexithymia may inhibit decision-making in alexithymic individuals (30).

Theory of Motivated Cue Integration

The theory of motivated cue integration (MCI) (31, 32) explains how individuals integrate goals, embodied cues, and multisensory information to create meaning. On the one hand, active goals influence the feasibility of relevant embodied cues (31). On the other hand, the perceiver's likelihood of drawing a specific inference may be proportional to the strengths of the associations between the contextual cues and multisensory data encountered by the individual (33). The MCI theory integrates high-level control processes with low-level embodied and contextual cues. Thus, according to MCI, selective attention to internal and contextual cues results in different patterns of organization that, in turn, influence judgment and action generation. From a neurophysiological perspective, MCI explains the interaction between the dorsolateral areas of the brain involved in the control process associated with goals and action generation and the ventromedial areas involved in motivation and value.

In line with control theories, goal systems theory (34) suggests that the individual's choice of actions is driven by the mental representation of goals that they chronically hold or is elicited by the contextual cues of the given situation [e.g., Ref. (35, 36)]. Goals are defined as cognitive representations of desired end points that affect evaluations, emotions, and behaviors (37). The relations between goals and means are depicted in terms of an interconnected cognitive architecture [see also Ref. (38)], wherein a superordinate goal is connected to lower-level, or subordinate, goals that, in turn, are linked to their own means of attainment (35, 39). There potentially exist several alternative means to the same goal that could substitute for each other. Whereas goal systems theory has demonstrated the role of the control process to address situational demands (34), little is known of the integration between control processes and homeostatic and embodied signals. Some research of the socio-emotional aspects of embodied cognition has demonstrated the association between physical sensation and active goals. For example, the findings of Bargh and Shalev (40) indicated that physical and social warmth are substitutable to address the problem of loneliness. Zhang and Risen (41) found that feeling physically cold motivated people to seek social warmth. Likewise, the results of Fay and Maner (42) indicated that warmth satisfied active affiliative motives. Whereas these findings indicate the association between embodied homeostatic cues and interpretation of psychological situational state [see Refs. (43–45)], little is known about the general process of MCI, especially under conditions of affective cue deficits.

To fill this gap in knowledge, from the perspective of MCI, Shalev (31, 32) suggested that individual differences could be partially explained by the types of integration they make between accessible perceptual cues and their unique cognitive configurations (e.g., multisensory input, emotions, mental images). Individuals' patterns of structural and motivational constraints influence the way they organize semantic information, which shapes the meaning of the psychological experience. Some representative examples of structural and motivational constraints include the unique associations between goals and means (31), the repeated coupling of sensory signals (46), and the strength of the association between specific bodily sensations and psychological concepts such as the association between homeostatic cues (e.g., temperature, dryness) and psychological concepts (40, 43-45, 47). The cue integration process is influenced by situational demands, past experience, and psychiatric and neuropsychological deficits (e.g., cognitive flexibility) (31).

Alexithymia and the Theory of Motivated Cue Integration

MCI thus provides a framework within which to understand the problem of interoception and affective information processing in alexithymia. Conceptualized as a special case of the cue integration problem, alexithymia may be caused by individuals' restricted access to the contribution of emotion to their means for goal attainment and by a lack of connectivity between their low-level embodied cues and their top–down goals and values.

That is because emotions are the instantaneous, moment-tomoment output of a continuous sequence of behavior and evaluations of situational demands that enable rapid mobilization and action initiation (48). Put differently, emotions are selfregulatory responses that people exploit to efficiently coordinate themselves toward goal-directed behavior. As Frijda (49) noted, specific emotions imply specific eliciting stimuli, specific action tendencies, and specific reinforcers. When it functions properly, this system allows one to flexibly adapt to changing environmental demands. Inefficient affective information processing or lack of association between embodied cues and top–down goals, in contrast, leads to affective dysregulation and inaction. When this inefficiency becomes severe, various forms of pathology are said to exist (50).

The theory of MCI suggests that the problem of low access to emotional information be viewed as a means substitution problem (34), indicating the individual's need to switch to alternative means when goal progress *via* a prior means was thwarted. Accordingly, MCI suggests that selective attention to low-level sensory data and mental images may help fill the gap created by the lack of access to emotion among alexithymic individuals.

The difficulty accessing affective signals that is described for alexithymia dovetails well with the skills that are targeted for

development in mindfulness and other awareness-of-sensation techniques.

Use of Awareness-of-Sensation Techniques to Reduce Alexithymia

Mindfulness and other awareness-of-sensation techniques promote an open and conscious awareness of experience that is achieved by observing and acknowledging subjective experiences. Furthermore, it encourages individuals to develop a qualitative and articulated appreciation of their present experiences (51) that enables one to direct selective attention to peripheral cues and to re-integrate these cues to create meaning. Although initial evidence from a meta-analysis of 17 studies suggests that deficient emotional clarity, a major characteristic of alexithymia, may be enhanced by mindfulness-based interventions, there is a need for additional research (52). Research in the practice of mindfulness termed one's experience of an openness to sensory data "decentering" (53), which describes how an individual increases his or her awareness of his or her unique motivational constraints (e.g., strength of association, type of mental images, metaphors) and of multiple sporadic multisensory signals. As such, decentering functions to reset the emotional context associated with prior judgment to a state of low arousal grounded in visceral sensations. Based on this reasoning, decentering enables the neural principle of interoceptive recovery or the restoration of suppressed viscerosensory brain circuits after emotional challenge (54). A similar process of attention to the flow of internal cues that was recognized early by the humanistic approach was termed "experiencing" (55), which was defined as the manner in which the individual attends to the continuous flow of sensory data, known as feeling. While Rogers' conceptualization placed a strong emphasis on how the person's feelings and constructs combined to contribute to his or her notion of self, the approach of others like Gendlin (56) stressed the perceived shifts in the actual bodily sensations associated with the person's feelings and the insights that emerged from these changes in bodily experience. In line with this view, the practice of focusing suggests that in attending to bodily sensations, the focuser assigns to them words, mental images, or phrases that express the present sensory experience. These words or images can be tested against the bodily sensations, which will not resonate with words or phrases that do not adequately describe them. Once the focuser has accurately linked sensations with words, new words or images emerge that provide the focuser with new insight into the experienced context. Eventually, there will be a shift in experiencing as the person gains some clarity about his or her emotional state and begins to move forward (57).

Following this reasoning, clinicians and neuropsychologists can help individuals who suffer from alexithymia by coaching them to use awareness-of-sensation techniques. Not only can this promote relaxation or self-acceptance; it can also facilitate interoceptive improvement by better distinction between bodily sensation and psychological interpretation. Likewise, integrating peripheral cues in the moment-by-moment creation of meaning can improve affective judgment through the exchange of inaccessible affective cues with alternative ones. Future research will focus on evaluating the effectiveness of these techniques in improving judgment that results in appropriate action generation in contexts involving emotion. Such investigations will contribute to the state of the art of evidence-based research in the area of moment-by-moment self-regulation (32) and interoceptive awareness and the possible synergy between the two.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

No datasets were generated or analyzed for this study.

REFERENCES

- Sifneos PE. The prevalence of 'alexithymic' characteristics in psychosomatic patients. *Psychother Psychosom* (1973) 22:255–62. doi: 10.1159/000286529
- Vorst HC, Bermond B. Validity and reliability of the Bermond-Vorst alexithymia questionnaire. *Pers Individ Differ* (2001) 30:413–34. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00033-7
- Mattila AK, Keefer KV, Taylor GJ, Joukamaa M, Jula A, Parker JD, et al. Taxometric analysis of alexithymia in a general population sample from Finland. Pers Individ Differ (2010) 49:216–21. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2010.03.038
- Parker JD, Keefer KV, Taylor GJ, Bagby RM. Latent structure of the alexithymia construct: a taxometric investigation. *Psychol Assess* (2008) 20:385. doi: 10.1037/a0014262
- Nemiah JC, Freyberger H, Sifneos PE, Hill OW. Modern Trends in Psychosomatic Medicine. *Alexithymia: a view of the psychosomatic process* (1976) 3:430–9.
- Murphy J, Brewer R, Catmur C, Bird G. Interoception and psychopathology: a developmental neuroscience perspective. *Dev Cogn Neurosci* (2017) 23:45– 56. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2016.12.006
- Murphy J, Catmur C, Bird G. Alexithymia is associated with a multidomain, multidimensional failure of interoception: evidence from novel tests. J Exp Psychol Gen (2018) 147:398. doi: 10.1037/xge0000366
- Garfinkel SN, Critchley HD. Interoception, emotion and brain: new insights link internal physiology to social behaviour. Commentary on: "Anterior insular cortex mediates bodily sensibility and social anxiety" by Terasawa et al. (2012). Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci (2013) 8:231–4.
- Tsakiris M, Jiménez AT, Costantini M. Just a heartbeat away from one's body: interoceptive sensitivity predicts malleability of body-representations. *Proc R Soc B Biol Sci* (2011) 278:2470–6. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2010.2547
- Garfinkel SN, Seth AK, Barrett AB, Suzuki K, Critchley HD. Knowing your own heart: distinguishing interoceptive accuracy from interoceptive awareness. *Biol Psycho* (2015) 104:65–74. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2014.11.004
- Khalsa SS, Adolphs R, Cameron OG, Critchley HD, Davenport PW, Feinstein JS, et al. Interoception and mental health: a roadmap. *Biol Psych Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging* (2018) 3:501–13. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2018.04.007
- Victor TA, Khalsa SS, Simmons WK, Feinstein JS, Savitz J, Aupperle RL, et al. Tulsa 1000: a naturalistic study protocol for multilevel assessment and outcome prediction in a large psychiatric sample. *BMJ Open* (2018) 8:e016620.
- Caspi A, Houts RM, Belsky DW, Goldman-Mellor SJ, Harrington H, Israel S, et al. The p factor: one general psychopathology factor in the structure of psychiatric disorders? *Clin Psychol Sci* (2014) 2:119–37. doi: 10.1177/2167702613497473
- Laceulle OM, Vollebergh WAM, Ormel J. The structure of psychopathology in adolescence: replication of a general psychopathology factor in the TRAILS study. *Clin Psychol Sci* (2015) 3:850–60. doi: 10.1177/ 2167702614560750
- Lahey BB, Applegate B, Hakes JK, Zald DH, Hariri AR, Rathouz PJ. Is there a general factor of prevalent psychopathology during adulthood? J Abnorm Psychol (2012) 121:971–7. doi: 10.1037/a0028355
- Katkin ES, Wiens S, Öhman A. Nonconscious fear conditioning, visceral perception, and the development of gut feelings. *Psychol Sci* (2001) 12:366– 70. doi: 10.1111/1467-9280.00368

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This research was funded by Ariel University research authority internal grant number RA1900000095 to IS.

- Werner NS, Schweitzer N, Meindl T, Duschek S, Kambeitz J, Schandry R. Interoceptive awareness moderates neural activity during decision-making. *Bio Psycho* (2013) 94:498–506.
- Füstös J, Gramann K, Herbert BM, Pollatos O. On the embodiment of emotion regulation: interoceptive awareness facilitates reappraisal. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci (2013) 8(8):911–7. doi: 10.1093/scan/nss089
- 19. Schandry R. Heart beat perception and emotional experience. *Psychophy* (1981) 18:483–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1981.tb02486.x
- Terasawa Y, Fukushima H, Umeda S. How does interoceptive awareness interact with the subjective experience of emotion? An fMRI study. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2013) 34:598–612.
- 21. Wiens S, Mezzacappa ES, Katkin ES. Heart beat detection and the experience of emotions. *Cog Emot* (2000) 14:417–27. doi: 10.1080/026999300378905
- 22. Sueyoshi T, Sugimoto F, Katayama JI, Fukushima H. Neural correlates of error processing reflect individual differences in interoceptive sensitivity. *Inter J Psychophy* (2014) 94:278–86. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho. 2014.10.001
- Meza-Concha N, Arancibia M, Salas F, Behar R, Salas G, Silva H, et al. Towards a neurobiological understanding of alexithymia. *Medwave* (2017) 17:6960. doi: 10.5867/medwave.2017.04.6960
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Parker JDA. Disorders of affect regulation: alexithymia in medical and psychiatric illness. Cambridge University Press (1999). doi: 10.1017/ CBO9780511526831
- Luminet O, Rimé B, Bagby RM, Taylor G. A multimodal investigation of emotional responding in alexithymia. Cog Emot (2004) 18:741–66. doi: 10.1080/02699930341000275
- Porcelli P, Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, De Carne M. Alexithymia and functional gastrointestinal disorders. *Psychother Psychosom* (1999) 68:263–9. doi: 10.1159/000012342
- Todarello O, Taylor GJ, Parker JD, Fanelli M. Alexithymia in essential hypertensive and psychiatric outpatients: a comparative study. J Psychosom Res (1995) 39:987–94. doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(95)00506-4
- Vermeulen N, Luminet O, Corneille O. Alexithymia and the automatic processing of affective information: evidence from the affective priming paradigm. Cog Emot (2006) 20:64–91. doi: 10.1080/02699930500304654
- Donges US, Kersting A, Suslow T. Women's greater ability to perceive happy facial emotion automatically: gender differences in affective priming. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e41745. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041745
- Papciak AS, Feuerstein M, Spiegel JA. Stress reactivity in alexithymia: decoupling of physiological and cognitive responses. J Hum Stress (1985) 11:135–42. doi: 10.1080/0097840X.1985.9936750
- Shalev I. The architecture of embodied cue integration: insight from the "motivation as cognition" perspective. *Front Psychol* (2015) 6:658. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00658
- Shalev I. Using motivated cue integration theory to understand a momentby-moment transformative change: a new look at the focusing technique. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2018) 12:307. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2018.00307
- Zaki J. Cue integration: a common framework for social cognition and physical perception. *Pers Psych Sci* (2013) 8:296–312. doi: 10.1177/ 1745691613475454
- Kruglanski AW, Shah JY, Fishbach A, Friedman R, Chun WY, Sleeth-Keppler D. A theory of goal systems. *Adv Exper Soc Psychol* (2002) 34:331–78. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2601(02)80008-9

- Aarts H, Dijksterhuis A. Habits as knowledge structures: automaticity in goal-directed behavior. J Per Soc Psych (2000) 78:53–63. doi: 10.1037/ 0022-3514.78.1.53
- Gollwitzer PM, Moskowitz GB. Goal effects on action and cognition. In: Higgins ET, Kruglanski AW, editors. Social psychology: handbook of basic principles. Guilford (1996). p. 361–99.
- Fishbach A, Ferguson MJ. The goal construct in social psychology. In: Kruglanski AW, Higgins ET, editors. Social psychology: handbook of basic principles. Guilford (2007). p. 490–515.
- Bargh JA, Gollwitzer PM. Environmental control of goal-directed action: automatic and strategic contingencies between situations and behavior. *Nebraska Symp Motiv* (1994) 41:71–124.
- Bargh JA, Ferguson MJ. Beyond behaviorism: the automaticity of higher mental processes. *Psychol Bull* (2000) 126:925–45. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.126.6.925
- Bargh JA, Shalev I. The substitutability of physical and social warmth in daily life. *Emotion* (2012) 12:154–62. doi: 10.1037/a0023527
- Zhang Y, Risen JL. Embodied motivation: using a goal systems framework to understand the preference for social and physical warmth. J Per Soc Psych (2014) 107:965. doi: 10.1037/a0038153
- 42. Fay AJ, Maner JK. Comfortably warm: a momentary lapse of reaffiliation after exclusion. *J Exp Psychol Gen* (2018) 147:1154. doi: 10.1037/xge0000479
- Shalev I. Implicit energy loss: embodied dryness cues influence vitality and depletion. J Consum Psych (2014) 24:260–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jcps.2013.09.011
- Shalev I. Pictorial and mental arid landscape images reduce the motivation to change negative habits. *J Environ Psych* (2016) 45:30–9. doi: 10.1016/j. jenvp.2015.11.005
- 45. Halali E, Meiran N, Shalev I. Keep it cool: temperature priming effect on cognitive control. *Psychological Research* (2017) 81(2):343–54.
- Rescorla RA. Pavlovian conditioning analogues to Gestalt perceptual principles. In: Affect, conditioning, and cognition: essays on the determinants of behavior. (1985) p. 113–30.
- Lee DS, Kim E, Schwarz N. Something smells fishy: olfactory suspicion cues improve performance on the Moses illusion and Wason rule discovery task. *J Exp Soc Psychol* (2015) 59:47–50. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2015.03.006

- Levenson EA. The pursuit of the particular: on the psychoanalytic inquiry. *Contemp Psychoanal* (1988) 24:1–16. doi: 10.1080/00107530.1988.10746216
- Frijda NH. The laws of emotion. Am Psychol (1988) 43:349. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.43.5.349
- Thayer JF, Lane RD. A model of neurovisceral integration in emotion regulation and dysregulation. J Affect Disord (2000) 61:201–16. doi: 10.1016/ S0165-0327(00)00338-4
- Bishop SR, Lau M, Shapiro S, Carlson L, Anderson ND, Carmody J, et al. Mindfulness: a proposed operational definition. *Clin Psychol Sci Pract* (2004) 11:230–41. doi: 10.1093/clipsy.bph077
- Cooper D, Yap K, Batalha L. Mindfulness-based interventions and their effects on emotional clarity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord (2018) 235:265–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.04.018
- Hayes-Skelton S, Graham J. Decentering as a common link among mindfulness, cognitive reappraisal, and social anxiety. *Behav Cogn Psychother* (2013) 41:317–28. doi: 10.1017/S1352465812000902
- Farb NA, Anderson AK, Mayberg H, Bean J, McKeon D, Segal ZV. Minding one's emotions: mindfulness training alters the neural expression of sadness. *Emotion* (2010) 10:25. doi: 10.1037/a0017151
- Rogers CR. A process conception of psychotherapy. Am Psychol (1958) 13:142. doi: 10.1037/h0042129
- 56. Gendlin ET. A theory of personality change. Pers Change (1964) 100-48.
- 57. Gendlin ET. Focusing-oriented psychotherapy: a manual of the experiential method. Guilford Press (2012).

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Shalev. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A History of the Alexithymia Concept and Its Explanatory Models: An Epistemological Perspective

Francisco López-Muñoz^{1,2,3,4*} and Francisco Pérez-Fernández¹

¹ Department of Psychology, Faculty of Education and Health, University Camilo José Cela, Madrid, Spain, ² Neuropsychopharmacology Unit, Hospital Doce de Octubre Research Institute (i+12), Madrid, Spain, ³ Portucalense Institute of Neuropsychology and Cognitive and Behavioural Neurosciences (INPP), Portucalense University, Porto, Portugal, ⁴ Thematic Network for Cooperative Health Research (RETICS), Addictive Disorders Network, Health Institute Carlos III, MICINN and FEDER, Madrid, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy

Reviewed by:

Laura Orsolini, University of Hertfordshire, United Kingdom Federica Vellante, Università degli Studi G. d'Annunzio Chieti e Pescara, Italy Roberta Vecchiotti, Hermanas Hospitalarias, Italy

> ***Correspondence:** Francisco López-Muñoz flopez@ucjc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 15 October 2019 Accepted: 27 December 2019 Published: 31 January 2020

Citation:

López-Muñoz F and Pérez-Fernández F (2020) A History of the Alexithymia Concept and Its Explanatory Models: An Epistemological Perspective. Front. Psychiatry 10:1026. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.01026 Alexithymia, as a theoretical psychotherapeutic construct, finds its origins in psychosomatic medicine, actually being quite old. However, beyond the specific observations and case studies, their characterization and systematization is relatively recent. However, from an epistemological point of view, it remains the subject of debate and therefore remains outside the conventional diagnostic guidelines. Possibly, its history, closely linked to psychoanalysis, as well as the lack of clear empirical references, has turned the alexithymia construct before into a good descriptive and comprehensive framework than in a precise diagnostic model. In this article it is, following the thread conduits of the historical perspective, to deepen these epistemological aspects.

Keywords: alexithymia, history, therapeutic models, psychosomatic medicine, theoretical constructs

INTRODUCTION

Psychosomatic medicine in general is based on the principle that emotions and personality have an impact on bodily functions, and thereby play a part in physical wellbeing or illness. Nevertheless, because the mechanisms of these interactions are not clear, very few of its explanatory models have gained the consideration of research paradigm (1). In fact, today's psychosomatic model dates back to the explanations provided by Sigmund Freud (1856–1939) on the understanding of neurosis, whereby it has its origin in the theoretical bases of the orthodox psychoanalytical model that summarily contends that the intrapsychic conflict that explains both the genesis and development of the structuring of personality, together with its pathologies, prompts a high level of emotional activation that may cause more or less serious damage to the organism (2). This hypothesis has been widely debated for decades inasmuch as it was complicated to establish clear empirical references to support it, which gave rise to far-reaching controversies that even affected the very development of psychoanalysis as a school, giving rise to a broad diversification of the heterodoxy (3). Nevertheless, the appearance of the construct of alexithymia appeared to go some way to resolving many of these inconsistencies by finding quantifiable empirical referents that rekindled the interest in different biological aspects of Freud's controversial theory (4).

Nonetheless, and beyond Freud, the issue enjoys a long-standing medical tradition, which would in due course be consolidated within the field of psychiatry, as throughout the 19th century it seemed clear that emotion, personality, and health were closely related. This meant that professionals soon raised the

question of how to establish a two-way nexus between mental functions and physical states (5). Thus, for example, the US surgeon William Beaumont (1785–1853) established that fear and anger reduced the amount of gastric mucus secreted (6). The same may be said in relation to the first controlled studies on hypnosis, as a British surgeon called James Braid (1795–1860) used experimental means to prove that patients subject to hypnotic suggestion suffered less physical pain during surgical procedures (7). It therefore stands to reason that a school of medical inspiration in origin, such as Freudian psychoanalysis, and inspired by the work undertaken by the neurologist Jean-Martin Charcot (1825–1893) in La Salpêtrière Hospital in Paris, should embrace these and other findings in its explanation of the causes and consequences of neurotic processes.

The widespread dissemination of approaches of this nature, which converged in the psychosomatic hypothesis, specifically took place in the 1940s and 1950s by the hand of doctors trained in psychoanalysis, such as Franz Gabriel Alexander (1891–1964) and Felix Deutsch (1884-1964), among others (1). Indeed, the psychosomatic paradigm added emphasis to the role of conflicts of the unconscious by generating states of chronic activation in patients in physiological pathologies, and even in some kind of tissue alterations. As is logical, this hypothesis, focusing on the organic effects of emotion, involved a new approach to therapy, inasmuch as it was assumed that together with psychogenic and biological aspects, environmental stresses would also have an important part to play in the origin and development of all nature of complaints, as factors that would also alter an individual's emotional state to a greater or lesser extent (8). We should note, however, that despite the importance these authors gave to the intrapsychic conflict, the aim here was not to uphold a psychoanalytical approach linked to Freudian orthodoxy, as the pathogenic mechanism would not be actually symbolic, but instead of a psychobiological nature (9).

Whatever the case, the psychosomatic model based on an individual's internal conflict was backed by scant empirical evidence, whereby it began to be seriously questioned toward the end of the 1950s; above all because the therapeutic model based on psychoanalytical models did not appear to provide results that were both uniform and consistent. Although certain patients made headway in reducing the physical symptoms of their disorders, others, especially when they manifested development-related problems, only appeared to record clear benefits related to their physiological problems when they underwent other kinds of psychodynamic therapies of psychological support, such as the well-known brief psychodynamic therapy. In fact, some even worsened when they were prompted to look for the unconscious reasons for their motivations, a situation that ultimately raised doubts about the psychosomatic approach itself (10, 11).

ALEXITHYMIA AS A MODEL

The crisis of the therapeutic model based on psychoanalysis for addressing psychosomatic problems did not question the existence of such problems, as their clinical evidence seemed clear and consistent, but instead the way of explaining them with a view to seeking alternative approaches. This means that the concept of alexithymia was not the result of an eureka moment, but instead emerged in the early 1970s following a protracted period of reflection and the evaluation of sundry alternative hypotheses (1).

Back in 1948, a psychiatrist of Swiss origin called Jürgen Ruesch (1910–1995) reported finding a unique casuistic among his patients: those that experienced topical psychosomatic complaints-such as migraines, abdominal disorders, and hypertension, as well as other chronic physiological complaints, were characterized by being scarcely imaginative, as well as having problems with the verbal and symbolic expression of emotions different to those usually found in patients with disorders other than somatic symptoms (12). Before being seen as a disorder of neurotic origin, this problem was considered a difficulty arising from a deficient personality development, understanding this to be the main cause of psychosomatic disorders. Along these same lines, and around the same time, authors such as the US neuroscientist Paul MacLean (1913-2007), known for his popular triune brain theory, contended that patients with psychosomatic complaints encountered difficulties in expressing their feelings, speculating with the possibility that this might be due to a weak consolidation of the areas of the neocortex related to language processing: the emotions that caused the patient significant distress were not suitably symbolized, whereby they were manifested through what was referred to as "organic language" (13).

In the early 1950s, even psychoanalysts themselves began to encounter a growing number of cases that broke with the traditional model of intrapsychic conflict. Thus, for example, Karen Horney (1885-1952) first reported that some of her patients were immune to psychoanalytical treatment due to a significant lack of emotional awareness, little expression of their internal states, a minimal interest in their dreams and fantasies, excessive focus on thoughts and, as a result, pursued a superficial life-style focused on outside experience (14). Nonetheless, what was of interest to Horney was that this type of patient was prone to develop psychosomatic problems, eating disorders, polydrug use and, in general, all kinds of compulsive behaviors that, it seems, were closely related to the systematic avoidance of the understanding of their own emotions and a profound feeling of emptiness. What is important, at this point, is that despite admitting that these people did not fit into the traditional model for explaining neurosis, nor respond well to psychoanalytical therapy, Horney sought to attribute their behavior to the existence, in these individuals, of powerful and deeply rooted defenses against unconscious conflicts (1). This approach began to change among the advocates of psychoanalysis barely a decade later, with the appearance of specialists that began to reject the model of neurotic defense in favor of a more eclectic approach. This was when the notion began to be accepted that these patients' behavior would involve, above all, personality deficits: given the lack of a rich inner life, these people focused their concerns on their organic symptoms

and the medium's influence, thus generating a model of "operational thinking", which ended up having a very negative impact on their interpersonal skills (15, 16).

Nevertheless, and despite the increasing amount of data on this specific type of patient in the clinical literature, it was not until the mid-1960s that the US psychiatrist John Case Nemiah (1918-2009) and his Greek-born colleague Peter Emanuel Sifneos (1920-2008) jointly embarked upon a systematic study of the cognitive style of a sample of individuals with common and persistent psychosomatic problems (17, 18). They came to the conclusion that compared to individuals with standard mental disorders, many of those that reported these associated physiological complaints found it extremely difficult to describe their subjective feelings, apart from having an impoverished fantasy, as well as a utilitarian cognitive style focusing on the outside. This unusual psychological concept was what in 1972 Sifneos coined as 'alexithymia', which is formed by the roots of several Greek words, and literally means "lack of words for emotion" (18-20).

Following the publication of these initial empirical findings, alexithymia began to quickly gain in popularity among practitioners of psychiatry and psychology. This was especially the case after two international conferences; the first held in London in 1972 and the second in Heidelberg in 1976, which established the importance of the alexithymia model in research into states of emotional deficit (18). In fact, following the London conference, it became clear that despite the contradictory views held by clinical and non-clinical specialists, there was a need to give the term uniformity when addressing problems of this kind if the aim was to ultimately find a framework of consensus that would pave the way for communication between basic and applied science. Hence it was agreed to replace the fuzzy concept of 'affection' by the more precise term of 'emotion' for all its somatic aspects, while the term 'feeling' was reserved for its cognitive components (18).

The truth is that a clear convergence swiftly appeared in the literature between a vast number of therapists and the model propounded by Nemiah and Sifneos. But it was not alone. The result was that the first empirical studies on alexithymia provided unidirectional results that soon consolidated a clear explanatory model based on four elementary premises: 1) difficulty in identifying and describing feelings; 2) difficulty in distinguishing between feelings and bodily sensations related to emotional activation; 3) restrained and limited imaginative processes, adopting the guise of an impoverished fantasy; and 4) a cognitive style oriented toward the outside (1). It is worth stressing, nonetheless, that alexithymia seemed to manifest itself in an unusual and paradoxical manner, as at first glance the patients appeared to express a strong sense of melancholy, with chronic dysphoria, or else outbursts of tears and anger. Nevertheless, following an in-depth interview, a specialist found that in reality these people knew quite little about their internal states and were often incapable of effectively relating them to memories, specific situations, or recurring fantasies (9). The important thing is that the approach taken by Nemiah and Sifneos allowed superseding the classical psychoanalytical proposal that used the link between the repressed effect and the somatic symptoms to shift the understanding of alexithymia toward a view close to developmental psychology: an alexithymic one, due to an inefficient psychological development that converged in a dysfunctional adult personality, would experience serious difficulties when cognitively integrating the effects, which would stop the patient being properly regulated and modulated. This would prompt, on the one hand, the usual communicative problems that are typical of the disorder and, and on the other, a clear vulnerability to experience a growing tension informed by non-differentiated states of unpleasant emotional activation (22).

Indeed, certain cases of alexithymia provided evidence of neurotic conflict in the classical sense of the concept, but it was soon evident that alexithymia could both be found in the very origin of these conflicts and strengthen others arising during its development, thereby revealing that the main problem of alexithymia was not so much one of neurosis, but the poor emotional regulation that its emotional deficits caused and, furthermore, pointed to an organic substrate (23). In view of this state of affairs, it was perfectly possible that intrapsychic conflicts could be one of the causes of the disorder, although they were undoubtedly not the main one, as psychoanalysts had believed for decades. In fact, alexithymia had transformed, largely, into describing someone with problems when cognitively processing emotions with complete independence of their origin and intensity. In fact, subsequent research both from the field of developmental psychology and from neuropsychology has found that the root of alexithymia could lie in either a problem of cerebral organization, or in a marked lack of suitable emotional models during the passage from childhood to adulthood, or else a combination of both factors (24, 25).

A DEBATED MODEL

In view of the approaches considered, Sifneos soon proposed a general etiological model for alexithymia that, to begin with, subdivided it into two types: primary and secondary. The primary one had its origin in a neuroanatomical or physiological defect, possibly hereditary in nature, whereby the communication between the limbic system and the neocortex would not function properly, affecting hemispherical lateralization, which would lead to an inability to associate fantasies, thoughts, and languages with emotions. The secondary one, in turn, is associated with psychological traumas in childhood, serious and prolonged traumatic aggressions in adulthood, or psychodynamic sociocultural factors that prompt an overuse of defensive mechanisms such

¹ α (a) or "no"; λέξις (lexis) or "speech/word"; θυμός (zümós) or "emotion/mind". While the noun λέξις in turn comes from the verb λέγω, which means "read", which provides the double meaning (adapted from the Spanish version by Lusiardo and Rodrigo (21).

as repression or negation (19, 21). Whatever the case, and without a clear empirical corroboration, this etiological explanation was based solely on clinical observations and case studies. Hence the reason that, in the first instances, the model of alexithymia proposed by Nemiah and Sifneos faced major opposition.

The first thing that was challenged was the fact that the proposal was based, as we have already stated, on scant empirical information, which meant there was no point in validating it inasmuch as it had not been properly verified (1). Indeed, it was a valid criticism insofar that many clinicians believed they had found an explanatory panacea for the somatic symptoms, which led to the misinterpretation of their own particular clinical experiences as a corroboration of the construct's validity when, in reality, what was happening was that they appeared to be fitting them subjectively to a pre-established model that had never been verified (26). Yet the second great reticence caused by the model of alexithymia was that it led to the commission of a serious mistake in interpretation: many researchers assumed the existence of a specific and consolidated relationship between alexithymia and the whole known raft of classic psychosomatic symptoms, when the truth is that the construct had been defined, rather than as a cause, as a factor of risk. Alexithymia thus heightened the patient's vulnerability toward psychosomatic disorders, but the efficient variables that prompted were others linked to the management of emotions, such as badly resolved situations of grief, poverty, and abandon, for example (2). In view of this, the most critical views estimated that the so-called "alexithymic characteristics" could be explained more effectively through directly observable factors, such as socioeconomic status or other variables of a situational nature, such as adverse life events, which prompted the patient to adopt systemized defensive strategies of resistance, negotiation, and negation, which again opened the door to a psychodynamic interpretation of the problem (27). This is the context that gave rise to new and popular psychoanalytical reviews of the construct, such as the one proposed by the New Zealander Joyce McDougall (1920-2011), who coined the phrase "emotionally deaf and dumb" to refer to patients suffering from alexithymia. McDougall, who chose to elude the intrapsychic conflict to concentrate on the problem of symbolic linguistic representation, linked alexithymia, and psychosis when finding that a psychotic and alexithymic patient treated language in a similar, but opposite way, which possibly means that both their pathological manifestations had a common origin. She thus explained that the psychotic patient tries to make up for their psycho-emotional deficits through the delirious use of words in order to overcome their anxiety, while the alexithymic patient tackled their anxiety by emptying their words of emotional meanings, which induced the psychosomatic disorder. This explained, in her view, why the psychotic patient expressed their delirium in a mental order, while the alexithymic one expressed their delirium in a physiological way (28).

On the other hand, and as an alternative critical pathway, transcultural studies had established the notion that neither the psychosomatic symptoms nor the verbal expression of emotions were universal, being mediated by specific cultural attitudes toward life events, as well as by the restrictions imposed by language in each case. Nevertheless, the response to this objection by the advocates of the model of alexithymia was that it was unlikely that sociocultural and language aspects could explain manifestations of alexithymia such as the reduction in imagination, impoverished fantasy, or poor symbolization, and they reproached their critics, who were generally behavioral therapists, that their analysis model did not even consider these kinds of hypotheses insofar as it had either clearly ignored them or studied them only superficially and with little theoretical rigor (1). Accordingly, those that defended the construct would say that they were not in this case faced with a question of "believing or not believing" in it, or of a problem intrinsically related to its internal validity, but instead with an epistemological difficulty that was due rather to the type of scientific paradigm it was analyzed from (29). In fact, other dimensional models based on internal hypotheses had proven their utility within the clinical field and in psychopathological research such as, for example, that of introversion-extroversion, and this was due to the fact that, like alexithymia, they should not be understood as a mere diagnosis, but instead as a personality trait (1). Nevertheless, Sifneos was convinced of the construct's validity, and of the fact that sooner or later he would find empirical proof of the same, as in 1973 he introduced a simple questionnaire, the Sifneos Alexithymia Questionnaire (SAQ) to be administered to patients in daily clinical practice. This screening test consisted of 17 items, of which eight referred to key issues for revealing a patient's symptoms of alexithymia (30). This instrument was subsequently reformulated by Sifneos himself, converting it into the Beth Israel Hospital Questionnaire (BIQ-1), comprising 21 items to be completed by the actual therapist based on their observations, which raised doubts about its objectivity insofar as the possibility of obtaining emotional results from the patient varied depending on the interviewer's experience (20, 31).

Indeed, neuropsychological research came to the aid of the alexithymia paradigm inasmuch as it detected, for example, that those patients that underwent a commissurotomy, or surgical incision into the callosal commissure, experienced, as the model predicted, many of the cluster of symptoms traditionally associated with the complaint: the visual-spatial information, with a major emotive content, processed by the right hemisphere of the brain, no longer travelled freely to the left hemisphere to be sequentially segmented and reformulated in a verbal format. These patients therefore encountered all kinds of difficulties when symbolizing, imagining, fantasizing, or expressing themselves emotionally, which made alexithymia, at least in functional terms, into a phenomenon that was the complete opposite to creativity (32).

In sum, the verbalization and use of emotions involved a transfer of data, with a transduction or change in the type of information contained in the same, between the limbic system and the cortex, as well as between both hemispheres of the brain, which is precisely the problem affecting the alexithymic patient. Consequently, the progressive clarification of the brain structures

involved in the processing of emotional activation shed empirical light on the model, at least in part, and helped to explain the fact that alexithymia often appeared in patients linked to substance abuse, sociopathic or borderline personality traits, eating disorders, panic attacks, somatoform disorders, or psychogenic pain (18). Moreover: as opposed to Horney's aforementioned opinion, attributing the shortcomings of psychoanalysis in these individuals to a firmly entrenched resistance to the unconscious, what really explained why traditional psychodynamic therapies fell short with these patients, specifically those of a primary nature, was that because of their organic difficulties for imagining, fantasizing, or visualizing situations, such therapeutic approaches were of little use and could even be counterproductive.

THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE CONSTRUCT

The advancement in the understanding of the neurological bases of alexithymic manifestations, as well as the slow but steady progress made in the clinical field, prompted numerous attempts to strengthen it through theoretical refinement and the collation of data gathered from exploratory sample studies. The first attempt, barely concealed among many professionals, involved dissociating insofar as possible alexithymia from the temptation to explain it solely in psychoanalytical terms and, of course, reinforce it in such fields as neuropsychology, developmental psychology, and personality psychology. This gave rise, to mention just one example, to studies that sought to influence the emotional symbolic development of children and adolescents, as well as their expression of emotions, in connection with the stages of development described by Jean Piaget (1896–1980). As is common knowledge, Piaget contended that psychological growth began with the acknowledgement of one's own physiological bodily conditions, and culminated in the cognitive recognition of the psychological states of others, whereby psycho-emotional development and the communication of emotions were key elements both in individuals' cognitive development and in the proper formation and consolidation of their personality (33). In short, the well-consolidated higher psychological processes that are the hallmark of the healthy adult, as propounded early on by the Austrian doctor Max Schur (1897-1969), were only possible largely through a progressive desomatization of the individual (34).

Based on these approaches, of psychoanalytical resonance in origin, subsequent developmental psychology focused its attention on, among other things, the way of symbolizing and integrating emotions, as well as their communicative functions, in keeping with the cognitive mechanisms involved in their regulation and modulation (22). This involved a basic line of research for the theoretical consolidation of the model of alexithymia inasmuch as, it seems, these mechanisms were absent, or were at least dysfunctional, in alexithymic patients, which rendered them vulnerable to the stresses generated in the non-differentiated states of emotional excitement that explained the disorder (1). Nevertheless, and in view of its own diagnostic conditions, given that it involved a descriptive concept based not on an illness but instead informed by the patient's complaint of one or more basic pains, there persists-and still persists in some way-the handicap of deciding whether alexithymia could be considered a personality trait in the true sense of the meaning or a state, which prompted the need to suitably evaluate both aspects (35). The fact that alexithymia was linked to different psychosomatic complaints may have led to its premature acceptance, and not necessarily the right one, of the existence of a direct relationship between alexithymia and psychosomatic illness, which constituted a problem when assessing the construct because the clinical observation found both psychosomatic patients that were not alexithymic and alexithymic patients that did not record any psychosomatic malaise whatsoever (31). In fact, a constant when addressing therapy with these kinds of patients was the scant literature on their treatment, as individuals with alexithymia rarely sought help on their own accord, and generally ended up visiting a specialist at the behest of someone close to them who was frustrated by their communicative shortcomings or on the advice of a medical practitioner confused by their constant physical complaints that were difficult to determine and resisted traditional medical treatment (36).

This may explain why it was thought that the solution for addressing alexithymia, which in clinical practice was both a recurring and unquestionable phenomenon, would come from its controlled assessment through instruments. Sifneos himself, aware of the methodological limitations inherent to BIQ-1, did not take long to present BIQ-2, in this case a self-assessment scale consisting of semi-structured questions that patients were required to answer and, in theory, provided the therapist with first-hand information over and above that gathered during the clinical interview (37). This led to other measures such as the Schalling-Sifneos Personality Scale, the Alexithymia Scale of Noël, and the widely used Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS) (38). They were accompanied by structured interview procedures, such as the Alexithymia Provoked Response Questionnaire (APQR) (39), as well as the combined use of the appropriate tools with other common psychodiagnostic tests such as MMPI, TAT, and AT-9 in order to obtain more complete observations (31). All this led to a fairly accurate profile of an average person with alexithymia -generally a male who reported their first complaints at a mature age-as well as an epidemiological interest that revealed that this complaint was more frequent among the general population than initially thought, with the impact of alexithymia, furthermore, varying depending on the specific populations under study, but not in transcultural studies: more common among patients with psychosomatic complaints than among patients with other health issues; more common among those addicted to psychoactive substances and, in general, with an impact of between 8% and 10% in the normal undiagnosed population (31).

The gradual severance of the close bond that had historically been forged between alexithymia and psychosomatic pain

History of Alexithymia Concept

allowed extending the problem's horizon and, therefore, calibrating the construct's validity in sundry fields, both psychosociological and cultural ones and regarding the field of health. Indeed, the focus began to turn toward alexithymia as a personal condition and not simply as a mere medical problem, or solely due to a diagnosable medical disorder. Thus for example, and given the shortcomings in the emotional management of alexithymia, it was thought that a parallel model of analysis could be established between alexithymia and psychopathy given the latter's popular characterization by Hervey Cleckley (1903-1984), who among other things described a psychopath as having a significant deficit in the management and understanding of emotions. This led to a systemic study of the relationships between psychopathy and alexithymia in a sample of women by comparing the results obtained on the PCL-R psychopathy checklist of Robert Hare (b. 1934) and the measure of alexithymia provided by the TAS scale (40). Despite the similarity in the deficiency of the emotional manifestations affecting both constructs, and possibly constituting one of its main symptoms, it was found that they were not interchangeable insofar as they did not refer to the same thing, nor did they measure equivalent or correlative aspects of emotion.

The end result was a set of evidence that was difficult to doubt regarding the construct of alexithymia. The first and key piece of evidence was its undoubtable entity. In fact, although subject to permanent criticism, even its detractors had to accept its advantageous nature as an operational element, whereby a raft of clinical features subsumed beneath a single concept and systematically affected a specific group of disorders and patients with very specific characteristics (41). Thus, and despite its non-introduction-at least for the time being-in standard diagnostic classifications because of its debated statustrait versus state-those in favor of the model found a way of defending with assurances that although it could not be acknowledged as a diagnostic entity in its own right, it had the intrinsic value of characterizing and operationalizing a long history of psycho-medical observations of great social import which, until their appearance and systematization, had remained within the sphere of the undefined, thereby generating some considerable perplexity among specialists and the inconsistent treatment of patients (42).

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN ALEXITHYMIA

From the described perspective, recent research has focused on exploring the links of alexithymia, understood as a stable personality trait present in some patients, and various medical and psychiatric conditions. For example, a study of relationships between insight and alexithymia in adult outpatients diagnosed with obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD) showed that the subjects of the sample that obtained higher scores on the TAS-20 scale also reflected poor or absent insight (43). Similarly, further work has established clear connections between body image disturbances and alexithymia in women with severe premenstrual dysphoric disorder (PDD) and patients with serious binge eating disorder (BDD). In the last case, moreover, the presence of alexithymia not only impoverished the evaluation and bodily satisfaction of individuals, but also seemed to increase depressive symptoms (44–46).

The relationships between alexithymia and other organic conditions have also been investigated, such as the presence of acute phase proteins—especially C-reactive protein—lipid levels, cholesterol, and cytokine imbalance, with special attention at the area of drug naïve outpatients diagnosed with other pathologies, such as OCD, major depression (MD), or panic disorder (PD). The results seem to establish links between alexithymic patients with OCD, MD, and PD and the presence of poor cholesterol regulation and high suicide ideation (47-49). Also, in line with the "stress-alexithymia hypothesis", there seems to be a clear relationship between the high presence of C-reactive protein in blood and alexithymia. This connection motivates that the proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine balance may be tuned toward a pro-inflammatory imbalance with a concomitant altered cell-mediated immunity. These results point to the idea that the presence of alexithymic features in the patient should encourage more comprehensive therapeutic approaches, both medical and psychological, that could prevent the development of more severe diseases in alexithymic patients and, logically, improve their quality of life (50).

However, one of the main lines of research in the field is the risk of suicide, and there is a wide literature that seems to coincide in the fact that the presence of alexithymic traits in the individuals significantly increases suicidal behavior. Initially, it was thought that alexithymia, in suicides, would be associated mainly with depressive symptoms, so it could operate as a predictive factor for this type of behavior (51). Subsequent integrative studies have also shown that suicidal depressants with alexithymic traits-a fact that has also been found in relation to other psychiatric disorders as already indicatedshowed elevated blood cholesterol levels, as well as deregulation of C-reactive protein and homocysteine. Consequently, this would confirm to some extent, and in the absence of further evidence, the predictions of "stress-alexithymia hypothesis" (52, 53): alexithymia could be a chronic condition of the patient, possibly due to childhood or early adolescence in that there were systematic abuses and/or abandonment, which would cause in the subject a state of pronounced inflammation with an impaired hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis reactivity toward the usual stressors of daily life. Thus, the manifestation of alexithymia would operate as a chronic response to stress that would complicate both psychiatric disorders and other medical conditions (54).

CONCLUSION: BRIEF FINAL THOUGHTS

To a certain extent, the historical debate on the issue of alexithymia is readily understandable when observed from an epistemological perspective, as it actually involves a rerun of the age-old conflict between basic and applied science, which in this case takes the form of a showdown between the therapist's clinical observation and the critical eye of experimental methodology. Although it is true to say that Nemiah and Sifneos do not "discover" alexithymia—in fact, the latter has earned greater fame than the former by given it its name and investing more effort in its definition and disclosure— they should be granted the merit of managing to formulate a coherent explanatory model that integrates a long tradition of real and systematic medical observations that pointed toward a problem that basic research not only had failed to resolve, but had not even detected.

The collateral circumstance whereby the problem that Sifneos systemizes, more than psychological, constitutes a basically medical matter, had a great influence in its subsequent treatment when one considers the fact that, at least in its orthodox origin, psychoanalysis was the medical school of psychology par excellence. This was not only because it was inspired by a doctor such as Freud, but also because of its profoundly organic and deterministic approach incapable of understanding a mental problem that had not previously had a biological cause. Hence the reason that for a long time it attracted the interest of the general medical profession-and of psychiatry in particular-and also that the first treatments of these observations that would end up constituting alexithymia acquired a marked psychoanalytical and psychosomatic bias, closely interrelated, that would define its future. Possibly, the resistance that the psychopathology of a more empirical bias initially faced regarding the construct's acceptance therefore involved a great deal of prejudice. It is possible that the issue in this case, more than its operative value, its empirical referents, or its epistemological underpinnings, lay in its debated and debatable origins.

REFERENCES

- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Parker JDA. The Alexithymia construct. A Potential Paradigm for Psychosomatic Medicine. *Psychosomatics* (1991) 32:153–64. doi: 10.1016/S0033-3182(91)72086-0
- Weiner H. Contributions of psychoanalysis to psychosomatic medicine. J Am Acad Psychoanal. (1982) 10:27–46. doi: 10.1521/jaap.1.1982.10.1.27
- Ferrándiz A. El psicoanálisis después de Freud. In: Tortosa Gil F, editor. Una historia de la psicología moderna. McGraw-Hill Interamericana de España: Madrid (1998). p. 494–9.
- Taylor GJ. Alexithymia: concept, measurement and implications for treatment. Am J Psychiatr (1984) 141:725–32. doi: 10.1176/ajp.141.6.725
- Stainbrook E. Psychosomatic medicine in the nineteenth century. *Psychosom.* Med (1952) 14:211–27. doi: 10.1097/00006842-195205000-00007
- 6. Beaumont W. Experiments and Observations on the Gastric Juice and the Physiology of Digestion. F.P. Allen: Plattsburg (MO) (1833).
- Santamaría C. Historia de la psicología. El nacimiento de una ciencia. Ariel: Barcelona (2001).
- 8. Alexander FG. Psychosomatic Medicine. Norton: New York (1950).
- 9. Taylor GJ. Psychosomatic Medicine and Contemporary Psychoanalysis. International Universities Press: Madison (CT) (1987).
- Karasu TB. Psychotherapy of the medically ill. Am J Psychiatr (1979) 136:1– 11. doi: 10.1176/ajp.136.1.1
- Sifneos PE. Problems of psychotherapy of patients with alexithymic characteristics and physical disease. *Psychother Psychosom.* (1975) 26:65–70. doi: 10.1159/000286912

The natural, and logical, tendency of basic research of not accepting models and approaches that do no not arise from within it led in this matter-as in others-to fierce discussions that, if we pay attention to the precedent, have less to do with the real therapeutic problem that alexithymia sought to define and operationalize than with its possible explanation and subsequent fit within the framework of the theoretical underpinnings of psychology and psychiatry. In fact, and this is very common among the more reductionist sectors of the psychological explanation, there is a tendency to forget with consummate ease that the psychological and the organic mutually influence each other, considering materialist explanations a single direction in this relationship, which tends to mean that they are often partial and confusing. It therefore involved, as is often the case with these confrontations that reignite the perennial conflict between science and practice, a debate on scientific primogeniture. Or, to put it another way, of a potentially sterile discussion between the nature of things and their value of use. Both questions may be perfectly legitimate, yet what is certain, as in the case that concerns us here, is that they are doomed to understand each other.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Both authors took part in planning the theoretical and conceptual basis for the study. FP-F wrote the first draft. Both authors took part in critically reviewing and editing the manuscript.

- Ruesch J. The Infantile Personality. The Core Problem of Psychosomatic Medicine. Psychosom. Med (1948) 10:134–44. doi: 10.1097/00006842-194805000-00002
- MacLean PD. Psychosomatic disease and the 'visceral brain'. *Psychosom. Med* (1949) 11:338–53. doi: 10.1097/00006842-194911000-00003
- Horney K. The paucity of inner experiences. Am J Psychoanal (1952) 12:3–9. doi: 10.1007/BF01872367
- Marty P, de M'Uzan M. (1963). La pensée operatoire. *Rev Française Psychanal*. 27:(suppl.):1345–56.
- 16. Marty P. l'Ordre Psychosomatique. Payot: Paris (1980).
- Nemiah JC, Sifneos PE. Affect and fantasy in patients with psychosomatic Disorders. In: Hill OW, editor. *Modern Trends in Psychosomatic Medicine*. Butterworths: London (1970). p. 26–34.
- Sifneos PE. Alexithymia, clinical issues, politics and crime. Psychother Psychosom (2000)) 69:113–6. doi: 10.1159/000012377
- Sifneos PE. Short-term psychotherapy and emotional crisis. Harvard University Press: Cambridge (MA) (1972).
- 20. Sifneos PE. The prevalence of 'alexithymic' characteristics in psychosomatic patients. *Psychother Psychosom* (1973) 22:255-62. doi: 10.1159/000286529
- Lusiardo M, Rodrigo M. Alexitimia como constructor de la personalidad: Concepto, clínica, etiología y enfoque terapéutico. Salud Militar (2011) 30:48–52.
- 22. Stern DN. The Interpersonal World of the Infant: A View from Psychoanalysis and Developmental Psychology. Basic Books: New York (1985).
- Killingmo B. Conflict and deficit: implications for Technique. Int J Psychoanal (1989) 70:443–59.

- Buchanan DC, Watherhouse GJ, West SC. A proposed neurophysiological basis of alexithymia. *Psychother Psychosom* (1980) 34:248–55. doi: 10.1159/ 000287465
- Edgcumbe RM. Modes of communication: The differentiation of somatic and verbal expression. *Psychoanal. Stud Child* (1984) 39:137–54. doi: 10.1080/ 00797308.1984.11823423
- Lesser IM, Lesser BZ. Alexithymia: Examining the development of a psychological concept. Am J Psychiatr (1983) 140:1305–8. doi: 10.1176/ ajp.140.10.1305
- Freyberger H. Supportive psychotherapeutic techniques in primary and secondary alexithymia. *Psychother Psychosom* (1977) 28:180–90. doi: 10.1159/000287080
- McDougall J. Theatres of the Body: Psychoanalytic Approach to Psychosomatic Illness. Free Association Books: London (1989).
- Wallace ER. What is 'Truth'? Some Philosophical Contributions to Psychiatric Issues. Am J Psychiatr (1988) 145:137–47. doi: 10.1176/ajp.145.2.137
- Eskelinen M, Ollonen P. Sifneos Alexythimia Questionnaire in Assessment of General Alexithymia in Patients with Breast Disease and Breast Cancer: A Prospective Case-Control Study in Finland. *Anticancer Res* (2011) 31:3101–6.
- Fernández-Montalvo J, Yarnoz S. Alexitimia: Concepto, evaluación y tratamiento. *Psicothema* (1994) 6:357–66.
- Ramírez-Bermúdez J. El reverso creativo de la alexitimia. Salud Ment (2018) 41:49–52. doi: 10.17711/SM.0185-3325.2018.008
- Lane RD, Schwartz GE. Levels of emotional awareness: A cognitive developmental theory and its application to psychopathology. *Am J Psychiatr* (1987) 144:133–43. doi: 10.1176/ajp.144.2.133
- Schur M. Comments on the Metapsychology of Somatization. Psychoanal Stud Child (1955) 10:110–64. doi: 10.1080/00797308.1955.11822553
- Horton PC, Gerwitz H, Kreutter KJ. Alexithymia-state and trait. Psychother Psychosom (1992) 58:91–6. doi: 10.1159/000288615
- Swiller HI. Alexithymia: Treatment utilizing combined individual and group psychotherapy. Int J Group Psychother (1988) 38:47–61. doi: 10.1080/ 00207284.1988.11491084
- Sifneos PE, Apfel SR, Frankel FH. The phenomenon of alexithymia. Observations in psychosomatic patients. *Psychother Psychosom* (1977) 28:47–57. doi: 10.1159/000287043
- Taylor GJ, Ryan DP, Bagby RM. Toward the development of a new self-report alexithymia scale. *Psychother Psychosom* (1985) 44:191–9. doi: 10.1159/000287912
- Krystal H, Giller BL, Cichetti DV. Assessment of alexythimia in postraumatic stress disorder and somatic illness: introduction to a reliable measure. *Psychosom Med* (1986) 48:84–94. doi: 10.1097/00006842-198601000-00007
- Louth SM, Hare RD, Linden W. Psychopathy and alexithymia in female offenders. Can J Behav Sci (1998) 30:91–8. doi: 10.1037/h0085809
- Cerezo P, García-Moja C, Gándara JJ, Hernández H. Aspectos teóricos, clínicos y evaluación de la alexitimia. *Psiquis* (1988) 9(6-7):19–29.
- Alonso-Fernández F. La alexitimia y su trascendencia clínica y social. Salud Ment (2011) 34:481–90.
- De Berardis D, Campanella D, Gambi F, Sepede G, Salini G, Carano A, et al. Insight and alexithymia in adult outpatients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2005) 255:350–8. doi: 10.1007/ s00406-005-0573-y

- 44. De Berardis D, Campanella D, Gambi F, Sepede G, Carano A, Pelusi L, et al. Alexithymia and body image disturbances in women with premenstrual dysphoric disorder. J Psychosom. Obstet. Gynaecol. (2005) 26:257–64. doi: 10.1080/01674820500109081
- 45. Carano A, De Berardis D, Gambi F, Di Paolo C, Campanella D, Pelusi L, et al. Alexithymia and body image in adult outpatients with binge eating disorder. *Int J Eat Disord* (2006) 39:332–40. doi: 10.1002/eat.20238
- 46. Carano A, De Berardis D, Campanella D, Serroni N, Ferri F, Di Iorio G, et al. Alexithymia and suicide ideation in a sample of patients with binge eating disorder. J Psychiatr Pract (2012) 18:5-11. doi: 10.1097/ 01.pra.0000410982.08229.99
- 47. De Berardis D, Serroni N, Marini S, Rapini G, Carano A, Valchera A, et al. Alexithymia, suicidal ideation, and serum lipid levels among drug-naïve outpatients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Braz J Psychiatry* (2014) 36:125–30. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2013-1189
- De Berardis D, Campanella D, Serroni N, Moschetta FS, Di Emidio F, Conti C, et al. Alexithymia, suicide risk and serum lipid levels among adult outpatients with panic disorder. *Compr Psychiatry* (2013) 54:517–22. doi: 10.1016/ j.comppsych.2012.12.013
- 49. De Berardis D, Serroni N, Campanella D, Carano A, Gambi F, Valchera A, et al. Alexithymia and its relationships with C-reactive protein and serum lipid levels among drug naïve adult outpatients with major depression. *Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 32:1982–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.pnpbp.2008.09.022
- De Berardis D, Conti C, Iasevoli F, Valchera A, Fornaro M, Cavuto M, et al. Alexithymia and its relationships with acute phase proteins and cytokine release: an updated review. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents (2014) 28:795–9.
- Taiminen TJ, Saarijarvi S, Helenius H, Keskinen A, Korpilahti T. Alexithymia in suicide attempters. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (1996) 93:195–8. doi: 10.1111/ j.1600-0447.1996.tb10631.x
- Paplos K, Havaki-Kontaxaki B, Ferentinos P, Dasopoulou M, Kontaxakis V. Alexithymia, depression and serum lipids in suicide attempters. *Psychiatriki* (2012) 23:149–52.
- 53. De Berardis D, Olivieri L, Rapini G, Di Natale S, Serroni N, Fornaro M, et al. Alexithymia, suicide ideation and homocysteine levels in drug naïve patients with major depression: a study in the "real world" clinical practice. *Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci* (2019) 17:318–22. doi: 10.9758/cpn.2019.17.2.318
- De Berardis D, Fornaro M, Orsolini L, Valchera A, Carano A, Vellante F, et al. Alexithymia and suicide risk in psychiatric disorders: a mini-review. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:148. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00148

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 López-Muñoz and Pérez-Fernández. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Alexithymia and Treatment Outcome in Anorexia Nervosa: A Scoping Review of the Literature

Carla Gramaglia^{1,2}, Eleonora Gambaro^{1,2} and Patrizia Zeppegno^{1,2*}

¹ Institute of Psychiatry, Università degli Studi del Piemonte Orientale, Novara, Italy, ² S.C. Psichiatria, Azienda Ospedaliero Universitaria Maggiore della Carità, Novara, Italy

Alexithymia is of great interest as an outcome predictor of recovery from anorexia nervosa, since it may interfere with both treatment compliance and patients' ability to benefit from the adopted interventions. For this reason, in the last years new treatment approaches targeting emotion identification, expression, and regulation have been applied and tested. Using the PRISMA methodology, we performed a scoping review of the literature about treatment outcome in anorexia nervosa, in terms of changes in alexithymia as assessed by its most commonly used self-report measure, the Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS). The Medline and Scopus databases were searched, and articles were included if matching the following criteria: dealing with patients affected by anorexia nervosa, without limits of age; involving the application of any kind of targeted therapy or treatment; assessing alexithymia and the effect of a treatment intervention on alexithymia, using the TAS. Ten studies were eventually included; overall, according to the selected studies, alexithymia levels often remain high even after specific treatment. Further research aimed at a deeper understanding of the actual impact of alexithymia on the outcome of anorexia, as well as exploring alternative treatment strategies for alexithymia in eating disorders (EDs), are warranted.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy

Reviewed by:

Mirko Manchia, University of Cagliari, Italy Alessandro Carano, ASUR Marche, Italy

*Correspondence: Patrizia Zeppegno patrizia.zeppegno@med.uniupo.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 12 October 2019 Accepted: 13 December 2019 Published: 14 February 2020

Citation:

Gramaglia C, Gambaro E and Zeppegno P (2020) Alexithymia and Treatment Outcome in Anorexia Nervosa: A Scoping Review of the Literature. Front. Psychiatry 10:991. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00991 Keywords: alexithymia, anorexia nervosa, systematic review, PRISMA, treatment, outcome

INTRODUCTION

Alexithymia is defined as a difficulty and inability in identifying and describing feelings and emotions (1): alexithymic individuals usually show a paucity of words to describe their affective status, and find it difficult distinguishing feelings from physical sensations. Furthermore, alexithymia is characterized by a diminution of fantasy and a concrete and externally-oriented thinking style (2). It is likely a stable personality trait reflecting an impairment of emotion regulation (3, 4), rather than a state-dependent phenomenon linked to depression or to clinical status (5, 6).

Impaired emotional functioning and alexithymic traits are core features of anorexia nervosa, both in the adolescent and adult population (7-15): they seem to be independent from depressive symptoms and eating disorder severity (16-18) and express themselves as a concrete, reality-based cognitive style and a poor inner emotional and fantasy life.

A "cognitive-affective" division (19) has been suggested to describe the experience of patients with eating disorders (EDs) when trying to translate their thoughts at a cognitive level into what is felt from an emotional standpoint. The emotional difficulties of individuals with anorexia nervosa (AN) may not depend on a primary impairment in emotion recognition, but rather on inhibition or avoidance occurring after a proper acknowledgment of others' emotions (20), possibly due to patients' feelings of being overwhelmed by over-control and anxious worry (21). Alexithymic traits in AN may cause patients avoiding or regulating the experience of emotions, especially those perceived as negative or disruptive (22), with inappropriate behaviors (restriction, binges, purges, body checking behaviors) (23), leading to a gap between the inner experience of negative affect and its expression (13). Actually, also in a non-clinical sample of undergraduate women, alexithymic individuals, compared to non-alexithymic ones, had more body checking behaviors, greater body dissatisfaction, and higher potential risk for EDs (24).

Implications at the social level of alexithymia and emotional difficulties (such as emotional avoidance and poor regulation), include low social emotional intelligence (25), problems with intimacy, attachment and social communication or interactions (26–29), and social anhedonia (30, 31).

Moreover, alexithymia and emotion regulation difficulties have been shown to have an impact on the course and maintenance of anorexia (12, 15, 32, 33), and on treatment outcome and recovery (34, 35). Actually, the lack of insight and the externally-oriented thinking style typical of alexithymia may interfere with treatment compliance and with patients' ability to benefit from interventions, especially psychotherapy ones (36).

According to these clinical observations, in the last years the need to explore new treatment approaches targeting emotion identification, expression and regulation has emerged, with the aim of fostering the process of recovery, enhancing quality of life (27) and improving long-term outcomes in the ED population (32). Another issue which should not be overlooked is that, notwithstanding patients' primary psychiatric diagnosis, increasing evidence suggests that alexithymia may play a role as risk factor for suicide, often mediated by depressive symptoms (37, 38). Biological correlates of the relationship between alexithymia and suicidal behaviors have been suggested, including for instance homocysteine dysregulation (39). This evidence further supports the importance to screen for alexithymia in the everyday clinical practice with psychiatric patients, including those suffering from EDs (40). The aim of the current scoping review was to assess treatment outcome in AN in terms of changes in alexithymia as assessed by its most commonly used self-report measure, the Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS).

METHODS

A scoping review was conducted in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-

Analyses [PRISMA Statement; (41)]. The Medline and Scopus databases were searched on August 30th, 2019, and on September 2nd, 2019. For Medline, the following keywords were used: [(anorexia nervosa) AND (Toronto Alexithymia Scale)] AND ((therapy) OR treatment). Scopus was searched with the following research string: [ALL ("anorexia nervosa") AND ALL (Toronto AND Alexithymia AND Scale) AND ALL (treatment OR therapy)] AND [LIMIT-TO (DOCTYPE, "ar")] AND [LIMIT-TO (LANGUAGE, "English")].

Two independent reviewers (EG and CG) assessed the articles identified by the above described key words. To be included in the review, studies had to: (a) be clinical trials dealing with patients affected by AN, without limits of age; (b) involve the application of any kind of targeted therapy or treatment; (c) assess alexithymia and the effect of a treatment intervention on alexithymia, using the TAS. Only articles in English were considered eligible. The presence of a control group was not considered an inclusion criterion. Studies which did not match the inclusion criteria described above were excluded. Possible disagreement between reviewers was resolved by joint discussion with a third review author (PZ). Quality of studies was assessed with the Newcastle Ottawa Scale (NOS) (42) by the reviewers who assessed the articles (EG and CG).

Data extracted from the selected studies were recorded in a datasheet using a standardized coding form, including the following categorical and numerical variables: general information about the study (author/s, year of publication, title, journal title, volume, pages, country, study type), sample features (sex, age, BMI, years of illness, diagnosis, treatment; medical and psychiatric comorbidities; sample size, number in experimental group, number in control group, lost at follow-up), setting (inpatient, outpatient...), type of intervention (group, individual, setting...), questionnaires used, study outcome (primary or secondary), main study results.

RESULTS

Selection Process

As described in the PRISMA flow diagram (**Figure 1**) (43), the initial search identified 384 titles (17 from Medline, 367 from Scopus); after removing 13 duplicates, titles were screened first, and those clearly not in line with the purpose of the review were excluded (N = 276). Then abstracts were assessed, leading to the exclusion of 71 records, and last full texts were read, eventually leading to the inclusion of 10 papers (2, 15, 32, 44–50) in the qualitative synthesis.

Quality Assessment

The NOS scores for the included studies ranged from 1 to 6, with a mean score of 3.9 \pm 1.59 (SD).

Description of Study Features

The main features of the selected studies are shown in Table 1.



Details about treatment were reported for the approaches described below; in the other cases, no specific details were described apart from those reported in **Table 1**.

CREST (15, 51–53) is a low-intensity individual manualized treatment for inpatients with severe AN, based on the cognitive interpersonal model. It targets rigid and detail-focused thinking styles but also has a strong emphasis on emotion recognition skills and emotion management and expression. The aim is to help patients learn about the function of emotions (including the communication of needs to self and others), and to improve skills in emotion labeling, identification, and tolerance in self and others.

Lunbad and coworkers (47) described in detail the group psycho-pedagogic method applied at the Anorexia & Bulimia Clinic for Adults at the Sahlgrenska University Hospital. According to the theoretical premise that alexithymia implies an inability to handle negative feelings, eventually requiring a "protective" or "blocking" ingredient (ED symptoms). The aim of the method is to help patients cope with negative feelings.

Group Cognitive-Behavior Therapy (G-CBT) as described by Ohmann et al. (45) includes the following modules: therapeutic motivation, psycho-education, individual problem analysis, (teaching of) problem solving strategies, soft and communication skills, hedonistic training, elements of awareness, body and schema psychotherapy (54). While the primary therapeutic goals are weight gain and improvement of eating behavior, the secondary goal is improved emotional functioning, including alexithymia measures.

Becker-Stoll and Gerlinghoff (48) described a three-phase treatment program (4-week outpatient motivation phase, 4-month

TABLE 1 | Main features of the clinical studies included in the review.

Author, year	Sample features	Setting	Intervention assessed	Assessment	Outcome	Main results	NOS
Speranza et al. (2)	N = 102 with complete assessment (initial sample N = 144; directly interviewed N = 109) Gender 100% females Age, mean 21.5 (\pm 5) Diagnosis AN (N = 63) or BN (N = 39) (DSM-IV) BMI n.s. Illness duration, mean 4.3 (\pm 4.8) Comorbidities, anxiety and depressive disorders, substance-related disorders diagnosed with Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI).	Multicenter research project involving academic psychiatric hospitals.	Treatments could include (1) pharmacotherapy, any kind, for at least 3 months; (2) Psychotherapy, any kind, for at least 6 months; (3) Hospitalization, either full or partial; (4) Pharmacotherapy + psychotherapy.	Assessment at baseline and 3- year follow-up with: clinical interview BDI-13 CGI MINI MMPI-2 (Negative Treatment Indicators scale) TAS (cutoff ≥56)	Explore the relationship between alexithyimic features and treatment choices in a naturalistic prospective study.	Global improvement of alexithymia and depression. TAS scores not influenced by antidepressants, psychotherapy, or both. Patients received different treatments (number, type) according to their alexithymic profile. Patients with high levels of alexithymia: more treatments and more antidepressants. Patients who became alexithymic during follow-up: more often re-hospitalized; fewer psychotherapies.	4
Tchanturia et al. (15)	N = 33 who attended all 10 sessions and completed both pre- and post-intervention assessments (63% of the sample who completed baseline measures) Gender n.s. Age, mean 24.5 (\pm 8.2) Diagnosis AN (n.s.) BMI, mean 15.1 (\pm 1.95) Illness duration, mean 8 (\pm 7.2) Comorbidities (n.s.)	Inpatient, South London and Maudsley National Adult EDs Service.	CREST: manualized 10-session intervention addressing emotion processing, in individual format. Includes psycho-education, experiential exercises, homework tasks.	RSAS TAS Motivational ruler exploring importance to change and perceived ability to change	Primary: RSAS and TAS scores. Secondary: perceived "importance to change" and "ability to change"; BMI	Decrease of anhedonia (RSAS) and alexithymia (TAS) after CREST. Increase of perceived "ability to change" and of BMI.	3
Giombini et al. (32)	()	Inpatient child and adolescent EDs unit offering multi- disciplinary treatment (individual, family, and group therapy).	CREST-YP: manualized 5-session intervention, weekly, in group format. Includes psychoeducation, experiential exercise, homework.	Semi-structured qualitative interview created ad hoc. SQ ERQ-CA RSAS TAS Motivational ruler assessing self- reported importance to change and ability to change. Data collected at the beginning	Suitability of CREST-YP. Experience of YP receiving CREST-YP. Emotional functioning pre- and post- intervention.	Themes reported by IP: Exploring emotions; Emotions and ED; Homework, Suggestions for improvement. Quantitative results only partially supporting qualitative ones: no significant change in ERQ-CA, RSAS, TAS, and motivational ruler scores. CREST-YP is a suitable intervention for YP with AN.	4

TABLE 1 | Continued

Author, year	Sample features	Setting	Intervention assessed	Assessment	Outcome	Main results	NOS
Beadle et al. (44)	N = 20 AN patients tested both during starvation and after weight restoration (out of N = 26 tested at baseline); compared to 16 age-matched healthy women at comparable timepoints. Gender 100% female Age in the AN sample, mean 24.4 (\pm 5.5). Diagnosis AN (ANP or ANR) BMI: mean 15.7. Weight restoration defined as a BMI of at least 18.5 (in the 20 patients sample, mean BMI at time 2, 20.16 (\pm 1.24). Illness duration = n.s.	Inpatient or outpatient day program following hospitalization.	Inpatient eating disorder program: daily cognitive behavioral therapy, group and individual therapy, supervised eating, occupational and recreational therapy, physician supervision.	and at the end of the cycle. EAT EDI-3 YBC-EDS HDRS HARS WAIS-IV CPT II Stroop Color and Word Test WCST TAS-20 IRI MMPI-2 (37 items).	Differences (demographic, cognitive, clinical, and personality characteristics) between participants with AN and healthy controls. Differences between the starvation and weight restoration phases within the AN group. Examination of relationships between alexithymia, emotional empathy, and self- regulation, controlling for depression and/or BMI when relevant.	In the group of AN patients, decrease of DIF and EOT from the starvation to the weight restoration phase. No change in DDF. Overall improvement in alexithymia.	6
Ohmann et al. (45)	Comorbidities n.s. N = 29 Gender 100% female Age, mean 14.3 (range 13–17) Diagnosis AN (ICD-10 Criteria): $N = 22$ ANR; $N = 7$ ANB BMI, mean 15 (range 13–17) Illness duration, mean 7.2 months (range 2–18). Comorbidity in $N = 23$ cases N = 5 patients (17%) treated with antidepressants. N = 3 had previous psychotherapy.	Eating Disorder Outpatient Clinic, Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Medical University of Vienna (recruitment between May and September 2003–2006).	A maximum of 40 weekly sessions (90 minutes each) of Multimodal G-CBT program, including 9 modules: therapeutic motivation, psycho-education, individual problem analysis, (teaching of) problem solving strategies, soft and communication skills, hedonistic training, elements of awareness, body and schema psychotherapy. Family sessions once monthly.	YSR (baseline and 9-months after) At baseline and 3-6-9 and 12- months follow- up: EDE BDI FBA ASW MUM EV-H EV-A MUM-SOC SPS SIAS BIKS TAS	To assess changes of the psychopathological measures during the course of G-CBT and 1- year follow-up. To investigate whether G- CBT is effective for the treatment of adolescent AN and whether emotional risk factors might complicate the course of the disorder. Hypothesis: patients with less disturbed handling of emotions would have a better treatment outcome.	Severe and multiple emotional deficits, difficulties of emotional control, problems in self- confidence and self-efficacy in AN. Especially in patients with poor outcome: problems in intrafamilial communication and expression of emotions. Alexithymia and SOC were disturbed and resistant to change in all patients. Problems in handling, detecting, and expressing emotions are involved in promoting and maintaining anorexic behavior, and are resistant to change, especially in the patients with	4
lancu et al. (46)	N = 30 soldiers with ED Gender 90% female. Age, mean 19.5 (range 18–21). Diagnosis N = 10 AN (33%); N = 15 BN (50%); N = 5 EDNOS (17%) (DSM-IV).	Eating Disorder Clinic at the Zeriffin Mental Health Clinic, Israel Defense Forces (2001–2003).	Weekly group meetings (90 minutes) 6 months (lead by a social worker with a social worker and a dietitian as cotherapists) Meetings included: psychoeducation; cognitive behavioral therapy combined with a dynamic approach.	Assessment before and after the intervention with: EDI-2 EAT-26	To examine the efficacy of treatment program. To evaluate the rate of alexithymia and dissociation proneness in the sample (before and after treatment).	poor outcome. Treatment was associated with a significant improvement in eating symptoms (50% decrease in the EAT-26 and EDI- 2 scores), but not with a significant decrease on the DES and TAS-26 scores.	5

(Continued)

Alexithymia, Treatment Outcome in Anorexia
TABLE 1 | Continued

Author, year	Sample features	Setting	Intervention assessed	Assessment	Outcome	Main results	NOS
	BMI n.s. Illness duration n.s. Comorbidities, No Axis I comorbidity 90% had a personality disorder (mostly borderline or narcissistic) according to the SCID-II questionnaire			TAS-26 DES			
_undbad et al. (47)		Referred from the Department of General Psychiatry, Sahlgrenska University Hospital (Anorexia and Bulimia Clinic for Adults), Sweden.	Psycho-pedagogic method facilitating the ability of patients to cope with negative feelings: 8 weekly written and oral sessions teaching and coaching about emotional/affective status, in a group format.	TAS	TAS scores changes after intervention.	Significant reduction (pre- to post- intervention) of alexithymia (TAS). Alexithymia negatively correlated with education; no correlation with illness duration, weight loss, depression, general psychoneurotic pathology.	1
Becker- Stoll and Gerlinghoff, (48)	$\begin{split} N &= 47 \ (N = 18 \ \text{AN}; \ N = 25 \\ \text{BN}; \ N &= 4 \ \text{EDNOS}) \\ \text{Gender 100\% female} \\ \text{Age, mean 21.7 (\pm 3.4; range 16-30).} \\ \text{Diagnosis AN and BN (DSM-IV criteria).} \\ \text{BMI, mean in AN 16.2 (\pm 1.5);} \\ \text{mean in BN 22.8 (\pm 6.1)} \\ \text{Illness duration n.s.} \end{split}$	Day Hospital at the TCE, Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry, Munich (2001).	TCE: three-phase treatment program consisting of a 4-week outpatient motivation phase, a 4-month day hospital phase, and a 4-month outpatient follow-up treatment phase. Group psychotherapy includes cognitive-behavioral, psycho-educational and interpersonal interventions. Exercises to support body acceptance, including video-confrontation, relaxation techniques, and dance therapy.	Pre- and post- treatment assessment with: EDI (total score) TAS-20	To determine whether a 4-month treatment program has an influence on alexithymia in ED patients. To assess whether alexithymia predicts treatment outcome in the ED population.	High levels of alexithymia in AN and BN patients, without any difference in TAS scores between AN and BN. TAS scores decreased from pre- to post- treatment as well as EDI ones. Baseline scores for alexithymia did not predict post- treatment outcome.	4
Elzakkers et al. (49)	Comorbidities n.s. N = 70 ($N = 56$ assessed at 1- year follow-up; $N = 50$ at 2- year follow-up) Gender 100% female Age, mean 27.3 (±9.7) Diagnosis, % ANR/ANP 49/51 (Severity of eating disorder symptoms was rated with the EDEQ BMI, mean 15.5 (±1.9) Illness duration, mean 8.6 (±8.1) Comorbidities n.s.	National specialist center for the treatment of eating disorders.	Treatment including individual and group therapies, psychomotor therapy, rehabilitation on and outpatient, day-hospital or inpatient basis.	Baseline, 1- and 2-year follow-up. BMI BDI-II EDEQ IGT MacCAT-T STAI TAS Full remission defined as having: BMI range 18.5–25; resumed menses; no disabling anorectic conditions. Partial remission	Mental capacity. Relation of the disorder course with psychological variables and decision making.	Full mental capacity group: mild AN at follow-up; improvement in alexithymia score (below the cutoff of 52 for possible alexithymia); improvement of BMI. Diminished mental capacity group: moderately ill category (DSM-5) at follow-up; no improvement of alexithymia; improvement of BMI; higher likelihood of inpatient treatment.	6

(Continued)

Alexithymia, Treatment Outcome in Anorexia

TABLE 1 | Continued

Author, year	Sample features	Setting	Intervention assessed	Assessment	Outcome	Main results	NOS
Adamson et al. (50)	Individual CREST, N = 66 Gender 100% female Age, mean 25.8 (range 18–53) Diagnosis AN, (DSM-5)	Inpatient.	CREST in individual (N = 66) and group formats (N = 62). Individual format: manualized 8 weekly sessions, $40-45$ minutes. Psychoeducation and experiential	defined as satisfying 2 out of the 3 criteria described above. Assessment before and after individual and group	Effectiveness of CREST interventions. TAS and RSAS scores. ASD symptoms.	Individual CREST: improvement in patients' alexithymia; increase in motivation; no impact on social anhedonia; significant	2
	BMI, mean 14.8 (\pm 1.3) Illness duration, mean 8 (\pm 8.5) Score above the AQ10 cutoff 32%		exercises. Group format: 5 weekly sessions, 60 minutes. Optional, participants can drop out at any time.	interventions with: RSAS TAS Motivational ruler	res griptone.	effect of ASD symptoms on RSAS and TAS scores. Group CREST: increase in motivation; no impact on social anhedonia and alexithymia;	
	Group CREST, N = 62 Gender 100% female Age, mean 25.5 (range 18–63) Diagnosis AN, DSM-5			(ability to change, importance to change) AQ-10		significant effect of ASD symptoms on TAS scores.	
	BMI, mean 14.8 ± 1.4) Illness duration, mean 7.6 (± 8.3) Score above the AQ10 cutoff 34%			BMI			
	Comorbidities, n.s.						

AN, Anorexia Nervosa; ANP, Anorexia Nervosa Purging Type; ANR, Anorexia Nervosa Restrictive Type; AQ, Autism Questionnaire; ASD, Autism Spectrum Disorder; ASW, Assessment of Self-Efficacy; BDI, Depression Inventory; BIKS, Beck Inventory of Cognitive Schemata; BMI, Body Mass Index; BN, Bulimia Nervosa; G-CBT, Cognitive Behavioral Group Therapy; CGI, Clinical Global Impression; CPT II, Conners' Continuous Performance Test-II; CREST, Cognitive Remediation and Emotion Skills Training; CREST-YP, Cognitive Remediation and Emotion Skills Training—Young People; DES, Dissociation Experience Scale; DDF, Difficult Describing Feelings; DIF, Difficult Identifyng Feelings; DSM, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders; EAT, Eating Attitudes Test; EDEQ, Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire; EDI-3, Eating Disorder Inventory; EOT, Externally Oriented Thinking; ERQ-CA, Emotional Regulation Questionnaire of Children and Adolescents; FBA, General Family Questionnaire; HARS, Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale; HDRS, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; IGT, Iowa Gambling Task; IRI, Interpersonal Reactivity Index; MacCAT-T, MacArthur Competence Assessment Tool-Treatment; MINI, Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview; MMPI, Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory; MUM, EV-A, Marburg Scale of Euthymic Disorder; MUM-SOC, Marburg Sense of Coherence Scale; TCE, Treatment Center for Eating Disorders; WCST, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Version 4; YSR, Youth Self Report; YBC-EDS, Yale-Brown-Cornell Eating Disorder Scale. Gramaglia et al

day hospital phase, 4-month outpatient follow-up), including group cognitive-behavioral psychotherapy, psycho-educational and interpersonal interventions.

Iancu et al. (46) adopted a group therapy combining a cognitive-behavioral and a dynamic approach; with more detail, the latter proposes a dynamic understanding of ED symptoms as an externalization of an unsolved conflict.

DISCUSSION

Overall, according to the studies included in the review, alexithymia levels sometimes remain high even after specific treatment, while changes and improvements may occur in other outcome indicators (e.g. body mass index, eating symptomatology, motivation).

Some studies clearly failed to find a positive impact of treatment on alexithymia as assessed with the TAS (32, 45, 46). On the other hand, others supported an improvement of alexithymia after treatment (2, 15, 44, 47, 48), which was represented by CREST (15), a mixed approach including different types of treatment (2, 44), a 4-month day hospital treatment (48), and a psycho-pedagogic intervention (47), respectively (see **Table 1** for more details). Last, mixed findings have been reported by a couple of studies. An improvement of TAS scores was reported in a subgroup of patients with AN (full mental capacity) but not in another (diminished mental capacity) (49). Furthermore, CREST was described as effective in reducing alexithymia when offered in an individual format, but not in a group one (50).

General Information

All studies but one (2) involved a single center. Most studies were performed in a hospital setting, on inpatients; only four studies included outpatients (44, 45, 48, 49). Samples size ranged from 29 to 168 patients. One study (44) included also a control group, composed by 16 age-matched healthy women.

Participants' Features

The studies included in this review involved patients with an age range from 12 to 63 years old; two studies (32, 45) were specifically focused on an adolescent population. Most studies included only female patients, while two (32, 46) assessed both genders. From a clinical standpoint, four of the 10 studies selected for this review involved patients with different types of EDs: AN-R; AN-P; BN; EDNOS (2, 46-48), while six studies included only AN patients (15, 32, 44, 45, 49, 50). More specifically, diagnosis was made according to DSM-IV criteria in three studies (2, 46, 48), to ICD-10 criteria in one study (45) and to DSM-5 criteria in another one (50). In 2 studies (47, 49) the type of ED was assessed using different questionnaires (respectively EDI-2 and EDEQ). The remaining five studies did not specify the diagnostic criteria used (15, 32, 44, 47, 49). Patients' BMI ranged from 13 to 21.4; illness duration, when specified, ranged from 1 month to more than 5 years. Comorbidities were specified in four studies (2, 32, 45, 46).

Intervention Features

All studies but two (2, 47) applied cognitive interventions (15, 32, 44–46, 48, 50). More specifically, patients enrolled in three studies (15, 32, 50) were treated with CREST, in a group format; furthermore, Adamson et al. (50) used CREST in an individual therapy setting as well. Seven studies (15, 32, 45–48, 50) included psycho-pedagogic methods to facilitate the ability of patients to cope with negative feelings, particularly associated to body appearance and food assumption. Speranza et al. (2) provided different treatment approaches, such as pharmacotherapy (for at least 3 months), psychotherapy (for at least 6 months), hospitalization (either full or partial), and a combination of pharmacotherapy with psychotherapy. Ohman and coworkers (45) also offered once-monthly family sessions, in the context of 40 weekly sessions of multimodal cognitive behavioral group therapy (G-CBT) program.

Assessment

All studies but one (2, 15, 32, 45–50) assessed patients with several questionnaires (either self-report measurers or clinicianrated interviews) both at baseline and after the intervention. Beadle et al. (44) tested patients with the TAS only.

Outcomes

In line with the inclusion criteria adopted, alexithymia as outcome after the intervention was assessed by all studies (2, 15, 32, 44–50). Moreover, four studies (2, 45, 46, 48) evaluated its possible role as predictor of treatment outcome in the AN population.

Strengths and Limitations

The current paper provides an up-to-date review of the literature on alexithymia and treatment outcome in AN. Despite the clinical relevance of alexithymia, the number of published studies about its changes after treatment are somewhat limited; the possibility to compare the results of these studies is hindered by their heterogeneity and by methodological issues. Besides the previous review study by Pinna et al. (55), that focused on the implications of alexithymia as a predictor of treatment outcome in subjects affected by ED, there are no similar studies on interventions for alexithymia in anorexic patients, making the current review useful to the community of researchers in the field of EDs. Some limitations of this scoping review should be underscored: first, only two databases (i.e., Medline and Scopus) were searched to identify relevant articles written in English language, with potential loss of valuable additional information. The restriction to published studies could per se represent a bias in systematic reviews of effectiveness. Despite we focused on TAS as outcome measure in patients with AN undergoing any kind of treatment, samples sometimes included also patients with other EDs, and it was not always possible to rule out results pertaining only those with a diagnosis of AN. Last, while we focused on the TAS as the most used tool for the assessment of alexithymia, and this ensures the homogeneity of results, this choice obviously lead to the exclusion of all those studies using other rating scales for alexithymia.

On the other hand, we adopted restrictive inclusion criteria and applied the PRISMA methodology for the selection process; furthermore, we assessed the quality of the studies included in this review.

Nonetheless, since our aim was to conduct a scoping review of the literature we did not perform a quantitative data synthesis nor meta-analysis. This represents a further limitation of the current study; a meta-analytic approach would certainly represent an interesting research direction for the future to allow drawing clear, evidence-based conclusions about the clinical implications of the findings that have emerged from our research.

CONCLUSIONS

A high rate of individuals with AN achieve incomplete recovery following treatment. The identification of outcome predictors such as alexithymia is crucial, as well as that of treatments specifically targeting these predictors (56–62).

Further studies aimed at a deeper understanding of the actual impact of alexithymia on the outcome of anorexia are warranted,

REFERENCES

- Guillen V, Santos B, Munoz P, Fernandez de Corres B, Fernandez E, Perez I, et al. Toronto alexithymia scale for patients with eating disorder: of performance using the nonparametric item response theory. *Compr Psychiatry* (2014) 55(5):1285–91. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2014.03.020
- Speranza M, Loas G, Guilbaud O, Corcos M. Are treatment options related to alexithymia in eating disorders? Results from a three-year naturalistic longitudinal study. *Biomed Pharmacother* (2011) 65(8):585–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopha.2010.01.009
- Aleman A. Feelings you can't imagine: towards a cognitive neuroscience of alexithymia. *Trends Cogn Sci* (2005) 9:227–33. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2005. 10.002
- Wingbermuhle K, Theunissen H, Verhoeven WMA, Kessels RPC, Egger JIM. The neurocognition of alexithymia: evidence from neuropsychological and neuroimaging studies. *Acta Neuropsychiatrica* (2012) 24:67–80.
- Luminet O, Bagby RM, Taylor GJ. An evaluation of the absolute and relative stability of alexithymia in patients with major depression. *Psychother Psychosom* (2001) 70(5):254–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2007.01.003
- Porcelli P, Bagby RM, Taylor GJ, De Carne M, Leandro G, Todarello O. Alexithymia as predictor of treatment outcome in patients with functional gastrointestinal disorders. *Psychosom Med* (2003) 65(5):911–8. doi: 10.1097/ 01.psy.0000089064.13681.3b
- Courty A, Godart N, Lalanne C, Berthoz S. Alexithymia, a compounding factor for eating and social avoidance symptoms in anorexia nervosa. *Compr Psychiatry* (2015) 56:217–228. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2014.09.011
- Torres S, Guerra MP, Lencastre L, Miller K, Vieira FM, Roma-Torres A, et al. Alexithymia in anorexia nervosa: the mediating role of depression. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 225(1-2):99–107. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.10.023
- 9. NICE. Eating Disorders: Core Interventions in the Treatment and Management of Anorexia Nervosa, Bulimia Nervosa and Related Eating Disorders. National Institute for Clinical Excellence: London (2004).
- Treasure J, Claudino AM, Zucker N. Eating disorders. Lancet (London England) (2010) 375(9714):583–93. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61748-7
- Harrison A, Sullivan S, Tchanturia K, Treasure J. Emotional functioning in eating disorders: attentional bias, emotion recognition and emotion regulation. *Psychol Med* (2010) 40(11):1887–97. doi: 10.1017/S003329171 0000036

as well as researches exploring alternative treatment strategies for alexithymia in EDs.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CG and PZ contributed to the conception and design of the work. EG and CG independently triaged the titles and abstracts to remove those that were clearly inappropriate. The remaining papers, to be included, had to satisfy all the predetermined eligibility criteria. Possible disagreements regarding study inclusion were resolved by discussion with PZ. After selection of the relevant studies, EG and CG independently extracted and tabulated data on study design and outcome data using a standard form. CG and EG drafted the manuscript. PZ revised it critically for important intellectual content.

- Rhind C, Mandy W, Treasure J, Tchanturia K. An exploratory study of evoked facial affect in adolescent females with anorexia nervosa. *Psychiatry Res* (2014) 220(1–2):711–5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.07.057
- Davies H, Swan N, Schmidt U, Tchanturia K. An experimental investigation of verbal expression of emotion in anorexia and bulimia nervosa. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2012) 20(6):476–83. doi: 10.1002/erv.1157
- Davies H, Schmidt U, Stahl D, Tchanturia K. Evoked facial emotional expression and emotional experience in people with anorexia nervosa. *Int J Eat Disord* (2011) 44(6):531–9. doi: 10.1002/eat.20852
- Tchanturia K, Dapelo MAM, Harrison A, Hambrook D. Why study positive emotions in the context of eating disorders? *Curr Psychiatry Rep* (2015) 17 (1):537. doi: 10.1007/s11920-014-0537-x
- Speranza M, Loas G, Wallier J, Corcos M. Predictive value of alexithymia in patients with eating disorders: a 3-year prospective study. J Psychosom Res (2007) 63(4):365–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2007.03.008
- Taylor GJ, Parker JD, Bagby RM, Bourke MP. Relationships between alexithymia and psychological characteristics associated with eating disorders. *J Psychosom Res* (1996) 41(6):561–8. doi: 10.1016/s0022-3999(96)00224-3
- Bourke MP, Taylor GJ, Parker JD, Bagby RM. Alexithymia in women with anorexia nervosa. A preliminary investigation. *Br J Psychiatry* (1992) 161:240– 3. doi: 10.1192/bjp.161.2.240
- Jenkins PE, O'Connor H. Discerning thoughts from feelings: the cognitiveaffective division in eating disorders. *Eat Disord* (2012) 20(2):144–58. doi: 10.1080/10640266.2012.654058
- Gramaglia C, Ressico F, Gambaro E, Palazzolo A, Mazzarino M, Bert F, et al. Alexithymia, empathy, emotion identification and social inference in anorexia nervosa: a case-control study. *Eat Behav* (2016) 22:46–50. doi: 10.1016/ j.eatbeh.2016.03.028
- Torres S, Guerra MP, Lencastre L, Roma-Torres A, Brandão I, Queirós C, et al. Cognitive processing of emotions in anorexia nervosa. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2011) 19(2):100–11. doi: 10.1002/erv.1046
- Goodsitt A. Self-regulatory disturbances in eating disorders. Int J Eat Disord (1983) 2(3):51–60. doi: 10.1002/1098-108X(198321
- Espeset EM, Gulliksen KS, Nordbø RH, Skårderud F, Holte A. The link between negative emotions and eating disorder behaviour in patients with anorexia nervosa. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2012) 20(6):451–60. doi: 10.1002/erv.2183
- 24. De Berardis D, Carano A, Gambi F, Campanella D, Giannetti P, Ceci A, et al. Alexithymia and its relationships with body checking and body image in a

non-clinical female sample. *Eat Behav* (2007) 8(3):296–304. doi: 10.1016/ j.eatbeh.2006.11.005

- Gullone E, Taffe J. The emotion regulation questionnaire for children and adolescents (ERQ-CA): a psychometric evaluation. *Psychol Assess* (2012) 24 (2):409–17. doi: 10.1037/a0025777
- Kyriacou O, Easter A, Tchanturia K. Comparing views of patients, parents, and clinicians on emotions in anorexia: a qualitative study. J Health Psychol (2009) 14(7):843–54. doi: 10.1177/1359105309340977
- Tchanturia K, Doris E, Fleming C. Effectiveness of cognitive remediation and emotion skills training (CREST) for anorexia nervosa in group format: a naturalistic pilot study. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2014) 22(3):200–5. doi: 10.1002/ erv.2287
- Doris E, Westwood H, Mandy W, Tchanturia K. A qualitative study of friendship in patients with Anorexia Nervosa and possible Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Psychology* (2014) 5:1338–49. doi: 10.4236/psych.2014.511144
- Harrison A, Genders R, Davies H, Treasure J, Tchanturia K. Experimental measurement of the regulation of anger and aggression in women with anorexia nervosa. *Clin Psychol Psychother* (2011) 18:445–52. doi: 10.1002/cpp.726
- Harrison A, Mountford VA, Tchanturia K. Social anhedonia and work and social functioning in the acute and recovered phases of eating disorders. *Psychiatry Res* (2014) 218(1–2):187–94. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.04.007
- Tchanturia K, Davies H, Harrison A, Fox JRE, Treasure J, Schmidt U. Altered social hedonic processing in eating disorders. *Int J Eat Disord* (2012) 45 (8):962–9. doi: 10.1002/eat.22032
- Giombini I, Nesbitt S, Leppanen J, Cox H, Foxall A, Easter A, et al. Emotions in play: young people's and clinicians' experience of 'Thinking about Emotions' group. *Eat Weight Disord* (2019) 24(4):605–14. doi: 10.1007/s40519-019-00646-3
- Wildes JE, Marcus MD, Cheng Y, McCabe EB, Gaskill JA. Emotion acceptance behavior therapy for anorexia nervosa: a pilot study. *Int J Eat Disord* (2014) 47 (8):870–3. doi: 10.1002/eat.22241
- Hempel R, Vanderbleek E, Lynch TR. Radically open DBT: targeting emotional loneliness in Anorexia Nervosa. *Eat Disord* (2018) 26(1):92–104. doi: 10.1080/10640266.2018.1418268
- Chen EY, Segal K, Weissman J, Zeffiro TA, Gallop R, Linehan MM, et al. Adapting dialectical behavior therapy for outpatient adult anorexia nervosa–a pilot study. *Int J Eat Disord* (2015) 48(1):123–32. doi: 10.1002/eat.22360
- Krystal H. Alexithymia and the effectiveness of psychoanalytic treatment. Int J Psychoanal Psychother (1982-1983) 9:353–78.
- De Berardis D, Fornaro M, Orsolini L, Valchera A, Carano A, Vellante F, et al. Alexithymia and suicide risk in psychiatric disorders: a mini-review. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 14(8):148. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00148
- 38. De Berardis D, Fornaro M, Valchera A, Rapini G, Di Natale S, De Lauretis I, et al. Alexithymia, resilience, somatic sensations and their relationships with suicide ideation in drug naïve patients with first-episode major depression: an exploratory study in the "real world" everyday clinical practice. *Early Interv Psychiatry* (2019a). doi: 10.1111/eip.12863 [Epub ahead of print]
- 39. De Berardis D, Olivieri L, Rapini G, Di Natale S, Serroni N, Fornaro M, et al. Alexithymia, suicide ideation and homocysteine levels in drug naïve patients with major depression: a study in the "Real World" clinical practice. *Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci* (2019b) 17(2):318–22. doi: 10.9758/cpn.2019.17.2.318
- Carano A, De Berardis D, Campanella D, Serroni N, Ferri F, Di Iorio G, et al. Alexithymia and suicide ideation in a sample of patients with binge eating disorder. *J Psychiatr Pract* (2012) 18(1):5–11. doi: 10.1097/01.pra.0000410982.08229.99
- 41. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JPA, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ* (2009) 339:b2700. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2700
- 42. Wells G, Shea B, O'Connel D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, et al. The Newcastle-Ottawa scale (NOS) for assessing the quality if nonrandomized studies in metaanalyses The Ottawa Hospital Research Institute. (2015). Available from: http:// www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford.asp.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Med* (2009) 6(7):e1000097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097
- Beadle JN, Paradiso S, Salerno A, McCormick LM. Alexithymia, emotional empathy, and self-regulation in anorexia nervosa. *Ann Clin Psychiatry* (2013) 25(2):107–20.

- 45. Ohmann S, Popow C, Wurzer M, Karwautz A, Sackl-Pammer P, Schuch B. Emotional aspects of anorexia nervosa: results of prospective naturalistic cognitive behavioral group therapy. *Neuropsychiatrie* (2013) 27(3):119–28. doi: 10.1007/s40211-013-0065-7
- Iancu I, Cohen E, Yehuda YB, Kotler M. Treatment of eating disorders improves eating symptoms but not alexithymia and dissociation proneness. *Compr Psychiatry* (2006) 47(3):189–93. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2006.01.001
- Lundbad S, Hansson B, Archer T. Affect-group intervention for alexithymia in eating disorders. *Int J Emergency Ment Health* (2015) 17(1):219–23.
- Becker-Stoll F, Gerlinghoff M. The impact of a four-month day treatment programme on alexithymia in eating disorders. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2004) 12 (3):159–63. doi: 10.1002/erv.566
- Elzakkers IFFM, Danner UN, Sternheim LC, McNeish D, Hoek HW, van Elburg AA. Mental capacity to consent to treatment and the association with outcome: a longitudinal study in patients with anorexia nervosa. *BJPsych Open* (2017) 3(3):147–53. doi: 10.1192/bjpo.bp.116.003905
- Adamson J, Leppanen J, Murin M, Tchanturia K. Effectiveness of emotional skills training for patients with anorexia nervosa with autistic symptoms in group and individual format. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2018) 26(4):367–75. doi: 10.1002/erv.2594
- Tchanturia K, Doris E, Mountford V, Fleming C. Cognitive remediation and emotion skills training (CREST) for anorexia nervosa in individual format: self-reported outcomes. *BMC Psychiatry* (2015) 15(1):1–6. doi: 10.1186/ s12888-015-0434-9
- Davies H, Fox J, Naumann U, Treasure J, Schmidt U, Tchanturia K. Cognitive remediation and emotion skills training (CREST) for anorexia nervosa: an observational study using neuropsychological outcomes. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2012) 20:211–7. doi: 10.1002/erv.2170
- Money C, Genders R, Treasure J, Schmidt U, Tchanturia K. A brief emotion focused intervention for inpatients with anorexia nervosa: a qualitative study. *J Health Psychol* (2011) 16:947–58. doi: 10.1177/1359105310396395
- Young JE, Klosko JS, Weishaar ME. Schema therapy A practitioner"s guide. New York: Guilford Press (2003).
- Pinna F, Sanna L, Carpiniello B. Alexithymia in eating disorders: therapeutic implications. *Psychol Res Behav Manage* (2014) 8:1–15. doi: 10.2147/ PRBM.S52656
- Bruch H. Anorexia Nervosa: therapy and theory. Am J Psychiatry (1982) 139 (12):1531–8. doi: 10.1176/ajp.139.12.1531
- Hambrook D, Oldershaw A, Rimes K, Schmidt U, Tchanturia K, Treasure J, et al. Emotional expression, self-silencing, and distress tolerance in anorexia nervosa and chronic fatigue syndrome. *Br J Clin Psychol* (2011) 50(3):310–25. doi: 10.1348/014466510X519215
- Oldershaw A, DeJong H, Hambrook D, Broadbent H, Tchanturia K, Treasure J, et al. Emotional processing following recovery from anorexia nervosa. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2012) 20(6):502–9. doi: 10.1002/erv.2153
- Fairburn CG, Cooper Z, Shafran R. Cognitive behaviour therapy for eating disorders: a "transdiagnostic" theory and treatment. *Behav Res Ther* (2003) 41 (5):509–28. doi: 10.1016/s0005-7967(02)00088-8
- Polivy J, Herman CP. Causes of eating disorders. Annu Rev Psychol (2002) 53:187–213. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135103
- Peñas-Lledó E, Vaz Leal FJ, Waller G. Excessive exercise in anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa: relation to eating characteristics and general psychopathology. Int J Eat Disord (2002) 31(4):370–5. doi: 10.1002/eat.10042
- Fox JR, Smithson E, Baillie S, Ferreira N, Mayr I, Power MJ. Emotion coupling and regulation in anorexia nervosa. *Clin Psychol Psychother* (2013) 20(4):319– 33. doi: 10.1002/cpp.1823

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Gramaglia, Gambaro and Zeppegno. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Mediating Effect of Alexithymia on the Relationship Between Schizotypal Traits and Sleep Problems Among College Students

Qianwen Ma^{\dagger}, Xiaoxiang Zhang^{\dagger} and Laiquan Zou^{*}

Chemical Senses and Mental Health Lab, Department of Psychology, School of Public Health, Southern Medical University, Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Tropical Disease Research, Guangzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Michele Fornaro, New York State Psychiatric Institute (NYSPI), United States

Reviewed by:

Myung-Sun Kim, Sungshin Women's University, South Korea Gwenole Loas, University Hospital Center (CHU) of Amiens, France

*Correspondence:

Laiquan Zou zoulq@smu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 21 November 2019 Accepted: 18 February 2020 Published: 04 March 2020

Citation:

Ma Q, Zhang X and Zou L (2020) The Mediating Effect of Alexithymia on the Relationship Between Schizotypal Traits and Sleep Problems Among College Students. Front. Psychiatry 11:153. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00153

A body of research has investigated the relationship between alexithymia and sleep problems, as well as the relationship between schizophrenia and alexithymia. However, there have been few studies on the relationships between the three. The current study explored the relationship between schizotypal traits and sleep problems among college students, and the potential role of alexithymia as a mediator of this relationship. The participants were all first-year students at a medical university in Guangdong province, China. A total of 2,626 college students participated. They were asked to complete a questionnaire that incorporated the Schizotypal Personality Questionnaire (SPQ), the Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20), and the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI). The results revealed a relatively high percentage of students with mild insomnia (74.8%) and a smaller percentage with moderate to severe insomnia (7.9%). Correlation analysis revealed that both the TAS-20 and ISI scores had significant positive correlations with the SPQ score (p < 0.01). There was also a significant positive correlation between the TAS-20 and ISI scores (p < 0.01). The ISI score was significantly influenced by the SPQ score in a direct way, and increased considerably with increases in the TAS-20 score, indicating the importance of alexithymia as a mediator. The mediation model was tested via regression analysis and the bias-corrected bootstrap method, and these results further confirmed the role of alexithymia as a mediator.

Keywords: alexithymia, schizotypal traits, insomnia, sleep problems, college students, mediating effect

INTRODUCTION

Sleep problems can be found in 30–80% of schizophrenia patients (1). They are defined as increased sleep latency, frequent night waking, shorter sleep duration, and other parasomnias (2). Additionally, studies have found that schizotypal traits are present in people without schizophrenia, including offspring with parental psychiatric disorders and the general population (3). Schizotypal traits are of interest and importance in their own right but also have theoretical and clinical relevance to schizophrenia (4). Individuals with schizotypal traits show similar symptoms to schizophrenia patients but to a milder degree. These traits include social withdrawal, reduced cognitive capacity, and affective dysregulation. Most researchers in psychopathology hold the view that schizotypy is a construct that is intimately connected to a schizophrenia-related liability (5).

41

Evidence also suggests that individuals with high levels of schizotypal traits resemble schizophrenia patients in experiencing much more vivid nightmares or pleasant dreams than other individuals (6). Moreover, sleep problems have been associated with psychosis-like experiences in epidemiological studies (7). A growing amount of evidence suggests that recognizing and addressing early signs and symptoms of psychosis can lead to better outcomes (8). However, few studies have examined directly the relationship between schizotypal traits and sleep problems.

Research has also found a close correlation between alexithymia and sleep problems (9). Alexithymia is a type of emotional disorder, and the alexithymia personality construct includes the following features: difficulty in identifying and describing feelings, difficulty in distinguishing between feelings and bodily sensations, a constricted imagination, and an externally oriented cognitive style (10). Researchers have recently suggested that internalized psychic conflicts and an inability to verbalize these problems result in increased nocturnal arousal and subsequent insomnia in individuals with alexithymia (11). Moreover, a recent study has shown that difficulties in identifying feelings are related to increased general sleep experiences such as hallucinations, frequent waking, and insomnia, leading to the suggestion that general sleep experiences represent a nocturnal manifestation of unprocessed emotions (12); the same study also found that externally oriented thinking is related to decreased general sleep experiences. Meanwhile, schizophrenia also has a strong correlation with alexithymia (13). A considerable amount of research has found that schizophrenia patients exhibit higher levels of alexithymia, and that individuals with higher levels of alexithymia may be more prone to schizophrenia spectrum disorders (14).

Although there has been much research on the relationship between alexithymia and sleep problems, as well as on the relationship between schizophrenia and alexithymia, a review of the literature shows that there have been few studies on the relationships between schizophrenia, alexithymia, and sleep problems. The role of alexithymia in the relationship between schizophrenia and sleep problems is therefore unclear. The purpose of the current investigation was to explore the relationships between schizotypal traits, alexithymia, and sleep problems among college students. We hypothesized that schizotypal traits play an important role in the sleep problems of college students, and that alexithymia is a mediating variable between the two.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

In this study, 2,811 questionnaires were issued to first-year students at a medical university in Guangzhou, Guangdong, China, of which 2,626 were returned as valid and analyzed, showing an effective response rate of 93.42%. Of the 2,626 participants, 1,601 were female and 1,025 male, with a mean age of 18.34 years (SD = 0.83). The study was approved by the ethics committee of Southern Medical University and all participants provided informed consent.

Measures

Schizotypal Personality Questionnaire (SPQ)

The SPQ is a 74-item self-report questionnaire consisting of three dimensions: positive, negative, and disorganized (15). Participants respond to statements with "yes" or "no" answers, depending on their agreement with each item. A "yes" is scored as 1, a "no" is scored as 0, and the total score ranges from 0 to 74. The higher the score, the higher the levels of schizotypal personality traits. According to Raine (16), people scoring in the top 10% can be identified as exhibiting schizotypal traits. A threshold of 36 is considered an acceptable standard in China and has been used in our previous studies [e.g., (17, 18)]. In our sample, 91 individuals who scored higher than 36 were classified as individuals with schizotypy. The Chinese version was revised by researchers in Taiwan and has good reliability and validity, with Cronbach's alpha ranging from 0.9 to 0.91 (19).

Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20)

The TAS-20 consists of 20 items and measures three dimensions of the alexithymia construct: difficulty identifying feelings, difficulty describing feelings, and externally oriented thinking (20). Participants respond to items on a five-point scale, ranging from 1 ("strongly disagree") to 5 ("strongly agree"). The total score ranges from 20 to 100. For the English version of the scale, cutoff scores have been established empirically; total scores >60 indicate a high degree of alexithymia and scores <52 indicate a definite absence of alexithymia (21). However, the cutoff score must be determined as appropriate in the Chinese population and we referred to the criteria from the Chinese translation of the 20item TAS. For the TAS-20-C, it is preferable for researchers to use alexithymia as a dimensional variable rather than to apply categorical cutoff scores (22). The Cronbach's alpha for this scale in a student sample is 0.79, indicating good reliability and validity (22).

Insomnia Severity Index (ISI)

The ISI consists of seven items and was developed by Bastien et al. (23). It has been used widely to assess the severity of insomnia symptoms. Participants respond to items on a five-point scale, scored on a range of 0-4 (0 = "not at all"; 1 = "mild"; 2 = "moderate"; 3 = "severe"; and 4 = "extremely severe") (24). The total score ranges from 0 to 28. A score of 0-7 represents no clinically significant insomnia; a score of 8-14 indicates mild insomnia, a score of 15-21 indicates moderately clinical insomnia, and a score of 22-28 indicates severe clinical insomnia. The Cronbach's alpha of this scale is 0.83, indicating high internal consistency (23).

Data Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 23.0. First, a Harman single-factor test was used on all the variables combined in the questionnaire for factor analysis. The results showed that 15.03% of the variation was explained by the first principal component, which is lower than the critical value (40%) and indicates that there is no common method bias effect among the variables measured in this study. Second, associations between variables were tested with Pearson correlations. AMOS 20.0

TABLE 1 | Sample screening status.

	Groupings	Number of students	Percentage
SPQ score	SPQ < 14.94 (low schizotypal)	1,466	55.8%
	SPQ \geq 36 (high schizotypal)	91	3.50%
ISI score	$ S \le 7$ (no clinical significance)	427	16.30%
	$8 \le ISI \le 14$ (mild insomnia)	1,965	74.80%
	$15 \le S \le 21$ (moderate insomnia)	220	8.40%
	$22 \le ISI$ (severe insomnia)	14	0.50%

SPQ, schizotypal personality questionnaire; ISI, insomnia severity index.

was then used to fit the mediation model. The bootstrap mediation technique was adopted to conduct 5,000 samples with replacement, and the maximum likelihood estimation method was used to fit the global model; p < 0.05 was used to confirm statistical significance.

RESULTS

Prevalence of Schizotypal Traits, Alexithymia, and Insomnia

As shown in **Table 1**, 91 college students with high schizotypal traits were found, accounting for 3.5% of the overall sample. There were 1,466 individuals with low levels of schizotypal traits, accounting for 55.8% of the overall sample. Meanwhile, the numbers of individuals with mild, moderate, and severe insomnia were 1,965, 220, and 14, respectively, accounting for 74.8, 8.4, and 0.5%, respectively, indicating that a relatively large percentage of the participants had mild insomnia.

Relationships Between Schizotypal Traits, Alexithymia, and Insomnia

The mean scores for the SPQ, TAS-20, and ISI were 14.94 (*SD* = 9.38), 54.77 (*SD* = 6.82), and 10.41 (*SD* = 2.98), respectively. Pearson correlations were used to explore the relationships between schizotypal traits, alexithymia, and insomnia, as shown in **Table 2**. As predicted, the total SPQ score was significantly positively correlated with the ISI score, the TAS-20 score, and the scores for each dimension of the alexithymia construct (p < 0.01). The ISI score was also significantly positively correlated with the TAS-20 score and the scores for each alexithymia dimension (p < 0.01).

The Mediating Effect of Alexithymia

The Mediating Effect of Alexithymia on the Total SPQ Scores and ISI Scores

The mediating effect model was constructed by taking the total ISI score as the dependent variable, the total SPQ score as the independent variable, and the total TAS-20 score as the mediating variable (see **Figure 1**). The process of testing the mediating effect then followed the procedure proposed Wen and Ye (25). In the first step, to conduct regression analysis and test coefficient c, the total SPQ score was taken as the independent variable and the total ISI score as the dependent variable. Second, to

conduct the regression analysis and test coefficient a, the total SPQ score was taken as the independent variable and the total TAS-20 score as the dependent variable. Third, to conduct the regression analysis and test coefficient b, the total SPQ score and total TAS-20 score were taken as the independent variables, and the total ISI score was taken as the dependent variable. As shown in **Table 3**, the results revealed that the coefficients a, b, and c were all significant, indicating that alexithymia is a mediating variable between schizotypal traits and insomnia; i.e., schizotypal traits were found to affect sleep problems through alexithymia.

Due to these regressions being significant, the indirect effect of alexithymia was tested using the bias-corrected bootstrap method. As shown in **Table 4**, the results show, first, that the bootstrap 95% confidence interval for the total effect of the model did not contain a zero value [B = 0.144, 95% CI = (0.133, 0.155)]. Second, the direct effect of schizotypal traits on the insomnia severity index did not include a zero value [B = 0.103, 95% CI = (0.090, 0.116)]; and, third, the bootstrap 95% confidence interval for indirect effect did not contain a zero value [B = 0.041, 95% CI = (0.032, 0.049)]. This further indicates that alexithymia had a significant mediating effect on the relationship between schizotypal traits and sleep problems. The effect size of the mediating effect was 28.47%.

The Mediating Effect of Alexithymia on Each Dimension of the SPQ Scores and ISI Scores

For the SPQ subscales scores, the mediating effect model was constructed by taking the total ISI score as the dependent variable, and the positive SPQ score, negative SPQ score, and disorganized SPQ score as the independent variables, and the total TAS-20 score as the mediating variable (see Figures 2-4). The process of testing the mediating effect was the same as above. As shown in Table 5, for the positive dimension, the results revealed that the total effect on the model was $0.224 \ (p < 0.001)$. The direct effect of the positive dimension of schizotypal traits on the ISI was 0.070 (p < 0.001) and the indirect effect was 0.154 (p < 0.001). For the negative dimension, the total effect on the model was 0.255 (p < 0.001). The direct effect of the positive dimension of schizotypal traits on the ISI was 0.092 (p < 0.001) and the indirect effect was 0.163 (p < 0.001). For the disorganized dimension, the results revealed that the total effect on the model was 0.411 (p < 0.001). The direct effect of the positive dimension of schizotypal traits on the ISI was 0.158 (p <0.001) and the indirect effect was 0.253 (p < 0.001). In summary, the results for the three dimensions of the SPQ further confirm the hypothesis that alexithymia has a significant mediating effect on the relationship between schizotypal traits and sleep problems.

DISCUSSION

This survey identified that insomnia afflicts 83.7% of a group of first-year students at a medical university, with 74.8% reporting mild insomnia, and 8.9% reporting moderate and severe insomnia. In contrast to a previous study (26), the percentage of first-year students with sleep problems in this study was relatively higher (83.7 vs. 74.00%), which can possibly be explained by the fact that near half of the participants were TABLE 2 | Descriptive statistics and correlation analysis for SPQ, TAS-20, and ISI.

Variable	$M \pm SD$	SPQ total	SPQ pos	SPQ neg	SPQ dis	TAS-20 total	DIF	DDF	EOT	ISI total
SPQ Total	14.94 ± 9.38	1								
SPQ Positive	6.92 ± 4.15	0.812**	1							
SPQ Negative	5.55 ± 5.02	0.868**	0.511**	1						
SPQ Disorganized	3.24 ± 2.93	0.835**	0.564**	0.624**	1					
TAS-20 Total	54.77 ± 6.82	0.581**	0.427**	0.540**	0.493**	1				
DIF	14.92 ± 4.50	0.606**	0.444**	0.555**	0.523**	0.856**	1			
DDF	13.10 ± 2.19	0.455**	0.295**	0.454**	0.393**	0.767**	0.595**	1		
EOT	26.74 ± 2.80	0.084**	0.096**	0.069**	0.050**	0.459**	0.011	0.128**	1	
ISI Total	10.41 ± 2.98	0.454**	0.312**	0.430**	0.404**	0.410**	0.486**	0.306**	-0.021	1

SPQ, schizotypal personality questionnaire; Pos, positive; Neg, negative; Dis, disorganized; TAS-20, Toronto Alexithymia Scale; DIF, difficulty feelings; DDF, difficulty describing feelings; EOT, externally oriented thinking; ISI, insomnia severity index. ** p < 0.01.



FIGURE 1 | Test of mediation model. Schizotypal Personality Questionnaire (SPQ) consists of three dimensions: positive, negative, and disorganized. Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20) measures three dimensions of the alexithymia construct: difficulty identifying feelings (DIF), difficulty describing feelings (DDF), and externally oriented thinking (EOT). ISI refers to Insomnia Severity Index. Values presented are standardized regression coefficients. The value in parentheses represents the coefficient for the direct path. e1 to e8 represents each error. Latent Variables use ellipses and Observable Variables use rectangular boxes. ***p < 0.001.

TABLE 3 Test of mediation effect of alexithymia or	n relationship between schizotypal trait and insomnia.
--	--

Procedure	Dependent variable	Independent variable		В	SE	t	R	R ²	F
Step 1	ISI	schizotypal trait	С	0.144	0.006	26.09***	0.454	0.206	681.113***
Step 2	TAS-20	schizotypal trait	а	0.422	0.0115	36.608***	0.581	0.338	1340.132***
Step 3	ISI	alexithymia	b	0.097	0.009	10.569***	0.488	0.238	410.781***
		schizotypal trait	C'	0.103	0.007	15.531***			

TAS-20, Toronto Alexithymia Scale; ISI, insomnia severity index. ***p < 0.001.

medical students who with a heavy academic workload in our study. Thus, adaptation to a new environment and the academic workload may have contributed to sleep problems.

The results indicated a positive correlation between schizotypal traits and insomnia severity levels among the students. This is consistent with previous studies (27). Benson (28) found that people with schizophrenia had longer sleep latencies, frequent awakenings, and shorter sleep durations. Another study of schizophrenia patients indicated that most of the participants preferred to stay awake at night and sleep during the day (29). These findings further support the idea that the greater the levels of schizotypal traits, the more severe the sleep problems. Schizophrenia is a complex disorder, caused by both genetic and environmental factors and their interactions (30). It is thought that there is an overlap between the causes of both schizophrenia and sleep problems (31). Compared to people with

TABLE 4 | Bias-corrected bootstrap test of indirect effect of alexithymia on relationship between schizotypal trait and insomnia.

	Effect of value	Boot standard error	Boot CI limit	Boot Cl ceiling
Total effect	0.144	0.005	0.133	0.155
Direct effect	0.103	0.007	0.090	0.116
Indirect effect	0.041	0.004	0.032	0.049



schizophrenia, sleep problems are relatively easy to study in the general population, and future studies could include the study of the relevant biological factors to elucidate the mechanisms of the link between schizophrenia and sleep problems.

and Observable Variables use rectangular boxes. ***p < 0.001.

In addition, the results showed a positive correlation between schizotypal traits and alexithymia among the students, which indicated that the greater the levels of schizotypal traits, the more serious the alexithymia. Studies have shown that schizophrenia is a neurocognitive disease, and that abnormalities in key sections of the brain responsible for emotional processing lead to emotional disorders, making it difficult for individuals to process emotions, resulting in alexithymia (32). This explains why individuals with greater levels of schizotypal traits also show more serious alexithymia.

The structural equation modeling further demonstrated that alexithymia played a partial mediating role between schizotypal traits and sleep problems among the students. This means that schizotypal traits could predict directly the sleep quality of the students. However, schizotypal traits also exerted an indirect influence on sleep problems through the mediating effect of alexithymia. This appears to be consistent with some previous



FIGURE 3 Standardized beta coefficient in TAS partially mediated pathway from SPQ (negative) to ISI. SPQ (negative) represents the negative dimension of the Schizotypal Personality Questionnaire. Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20) measures three dimensions of the alexithymia construct: difficulty identifying feelings, difficulty describing feelings, and externally oriented thinking. ISI refers to Insomnia Severity Index. The value in parentheses represents the coefficient for the direct path. e1 to e5 represents each error. Latent Variables use ellipses and Observable Variables use rectangular boxes. *** $\rho < 0.001$.



FIGURE 4 Standardized beta coefficient in TAS partially mediated pathway from SPQ (disorganized) to ISI. SPQ (disorganized) represents the disorganized dimension of the Schizotypal Personality Questionnaire. Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20) measures three dimensions of the alexithymia construct: difficulty identifying feelings, difficulty describing feelings, and externally oriented thinking. ISI refers to Insomnia Severity Index. The value in parentheses represents the coefficient for the direct path. e1 to e5 represents each error. Latent Variables use ellipses and Observable Variables use rectangular boxes. ***p < 0.001.

studies. For instance, Rehman et al. suggested that sleep problems are associated with psychotic disorders such as paranoia, and that alexithymia may be a potentially important mediating

TABLE 5 lest of mediation effect of alexithymia on relationship between each
dimensions of schizotypal trait and insomnia.

	Positive dimension	Negative dimension	Disorganized dimension
Total effect	0.224	0.255	0.411
Direct effect	0.070	0.092	0.158
Indirect effect	0.154	0.163	0.253

Schizotypal Personality Questionnaire (SPQ) consists of three dimensions: positive, negative, and disorganized.

variable (33). However, other studies have shown that, although alexithymia is significantly correlated with sleep symptoms such as prolonged sleep latencies and frequent awakenings, these correlations disappear when the effects of depression are excluded (34). This suggests that sleep problems may also be associated with mood disorders such as depression.

The mediating effect of alexithymia on each dimension of the SPQ and the ISI scores demonstrates that all the three dimensions exerted influences on insomnia through alexithymia, but the disorganized dimension had the greatest impact. This seems to be consistent with some previous studies. For example, negative symptoms are correlated with generalized impairment (35), psychomotor speed, and poor attention (36, 37). This suggests that negative symptoms may be associated with alexithymia (38) and rapid eye movement sleep abnormalities (39). In addition, positive symptoms are correlated with verbal memory and language comprehension deficits (40) which can lead to inner emotions being difficult to release and deal with, resulting in insomnia at night. Finally, disorganized symptoms are correlated with global impairment, as well as language and memory problems (41). This means that disorganized symptoms experiences almost all of these cognitive impairment, including those that have occurred on both the positive and negative dimensions. Therefore, the disorganized dimension has the greatest impact on sleep problems through the partial mediation effect of alexithymia.

In any case, the causes of sleep problems still need further exploration, including investigation of the impact of depression on alexithymia, and the independent effect of other emotional disorders. Additionally, in order to improve the sleep quality of college students, and to enhance the pertinence and effectiveness of psychological health education, findings from the current study may suggest that psychological counseling might help students develop the ability to express their inner feelings and to understand others' emotions from the perspective of alexithymia.

The limitations of this study are as follows. First, this is a cross-sectional study, so it is still not known how is

REFERENCES

 Cohrs S. Sleep disturbances in patients with schizophrenia : impact and effect of antipsychotics. CNS Drugs. (2008) 22:939–62. doi: 10.2165/00023210-200822110-00004 the dynamic relationship among alexithymia, schizotypal traits and sleep. Future study need to address this issue. Second, alexithymia is generally assessed by self-report or interview, but individuals with schizotypal traits often have low levels of selfawareness. Relying on these subjective approaches can, therefore, be problematic. In future research, self-report approaches should be combined with objective measures. Third, the evaluation of sleep quality in our study relied on the single source of a selfreport questionnaire. The data obtained could be combined with polysomnography and the use of sleep diaries to obtain more comprehensive sleep data. Lastly, the participants surveyed in the current study were all college students. Therefore, they are not sufficiently representative of the general population, and the extrapolation validity of this research is poor. To be more representative of the general population, future research would need to replicate the results using larger samples, and the samples expanded to include different demographic groups.

In conclusion, we found positive correlations between schizotypal traits, alexithymia, and sleep problems, while alexithymia was found to partially mediate the relationship between schizotypal traits and sleep problems. We may be able to improve the sleep quality of those with a high level of schizotypal traits by training their ability to express emotion.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committees of Southern Medical University. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

QM and XZ collected and analyzed the data, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. LZ generated the idea, designed the study, interpreted the data, and wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by grants from the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province, China (2017A030310069) and the Medical Research Foundation of Guangdong Province, China (201906546).

- Benson KL. Sleep in Schizophrenia. Sleep Med Clin. (2008) 3:251–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jsmc.2008.01.001
- Squires-Wheeler E, Skodol AE, Bassett A, Erlenmeyer-Kimling L. DSM-III-R schizotypal personality traits in offspring of schizophrenic disorder, affective disorder, and normal control

parents. J Psychiatr Res. (1989) 23:229-39. doi: 10.1016/0022-3956(89) 90028-9

- Walter EE, Francesca F, Mollie S, Emma B. Genetic consideration of schizotypal traits: a review. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:1769. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01769
- Lenzenweger M. F. Thinking clearly about schizotypy: hewing to the schizophrenia liability core, considering interesting tangents, and avoiding conceptual quicksand. *Schizophr Bull.* (2015) 41(Suppl. 2):S483–91. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu184
- Claridge G, Clark K, Davis C. Nightmares, dreams, and schizotypy. *Br J Clin Psychol.* (2011) 36:377–86. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8260.1997.tb01245.x
- Andorko ND, Mittal V, Thompson E, Denenny D, Epstein G, Demro C, et al. The association between sleep dysfunction and psychosis-like experiences among college students. *Psychiatry Res.* (2017) 248:6–12. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.12.009
- Millan MJ, Andrieux A, Bartzokis G, Cadenhead K, Dazzan P, Fusar-Poli P, et al. Altering the course of schizophrenia: progress and perspectives. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* (2016) 15:485. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2016.28
- Bratis D, Spanopoulou A, Dumitru S, Lagou S, Kosmas E. Sleep disturbance symptoms and their associations with alexithymia, depression and anxiety. *Annal General Psychiatr.* (2010) 9(Suppl. 1):S163. doi: 10.1186/1744-859X-9-S1-S163
- Kooiman CG, Spinhoven P, Trijsburg RW. The assessment of alexithymia: a critical review of the literature and a psychometric study of the Toronto Alexithymia Scale-20. J Psychosom Res. (2002) 53:1083–90. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00348-3
- Bauermann TM, Parker JDA, Taylor GJ. Sleep problems and sleep hygiene in young adults with alexithymia. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2008) 45:318–22. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2008.04.019
- Alfasi D, Soffer-Dudek N. Does alexithymia moderate the relation between stress and general sleep experiences? *Pers Individ Dif.* (2018) 122:87–92. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2017.10.014
- Heshmati R, Jafari E, Hoseinifar J, Ahmadi M. Comparative study of alexithymia in patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders, non-psychotic disorders and normal people. *Procedia - Soc Behav Sci.* (2010) 5:1084–9. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.07.240
- Aaron RV, Benson TL, Park S. Investigating the role of alexithymia on the empathic deficits found in schizotypy and autism spectrum traits. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2015) 77:215–20. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2014.12.032
- Raine A, Reynolds C, Lencz T, Scerbo A, Triphon N, Kim D. Cognitiveperceptual, interpersonal, and disorganized features of schizotypal personality. *Schizophr Bull.* (1994) 20:191–201. doi: 10.1093/schbul/20.1.191
- Raine A. The SPQ: a scale for the assessment of schizotypal personality based on DSM-III-R criteria. *Psychol Med.* (1991) 17:555–64. doi: 10.1093/schbul/17.4.555
- Zou L, Geng F, Liu W, Wei X, Jiang X, Wang Y, et al. The neural basis of olfactory function and its relationship with anhedonia in individuals with schizotypy: an exploratory study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 234:202–7. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2015.09.011
- Wang K, Wang Y, Yan C, Wang Y.-N, Cheung EFC, Chan RC. Semantic processing impairment in individuals with schizotypal personality disorder features: a preliminary event-related potential study. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatr.* (2013) 40:93–102. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.08.019
- Chen WJ, Hsiao CK, Lin CC. Schizotypy in community samples: the threefactor structure and correlation with sustained attention. *J Abnorm Psychol.* (1997) 106:649. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.106.4.649
- Leising D, Grande T, Faber R. The Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20): a measure of general psychological distress. J Res Pers. (2009) 43:707–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2009.03.009
- 21. Parker JDA, Taylor G, Bagby M. Alexithymia and the processing of emotional stimuli: an experimental study. *New Trends Exp Clin Psychiatr.* (1993) 9:9–14.
- Zhu X, Yi J, Yao S, Ryder AG, Taylor GJ, Bagby RM. Cross-cultural validation of a Chinese translation of the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale. *Compr Psychiatr.* (2007) 48:489–96. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2007.04.007
- Bastien CH, Vallières A, Morin CM. Validation of the insomnia severity index as an outcome measure for insomnia research. *Sleep Med.* (2001) 2:297–307. doi: 10.1016/S1389-9457(00)00065-4

- Chung KF, Kan KK, Yeung WF. Assessing insomnia in adolescents: comparison of insomnia severity index, athens insomnia scale and sleep quality index. *Sleep Med.* (2011) 12:463–70. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2010.09.019
- Wen L, Ye BJ. Analyses of mediating effects: the development of methods and models. Adv Psychol Sci. (2014) 22:731–45. doi: 10.3724/SP.J.1042.2014.00731
- Schlarb AA, Friedrich A, Classen M. Sleep problems in university students - an intervention. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2017) 13:1989–2001. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S142067
- Kuula L, Merikanto I, Makkonen T, Halonen R, Lahti-Pulkkinen M, Lahti J, et al. Schizotypal traits are associated with sleep spindles and rapid eye movement in adolescence. J Sleep Res. (2019) 28:e12692. doi: 10.1111/jsr.12692
- Benson KL, Zarcone VP. Rapid eye movement sleep eye movements in schizophrenia and depression. Arch Gen Psychiatr. (1993) 50:474–82. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1993.01820180076008
- Hofstetter JR, Mayeda AR, Happel CG, Lysaker, PH. Sleep and daily activity preferences in schizophrenia: associations with neurocognition and symptoms. J Nerv Mental Dis. (2003) 191:408–10. doi: 10.1097/01.NMD.0000071591.91247.67
- Stefansson H, Ophoff RA, Steinberg S, Andreassen OA, Cichon S, Rujescu D, et al. Common variants conferring risk of schizophrenia. *Nature*. (2009) 460:744–7. doi: 10.1038/nature08186
- Gottesmann C. Dreaming and schizophrenia: a common neurobiological background. *Sleep Biol Rhythms.* (2010) 3:64–74. doi: 10.1111/j.1479-8425.2005.00164.x
- Wout MVT, Aleman A, Bermond B, Kahn RS. No words for feelings: alexithymia in schizophrenia patients and first-degree relatives. *Compr. Psychiatr.* (2007) 48:27–33. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2006.07.003
- Rehman A, Gumley A, Biello S. Sleep quality and paranoia: the role of alexithymia, negative emotions and perceptual anomalies. *Psychiatr Res.* (2018) 259:216–22. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2017.09.066
- Gennaro LD, Martina M, Curcio G, Ferrara M. The relationship between alexithymia, depression, and sleep complaints. *Psychiatr Res.* (2004) 128:253– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2004.05.023
- Braff DL, Heaton R, Kuck J, Cullum M, Zisook S. The generalized pattern of neuropsychological deficits in outpatients with chronic schizophrenia with heterogeneous wisconsin card sorting test results. *Arch Gen Psychiatr.* (1991) 48:891–8. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1991.01810340023003
- Basso MR, Nasrallah HA, Olson SC, Bornstein RA. Neuropsychological correlates of negative, disorganized and psychotic symptoms in schizophrenia. (1998) 31:99–111. doi: 10.1016/s0920-9964(98)00023-1
- Bozikas VP, Kosmidis MH, Kioperlidou K, Karavatos A. Relationship between psychopathology and cognitive functioning in schizophrenia. *Compr Psychiatr.* (2004) 45:392–400. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2004.03.006
- Nkam I, Langlois-Thery S, Dollfus S, Petit MJLE. [Negative symptoms, depression, anxiety and alexithymia in DSM III-R schizophrenic patients]. *Encephale.* (1997) 23:267–72.
- Tandon R, Shipley JE, Taylor S, Greden JF. et al. Electroencephalographic sleep abnormalities in schizophrenia: relationship to positive/negative symptoms and prior neuroleptic treatment. *Arch Gen Psychiatr.* (1992) 49:185–94. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1992.01820030017003
- Green M, Walker E. Neuropsychological performance and positive and negative symptoms in schizophrenia. J Abnorm Psychol. (1985) 94:460–9. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.94.4.460
- Bilder RM, Mukherjee S, Rieder RO, Pandurangi AK. Symptomatic and neuropsychological components of defect states. *Schizophr Bull.* (1985) 11:409–19. doi: 10.1093/schbul/11.3.409

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Ma, Zhang and Zou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Quadratic Relationship Between Alexithymia and Interoceptive Accuracy, and Results From a Pilot Mindfulness Intervention

Rachel V. Aaron^{1*†}, Scott D. Blain², Matthew A. Snodgress² and Sohee Park¹

¹ Department of Psychology, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, TN, United States, ² Department of Psychology, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, Minneapolis, MN, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy

Reviewed by:

Carmine Tomasetti, SPDC di Giulianova, Italy Olivier Luminet, Catholic University of Louvain, Belgium Olivier Desmedt, Université Catholique de Louvain, Belgium, in collaboration with reviewer OL

*Correspondence:

Rachel V. Aaron raaron4@jhmi.edu

[†]Present address:

Rachel V. Aaron, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, United States

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 30 August 2019 Accepted: 13 February 2020 Published: 10 March 2020

Citation:

Aaron RV, Blain SD, Snodgress MA and Park S (2020) Quadratic Relationship Between Alexithymia and Interoceptive Accuracy, and Results From a Pilot Mindfulness Intervention. Front. Psychiatry 11:132. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00132

Alexithymia, or a reduced ability to label and describe one's emotions, is a transdiagnostic construct associated with poor psychosocial outcomes. Currently, the mechanisms underlying affective deficits associated with alexithymia are unclear, hindering targeted treatment delivery. Recent research suggests deficient interoceptive awareness, or reduced awareness of one's internal bodily state, may be key in the etiology of alexithymia. It has long been demonstrated that mindfulness meditation can alter perceptions of one's own emotions and bodily cues. Therefore, it is possible that mindfulness meditation may reduce affective deficits associated with alexithymia by improving interoceptive awareness. In this study, we aimed to (1) elucidate the role of interoceptive accuracy and sensibility, two dimensions of interoceptive awareness, in alexithymia, and (2) test the efficacy of a brief mindfulness meditation for improving interoceptive accuracy, interoceptive sensibility, and emotional awareness. Seventy six young adults completed a baseline heartbeat detection task, to assess interoceptive accuracy and sensibility, and the Toronto Alexithymia Scale-20 item. They were randomly assigned to a brief mindfulness-based body scan meditation intervention or control condition. Afterwards, participants completed tasks assessing emotional awareness (i.e., affect labeling, emotional granularity) and follow-up heartbeat detection task. Relationships between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy and sensibility were best described as quadratic (p = 0.002) and linear (p = 0.040), respectively. Participants in both conditions showed robust improvements in interoceptive accuracy from baseline to follow-up (p < 0.001; $\eta_{\scriptscriptstyle D}^2$ = 0.15); however, there were no group (meditation or control) differences in degree of improvement. Similarly, there were no group differences in affect labeling or emotional granularity. These preliminary results suggest that heightened alexithymia may be associated with either relatively high or low interoceptive accuracy. The meditation condition did not result in improved interoceptive accuracy or sensibility above and beyond that of a control group. Improvements in interoceptive accuracy, interoceptive sensibility, and emotional awareness may require longer or more interactive intervention approaches. More research is needed to parse the potentially complex relationship between alexithymia and interoceptive awareness, and to develop targeted treatment approaches to ameliorating associated affective deficits.

Keywords: alexithymia, interoception, mindfulness meditation, interoceptive accuracy, interoceptive sensibility, emotional awareness, emotional granularity, affect labeling

INTRODUCTION

Alexithymia is a dimensional and transdiagnostic construct, defined by an inability to label and describe one's own emotional experiences, and a preference for externally-oriented thinking (1). Elevated alexithymia is problematic as it is associated with deficits in emotion regulation (2) and relatedly, elevated mental health risk (3). Alexithymia was once considered a stable personality trait; however, recent research suggests both targeted and general psychosocial interventions result in reductions of alexithymia (4–6). It is now exceedingly important to clarify the nature of alexithymic deficits and how to effectively target them in intervention. The current study takes steps toward this goal by investigating the relationship between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy and sensibility, and piloting a mindfulness intervention to improve interoceptive accuracy, interoceptive sensibility and emotional awareness.

Interoception refers to one's perception of internal physiological sensations within their body (7). The capacity to accurately detect interoceptive cues is thought to be critical in facilitating the experience of subjective emotional states (8-10). Some propose that alexithymia is fundamentally a deficit in interoceptive accuracy (10-12). Thus, clarifying the relationship between alexithymia and aspects of interoception is essential. The umbrella of interoceptive awareness includes multiple related, but distinct processes including "interoceptive accuracy" and "interoceptive sensibility" (13). Interoceptive accuracy refers to one's objective accuracy in detecting interoceptive signals. In the laboratory, this is typically measured using heartbeat detection paradigms; for example, in Schandry's (14) mental tracking task, participants are instructed to estimate how many times their heart beats over various time intervals. Meanwhile, their actual heartrate is measured using a tracking device, allowing direct comparison of estimated and objective heartbeat data. The ratio of these values forms an index of interoceptive accuracy. Interoceptive sensibility refers to one's perceived dispositional tendency to focus on interoceptive signals, and is typically measured using selfreport questionnaires that assess an individual's belief in their interoceptive ability (13). In the laboratory, this is often assessed by measuring one's confidence in performance on heartbeat detection paradigms.

Despite theoretical conjecture that alexithymia should be negatively related to interoceptive accuracy and sensibility, empirical findings testing this linear relationship are mixed. While some studies have shown significant negative relationships between alexithymia and interoceptive sensibility, assessed with self-report questionnaires (15, 16), others have reported significant positive relationships between alexithymia and interoceptive sensibility (17, 18).

Similarly, on heartbeat detection tasks, investigators have reported statistically significant negative [e.g., (12)], positive [e.g., (19)], and statistically non-significant relationships [e.g., (16)] between interoceptive accuracy and alexithymia. Murphey et al. (20) suggests inconsistent findings may result from failure to account for key covariates. They show alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy are significantly negatively correlated, but only after accounting for relevant covariates such as BMI [associated with lower interoceptive discrimination; (21)], depression and anxiety, and gender.

Another source of variance might be non-linear relationships between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy and sensibility; consideration of specific clinical examples marked by elevated alexithymia raises this possibility. Some clinical examples are conceptually consistent with the theory that reduced interoceptive awareness relates to reduced emotional awareness. For example, eating disorders are characterized by elevated alexithymia (22) and abnormal internal bodily representations; it is perhaps unsurprising that individuals with eating disorders (compared to non-clinical controls) are characterized by interoceptive deficits (23). Other clinical populations do not present as consistent with this intuitive account. For example, compared to healthy controls, individuals with anxiety disorders have higher levels of alexithymia (3) but also increased interoceptive accuracy (24). Domschke et al. (24) argue that rather than provide useful knowledge about one's internal affective state, heightened interoceptive accuracy may create more frequent opportunities for catastrophic interpretation, perpetuating a cycle of anxiety. Longarz et al. (18) showed significant positive associations between alexithymia, interoceptive sensibility and an index of hypochondriasis. They conclude that heighted interoceptive sensibility can sometimes occur at the expense of emotionally relevant cues. Taken together, the literature suggests that reduced or elevated interoceptive accuracy or sensibility may be problematic in individuals characterized by difficulties with emotional awareness. This suggests the possibility of quadratic relationships between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy and sensibility. Ultimately, understanding mechanisms underlying accurate, and healthy (e.g., non-catastrophic) interoceptive awareness may be key to ameliorating deficits associated with alexithymia.

Research highlights specific deficits in emotional awareness that are associated with alexithymia, and potentially modifiable in response to focused intervention. Alexithymia is associated with distinct patterns of labeling one's own emotions (i.e., affect labeling): in response to evocative images and videos, those with heightened alexithymia generate fewer or no emotion words to describe their feelings (25, 26). Alexithymia is also associated with reduced negative emotional granularity (26, 27), or the ability to make fine-grained distinctions between various negative emotional states. For example, an individual with low emotional granularity might describe feeling "bad," while someone with high emotional granularity might describe the same feeling as "ashamed, embarrassed, and irritated" (28). Affect labeling and granularity are related to successful emotion regulation (28); knowing what one feels is critical for taking active steps to regulate that emotion (29). This link might help explain robust associations between elevated alexithymia and poor mental health outcomes (3). Critically, affect labeling and emotional granularity are modifiable and thus potential targets of intervention: affect labeling interventions have been shown to improve physiological recovery following a stressful speech task (30). Undergoing an 8-week mindfulness based stress reduction course has been shown to result in increased emotional

granularity (31). In dialectical behavioral therapy (DBT), patients learn to increase awareness and acceptance of varied emotional states, which promotes successful emotion regulation (32).

An essential next step in alexithymia research is developing and testing targeted interventions to ameliorate specific deficits. A primary goal of mindfulness-based interventions is to cultivate non-judgmental and present focused awareness of internal experiences including bodily sensations, thoughts, and emotions (33); as such, mindfulness-based interventions, particularly those that are bodily-focused, may be ideally suited to foster accurate detection of both interoceptive and emotional cues. This is again demonstrated in DBT interventions, which use mindfulness-based approaches to increase emotional awareness (32). Results from two recent mindfulness-based interventions highlight the utility of applying these techniques to improve alexithymia specifically. In a large, non-clinical sample, Bornemann and Singer (6) showed increased interoceptive accuracy in response to a 9-month mindfulness-based training. These improvements were directly related to reductions in alexithymia over time. Edwards et al. (34) developed a brief mindfulness-based intervention delivered to individuals with high alexithymia, which resulted in more precise and complex affect labeling. In the current study, we examined the benefits of a brief mindfulness-based body scan meditation on interoceptive accuracy, interoceptive sensibility, and emotional awareness in a healthy population.

The current study aimed to (1) explore the relationship between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy and sensibility in a sample of healthy young adults while accounting for key covariates of BMI and gender, and (2) pilot a brief mindfulnessbased body scan intervention and determine whether it results in improved emotional awareness and interoceptive accuracy and sensibility, compared to a control task. To test our first aim, participants completed a heartbeat tracking task and an alexithymia questionnaire. We hypothesized alexithymia would be related to interoceptive accuracy and sensibility and we explored both linear and quadratic relationships. In the interest of transparency, it is important to acknowledge that although the heartbeat tracking task is widely utilized, recent empirical evidence highlights significant limitations of this method (35); we discuss the implications of these limitations in the discussion section. To address our second aim, we randomized participants to receive either a mindfulness-based body scan meditation intervention or to complete a control task. Similar meditations have been successful in increasing accurate perception of bodily sensations in prior research (36). We hypothesized that those in the mindfulness (vs. control) group would demonstrate greater improvements in interoceptive accuracy and sensibility from baseline to follow-up, and improved performance on affect labeling and emotional granularity tasks.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Participants were recruited from the university's undergraduate research pool. They responded to a general advertisement describing a laboratory visit entailing questionnaires and laboratory tasks. Seventy six participants were recruited and received course credit for their participation. To account for the potentially confounding effect of mood disorders on study variables, we excluded participants with a past or current selfreported diagnosis of depression, anxiety, or substance use disorder. This study was approved by the Vanderbilt University Institutional Review Board, and participants provided written informed consent.

Procedure

Prior to attending a scheduled laboratory visit, participants were randomized to either a mindfulness-based body scan meditation intervention condition or a control condition using a random number generator. When they arrived to the laboratory, they first completed questionnaires and a heartbeat detection task (14), used to measure interoceptive accuracy and interoceptive sensibility. Next, they received either a mindfulness-based body scan meditation intervention or control condition, depending on prior randomization.

Both conditions were delivered via a 10-min audio recording, and participants were instructed to simply follow along with instructions in the recording. The mindfulness intervention conditions consisted specifically of a body scan mediation; participants were instructed to sequentially attend to specific parts of their body with non-judgmental and present-focused attention; in the control condition, participants were instructed to listen passively to a reading from a natural history text book. Both recordings were originally developed for use in a smoking cessation intervention (37). Afterwards, participants completed tasks designed to assess multidimensional aspects of emotional awareness [for details on this "INductionbased multiDimensional Emotional Experiences Paradigm" see previous work; (26)]. Finally, they completed a follow-up heartbeat detection task.

Materials and Tasks Questionnaires

Participants completed the Toronto Alexithymia Scale 20-item [TAS-20; (38)], which yields a total alexithymia score, summed from scores on three subscales, difficulty identifying feelings (DIF), difficulty describing feelings (DDF), and externallyoriented thinking (EOT). Participants responded to questions on a 1–5 Likert scale; higher scores indicate greater alexithymia. Participants also completed a brief demographics questionnaire to assess age, gender, race, height, and weight (the latter two used to calculate BMI).

Heartbeat Detection Task

Interoceptive accuracy and interoceptive sensibility were assessed using the heartbeat tracking task (14). A Polar H7 Bluetooth Smart Heart Rate Sensor (Polar Electro Oy, Kempele, Finland) was utilized to measure heartrate during the heartbeat tracking trials. Heartrate data was transmitted using Bluetooth technology to a 4th generation iPad using the Polar Beat App (Apple Inc., Cupertino, CA, USA). To avoid references to the passing of time, participants were asked to remove watches for the duration of the heartbeat detection task, which were stored in a safe place outside of the data collection room; all clocks were also removed from the room. Participants were instructed to sit with their eyes closed, hands on the table, and palms face up, to avoid using visual cues or pulse detection as a proxy for heartbeat. Participants were asked to estimate the number of times their heart beat over various time intervals. First, they completed a 30 s practice trial and were given the opportunity to ask questions. Next, the completed 25 s, 35 s, and 45 s trials, with trial order randomized across participants. After each trial, they were asked "how many times did your heart beat?" After completing all four trials, they rated confidence in their estimation on a 1–10 scale (1 = "not at all confident," 10 = "completely confident").

Interoceptive accuracy was calculated as the mean score across the three trials using the following transformation: $1/3 \sum [(1-$ |recorded heartbeats—counted heartbeats|)/recorded heartbeats; (14)]. Confidence ratings were used as an index of interoceptive sensibility (13). Participants were not given any feedback on their performance after completing the task.

Emotional Awareness Tasks

After the mindfulness intervention or control task, participants completed the INduction-based multiDimensional Emotional Experiences Paradigm [IN-DEEP; (26)] to assess aspects of emotional awareness. Participants viewed 14 film clips identified as reliably eliciting 6 prototypical emotions by Gross and Levenson [(39); amusement, anger, contentment, disgust, fear, sadness, and surprise]. After each clip, they selected the emotion they experienced "the most" from a list including 16 emotion words and two additional options of "the emotion I experienced is not listed here" and "I did not experience any emotion." Consistent with our prior research (26), the frequency with which participants selected the standardized emotion was used to compute an index of "consistent affect label." The frequency with which they chose an affect label that did not correspond with the standardized emotion was used to form an index of "nonstandard affect label," and the frequency of selecting "I did not experience any emotion" formed an index of "no affect label."

After providing an affect label, participants were presented with 29 emotional words sequentially, and asked to report the intensity with which they experienced each on a 1-9 Likert Scale. These ratings were used to form an index of emotional granularity. We calculated the degree to which each participant made granular distinctions between specific negative and specific positive emotions using a standard approach (28). First, interclass correlations with absolute agreement were calculated between the intensity ratings of each individual's endorsement of all negative or positive emotions across the entire experiment. For each participant, these ICCs were averaged together to form a single index representing average positive or negative granularity. At this stage, a high average ICC suggests a tendency to rate all positive or all negative emotion words similarly, reflecting a lower degree of granularity. However, to aid interpretation of these results, and in line with standard procedures, we then subtracted the average ICC from one, such that higher scores reflect a higher degree of granularity. Finally, scores were transformed to Fisher's z.

Of note, the full IN-DEEP paradigm assesses other domains of emotional experiences (e.g., subjective arousal, response time). We isolated affect labeling and emotional granularity to facilitate group comparison: for these variables, higher scores indicate report of more normative experiences or greater degree of emotional awareness. These two variables have been shown to be most tightly linked to the alexithymia construct (26, 27).

Data Analysis Power Analysis

A power analysis was conducted to determine the number of participants needed to sufficiently power our primary aim (determining the relation between interoceptive accuracy and alexithymia). One previous study reported a correlation of -0.37 between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy in a sample from the general population (12). Thus, approximately 73 participants were needed to have 90% power to detect a similar, moderate, effect.

Missing Data

Heart rate data was missing from three participants at both time points (due to equipment failure or preference not to participate), and two participants at follow-up (due to time constraints). These data points were removed case-wise from our analyses.

Statistical Approach

To test our first aim, hierarchical regression models were conducted to examine relationships between (1) alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy, and (2) alexithymia and interoceptive sensibility. We tested relationships between total alexithymia and alexithymia subscales in relation to interoceptive accuracy and sensibility. In all models, BMI and gender were entered as the first step in each model. In the second step, baseline interoceptive accuracy (model 1) or interoceptive sensibility (model 2) were added to the model. In the third step, the quadratic term of baseline interoceptive accuracy (model 1) or interoceptive sensibility (model 2) was added to the model. Step two yielded estimates for a linear model, and step three yielded estimates for a quadratic model. We examined the significance and effect size (f^2) of the overall model at each step. We also examined the significance of the individual items within. Finally, we examined the change in the effect of the overall model and the statistical significance of that change at each step, to determine whether a quadratic model was a better predictor of alexithymia, compared to linear effects. Of note, our decision to test a quadratic relationship between interoceptive accuracy and sensibility and alexithymia was a posteriori, driven by literature that emerged after the planning of this study. For example, a meta-analysis from our group that concluded that chronic pain-a condition characterized by hypervigilance toward bodily sensations-was consistently and robustly associated with elevated levels of alexithymia (40). Because this was not an *a priori* analysis, there is increased risk of Type I error.

Our second aim examined whether exposure to mindfulnessbased body scan meditation intervention resulted in improved interoceptive accuracy and sensibility, and greater emotional awareness, compared to a control task. We conducted mixed repeated measure analysis of variance (RM-ANOVA) to examine the effect of time (baseline, follow-up) on interoceptive accuracy and sensibility, considering group (meditation, control) as a between-groups factor. Where significant interactions emerged, we conducted *post-hoc* paired sample *t*-tests to examine group differences. Finally, we performed *t*-tests comparing group differences in affect labeling and positive and negative emotional granularity, and report Cohen's *d* to describe effect size.

RESULTS

Descriptive

Sample Characteristics

Of the included 76 participants, 66% identified as women and 34% as men (Mean age = 19.70, SD = 0.95). Fifty four percentage of participants identified as Caucasian, 16% African American or African, 15% Asian or Asian American, 3% Hispanic, and 10% "Multiracial" or "other." The meditation and control groups did not differ on these demographic factors.

Alexithymia

Mean TAS-20 total score was 44.57 (SD = 9.36). There were no group differences (meditation vs. control) on TAS-20 total score ($t_{(75)} = 0.04$, p = 0.97). There were significant correlations between TAS-20 subscales; subscale score means, standard

 TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics and inter-correlations of alexithymia subscale scores.

Alexithymia subscale	Mean (SD)	Inter-correlations			
		1	2	3	
Difficulty describing feelings	11.88 (3.63)		0.715	0.247	
Difficulty identifying feelings	14.92 (4.33)	<0.000		0.238	
Externally oriented thinking	17.76 (4.15)	0.032	0.038		

Values above the diagonal indicate correlation Pearson Correlation coefficient (r). Values below the diagonal indicate p values. Statistically significant values (p < 0.05) bolded.

deviations and inter-correlations coefficients are reported in Table 1.

Relationship Between Alexithymia and Interoceptive Accuracy and Sensibility Interoceptive Accuracy

We used hierarchical regression models to examine linear and quadratic relationships between baseline interoceptive accuracy and total alexithymia, controlling for BMI and gender. See Table 2 for full results. The first step, including covariates (BMI, gender) was not statistically significantly related to total alexithymia (step 1; $R^2 = 0.02$, p = 0.460). The second step, which added a linear interoceptive accuracy term was also not statistically significantly related to total alexithymia (step 2; R^2 = 0.03, p = 0.612). The third step, which added a quadratic interoceptive accuracy term, was statistically significant (step 3; $R^2 = 0.17$, p = 0.017) and moderate in effect ($f^2 = 0.20$). The addition of a quadratic term to the overall model resulted in statistically significant improvement in R^2 , highlighting the statistical superiority of a quadratic vs. linear relationship between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy ($\Delta R^2 = 0.14$, p = 0.002). Examination of individual items revealed that after accounting for covariates and the linear interoceptive accuracy term, there was a statistically significant quadratic relationship between interoceptive accuracy and alexithymia ($\beta = 2.62$, p = 0.002); see Figure 1. Of note, a single outlying TAS-20 score (TAS-20 = 80; greater than three standard deviations above the mean) was identified. We explored the quadratic relationship when this outlier was removed: After accounting for covariates and the linear interoceptive accuracy term, the relationship between interoceptive accuracy and alexithymia remained statistically significant ($\beta = 1.89, p = 0.034$).

We also conducted a series of models examining the relationship between alexithymia subscales and interoceptive accuracy, which yielded similar patterns of results. The relationship between DDF and DIF and interoceptive accuracy

TABLE 2 | Hierarchical regression models of linear and quadratic relationships between alexithymia and baseline interoceptive accuracy.

		β	t	p	R ²	р	f ²	Cha	ange
								ΔR^2	<i>p</i> (∆F)
Step 1					0.02	0.460	0.02	0.02	0.460
	BMI	-0.16	-1.24	0.218					
	Gender	-0.07	-0.553	0.582					
Step 2					0.03	0.612	0.03	0.00	0.605
	BMI	-0.15	-1.14	0.259					
	Gender	-0.07	-0.54	0.594					
	IAb	-0.06	-0.52	0.605					
Step 3					0.17	0.017	0.20	0.14	0.002
	BMI	-0.09	-0.70	0.489					
	Gender	0.04	0.34	0.732					
	IA _b	-2.66	-3.35	0.001					
	IA ² _b	2.62	3.30	0.002					

BMI, Body Mass Index; IA_b , Baseline Interoceptive Accuracy. Statistically significant values (p < 0.05) bolded.

were best characterized as quadratic, effects which were moderate in magnitude. The relationship between EOT and interoceptive accuracy was also best characterized as quadratic, an effect which was small in magnitude. See **Supplemental Material A** for full results.

Interoceptive Sensibility

We conducted a similar series of models to examine relationships between baseline interoceptive sensibility and total alexithymia (**Table 3**). The first step, including covariates (BMI, gender) was not statistically significantly related to total alexithymia (step 1; $R^2 = 0.02$, p = 0.478). The second and third step, which added first linear (step 2; $R^2 = 0.08$, p = 0.124) and then quadratic (step 3; $R^2 = 0.09$, p = 0.214) interoceptive sensibility terms, were not statistically significantly related to total alexithymia. However, examination of individual items revealed a statistically



significant linear relationship between interoceptive sensibility and total alexithymia, after accounting for covariates ($\beta = -0.26$, p = 0.040). We explored this same relationship after removing the single outlying TAS-20 score (TAS-20 = 80), and the result was trending significance ($\beta = -0.23$, p = 0.074).

We also conducted a series of models examining the relationship between interoceptive sensibility and alexithymia subscales, which yielded similar overall patterns for DDF and DIF. Both relationships were best characterized as linear, although the relationship between subscales and the linear term were both trending significant (0.10 > p > 0.05). In contrast, there was no statistically significant relationship between EOT and interoceptive sensibility. See **Supplemental Material B** for full results.

Change in Interoceptive Accuracy and Sensibility

Means and SD's of interoceptive accuracy and sensibility at baseline and follow-up by group are presented in **Table 4**.

Interoceptive Accuracy

Mixed RM-ANOVAs examining change in interoceptive accuracy from baseline to follow-up revealed a main effect of time on interoceptive accuracy [$F_{(1, 70)} = 12.22$, p < 0.001], suggesting statistically significant and large in magnitude improvements in interoceptive accuracy from baseline to follow-up ($\eta^2 = 0.15$). However, there was no interaction of time and group [$F_{(1, 70)} = 0.02$, p = 0.88, $\eta^2 = 0.00$) on this relationship, suggesting that these improvements were statistically similar for both meditation and control groups.

Interoceptive Sensibility

There was no main effect of time on interoceptive sensibility $[F_{(1,70)} = 0.00, p = 0.96, \eta^2 = 0.00]$, suggesting that there were no overall improvements in interoceptive sensibility, across the two groups. However, there was a significant time by group interaction $[F_{(1,70)} = 4.41, p = 0.039]$, an effect that

TABLE 3 | Hierarchical regression models of linear and quadratic relationships between alexithymia and baseline interoceptive sensibility.

		β	t	p	R ²	p	f ²	Cha	ange
								ΔR^2	<i>p</i> (∆F)
Step 1					0.02	0.478	0.02	0.02	0.478
	BMI	-0.16	-1.21	0.230					
	Gender	-0.07	-0.53	0.597					
Step 2					0.08	0.124	0.09	0.06	0.040
	BMI	-0.18	-1.40	0.165					
	Gender	-0.02	-0.13	0.900					
	IS b	-0.26	-2.10	0.040					
Step 3					0.09	0.214	0.10	0.00	0.758
	BMI	-0.18	-1.43	0.159					
	Gender	-0.02	-0.12	0.902					
	IS _b	-0.45	-0.71	0.480					
	IS_b^2	0.19	0.310	0.758					

BMI, Body Mass Index; IS_b , Baseline Interoceptive Sensibility. Statistically significant values (p < 0.05) bolded.

TABLE 4 Interoceptive accuracy and sensibility means and standard deviations
at baseline and follow-up.

	Contro	l group	Meditation group		
	Baseline	Follow-up	Baseline	Follow-up	
Interoceptive accuracy (%)	0.69 (0.17)	0.76 (0.14)	0.71 (0.18)	0.78 (0.16)	
Interoceptive sensibility (0–10)	5.66 (1.77)	5.97 (1.66)	6.19 (2.07)	5.89 (1.98)	

 TABLE 5 | Group differences (meditation intervention vs. control condition) in emotional awareness.

	Control mean (SD)	Meditation mean (SD)	t	р	d
Affect label					
Consistent affect label	9.18 (1.67)	8.82 (2.30)	0.80	0.420	0.18
Non-standard affect label	3.87 (1.47)	4.58 (2.33)	-1.59	0.117	-0.36
No affect label	0.95 (1.14)	0.61 (0.72)	1.57	0.121	0.36
Granularity					
Negative granularity	0.68 (0.12)	0.66 (0.14)	0.36	0.719	0.15
Positive granularity	0.65 (0.17)	0.65 (0.20)	-0.12	0.904	0.00

was moderate in magnitude ($\eta^2 = 0.06$). This suggests the presence of group differences (meditation vs. control) in changes in interoceptive sensibility from baseline to follow-up. We further explored this finding with *post-hoc* paired sample *t*-tests. Participants who received the mindfulness-based body scan intervention demonstrated a statistically non-significant reduction in interoceptive sensibility from baseline to follow-up [$t_{(34)} = 1.25$, p = 0.22, d = 0.15]. Those who received the control task recording demonstrated a statistically non-significant increase in interoceptive sensibility [$t_{(33)} = -1.92$, p = 0.063, d = 0.18].

Group Difference in Emotional Awareness

There were no significant group differences on IN-DEEP performance between the control group and meditation groups (**Table 5**).

DISCUSSION

The current study examined the relationship between alexithymia and both interoceptive accuracy and sensibility in a non-clinical sample of young adults. We tested whether individuals who underwent a brief mindfulness-based body scan meditation demonstrated improved interoceptive accuracy and sensibility, as well as greater emotional awareness, relative to those in a control condition. While accounting for potential confounding variables, we found that the relationship between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy in the current sample was best described as quadratic; elevated alexithymia was associated with having either relatively high or relatively low interoceptive accuracy. With regards to group differences in performance on interoceptive and emotional awareness tasks, we found that both the meditation and control groups showed significant increases in interoceptive accuracy from baseline to follow-up, with moderate effect sizes. Contrary to hypotheses, there were no group differences in degree of improvement. Also contrary to hypotheses, there were no group (meditation vs. control) differences in performance on affect labeling or emotional granularity.

We found a statistically significant quadratic relationship between interoceptive accuracy and total alexithymia, an effect which was moderate in magnitude. This effect was statistically significant for all alexithymia subscales, and strongest in effect for difficulty identifying feelings and difficulty describing feelings. Some existing research suggests that alexithymia may relate to reduced interoceptive accuracy (10). While this account is intuitive and supported by some empirical evidence, a negative relationship between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy is not consistently reported (16, 19). The current findings highlight one potential source of inconsistency for these disparate findings in suggesting that the relationship between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy may not be best categorized by a negative linear association, and rather, may be quadratic. In addition to individuals with elevated alexithymia that is associated with reduced interoceptive accuracy, a subset of individuals with heightened alexithymia may be characterized by increased interoceptive accuracy, which could also be maladaptive. Evidence from various clinical populations-briefly discussed in our introduction-supports this conjecture. This pattern may characterize other clinical populations as well. For example, hypervigilance toward pain is related to the development and maintenance of chronic pain conditions (41); however, chronic pain is also associated with elevated alexithymia (40). Likewise, negative outcomes may be associated with increased interoceptive accuracy in the case of panic disorders, where hypervigilance toward sensations of anxiety is thought to promote catastrophic interpretations, resulting in symptoms of panic (24).

To summarize, our findings indicate that greater interoceptive accuracy is not necessarily associated with better outcomes (e.g., emotional awareness); rather, a specific degree of interoceptive accuracy paired with neutral (vs. catastrophic) interpretations of interoceptive signals may be most adaptive. This is an empirical question for future research studies, which should continue investigating the relationship between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy, as well as possible cognitive, clinical, and personality moderators of this relationship. This line of research has potential to shed light on developing and delivering targeted and personalized interventions to ameliorate the broad range of affective deficits associated with alexithymia. It is also important that future research replicate the findings presented in the current study, and using varied assessment approaches. As we discuss in more detail in the limitations section, there are limitations to the assessment approach adopted in this particular study. Replication and variety of methodological approach will help shed more light on the preliminary findings of a quadratic relationships between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy reported in this study. In particular, recent guidelines have been published that will be helpful in guiding future research in this area (35).

The relationship between interoceptive sensibility and total alexithymia in the current study was best characterized as linear, although this was a considerably weaker effect, particularly for alexithymia subscales. A significant negative relationship between interoceptive sensibility and alexithymia has been reported in some (15, 16), but not all (18), empirical investigations of the linear relationship between these two variables. In the current study, interoceptive sensibility was quantified as participants' self-rated confidence in their accuracy detecting heart beats, which was impacted by self-report biases. Alexithymia is strongly related to psychological distress (42) and negative affect (43), which can result in a negative bias of one's abilities. Individuals with elevated alexithymia may be more likely to rate their abilities as poor, regardless of objective accuracy (42) and this may be particularly prominent when they are asked about confidence in areas concerning emotional and bodily awareness. We did not find a statistically significant relationship between externally oriented thinking and interoceptive sensibility. Although we cannot assess this in the current study, one possible explanation for these findings is that externally oriented thinking is less tightly linked to psychological distress compared to other alexithymia subscales (44), and thus less likely to be impacted by a negative self-bias. Moreover, other studies have failed to find a significant relationship between interoceptive sensibility and externally oriented thinking (16, 18), and the theoretical basis and psychometric properties of this construct have been questioned (45). Overall, there remains inconsistency in the relationship between alexithymia subscales and interoceptive sensibility. Future research is needed to more rigorously examine relationships between interoceptive sensibility and alexithymia (total and subscales), the potentially mediating role of negative affect, and using other indices of interoceptive sensibility-particularly those that minimize the confounds associated with self-report.

Contrary to our hypothesis, the mindfulness-based body scan intervention did not result in improvements in interoceptive accuracy above and beyond that of a control condition: both groups showed improvements in interoceptive accuracy, which were large in magnitude. These improvements are consistent with other studies that show a single, brief, mindfulness meditation can result in improved sensory awareness (36) and meaningful clinical change (37). These findings are inconsistent with several studies of small sample sizes (ns <41), which reported no statistically significant improvements in interoceptive accuracy among individuals in a meditation vs. control condition (46, 47). A recent study with a large sample size (n = 300) showed that adults enrolled in a 9-month mindfulness training program showed improvements in interoceptive accuracy, and that these improvements corresponded with reductions in alexithymia (6). Interestingly, the adults in that trial showed steady improvement in interoceptive accuracy over the duration of the 9-month training program, and the authors noted that long-term mindfulness training may be required for clinically meaningful and lasting improvements in interoceptive accuracy. Thus, the brief meditation intervention in the present study may have been insufficient in dose to cause measurable benefits in interoceptive accuracy, interoceptive sensibility or emotional awareness. With consideration to the quadratic relationship observed between interoceptive accuracy and alexithymia, additional research is needed to determine how to promote an adaptive degree of interoceptive accuracy using efficient intervention design, and with consideration to potential clinical moderators. Thus, ideally, treatment delivery might be best customized to individuals based on specific diagnoses or symptom profiles.

There were no overall changes in interoceptive sensibility from baseline to follow-up. However, we found a statistically significant interaction of time by group for interoceptive sensibility, which was moderate in effect. Post-hoc tests revealed that whereas those in the mindfulness intervention group showed small and statistically non-significant reduction in interoceptive sensibility from baseline to follow-up, those in the control group showed small and statistically non-significant improvement in interoceptive sensibility. These findings are inconsistent with some others, which show, for example, that mindfulness meditation training can result in improvements in interoceptive sensibility but not interoceptive accuracy (47), a pattern also found in expert meditators (48). These current findings should be interpreted with caution, as posthoc comparisons were statistically non-significant, and these and other reported findings are certainly in need of replication; larger sample sizes are often required for adequate statistical power to accurately detect interactions, compared to main effects. Nonetheless, one possible explanation for the aforementioned significant interaction is that the body scan meditation led to increased awareness of the challenge of accurately perceiving interoceptive cues, resulting in decreased perceived accuracy on the heartbeat tracking task, relative to those in a control condition: Experts in the field of mindfulness meditation have argued that initially, such practices may increase awareness of one's deficits (49).

Contrary to our hypotheses, there were no significant group differences (meditation intervention vs. control) in affect labeling or emotional granularity. A brief mindfulness-based body scan meditation may be insufficient to increase emotional awareness, at least as assessed using the current paradigm. More interactive approaches might prove more useful for targetting specific alexithymia-related deficits in emotional awareness. For example, a recent study developed a novel body mapping intervention program, in which participants received education about affect and physiology, underwent guided emotion-focused body scan meditations, and completed digital mapping exersizes, visually depicting experienced emotions. When compared to a control condition of a body scan meditation alone, body mapping resulted in more precise and complex affect labeling, even in individuals with heightened alexithymia (34). Interactive and educational interventions may be superior to more passive, body scan meditations, such as that used in the current study, in improving affective labeling. Prior literature demonstrates the malleability of affect labeling and emotional granularity (31, 34), and additional research is needed to continue investigating effective methods of improving emotional awareness in the context of elevated alexithymia.

A number of methodological limitations are necessary to consider when interpreting the findings of this study. To account

for the potential covariance of depression and anxiety on the relationship between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy and sensibility, we excluded participants with a current or historical diagnosis of depression, anxiety or substance abuse. However, it is possible that sub-clinical symptoms impacted study findings. Future studies should control for these variables more rigorously. Further, as participants in the current study were healthy young adults, screened to ensure the absence of current or past psychopathology, variability in our constructs of interest (e.g., alexithymia, emotion granularity, and interoceptive awareness) was potentially limited. Participants completed a single practice trial of the heartbeat detection task prior to baseline assessment of interoceptive accuracy and sensibility; practice effects from baseline to follow-up may account in part for improved interoceptive accuracy in both the meditation and control groups. Future studies should administer a greater number of practice trials to better account for the potential confound of practice effects. The sample size for this study was informed by a power analysis of a single study examining the relationship between interoceptive accuracy and alexithymia, which reported a moderate negative association; this was likely to overestimate the expected effect size, and we were underpowered to detect statistically significant smaller effects, particularly at the alexithymia subscale level.

It is important to note that heartbeat tracking tasks like Schandry's (14) have been criticized and their validity questioned (50). For example, participants can estimate their heartbeat in the absence of sensation. When participants are explicitly instructed to count only felt (and not estimated) heartbeats, interoceptive accuracy is reduced by 50% (35). While we took steps in the current study to remove non-interoceptive heartbeat detection cues (e.g., removing watches and clocks from room; instructing participants to rest with palms faced up on the table), participants were not explicitly instructed to report only felt heartbeats or to avoid using non-interoceptive signals (e.g., pulse) as information. Other covariates, including beliefs about heart rate and time estimation, were not assessed and could not be controlled for. Based on the conclusions of Desmedt et al. (35), interoceptive accuracy was likely overestimated in the current study. In the absence of such explicit instructions, heartbeat detection scores in the current study likely reflect a combination of actual detection, past knowledge of heartrate, or time estimation. A benefit of this paradigm is that it facilitates comparison with prior research done in this area, which has utilized a similar approach to assessing heartbeat detection. However, this has also likely contributed to the inconsistency of findings in this field. Considering this limitation, the current finding of a quadratic relationship between interoceptive accuracy and alexithymia must be considered preliminary. Future studies should examine this relationship using more rigorous methods, in line with recently published guidelines [cf. (35)], and assessing other domains of interoceptive accuracy.

Recent years have seen an explosion of research on alexithymia, a promising transdiagnostic construct with the potential shed light on socioemotional deficits across a variety of clinical phenomena and diagnostic groups. Our current work provides new insights on a particularly promising branch of this field, the relation between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy and sensibility. These findings provide preliminary evidence that there may be more to the interplay of these two constructs than a simple negative, linear relationship. Specifically, in addition to the purported mechanism whereby interoceptive deficits contribute to elevated alexithymia, for some individuals, high levels of interoceptive accuracy might be associated with higher levels of alexithymia. These findings are preliminary and require replication in larger samples using recently published guidelines for assessing interoceptive accuracy (35). In addition, possible moderators, mediators, and direction of causality remain undetermined. We consider these important avenue for future research, particularly as findings carry implications for delivering targeted and personalized intervention to ameliorate affective deficits associated with alexithymia. Indeed, a "one size fits all" approach to ameliorating affective deficits associated with alexithymia may be inappropriate, given potential variability in interoceptive accuracy among those with elevated alexithymia. The current findings take steps toward providing a nuanced elucidation of the relationship between alexithymia and interoceptive accuracy and sensibility, while also setting forth a useful framework for future investigations.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Vanderbilt University IRB Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RA and SP contributed conception and design of the study. RA, MS, and SB performed statistical analysis. RA wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MS and SB wrote sections of this manuscript. All authors contributed to the manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health (T32MH018921 and T32GM086270), a National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship (grant #1348264), and the Gertrude Conaway Vanderbilt Endowment.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2020.00132/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Keefer KV, Taylor GJ, Parker JD, Bagby RM. Taxometric analysis of the toronto structured interview for alexithymia: further evidence that alexithymia is a dimensional construct. *Assessment.* (2017) 26:364–74. doi: 10.1177/1073191117698220
- Swart M, Kortekaas R, Aleman A. Dealing with feelings: characterization of trait alexithymia on emotion regulation strategies and cognitive-emotional processing. *PLoS ONE.* (2009) 4:e5751. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0005751
- Leweke F, Leichsenring F, Kruse J, Hermes S. Is alexithymia associated with specific mental disorders. *Psychopathology*. (2011) 45:22–8. doi: 10.1159/000325170
- Cameron K, Ogrodniczuk J, Hadjipavlou G. Changes in alexithymia following psychological intervention: a review. *Harv Rev Psychiatry*. (2014) 22:162–78. doi: 10.1097/HRP.00000000000036
- Burger AJ, Lumley MA, Carty JN, Latsch DV, Thakur ER, Hyde-Nolan ME, et al. The effects of a novel psychological attribution and emotional awareness and expression therapy for chronic musculoskeletal pain: a preliminary, uncontrolled trial. *J Psychosom Res.* (2016) 81:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2015.12.003
- Bornemann B, Singer T. Taking time to feel our body: steady increases in heartbeat perception accuracy and decreases in alexithymia over 9 months of contemplative mental training. *Psychophysiology*. (2017) 54:469–82. doi: 10.1111/psyp.12790
- Craig AD. Opinion: how do you feel? Interoception: the sense of the physiological condition of the body. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2002) 3:655–66. doi: 10.1038/nrn894
- Damasio A. Feelings of emotion and the self. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2003) 1001:253–61. doi: 10.1196/annals.1279.014
- 9. Barrett LF. Are emotions natural kinds? *Perspect Psychol Sci.* (2006) 1:28–58. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6916.2006.00003.x
- Herbert BM, Pollatos O. The body in the mind: on the relationship between interoception and embodiment. *Top Cogn Sci.* (2012) 4:692–704. doi: 10.1111/j.1756-8765.2012.01189.x
- Bird G, Silani G, Brindley R, White S, Frith U, Singer T. Empathic brain responses in insula are modulated by levels of alexithymia but not autism. *Brain*. (2010) 133:1515–15. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq060
- Herbert BM, Herbert C, Pollatos O. On the relationship between interoceptive awareness and alexithymia: is interoceptive awareness related to emotional awareness? J Pers. (2011) 79:1149–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2011. 00717.x
- Garfinkel SN, Seth AK, Barrett AB, Suzuki K, Critchley HD. Knowing your own heart: distinguishing interoceptive accuracy from interoceptive awareness. *Biol Psychol.* (2015) 104:65– 74. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2014.11.004
- Schandry R. Heart beat perception and emotional experience. *Psychophysiology.* (1981) 18:483–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1981. tb02486.x
- Brewer R, Cook R, Bird G. Alexithymia: a general deficit of interoception. R. Soc. Open Sci. (2016) 3:150664. doi: 10.1098/rsos.150664
- Zamariola G, Vlemincx E, Luminet O, Corneille O. Relationship between interoceptive accuracy, interoceptive sensibility, and alexithymia. *Pers Indiv Diff.* (2018) 125:14–20. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2017.12.024
- Erns J, Böker H, Hättenschwiler J, Schüpbach D, Northoff G, Seifritz E, et al. The association of interoceptive awareness and alexithymia with neurotransmitter concentrations in insula and anterior cingulate. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2013) 9:857–63. doi: 10.1093/scan/nst058
- Longarzo M, D'Olimpio F, Chiavazzo A, Santangelo G, Trojano L, Grossi D. The relationships between interoception and alexithymic trait. The selfawareness questionnaire in healthy subjects. *Front Psychol.* (2015) 6:1149. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01149
- Scarpazza C, Ladavas E, di Pellegrino G. Dissociation between emotional remapping of fear and disgust in alexithymia. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0140229. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0140229
- 20. Murphy J, Brewer R, Hobson H, Catmur C, Bird G. Is alexithymia characterised by impaired interoception? Further evidence, the importance of control variables, and the problems with the heartbeat counting task. *Biol Psychol.* (2018) 136:189–97. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2018.05.010

- Rouse CH, Jones GE, Jones KR. The effect of body composition and gender on cardiac awareness. *Psychophysiology.* (1988) 25:400–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1988.tb01876.x
- 22. Westwood H, Kerr-Gaffney J, Stahl D, Tchanturia K. Alexithymia in eating disorders: systematic review and meta-analyses of studies using the Toronto Alexithymia Scale. *J Psychosom Res.* (2017) 99:66–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2017.06.007
- Jenkinson PM, Taylor L, Laws KR. Self-reported interoceptive deficits in eating disorders: a meta-analysis of studies using the eating disorder inventory. J Psychosom Res. (2018) 110:38–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2018.04.005
- 24. Domschke K, Stevens S, Pfleiderer B, Gerlach AL. Interoceptive sensitivity in anxiety and anxiety disorders: an overview and integration of neurobiological findings. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2010) 30:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2009.08.008
- 25. Roedema TM, Simons RF. Emotion-processing deficit in alexithymia. *Psychophysiology.* (1999) 36:379–87. doi: 10.1017/S0048577299980290
- Aaron RV, Snodgress MA, Blain SD, Park S. Affect labeling and other aspects of emotional experiences in relation to alexithymia following standardized emotion inductions. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 262:115–23. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.02.014
- Erbas Y, Ceulemans E, Lee Pe M, Koval P, Kuppens P. Negative emotion differentiation: its personality and well-being correlates and a comparison of different assessment methods. *Cogn Emot.* (2014) 28:1196–213. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2013.875890
- Barrett LF, Gross J, Christensen TC, Benvenuto M. Knowing what you're feeling and knowing what to do about it: mapping the relation between emotion differentiation and emotion regulation. *Cogn Emot.* (2001) 15:713– 24. doi: 10.1080/02699930143000239
- Gross J. The extended process model of emotion regulation: elaborations, applications, and future directions. *Psychol Inq.* (2015) 26:130–7. doi: 10.1080/1047840X.2015.989751
- Niles AN, Craske MG, Lieberman MD, Hur C. Affect labeling enhances exposure effectiveness for public speaking anxiety. *Behav Res Ther.* (2015) 68:27–36. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2015.03.004
- Van der Gucht K, Dejonckheere E, Erbas Y, Takano K, Vandemoortele M, Maex E, et al. An experience sampling study examining the potential impact of a mindfulness-based intervention on emotion differentiation. *Emotion.* (2018) 19:123–31. doi: 10.1037/emo0000406
- 32. Linehan MM. Skills Training Manual for Treating Borderline Personality Disorder. New York, NY: Guilford Press (1993).
- Kabat-Zinn J. Mindfulness-based interventions in context: past, present, and future. *Clin Psychol.* (2003) 10:144–56. doi: 10.1093/clipsy. bpg016
- 34. Edwards E, Shivaji S, Wupperman P. The emotion mapping activity: preliminary evaluation of a mindfulness-informed exercise to improve emotion labeling in alexithymic persons. *Scand J Psychol.* (2018) 59:319–27. doi: 10.1111/sjop.12438
- Desmedt O, Luminet O, Corneille O. The heartbeat counting task largely involves non-interoceptive processes: evidence from both the original and an adapted counting task. *Biol Psychol.* (2018) 138:185–8. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2018.09.004
- Mirams L, Poliakoff E, Brown RJ, Lloyd DM. Brief body-scan meditation practice improves somatosensory perceptual decision making. *Conscious Cogn.* (2013) 22:348–59. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2012. 07.009
- Cropley M, Ussher M, Charitou E. Acute effects of a guided relaxation routine (body scan) on tobacco withdrawal symptoms and cravings in abstinent smokers. *Addiction.* (2007) 102:989–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2007.01832.x
- Bagby RM, Parker JD, Taylor GJ. The twenty-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale—I. Item selection and cross-validation of the factor structure. J Psychosom Res. (1994) 38:23–32. doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(94)90005-1
- Gross J, Levenson RW. Emotion elicitation using films. Cogn Emot. (1995) 9:87–108. doi: 10.1080/02699939508408966
- Aaron RV, Fisher E, de la Vega R, Lumley MA, Palermo TM. Alexithymia in individuals with chronic pain and its relation to pain intensity, physical interference, depression and anxiety: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pain*. (2019) 160:994–1006. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000001487

- Vlaeyen J, Linton SJ. Fear-avoidance and its consequences in chronic musculoskeletal pain: a state of the art. *Pain.* (2000) 85:317–32. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3959(99)00242-0
- Leising D, Grande T, Faber R. The Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20): a measure of general psychological distress. *J Res Pers.* (2009) 43:707–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2009. 03.009
- Makino S, Jensen MP, Arimura T, Obata T, Anno K, Iwaki R, et al. Alexithymia and chronic pain: the role of negative affectivity. *Clin J Pain*. (2013) 29:354–61. doi: 10.1097/AJP.0b013e3182579c63
- 44. Li S, Zhang B, Guo Y, Zhang J. The association between alexithymia as assessed by the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale and depression: a meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 227:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015. 02.006
- 45. Kooiman C, Spinhoven P, Trijsburg R. The assessment of alexithymia: a critical review of the literature and a psychometric study of the Toronto Alexithymia Scale-20. J Psychosom Res. (2002) 53:1083–90. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00348-3
- Melloni M, Sedeño L, Couto B, Reynoso M, Gelormini C, Favaloro R, et al. Preliminary evidence about the effects of meditation on interoceptive sensitivity and social cognition. *Behav Brain Funct.* (2013) 9:47. doi: 10.1186/1744-9081-9-47
- 47. Parkin L, Morgan R, Rosselli A, Howard M, Sheppard A, Evans D, et al. Exploring the relationship between mindfulness and cardiac

perception. *Mindfulness.* (2014) 5:298-313. doi: 10.1007/s12671-012-0181-7

- Khalsa SS, Rudrauf D, Damasio AR, Davidson RJ, Lutz A, Tranel DJP. Interoceptive awareness in experienced meditators. *Psychophysiology*. (2008) 45:671–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2008.00666.x
- Van Dam NT, van Vugt MK, Vago DR, Schmalzl L, Saron CD, Olendzki A, et al. Mind the hype: a critical evaluation and prescriptive agenda for research on mindfulness and meditation. *Perspect Psychol Sci.* (2018) 13:36– 61. doi: 10.1177/1745691617709589
- Brener J, Ring C. Towards a psychophysics of interoceptive processes: the measurement of heartbeat detection. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* (2016) 371:20160015. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0015

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Aaron, Blain, Snodgress and Park. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Emotional Awareness Correlated With Number of Awakenings From Polysomnography in Patients With Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome—A Pilot Study

Indre Bileviciute-Ljungar^{1*} and Danielle Friberg²

¹ Department of Clinical Sciences, Karolinska Institutet, Danderyd University Hospital, Stockholm, Sweden, ² Department of Surgical Sciences, Uppsala University, Uppsala, Sweden

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy

Reviewed by:

Karl Bechter, University of Ulm, Germany Alessandro Carano, ASUR Marche, Italy

> *Correspondence: Indre Bileviciute-Ljungar indre.ljungar@ki.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 20 November 2019 Accepted: 06 March 2020 Published: 26 March 2020

Citation:

Bileviciute-Ljungar I and Friberg D (2020) Emotional Awareness Correlated With Number of Awakenings From Polysomnography in Patients With Myalgic Encephalomyelitis/Chronic Fatigue Syndrome—A Pilot Study. Front. Psychiatry 11:222. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00222 **Introduction:** Unrefreshing sleep is one of the diagnostic criteria in myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS), which could be explained by sleep disorders, for example obstructive sleep apnea, reported in our previous study with polysomnography. Our previous findings also indicate difficulties in emotional regulation when measuring alexithymia by TAS-20 (Toronto Alexithymia Scale) and level of emotional awareness by LEAS (Level of Emotional Awareness Scale) in ME/CFS patients. However, the reasons for this are unknown. The purpose of this study was to investigate correlations between data from subjective emotional regulation and polysomnography.

Methods: Twenty-three ME/CFS patients (5 men and 18 women) of mean age 43, and 30 matched healthy controls (9 males and 21 women) of mean age 45, filled in TAS-20, LEAS, and Hospital Depression and Anxiety Scale (HADS). A polysomnography was performed on patients but not on healthy controls. Thus, values of normal population were used for sleep evaluation in ME/CFS patients.

Result: There were significant differences between patients and controls in several aspects of emotional regulation, for example LEAS-self and LEAS-total. Seventy percent of the patients had increased numbers of awakenings (shifts from any sleep stage to awake), 22% had obstructive sleep apneas, and 27% had periodic limb movements. Correlation analysis showed that number of awakenings significantly correlated with LEAS-self and LEAS-total, p < 0.01, respectively. There were no other significant correlations.

Conclusion: This pilot study demonstrated significant correlations between reduced emotional awareness and number of awakenings in polysomnography. Future studies with larger cohorts need to be conducted.

Keywords: myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome, sleep, awakenings, alexithymia, emotional awareness

59

INTRODUCTION

Myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS) is characterized by pathological fatigue and fatigability and a number of symptoms, presented over a 6 months period. Patients also report pain, gastrointestinal symptoms, and cognitive difficulties (1). They also complain about the feeling of malaise and fever, both worsening with effort, as well as sore throat and/or lymph nodes (1). The prevalence varies from 1.2%, when the stricter Canadian criteria are applied, to 2.6%, when the broad Oxford criteria are used (2, 3). Sleep disturbances is another important criterion of ME/CFS. However, the exact definition of sleep disturbances in case definition guidelines for ME/CFS is not clear (4). Subjectively reported "non-restorative sleep" or "waking non-rested in the morning" is good enough to classify the presence of sleep disturbances. Our recent study of a total of 381 patients referred for ME/CFS showed that 20.5% (n = 78) of patients fulfilled the criteria for further investigation with full-night polysomnography (5). Thus, patients had increased excessive daytime sleepiness and/or tiredness. Among them, 31 (40.3%) patients were diagnosed with obstructive sleep apnea (OSA), 7 (8.9%) patients with periodic limb movement disorder, and 32 (41.0%) patients with restless legs syndrome. Taken together, among those reporting pathological sleep symptoms, 69.3% of patients had one or more sleep disorders. Further, a majority (84%) had an increased "number of arousals" per sleep hour (mean 8.7, SD 5.1). However, these arousals were actually a shift from any sleep stage to waking, and are in the present study called "number of awakenings". A majority of these awakenings were probably caused by the sleep disorders. Other authors have speculated that sleep disorders in general contribute not only to fatigue (6) and cognition failure (7), the key symptoms in ME/CFS, but also to emotional regulation (8). Since emotional regulation starts with identification of emotions and situations related to these emotions (8), the emotional awareness seems to be crucial in the process of emotional regulation. Our recent study indicated that ME/CFS patients had increased alexithymia by scoring in Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20) and lower levels of emotional awareness by scoring in Level of Emotional Awareness Scale (LEAS), as compared to healthy controls (9).

Alexithymia can be described as a reduced capacity to conceptualize emotional information, related to both verbal and non-verbal stimuli (10). This leads to disturbances of affect regulation (11). For example, alexithymic individuals have difficulties identifying and describing their own or others' feelings (10) and have an externally-oriented thinking style with a scarcity of fantasy life (12, 13). Alexithymia might be considered as an original personality trait (14) or may develop as a result of a stressful situation as well as medical/psychiatric illness (15). Emotional awareness is another construct related to alexithymia but does not include externally-oriented thinking (16). Both measures show a significant but weak negative correlation (17).

Sleep disorders such as obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) and periodic limb movement disease are well-known causes of sleep fragmentation, with awakenings and arousals, noted during polysomnography (18).

The aim of this study was to investigate correlations between the alexithymia (TAS-20) and the level of emotional awareness (LEAS), as well as depression and anxiety [Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS)], with objective sleep parameters from polysomnography in patients with ME/CFS.

METHODS

Participants

Twenty of the 23 ME/CFS patients were included from our recently published cohorts (5, 9). Three additional patients who underwent polysomnography, but whose results from questionnaires had not previously been analyzed, were also included. The inclusion criteria for the present study was diagnosis of ME/CFS given by a multidisciplinary team, completed TAS-20 and LEAS, and a fullnight polysomnography. Our criteria for performing polysomnography (PSG) were excessive daytime sleepiness, evaluated by Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS) \geq 10, and/or often or always tired during mornings and/or daytime. A full-night polysomnography was performed at the Department of Otorhinolaryngology (ORL), Karolinska University Hospital. Afterwards, the results of the manual polysomnography-scorings were analyzed by a specialist in sleep medicine (Danielle Friberg).

All 23 patients had entered a clinical ME/CFS project at Danderyd University Hospital, Stockholm during the period from 2011 to 2013. During 2011–2016, the unit at the Danderyd University Hospital served as a public healthcare tertiary clinic for patients with chronic fatigue. The majority of patients were referred from primary healthcare clinics, psychiatry, and neurology departments within Stockholm County. The majority of patients were already thoroughly investigated and had a long history of fatigue. Their fatigue was not explained by other primary diseases and they were refereed to ME/CFS clinic for further investigation.

The diagnosis of ME/CFS was made in accordance with the Centers for Disease Control (19) and/or Canadian criteria (1), summarized in **Table 1**. During 2011–2012, patients were evaluated by a team: a clinician, who was a specialist in rehabilitation medicine or neurology; a psychologist, who performed a standardized psychiatric interview and neuropsychological testing; a physiotherapist, an ergotherapist, a social worker, and a nurse. The laboratory tests were performed for all patients in order to exclude other pathological conditions, since ME/CFS is considered to be an exclusionary diagnosis. The majority of patients were also referred to brain magnetic resonance imaging to exclude brain disorders. Due to administrative changes, the complete team-based evaluation was terminated 2013. Thus, the physician and psychologist performed clinical evaluation during a 90-minutes visit.

The group of healthy controls (n = 30) had previously participated in studies on emotional awareness (5) and healthrelated life quality (20). The healthy control group was recruited by using a convenience sample of family, friends, and coworkers. Healthy controls should not have had current or previous diagnosis of ME/CFS and other comorbidities such as

Symptoms	Chronic fatigue syndrome (19).	Myalgic encephalomylitis (1) G93.3. Abridged.
Exhaustion	No required symptom but included as an additional symptom.	A) Post-exertional malaise, with hallmark features: 1. Physical and/ or cognitive fatigability; 2. Post-exertional symptom exacerbation; 3. Recovery period is prolonged usually taking 24 h or longer.
Fatigue	A) Severe chronic fatigue.	B) Physical and mental fatigue.
Additional	B) At least four of the following symptoms: B1) substantial	C) Sleep dysfunction. D) Pain.
symptoms	impairment in short-term memory or concentration; B2) headaches of a new type, pattern, or severity; B3) tender lymph nodes; B4) unrefreshing sleep; B5) post-exertional malaise lasting more than 24 hours; B6) muscle pain; B7) pain in the joints without swelling or redness; B8) a sore throat that is frequent or recurring.	 E) Neurological/cognitive manifestations: Two or more (i.e., impairment of concentration and short-term memory consolidation, difficulty with information processing, overload phenomena: cognitive, sensory – e.g., photophobia and hypersensitivity to noise etc.) F) At least one symptom from two of the following categories: F1) Autonomic manifestations (i.e., orthostatic intolerance – NMH, POTS etc.; F2) Neuroendocrine manifestations (i.e., loss of thermostatic instability – subnormal body temperature and marked diurnal fluctuation, sweating episodes, recurrent feelings of feverishness and cold extremities; worsening of symptoms with stress etc.); F3) Immune manifestations (i.e., tender lymph nodes, recurrent see throat, recurrent flu-like symptoms, etc.)
Functional impairment	Significantly interferes with daily activities and work.	Substantially reduced activity level as compared to premorbid level.
Duration	Symptoms should have existed for at least 6 months.	Symptoms should have existed for at least 6 months.
Exclusion	Medical disorders primarily explaining the fatigue. Several psychiatric disorders.	Medical disorders primarily explaining the symptoms. Primary psychiatric disorders.
Precipitating factor	Infection in up to 75%	Infection in up to 75%

TABLE 1 | Comparison of set of criteria for ME/CFS according to CDC/Fukuda (19) and Canada (1), both coded as G93.3 in ICD-10.

ME/CFS, myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome; NMH, neurally mediated hypotension; POTS, postural orthostatic tachycardia syndrome.

psychiatric disorders, chronic pain, allergies/asthma, sleep disorders, hypothyreosis, heart disorders, or be on the sickleave. They also scored high for health-related quality of life (20).

Questionnaires

- The ESS—a self-administered questionnaire measures daytime sleepiness, the maximum score is 24 points (21). The patients also responded to a non-validated questionnaire, confirming the clinical symptoms for further indication to PSG.
- The HADS screens the levels of anxiety and depression, the maximum score is 21 point for each measure (22).
- The TAS-20 is a self-reported questionnaire measuring alexithymic traits. Twenty items are rated using a 5-point Likert scale. The items are divided into three subscales: 1) Difficulty Identifying Feelings (DIF); 2) Difficulty Describing Feelings (DDF); and 3) Externally Oriented Thinking (EOT). The TAS-20 has demonstrated good internal consistency with test-retest reliability in the Swedish population (23). In the present study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficient for TAS-20 subscales was 0.8.

LEAS is an observer-rated measure of emotional awareness (24). The shortened 10-item version of the LEAS (LEAS-A) was applied. The test consists of 10 descriptions of emotion-provoking interactions between two people. Participants were asked to describe how they would feel as a protagonist in each scene and how "the other person" would feel. Answers were quantified according a manual of scoring rules. Scores from 0–5 were assigned for the categories "self," "other," and "total," with lower scores reflecting a lower level of emotional awareness. Maximum "total" scores of 50 and "self" or "other" scores of 40

were possible. A score of 0 was given when the subject either gave no answer or did not describe thoughts (i.e., *I feel that it is expensive.*). A score of 1 was given when bodily sensations were described (i.e., *I would feel fatigued.*). A score of 2 was given to an action tendency or an undifferentiated affect state (i.e., *I would like to run away. My friend would feel good.*). A score of 3 was given when a single emotion was described (i.e., *I would feel happy.*). A score of 4 was given to blends of emotions (i.e., *I would feel angry and a bit of sadness.*). A score of 5 was given to multiple blends of emotions (i.e., *I would feel disappointed. But if someone else won, I would be happy that it was my friend. My friend will be proud and happy, but also concerned about me.*). The Cronbach's alpha coefficient for LEAS subscales was 0.94.

Polysomnography

A full-night polysomnography was performed using the Embla technology (Flaga Medical; Reykjavik, Iceland) in a sleep laboratory. PSG recordings were interpreted manually by registered technicians, later on also checked by a specialist in sleep medicine (Danielle Friberg). Due to the fact that a sleep laboratory was used in a day-care unit, the patients were woken at 6 am. Totally, 16 channels were recorded: electroencephalography (EEG) (sensors C3-A2, O1-A2, O2-A1, C4-A1), electrooculography (EOG) (left and right), electromyography (EMG) chin and tibialis (left and right), oronasal flowmetry, respiratory movements (abdomen and thorax), snoring, electrocardiography (ECG), pulse, and body position. PSG parameters of American Academy of Sleep Medicine 2007 for normal values were used for comparisons (25).

The use of clinical data for scientific analysis was considered by the regional ethical review board in Stockholm (Ref. no. 2014/ 300-31) and approved by Danderyd University Hospital (DS2014-0447).

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were presented by percentage, medium (minimum-maximum), and by mean with standard deviation as well as 95% confidence interval, when appropriated due to the qualitative vs. quantitative parameters measured. Nonparametric tests (Mann-Whitney U) were used for group comparisons of ordinal data from questionnaires, and parametric independent two-tailed t-tests were used for age. A p-value <0.05 was considered significant for these tests. A non-parametric Spearman correlation test was used to analyze correlations between emotional questionnaires (TAS-20, LEAS, and HADS) and sleep parameters, respectively. Due to multiple analysis, a stricter criterion for statistical significance was used, a p-value less than 0.01 was considered a significant correlation, and pvalue less than 0.05 was considered a weak correlation. Cronbach's alpha was used for internal consistency of TAS-20 and LEAS.

The statistical package SPSS 25.0 was used for coding and analyzing the data.

RESULTS

Emotional Status in ME/CFS Patients and Healthy Controls

Twenty-three patients (5 men and 18 women) with a mean age of 43 (SD 12) years, and a mean body mass index (BMI) of 24 (SD 3) were included in the study. Their mean ESS score was 7.6 points and there were 7 (30%) patients with a pathological $ESS \ge 10$.

Healthy controls (9 males and 21 women) were 45 years old (SD 12) and there was no difference between the groups concerning age and gender (BMI of controls not measured). Comparisons between ME/CFS patients and healthy controls showed that ME/CFS patients had significantly higher scores in TAS-DIF and total TAS-20, as well as significantly lower values in LEAS-self and LEAS total (**Table 2**).

The clinical emotional status was also scored using the HADS (**Table 2**). Six (26%) patients scored \geq 10 in HADS depression and 4 (17%) \geq 10 in HADS anxiety. Among the controls, only 1 (3%) participant scored 11 in HADS depression and no-one scored \geq 10 in HADS anxiety. The HADS depression index was

also significantly higher in ME/CFS patients as compared to controls (Table 2).

HADS depression correlated significantly with TAS-20 (r = 0.47, p = 0.000; r = 0.37, p = 0.008 and r = 0.49, p = 0.000; DIF, DDF, and TAS-total, respectively) and LEAS (r = -0.44, p = 0.001; r = -0.36, p = 0.008, and r = -0.51, p = 0.000; LEAS-self, LEAS-other, and LEAS-total, respectively). HADS anxiety had a weak correlation with DDF (r = 0.3, p = 0.02) but with no other TAS/LEAS parameters.

Objective Sleep Measures in ME/CFS Patients From Polysomnography

Table 3 summarizes sleep measures from the polysomnography. The majority of patients had reduced total sleep (100%) and increased sleep latency (78%). For more than half of the patients, the percentage of N1 stage was higher (61%) and REM was lower (57%). The number of awakenings was higher in 16 patients (70%), though the total arousal index was impaired only in 5 (22%) of patients. Their mean apnoea-hypopnoea index (AHI) was 2.9 (SD 3.2), and 22% had an AHI > 5, which is the definition of OSA, and 27% had a periodic limb movements index (PLMI) above 5, but only one had a PLM arousal index above 5.

Correlation Analysis

Table 4 summarizes correlation analysis between polysomnography and emotional parameters TAS-20, LEAS, and HADS. A negative significant correlation was found between LEAS-self and LEAS total with number of awakenings registered by polysomnography (r = -0.6, p = 0.005–0.001). Weak correlations (p < 0.05) were found between DIF TAS-20 and total TAS-20 with percentage of deep sleep (r = -0.5, p = -0.02) as well as between LEAS-self and LEAS-total with percentage of N1 (r = -0.5, p = 0.02-0.03), respectively.

There were two weak negative correlations between sleep efficiency and HADS depression (r = -0.44, p = 0.04) and anxiety (r = -0.43, p = 0.04), respectively, **Table 4**.

DISCUSSION

The focus of this study was the correlation analysis between parameters of sleep from polysomnograhy and emotional regulation evaluated with validated questionnaires TAS-20, LEAS, and HADS, respectively. The main results were the

TABLE 2 Results from three questionnaires concerning alexithymia (TAS-20), emotional awareness (LEAS) and mood (HADS) from ME/CFS patients and healthy controls.

Group	TAS-20 DIF N=21–30	TAS-20 DDF N=21–30	TAS-20 EOT N=21–30	TAS Total N=21-30	LEAS-Self N=23–30	LEAS-Other N=22-30	LEAS-Total N=23–30	HADS Depression N=23–30	HADS Anxiety N=23–30
ME/CFS	16 ***	9	16	39*	28**	24	29**	5 ***	5
	[9–31]	[5–17]	[9–29]	[27-68]	[13–33]	[11–32]	[11–36]	[1–15]	[0–16]
Controls	10.5	8	13	33.5	32	28.5	36	1	4
	[7–19]	[5–14]	[8–25]	[20-44]	[13–39]	[11–38]	[22 -45]	[0-11]	[0–9]

DIF, difficulty in identifying feelings; DDF, difficulty in describing feelings; EOT, externally orientated thinking; HADS, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; LEAS, Level of Emotional Awareness Scale; ME/CFS, myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome; TAS-20, Toronto Alexithymia Scale.

Values are presented as median, with minimum and maximum values. Comparison between the groups was performed by using Mann-Whitney test and significance is indicated as following: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01 and ***p < 0.000.

TABLE 3 | The results from polysomnography of ME/CFS patients and compared to normal values according to the AASM 2007 (25).

Polysomnography measures	Polysomnography values	Abnormal values according AASM	Number of patients with abnormal values
Total sleep time (min)	291.7 (75.6)	<7 h (420 min)	23 (100%)
N=23	[259.0–324.4]	>9 h (540 min)	0
Sleep efficiency (SE) (%)	75.9 (16.2)	85%-decreased	14 (61%)
N=23	[68.9-82.9]		
Sleep latency (min)	36.0 (26.2)	<5 min	1 (4.3%)
N=23	[24.7-47.3]	>20 min	18 (78%)
N3 sleep latency (min)	85.9 (53.7)	NA	NA
N=16	[57.3–114.6]		
REM stage latency (min)†	141.0 (73.3)	≤8 min	0
N=20	[106.6–175.3]		
Number of awakenings	4.9 (7.3)		16 (70%) had more than 5
N=23	[1.7–8.0]		
Respiratory Arousal Index	2.3 (3.1)	>5	4 (17%)
N=23	[1.0–3.7]		
Spontaneous Arousal Index	2.0 (1.9)	>15	0
N=22	[1.1–2.8]		
Total Arousal Index	10.5 (10.2)	>15	5 (22%)
N=23	[6.1–14.9]		
N1 duration (%)	15.0 (8.7)	<5%	1 (4.3%)
N=23	[11.2–18.7]	>10%	14 (61%)
N2 duration (%)	51.3 (17.6)	<45%	9 (39%)
N=23	[43.7–58.9]	>55%	7 (30%)
N3 duration (%)	18.2 (9.1)	<5%	1 (4.3%)
N=23	[14.2-22.2]	>25%	5 (22%)
REM duration (%)	12.4 (8.0)	<15%	13 (57%)
N=23	[9.0–15.9]	>25%	1 (4.3%)
AHI	2.9 (3.2)	≥5	5 (22%)
N=23	[1.5-4.3]		
Supine position-related AHI	4.2 (9.1)	≥5	5 (22%)
N=20	[-0.1–8.5]		
Central AHI	7.2 (9.4)	≥5	9 (39%)
N=23	[3.1–11.2]		- ()
RERA index	4.9 (7.3)	≥5	6 (26%)
N=23	[1.7–8.0]		- ()
ODI	2.3 (3.7)	≥5	1 (4.3%)
N=22	[0.7–3.9]		
PLMI	5.8 (11.8)	>5	6 (27%)
N=22	[0.6–11.0]		0 (=: /0)
PLMAI	1.3 (3.9)	≥5	1 (4.5%)
N=22	[-0.5-3.0]	-0	(1.070)

AASM, American Academy of Sleep Medicine; AHI, apnoea-hypopnoea index; AI, arousal index; ME/CFS, myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome; N1, N2, N3, respectively sleep stage 1, 2, 3; NA, not applicable; ODI, oxygen desaturation index; PLMAI, periodic limb movements arousal index; PLMI, periodic limb movements index; REM, rapid eye movements; RERA, respiratory effort related arousals.

†The cut-off of 8 min for REM stage latency is chosen according to the diagnostic criteria for narcolepsy.

Values are presented as mean with standard deviation in the parenthesis (first row) and 95% confidence interval (second row). The numbers of patients with abnormal values are presented as a total number and a percentage.

significant negative correlations between LEAS-self and LEAStotal and number of awakenings in polysomnography. This indicate that the awakenings and sleep fragmentation might be an important sleep disturbance, affecting emotional awareness. The awakenings could to some extent be explained by the fact that several patients had milder forms of other sleep disorders, for example OSA, periodic limb movement, and or restless legs. Interestingly, another study has shown that the severity of the OSA does not directly correlate with the severity of mood symptoms. Using the becks depression inventory (BDI) and State-Trait Anxiety Inventory Lee and colleagues investigated anxiety and depression in association with OSA severity (26). Interestingly, anxiety and depressive symptoms were more prevalent in patients with mild OSA than those with severe OSA. However, there were no other significant correlations between TAS-20 or HADS and polysomnography parameters, but this is only a pilot study with a small study sample, therefore no conclusions can be drawn. In a previous study, alexithymia measured by TAS-20 was associated with shorter pre-REM sleep stages (N1 and N3) in normal healthy participants (27). At the same time an increase in REM episodes but not in REM duration was associated with alexithymia (27).

In the present study, the different correlation results between polysomnography measures and TAS-20 vs. LEAS, indicate that alexithymia and emotional awareness could have different associations with sleep, and probably are regulated in different ways, though overlapping each other. This is also in line with our previously published meta-analytic review on correlation patterns between TAS-20 and LEAS in different psychiatric, psychosomatic, and somatic disorders (17). It is known that **TABLE 4** | Results from Spearman correlation analysis with r-values between sleep parameters from polysomnography and questionnaires TAS-20, LEAS and HADS, respectively, in ME/CFS patients.

	TAS-20 DIF	TAS-20 DDF	TAS-20 EOT	TAS Total	LEAS-Self	LEAS-Other	LEAS-Total	HADS Depression	HADS Anxiety
Total sleep time	0.03	-0.13	-0.22	-0.16	0.12	0.28	0.16	-0.38	-0.36
Sleep efficiency	-0.254	-0.263	-0.318	-0.390	0.07	0.25	0.15	-0.44	-0.43
Sleep latency	-0.18	-0.09	0.17	0.01	0.10	-0.23	0.001	0.30	0.37
REM latency	-0.07	0.01	0.14	0.01	-0.045	-0.19	-0.04	0.32	0.37
N3 latency	-0.05	-0.35	0.04	-0.12	-0.09	-0.43	-0.10	0.47	0.25
N1 %	0.06	0.10	0.39	0.21	-0.49	-0.33	-0.4	0.35	0.16
N2 %	0.44	0.18	0.27	0.39	-0.05	0.17	0.00	-0.26	-0.11
N3 %	-0.44	-0.33	-0.43	-0.51	0.18	0.09	0.26	-0.03	-0.17
REM %	-0.076	-0.140	-0.216	-0.192	0.37	0.24	0.31	-0.27	-0.23
Number of awakenings	0.23	0.26	0.46	0.40	-0.62*	-0.38	-0.56*	0.18	0.24
Respiratory Al	-0.07	0.09	0.23	0.08	-0.36	-0.25	-0.30	0.33	0.28
Spontaneous Al	-0.11	-0.02	-0.30	-0.20	-0.27	-0.08	-0.21	-0.07	0.00
Total Al	-0.07	0.05	0.09	0.01	-0.18	-0.08	-0.19	0.06	-0.07
AHI	-0.18	-0.5	0.17	-0.06	-0.01	0.05	0.04	0.30	0.24
Supine AHI	-0.18	-0.05	0.17	-0.06	0.13	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.07
Central AHI	-0.22	0.14	-0.09	-0.13	0.04	0.05	0.04	0.27	0.27
RERA index	-0.14	-0.06	0.03	-0.10	-0.04	0.08	-0.04	0.03	-0.14
ODI	0.11	-0.01	0.310	0.183	-0.14	-0.19	-0.12	0.40	0.31
PLMI	-0.20	-0.07	0.12	-0.11	-0.03	-000	-0.05	-0.09	-0.15
PLMAI	-0.11	-0.01	0.12	-0.03	-0.10	-0.04	-0.11	-0.14	-0.21

AHI, apnea-hypopnoea index; AI, arousal index; HADS, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; LEAS, Level of Emotional Awareness Scale; ME/CFS, myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome; N1, N2, N3, respectively sleep stage 1, 2, 3; ODI, oxygen desaturation index; PLMAI, periodic limb movements arousal index; PLMI, periodic limb movements index; PSG, polysomnography; REM, rapid eye movements; RERA, respiratory effort related arousals; Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20) (DIF, difficulty in identifying feelings; DDF, difficulty in describing feelings; EOT, externally orientated thinking).

Correlations with p-values <0.001 are marked in bold.

arousals and awakenings contribute to daytime sleepiness (18). However, the research on the role of arousals and awakenings is not so easy to perform since most of the studies are carried out on sleep deprivation in healthy subjects or animals, which is not the same as pathological arousals due to long-term disease status (28). The experiments with sleep deprivation in healthy subjects have demonstrated negative effects on mainly facial expression (29). As suggested, sleep deprivation amplifies amygdala reactivity in response to negative emotional stimuli, triggers emotional sensitivity, increases central sympathetic tonus, and disrupts peripheral autonomic nervous system feedback to visceral body information (29). Sleep is crucial in normalizing central adrenergic signaling, which usually occurs during REM sleep (30). In other words, there is a connection between longterm sleep disturbances, impaired emotional regulation and psychosomatic symptoms through several regulatory mechanisms. This connection might be in part applicable to ME/CFS patients, since clinically there is a broad panorama of both mental and somatic symptoms as well as increased tonus in the sympathetic nervous system.

In general, emotional regulation is described by identification of an emotion to be regulated; selection of emotion regulation strategy and implementation of this strategy (31). Emotional awareness and alexithymia are, therefore, crucial for identification of an emotion as well as placing it in a conscious context before applying the regulatory strategies. Research on sleep disorders and emotional awareness is scarce, but one study has indeed reported that mindfulness promotes better emotional regulation and improves sleep (32). Evaluation of healthy controls is also important since both insomnia (33) and alexithymia (34) are found in the normal population.

Limitations and Strengths of the Study

Limitations of this study are the absence of sleep recordings in healthy controls, and a small study sample with no previous power analysis. The correlation analysis with a strict limit for significant p values might result in false negative results, and also multiple correlations might create positive false results randomly.

There are also several strengths: namely, the use of gold standard polysomnography, validated questionnaires, well-defined and thoroughly investigated ME/CFS patients.

CONCLUSION

Our pilot study could indicate a biological mechanism such as sleep fragmentation, affecting emotional awareness. Further studies on emotional regulation should include both healthy participants and patient populations, even those with other psychosomatic and neurological conditions known to have symptomatology of sleep disorders. Furthermore, there is a need of more objective evaluation of emotional regulation, since TAS-20 and LEAS carry a risk of learning moment when applied several times. Altogether, future research is important to explore our preliminary results, including treatment strategies on both sleep disorders and emotional regulation in order to understand the connection between sleep and emotions.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the regional ethical review board in Stockholm (Ref. no. 2014/300-31) and approved by Danderyd University Hospital (DS2014-0447). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

REFERENCES

- Carruthers BM, Jain AK, De Meirleir KL, Peterson DI, Klimas NG, Lerner AM, et al. Myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome: clinical working case definition, diagnostic and treatment guidelines: a consensus document. *J Chronic Fatigue Syndrome* (2003) 11:7–115. doi: 10.1300/J092v11n01_02
- Nacul LC, Lacerda EM, Pheby D, Campion P, Molokhia M, Fayyaz S, et al. Prevalence of myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS) in three regions of England: a repeated cross-sectional study in primary care. *BMC Med* (2011) 9:91. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-9-91
- Reeves WC, Wagner D, Nisenbaum R, Jones JF, Gurbaxani B, Solomon L, et al. Chronic fatigue syndrome-a clinically empirical approach to its definition and study. *BMC Med* (2005) 3:19. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-3-19
- Mariman A, Vogelaers D, Tobback E, Delesie L, Hanoulle I, Pevernagie D. Sleep in the chronic fatigue syndrome. *Sleep Med Rev* (2013) 17(3):193–9. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2012.06.003
- Pajediene E, Bileviciute-Ljungar I, Friberg D. Sleep patterns among patients with chronic fatigue: a polysomnography-based study. *Clin Respiratory J* (2018) 12(4):1389–97. doi: 10.1111/crj.12667
- Geiger-Brown J, Rogers VE, Trinkoff AM, Kane RL, Bausell RB, Scharf SM. Sleep, sleepiness, fatigue, and performance of 12-hour-shift nurses. *Chronobiol Int* (2012) 29(2):211–9. doi: 10.3109/07420528.2011.645752
- Tarokh L, Saletin JM, Carskadon MA. Sleep in adolescence: Physiology, cognition and mental health. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2016) 70:182–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.08.008
- Palmer CA, Alfano CA. Sleep and emotion regulation: An organizing, integrative review. Sleep Med Rev (2017) 31:6–16. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2015.12.006
- Maroti D, Molander P, Bileviciute-Ljungar I. Differences in alexithymia and emotional awareness in exhaustion syndrome and chronic fatigue syndrome. *Scand J Psychol* (2017) 58(1):52–61. doi: 10.1111/sjop.12332
- Lane RD, Sechrest L, Reidel R, Weldon V, Kaszniak A, Schwartz GE. Impaired verbal and nonverbal emotion recognition in alexithymia. *Psychosom Med* (1996) 58(3):203–10. doi: 10.1097/00006842-199605000-00002
- Waller E, Scheidt CE. Somatoform disorders as disorders of affect regulation: a development perspective. *Int Rev Psychiatry* (2006) 18(1):13–24. doi: 10.1080/ 09540260500466774
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM. New trends in alexithymia research. Psychother Psychosom (2004) 73(2):68–77. doi: 10.1159/000075537
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Parker JD. The alexithymia construct. A potential paradigm for psychosomatic medicine. *Psychosomatics* (1991) 32(2):153–64. doi: 10.1016/S0033-3182(91)72086-0
- Taylor GJ. Alexithymia: concept, measurement, and implications for treatment. Am J Psychiatry (1984) 141(6):725–32. doi: 10.1176/ajp.141.6.725
- de Vente W, Kamphuis JH, Emmelkamp PM. Alexithymia, risk factor or consequence of work-related stress? *Psychother Psychosom* (2006) 75(5):304– 11. doi: 10.1159/000093953

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

IB-L has put together and analyzed the results of sleep parameters and emotional regulation. She wrote the main draft of the manuscript and created the tables. DF performed the major job in analyzing the sleep protocols and reviewing the manuscript with tables.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We appreciate the contribution of Daniel Maroti in the recruitment of healthy controls and evaluation of the TAS-20 and LEAS, and Paul Murphy RPSGT, Certified Expert Somnologist-Technologist for scoring the polysomnographies.

- Lane RD, Schwartz GE. Levels of emotional awareness: a cognitivedevelopmental theory and its application to psychopathology. *Am J Psychiatry* (1987) 144(2):133–43. doi: 10.1176/ajp.144.2.133
- Maroti D, Lilliengren P, Bileviciute-Ljungar I. The Relationship Between Alexithymia and Emotional Awareness: A Meta-Analytic Review of the Correlation Between TAS-20 and LEAS. *Front Psychol* (2018) 9:453. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00453
- Berry RB. Fundamentals of sleep medicine. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders (2012).
- Fukuda K, Straus SE, Hickie I, Sharpe MC, Dobbins JG, Komaroff A. The chronic fatigue syndrome: a comprehensive approach to its definition and study. International Chronic Fatigue Syndrome Study Group. Ann Intern Med (1994) 121(12):953–9. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-121-12-199412150-00009
- Maroti D, Bileviciute-Ljungar I. Similarities and differencies between healthrelated quality of life in patients with exhaustion syndrome and chronic fatigue syndrome. *Fatigue: Biomedicine Health Behav* (2018) 6(4):208–19. doi: 10.1080/21641846.2018.1515583
- Johns MW. A new method for measuring daytime sleepiness: the Epworth sleepiness scale. Sleep (1991) 14(6):540–5. doi: 10.1093/sleep/14.6.540
- Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand (1983) 67(6):361–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x
- Simonsson-Sarnecki M, Lundh LG, Torestad B, Bagby RM, Taylor GJ, Parker JD. A Swedish translation of the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale: cross-validation of the factor structure. *Scand J Psychol* (2000) 41(1):25–30. doi: 10.1111/1467-9450.00167
- Lane RD, Quinlan DM, Schwartz GE, Walker PA, Zeitlin SB. The Levels of Emotional Awareness Scale: a cognitive-developmental measure of emotion. *J Pers Assess* (1990) 55(1-2):124–34. doi: 10.1080/00223891.1990.9674052
- 25. Iber C A-IS, Chesson AL, Quan SF. The AASM Manual for the Scoring of Sleep and Associated Events: Rules, Terminology, and Technical Specifications. Westchester NY, USA: American Academy of Sleep Medicine (2007).
- Lee SA, Yoon H, Kim HW. Is severe obstructive sleep apnoea associated with less depressive symptoms? J Psychosom Res (2019) 122:6–12. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpsychores.2019.04.017
- Bazydlo R, Lumley MA, Roehrs T. Alexithymia and polysomnographic measures of sleep in healthy adults. *Psychosom Med* (2001) 63(1):56–61. doi: 10.1097/00006842-200101000-00007
- Saper CB, Fuller PM. Wake-sleep circuitry: an overview. Curr Opin Neurobiol (2017) 44:186–92. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2017.03.021
- Krause AJ, Simon EB, Mander BA, Greer SM, Saletin JM, Goldstein-Piekarski AN, et al. The sleep-deprived human brain. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2017) 18 (7):404–18. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2017.55
- Goldstein AN, Walker MP. The role of sleep in emotional brain function. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol* (2014) 10:679–708. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032813-153716

- Gross JJ. Emotion Regulation: Current Status and Future Prospects. Psychol Inq (2015) 26(1):1–26. doi: 10.1080/1047840X.2014.940781
- Howell AJ, Digdon ,NL, Buro K, Sheptycki AR. Relations among mindfulness, well-being, and sleep. *Pers Individ Differences*. (2008) 45(8):773–7. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2008.08.005
- Kay-Stacey M, Attarian H. Advances in the management of chronic insomnia. BMJ (2016) 354:i2123. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i2123
- Salminen JK, Saarijarvi S, Aarela E, Toikka T, Kauhanen J. Prevalence of alexithymia and its association with sociodemographic variables in the general population of Finland. J Psychosom Res (1999) 46(1):75–82. doi: 10.1016/ S0022-3999(98)00053-1

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Bileviciute-Ljungar and Friberg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Interoceptive Abilities in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases and Irritable Bowel Syndrome

Alicia Fournier^{1,2*}, Laurie Mondillon^{3*}, Olivier Luminet^{4,5}, Fréderic Canini^{6,7}, Nicolas Mathieu⁸, Anne Sophie Gauchez⁹, Cécile Dantzer¹⁰, Bruno Bonaz^{8,11} and Sonia Pellissier¹²

¹ Université de Bourgogne, Laboratoire Psy-DREPI, Dijon, France, ² MSHE Claude-Nicolas Ledoux, USR3124, Behaviors, Risk and Health, Besançon, France, ³ Université Clermont Auvergne, CNRS, Laboratoire de Psychologie Sociale et Cognitive, Team on Physiological and Psychosocial Stress, Well-being Physiological and Psychosocial Stress, Clermont-Ferrand, France, ⁴ Research Institute for Psychological Sciences, Université catholique de Louvain, Louvain-La-Neuve, Belgium, ⁵ Fund for Scientific Research (FRS-FNRS), Brussels, Belgium, ⁶ Unité de Neurophysiologie du Stress, Institut de Recherche Biomédicale des Armées (IRBA), Brétigny sur Orge, France, ⁷ École du Val de Grâce, Paris, France, ⁸ Service d'Hépato-Gastroentérology, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Grenoble, Grenoble, France, ⁹ Institut de Biologie et Pathologie, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Grenoble, Grenoble, France, ¹⁰ Université de Bordeaux, Laboratoire de Psychologie, Bordeaux, France, ¹¹ Université Grenoble Alpes, Grenoble Institute of Neurosciences, Grenoble, France, ¹² Université Savoie Mont Blanc, LIP/PC2S, Chambéry, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy

Reviewed by:

Federica Vellante, Università degli Studi G. d'Annunzio Chieti e Pescara, Italy Max Karukivi, University of Turku, Finland

*Correspondence:

Alicia Fournier alicia.fournier@u-bourgogne.fr Laurie Mondillon laurie.mondillon@uca.fr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 16 October 2019 Accepted: 10 March 2020 Published: 02 April 2020

Citation:

Fournier A, Mondillon L, Luminet O, Canini F, Mathieu N, Gauchez AS, Dantzer C, Bonaz B and Pellissier S (2020) Interoceptive Abilities in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases and Irritable Bowel Syndrome. Front. Psychiatry 11:229. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00229 Alexithymia is usually described by three main dimensions difficulty identifying feelings (DIF), difficulty describing feelings (DDF), and externally oriented thinking (EOT). The most commonly used questionnaire investigating alexithymia, the Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20), supports this three-factor structure. One important assumption is that alexithymia severity is associated to vulnerability to somatic diseases, among them gastrointestinal disorders. However, the association between alexithymia and gastrointestinal disorders is not systematic, thus questioning the role of alexithymia as a vulnerability factor for those illnesses. A recent factor analysis suggested another fourfactor structure for the TAS-20: difficulties in awareness of feelings (DAF), difficulties in interoceptive abilities (DIA), externally oriented thinking (EOT), and poor affective sharing (PAS). We assume that DIA and DAF might be more relevant to investigate the association between alexithymia and gastrointestinal disorders. The rationale is that DIA and DAF reflect impairments in emotion regulation that could contribute to an inappropriate autonomic and HPA axis homeostasis in irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), ulcerative colitis (UC), or Crohn's disease (CD). The aim of this study was to investigate whether DIA and DAF are associated with the presence of IBS, UC or CD, while checking for anxiety, depression, parasympathetic (vagus nerve) activity and cortisol levels. We recruited control participants (n=26), and patients in remission who were diagnosed with IBS (n=24), UC (n=18), or CD (n=21). Participants completed questionnaires to assess anxiety, depression, and alexithymia. A blood sample and an electrocardiogram were used to measure the level of cortisol and parasympathetic activity, respectively. Logistic regressions with the four-factor structure of the TAS-20 revealed that DIA was a significant predictor of IBS (W(1)=6.27, p=.01). Conversely, DIA and DAF were not significant predictors in CD and UC patients. However, low cortisol level was a significant predictor of UC (W(1)=4.67, p=.035). Additional logistic regressions based on the original 3-factor structure of TAS-20 (DIF, DDF, and EOT) showed that only DDF was a significant predictor of CD [W(1)=6.16, p < .001]. The present study suggests that DIA is an important dimension for assessing potential risk for gastrointestinal diseases, in particular for IBS.

Keywords: inflammatory bowel disease, irritable bowel syndrome, alexithymia, interoceptive abilities, hypothalamic-pituitary adrenal axis

INTRODUCTION

Among gastrointestinal pathologies, the most common diagnoses in gastroenterology are irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) and inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD). Although these are common pathologies that affect the intestine and are characterised by alternating periods of remission and relapse, only the intestinal symptoms (e.g., abdominal pain and chronic diarrhoea) are similar. The main difference is that IBS is a functional disorder (i.e., without structural abnormalities) (1) while IBD are structural diseases where digestive and extradigestive manifestations are caused by chronic inflammation (2). IBD include ulcerative colitis (UC) and Crohn's disease (CD). Patients with UC have inflammation confined to the rectum and colon, while patients with CD have inflammation that can affect the entire gastrointestinal tract.

Although the aetiology is multifactorial, numerous studies have agreed that among environmental factors, stress has a major impact on the development and/or relapse of IBS and, more recently, IBD. This is due to the existence of bidirectional communication between the brain and the gut through the autonomic nervous system (ANS), the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, and the gastrointestinal tract (gastrointestinal immune system, intestinal barrier, enteric nervous system and microbiota) (i.e., brain-gutmicrobiota axis) (3, 4). Another explanation for the relapse of functional gastrointestinal disorders is the important role of psychological status and physiological stimuli (5). In IBS and IBD patients, the presence of adverse symptoms, anxiety, depression (6, 7), as well as individual visceral hypersensitivity (8) is critical for the regulation of psychological mood, which in turn may influence the perception and generation of regulatory physiological signals (9).

Depending on the studies, IBS patients have an increase of sympathetic activity at rest (10) or under stress (11), or a decrease of vagal tone (12, 13). Moreover, IBS patients with low vagal tone are reported to have high levels of blood epinephrine at rest (14). Among IBD patients, UC patients exhibit high sympathetic (15–17) and low vagal tone related to negative affects compared to healthy individuals (18). CD patients also present higher sympatheticparasympathetic ratio compared to control individuals, which can be explained by an increase in sympathetic activity (19). However, the overactivity of the HPA axis in patients with gastrointestinal pathologies remains controversial. IBS patients facing a psychological stressor exhibit an overactivity of the HPA axis (20, 21). Compared to healthy individuals, IBS patients at rest have salivary cortisol levels higher in the morning and lower in the evening (22), a difference not always observed (23) except in patients with low vagal tone (14). Conversely, IBD patients exhibit hypocortisolism rather than a hypercortisolism profile (24, 25). The communication between the brain and the gastrointestinal tract (i.e., brain-gut-microbiota axis) is mediated by the HPA axis, the ANS and the immune system. As a result, alterations in the functioning of these systems can lead to impaired motor, sensory, secretory, and immune functions of the gastrointestinal tract, the development of inflammatory-related or immunosuppressed medical conditions, leading to depression and anxiety that could accelerate a relapse (4).

Besides differences in stress mediator regulation, IBS and IBD also present an impairment in interoception (26, 27) and high levels of alexithymia (28, 29). Interoception refers to the ability to accurately detect internal body changes. Interoceptive abilities are composed of different facets: (i) interoceptive accuracy (objective ability to perceive internal body changes), (ii) interoceptive sensibility (subjective ability to report on body states), (iii) interoceptive awareness (degree of overlap between interoceptive accuracy and sensibility), and (iv) interoceptive emotional evaluation (emotional degree attributed to body sensations that are expressed or paid attention to in a specific situation) (30). Interoception is considered a necessary component of the emotional experience (31, 32). It implies that the evaluation and perception of one's own emotional states cannot be separated from the processes of evaluating one's own body experiences (33). This connection is illustrated by a majority of studies looking at self-reported interoception that find a link with alexithymia (34-39). Alexithymia is a personality construct that implies difficulties identifying and describing one's own feelings, limited imaginative processes, an externally oriented cognitive style, and difficulties in distinguishing between feelings and bodily sensations (40-42). This construct is associated with many disorders, such as gastrointestinal pathologies (28, 29). This association can be explained by deficits in the strategies used in emotion regulation (43). In this perspective, a recent study suggests that only the difficulties identifying and describing one's own feelings and an externally oriented cognitive style dimensions define the alexithymia construct. Difficulties identifying and describing one's own feelings dimensions would correspond to difficulties in the appraisal stage of emotion valuation system and externally oriented cognitive style dimension would correspond to difficulties in the attention stage of emotion valuation system (44). Emotion regulation involves mechanisms that allow individuals to modulate their emotions during environmental demands (45). This ability is an essential component for the

general well-being of individuals. If the emotion regulation mechanisms are not sufficiently efficient, individuals are more vulnerable to developing a chronic stress state and in the long term psychological and somatic diseases (46). For example, an individual with difficulties in detecting, processing or becoming aware of internal body changes (interoception) is also likely to have difficulties identifying and describing feelings (alexithymia). When faced with challenging emotional situations, he/she could exhibit difficulties regulating his/her emotions and autonomous functioning.

In patients in remission, we tested a vulnerability model in which difficulties in interoceptive abilities (DIA) and in awareness of feelings (DAF) could potentially represent vulnerability factors, while checking for psychological (anxiety, depression) and physiological (activity of the parasympathetic ANS and the HPA axis) factors. We hypothesize that DIA and DAF could predict the presence of IBS or IBD (both CD and UC). We focused on DIA and DAF because these dimensions could explain difficulties in emotion regulation and, consequently, explain physiological and psychological alterations that could contribute to an increase in and/or inappropriate stress response and the recurrence or aggravation of gastrointestinal pathologies. Although the EOT dimension appears to assess difficulties in emotion regulation (44), we decided not to use this dimension for two reasons. Firstly, its internal reliability is usually poor (47-50). Secondly, the dimension might better reflect the social norms that guide emotional behaviors rather than a cognitive style of thinking (51). Identifying factors that affect the well-being of patients with IBS or IBD in remission renders possible an intervention to modify some of these factors or promote a better understanding of patients with IBS or IBD who experience alternate periods of remission and relapse.

METHOD

Participants and Ethics Statement

Patients in remission and clinically diagnosed with IBS (mean age: 38.21 ± 11.26 years; 7 men, 17 women), UC (mean age: 40.94 ± 10.78 years; 9 men, 9 women), or CD (mean age: 40.29 ± 11.17 years; 9 men, 12 women) were recruited from the Gastroenterology Department of Grenoble University Hospital (CHU) between September 2009 and October 2011. Patients with IBS were selected according to the Rome II criteria (52). Patients with UC and CD were recruited according to their pathology activity index, respectively UC activity index (UCAI) (53) and Harvey-Bradshaw index (HBI) (54). UC patients with a UCAI ≤ 10 and CD patients with an HBI < 4 on inclusion were considered in clinical remission. In addition, we recruited healthy control (HC) participants (mean age: 36.23 ± 10.06 years; 8 men, 18 women), with no chronic medication intake for any disease, from a list of healthy volunteers from the Grenoble INSERM Clinical Investigation Centre.

The study was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki and in accordance with the guidelines of Good Clinical Practice. The Ethical Committee of the CHU approved the study (ref: CPP 08-CHUG-23; ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT010950421). Some of the results of this protocol have already been published twice (14, 29).

Criteria for Exclusion

Patients were excluded from the study if they (*i*) had past or present severe disorders (e.g., diabetes, heart failure, dysthyroidism, renal or liver insufficiency, malignant condition, alcoholism, psychiatric disorders, and amyloidosis); (*ii*) had autonomic dysfunction (e.g., peripheral neuropathy, vagotomy, and asthma); (*iii*) were taking medication that could alter ANS functioning (e.g., anticholinergics, antiarrhythmics, clonidine, and β -blocking agents); (*iv*) were pregnant or breast-feeding; and/or (*v*) had past abdominal surgery except for appendectomy and/or cholecystectomy.

Materials

Psychological Assessments

Interoceptive abilities and awareness of feelings were assessed using a part of the French version of the Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20) (55, 56). The TAS-20 allows the assessment of three dimensions: difficulty identifying feelings (DIF; items 1, 3, 6, 7, 9, 13, 14; α =.83), difficulty describing feelings (DDF; items 2, 4, 11, 12, 17; α=.65), and EOT (items 5, 8, 10, 15, 16, 18, 19, 20; α =.60). However, based on literature highlighting interoceptive alteration in alexithymic individuals, Fournier and colleagues (2019) propose a new structure for this scale without items 16 and 20. This new structure is composed of four dimensions: DIA (tems 1, 2, 4, 6, 9, 11, 13, 14; α=.81), difficulty in interoceptive abilities (DIA; items 3^1 , 7^2 ; α =.77), externally oriented thinking (EOT; items 5, 8, 10, 18, 19; α =.48), and poor affective sharing (PAS; items 4, 11, 12, 15, 17; α =.63). For this study, we decided to use the factor structure proposed by Fournier and colleagues, because the DIA and DAF dimensions were predominantly associated with a deficit in emotion regulation (i.e., depression, anxiety, emotional instability, high level of perceived stress, use of dysfunctional coping strategies) and DIA dimension was specifically associated with health disorders (i.e., somatic disorders, eating disorders, medication intake, cardiovascular disease) (57). A high score of DIA indicates a high level of DIA and a high score of DAF indicates a high level of difficulty in awareness of feelings.

Depressive symptomatology was assessed using the French version of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies–Depression scale (CES-D) (58, 59). This brief scale of 20 items assesses symptoms and behaviors often associated with depression. A high score means a high level of depressive symptomatology (α =.87).

Anxiety trait was assessed using the French version of the State–Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI-Y) (60, 61). This scale consists of 20 items. A high score indicates high anxiety (α =.91).

HRV for Parasympathetic Activity Assessment

Parasympathetic activity was evaluated by investigating heart rate variability. We performed an electrocardiogram (ECG) using electrodes placed on each wrist. Heart rate variability analysis was performed using the Heart Rhythm Scanner software (Biocom Technologies, USA). QRS complexes were automatically classified, and then visually checked to detect

¹Item 3: "I have physical sensations that even doctors don't understand".

²Item 7: "I am often puzzled by sensations in my body".

and remove abnormal complexes. A standard spectral analysis was applied to inter-beat intervals using a Fast Fourier Transformation (FFT) according to the standards of measurement of the task force on heart rate variability (62). We considered the high frequency (HF) spectrum (from 0.15 to 0.40 Hz.ms²) that reflects 90% parasympathetic tone fluctuations caused by respiratory sinus arrhythmia at rest in a sitting position (63). We computed normalized scores [HFnu = HF/ (TP-VLF)] to minimise the effect of changes in very low frequency power on HF power and emphasised the changes in parasympathetic regulation.

Blood Samples for Neuroendocrine Assessment

Blood samples were collected between 8:30 am and 9:00 am. Cortisol levels were measured in serum by means of a competitive immunoassay using direct chemiluminescent technology on ADVIA Centaur[®] XP (Siemens Health Care Diagnostics, Saint Denis, France).

Procedure

Upon arrival in the Gastroenterology Department of Grenoble University Hospital, participants were welcomed in a quiet room. The experimenter verified the inclusion/exclusion conditions in each group. The nature and potential risks of the study were fully explained, and written informed consent was obtained from each participant.

After this short interview, the participant started the experimental protocol. All sessions took place between 8:00 am to 10:00 am, after a light breakfast to avoid strong influences of circadian and postprandial variations. At the beginning of the protocol, participants completed psychological questionnaires (i.e., STAI-Y, CES-D, TAS-20). Then, a nurse placed electrodes on the wrists (ECG recording) and an intravenous catheter in the arm vein (blood sample). A standardized interview with questions mainly related to the symptomatology and history of the pathology) was then carried out for 30 min. This interview also allowed participants to recover from the stress of the prick. After this resting period, participants rated the intensity of their current visceral pain using a visual analogue scale (0: no perceived pain; 10: maximum perceived pain). Finally, a 10min ECG was recorded, and a 30-ml blood sample was taken immediately after the ECG recording. The overall study design consisted of two parts. The analyses presented here concern only the first part of the study [for a complete description of the study see Fournier and colleagues (29)].

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were carried out with SPSS v.24.0 (IBM Corp., USA). Data are expressed as means (± standard deviation, SD). The *p*-value for statistical significance was set at $p \le .05$, and the trend for significance was set at $p \le .07$.

ANOVAs were used to evaluate the main effects of groups on visceral pain, and psychological, biological, and physiological measures. When a significant effect was observed, a Bonferroni *post hoc* test was applied to determine the differences between each group. If the homoscedasticity was not respected, we used adjusted *Welch's F.* For two-by-two comparisons, we used a

Bonferroni *post hoc* test to determine the differences between each group.

Then, to examine the predictive value of the DAF and DIA dimensions on the presence of gastrointestinal pathologies, we performed hierarchical logistic regressions with the patient group as the dependent variable (considering separately IBS, UC, and CD). The presence of gastrointestinal pathologies was coded 1 and the absence of disorder (HC group) was coded 0. It is known that anxiety, depression and cortisol levels are associated with gastrointestinal disorders (64). In addition, autonomic dysfunction can be a confused factor between digestive disorders and alexithymia. In order to examine the specific contribution of DAF and DIA dimensions and avoid cooccurrences, we checked for any possible effects of anxiety and depression by entering STAI-Y and CES-D at Step 1. Then, we checked cortisol levels and autonomic activity by entering cortisol and HFnu at Step 2 and we entered our dimensions of interest, DAF and DIA dimensions, at Step 3. A significant improvement of the χ^2 (observed from the $\Delta \chi^2 = \chi^2_{new model} - \chi^2_{previous model}$) means that the new model is better than the previous model. Despite the fact that the DIA dimension had good internal reliability, this dimension includes only two items (57). For this reason, we carried out additional analyses by including, instead of DAF and DIA dimensions, the theoretical DIF and DDF dimensions of the TAS-20 as predictors. We decided to keep only these two dimensions because they included all the items distributed in the DAF and DIA dimensions.

Given the restricted sample size, we used bootstrapping to perform hierarchical logistic regressions. The level of confidence was 95% and we used a bootstrap percentile method for 5,000 bootstrap replications. The odds ratio was used to compare the relative odds of the occurrence of the outcome of interest (i.e., IBS, UC, CD), given exposure to the variable of interest (i.e., anxiety, depression, HFnu, cortisol, DAF/DIF, DIA/DDF). An odds ratio equal to one means that exposure to the variable of interest (anxiety, depression, HFnu, cortisol, DAF/DIF, or DIA/ DDF) does not affect the odds of the occurrence of a gastrointestinal pathology (IBS, UC, or CD); an odds ratio greater than one means that exposure to the variable of interest is associated with higher odds of the occurrence of a gastrointestinal pathology; and an odds ratio less than one means that exposure to the variable of interest is associated with lower odds of the occurrence of a gastrointestinal pathology (65). An absence of multicollinearity between predictor variables was verified before performing hierarchical logistic regressions. Only results with a confidence interval not including zero were retained and interpreted.

RESULTS

Differences between groups. The groups did not differ in age or on EOT, PAS scores of the TAS without items 16 and 20, EOT of the TAS-20 and HFnu index (ps > .07). However, there was a significant effect of the disease on the level of perceived visceral pain [*Welch F*(3,43.82)=5.11, *p*=.004]. IBS had the highest score

of perceived visceral pain compared to controls (p=.001). There was also a significant effect of the disease on the scores of anxiety (F(3, 85)=6.69, p < .001)] and depressive symptomatology [*Welch* F(3,42.88)=9.75, p < .001]. IBS and CD patients had higher scores of anxiety than HC participants (p < .001 and p=.021 respectively), and IBS patients had the highest scores of depressive symptomatology in comparison to HC participants and CD and UC patients (p < .001, p=.031, p < .001 respectively).

There was a significant effect of the disease on the total alexithymia (TAS-20 without items 16 and 20) scores [F(3, 78)=4.02, p=.01], DAF scores [F(3, 83)=3.43, p=.021], DIA scores [*Welch F*(3,41.63)=9.18, *p* < .001], PAS scores [*Welch F*(3,41.71) =3.54, p=.023], on the total TAS-20 scores [F(3, 77)=3.56, p=.018], DIF scores [Welch F(3,45.14)=4.93, p=.005)] and DDF scores [Welch F(3,44.09)=3.14, p=.035]. CD patients were more alexithymic overall (TAS-20 without items 16 and 20: p=.018; TAS-20: p=.041) and had more difficulties in awareness of feelings, in interoceptive abilities and in identifying feelings than HC participants (p=.019, p=.015, p=.030 respectively). Also, IBS patients were more alexithymic (TAS-20 without items 16 and 20: p=.035; TAS-20: p=.052) and tended to have more DIF (p=.061) than HC participants, and had more DIA than HC participants (p < .001) and UC patients (p=.004). In addition, there was a significant effect of the disease on the cortisol levels [Welch F(3,43.90)=4.45, p=.008]. UC patients had the lowest cortisol levels compared to CD patients (p=.032) (see details in Table 1).

Contribution of DAF and DIA dimensions in predicting the presence of IBS. When entering anxiety in addition to depression as a predictor of the presence of IBS into Step 1, the full regression equation was significant, $\chi^2(2)=22.45$, p < .001; R^2 *Nagelkerke*=.51. The model correctly classified 85.1% of cases. Only depression was a significant predictor of the presence of IBS, W(1)=8.01, p=.004. The introduction of the HFnu index and

cortisol levels in the model (Step 2) also led to a significant equation, $\chi^2(4)=22.52$, p < .001; R^2 Nagelkerke=.51. However, the introduction of physiological parameters did not add a significant explanation for the presence of IBS ($\Delta\chi^2(2)=.07$, p=.968) contrary to the introduction of the interest variables, DAF and DIA dimensions in Step 3 ($\Delta\chi^2(2)=10.94$, p=.004). At this last step, the full regression equation was significant ($\chi^2(6) = 33.46$, p < .001; R^2 Nagelkerke=.68) and correctly classified 87.2% of cases. Only DIA was a significant predictor of the presence of IBS, W(1)=6.27, p=.01. DAF and depression were not significant, as evidenced by confidence intervals including zero. This model was better than the first model [$\Delta\chi^2(4)=11.01$, p=.026]. In summary, in the best model, only DIA factor was a significant predictor of IBS presence. Results are reported in **Table 2**.

Contribution of DAF and DIA dimensions in predicting the presence of UC. When entering anxiety in addition to depression as a predictor of UC, the result of the full regression equation was not significant, $\chi^2(2)=1.07$, p=.587; R^2 Nagelkerke=.03. However, at Step 2, when introducing HFnu index and cortisol levels in the model, the full regression equation was significant [$\chi^2(4)=9.81$, p=.044; R^2 Nagelkerke=.28] and correctly classified 71.4% of cases. The difference from Step 1 revealed that the introduction of physiological parameters added an explanation of the prediction of the presence of UC, $\Delta \chi^2(2)=8.74$, p=.013. However, only cortisol levels were a significant predictor of UC, W(1)=4.67, p=.035. At Step 3, the introduction of the interest variables, DAF and DIA dimensions, did not improve the model. Model 3 explained less well the presence of UC than model 2 [$\Delta \chi^2(2)=0.04$, p=.982] and the full regression model was not significant, $\chi^2(6)=9.85$, p=.131; R^2 Nagelkerke=.28. In summary, in the best model (Step 2), only cortisol levels were a significant predictor of UC presence. Results are reported in Table 3.

	HC (n=26)	IBS (n=24)	UC (n=18)	CD (n=21)	Group comparisons
Mean age (years)	36.23 ± 10.07	38.21 ± 11.26	40.94 ± 10.78	40.29 ± 11.17	_
Visceral pain (/10)	0.31 ± 1.19	2.25 ± 2.31***	0.94 ± 1.55	1.29 ± 1.62	IBS > HC
Anxiety (/80)	31.38 ± 7.62	41.5 ± 10.8***	33.5 ± 6.10	39.26 ± 10.03*	IBS;CD > HC
Depression (/60)	8.88 ± 4.48***	19.63 ± 9.37	10.17 ± 7.01***	13.67 ± 6.09*	IBS > HC;UC;CD
Alexithymia	30.12 ± 6.06	36.19 ± 9*	34.56 ± 8.5	36.75 ± 5.12*	IBS;CD > HC
(TAS-20 without items 16 and 20)					
DAF (/32)	12.96 ± 3.61	15.78 ± 5.68	14.59 ± 4.58	16.86 ± 3.32*	CD > HC
DIA (/8)	2.5 ± 1.03	4.82 ± 2.08***	3.06 ± 1.21**	3.95 ± 1.76*	IBS;CD > HC
					IBS > UC
EOT without items 15,16,20 (/20)	9.27 ± 2.51	9.64 ± 1.99	10.29 ± 2.91	9.71 ± 2.45	_
PAS (/20)	9.04 ± 2.3	10.23 ± 3.75	11.18 ± 3.11	11.33 ± 2.99	_
Alexithymia	34.04 ± 6.51	40.20 ± 9.11^{t}	39.00 ± 9.40	40.40 ± 5.37*	IBS;CD > HC
(TAS-20)					
DIF (/28)	10.19 ± 3.24	13.33 ± 5.85 ^t	10.94 ± 3.46	13.76 ± 3.60*	IBS;CD > HC
DF (/20)	9.15 ± 2.46	9.92 ± 4.14	10.33 ± 3.38	11.57 ± 2.82	_
EOT (/32)	14.88 ± 3.82	14.75 ± 4.08	17.22 ± 4.29	15.57 ± 3.41	_
HFnu	44.32 ± 17.72	42.74 ± 17.01	37.74 ± 17.82	33.98 ± 19.86	_
Cortisol (nmol/l)	369.04 ± 143.23	338.38 ± 184.36	251.11 ± 103.76*	445.55 ± 337.46	CD > UC

***<.001; **<.01; *<.05; ^t <.07. Data are expressed as means ± SD. TAS-20, Toronto Alexithymia Scale; DAF, Difficulty in awareness of feelings; EOT, Externally oriented thinking; DIA, Difficulty in interoceptive abilities dimension; PAS, Poor affective sharing; DIF, Difficulty identifying feelings; DDF, Difficulty describing feelings; HFnu, High Frequency Normalized unit.
TABLE 2 Summary of hierarchical logistical regression analysis predicting the
presence of irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) (95% BCa bootstrap confidence
intervals based on 5,000 samples).

	b	b p		95% Confidence Interval		95% Confidence Interva for Odds Ratio			
			Lower	Upper	Lower	Odds	Upper		
Step 1									
Constant	-4.48	.003**	-11.38	-1.88					
Anxiety	0.05	.225	-0.03	0.23	0.96	1.05	1.15		
Depression	0.19	.004**	0.06	0.46	1.06	1.21	1.37		
Step 2									
Constant	-4.53	.006**	-16.71	-0.92					
Anxiety	0.05	.243	-0.03	0.41	0.96	1.05	1.16		
Depression	0.19	.002**	0.07	0.75	1.06	1.21	1.38		
HFnu	-0.004	.860	-0.12	0.09	0.95	1	1.04		
Cortisol	< 0.001	.906	-0.02	0.01	1	1	1.01		
Step 3									
Constant	-2.43	.223	-401.51	646.37					
Anxiety	0.05	.258	-2.43	15.01	0.94	1.05	1.18		
Depression	0.24	.024	-0.06	80.25	1.03	1.28	1.58		
HFnu	-0.04	.327	-21.73	2.17	0.90	0.96	1.03		
Cortisol	0.001	.492	-0.53	0.43	1	1	1.01		
DAF	-0.42	.033	-146.99	0.23	0.42	0.65	1.01		
DIA	1.25	.010**	0.35	367.91	1.31	3.48	9.21		

**<.01. HFnu, High Frequency Normalized unit; DAF, Difficulty in awareness of feelings; DIA, Difficulty in interoceptive abilities dimension of the Toronto Alexithymia Scale; DIF, Difficulty identifying feelings; DDF, Difficulty describing feelings.

Contribution of DAF and DIA dimensions in predicting the presence of CD. When entering anxiety in addition to depression as a predictor of CD, the full regression equation was significant, $\chi^2(2)=11.21$, p=.004; R^2 Nagelkerke=.30. The model correctly classified 68.9% of cases. Only depression was a predictor of CD,

TABLE 3 Summary of hierarchical logistical regression analysis predicting the
presence of ulcerative colitis (UC) (95% BCa bootstrap confidence intervals
based on 5,000 samples).

	b	р		nfidence erval		nfidence Odds Ra	
			Lower	Upper	Lower	Odds	Upper
Step 1							
Constant	-1.64	.309	-6.60	1.45			
Anxiety	0.03	.621	-0.07	0.19	0.94	1.03	1.13
Depression	0.04	.472	-0.12	0.19	0.93	1.04	1.17
Step 2							
Constant	2.04	.384	-3.64	12.01			
Anxiety	0.04	.52	-0.1	0.24	0.93	1.04	1.15
Depression	0.004	.961	-0.24	0.25	0.88	1	1.15
HFnu	-0.02	.315	-0.11	0.03	0.94	0.98	1.02
Cortisol	-0.01	.035*	-0.04	-0.002	0.98	0.99	1
Step 3							
Constant	2.36	.469	-8.13	18.58			
Anxiety	0.04	.515	-0.15	0.35	0.93	1.04	1.16
Depression	0.01	.906	-0.50	0.33	0.86	1.01	1.19
HFnu	-0.02	.361	-0.15	0.06	0.93	0.98	1.02
Cortisol	-0.01	.029*	-0.07	-0.002	0.98	0.99	1
DAF	-0.02	.869	-0.54	0.82	0.76	0.98	1.26
DIA	0.01	.968	-1.31	2.17	0.47	1.01	2.19

*≤.05. HFnu, High Frequency Normalized unit; DAF, Difficulty in awareness of feelings; DIA, Difficulty in interoceptive abilities dimension of the Toronto Alexithymia Scale; DIF, Difficulty identifying feelings; DDF, Difficulty describing feelings.

W(1)=3.51, p=.027. The introduction of the HFnu index and cortisol levels in the model did not add an explanation $(\Delta \gamma^2(2))$ =4.35, p=.113) despite the fact that the full regression equation was significant, $\chi^2(4)=15.56$, p=.004; R^2 Nagelkerke=.39. Finally, the introduction of the interest variables, DAF and DIA dimensions, improved the model, $\chi^2(6)=25.67$, p < .001; R^2 Nagelkerke=.58. Model 3 better explained the presence of CD than model 2 ($\Delta \chi^2(2)$ =10.10, *p*=.006) or model 1 ($\Delta \chi^2(4)$ = 14.46, p=.006), and correctly classified 80% of cases. However, neither the psychological nor the physiological parameters predicted the presence of CD. Although anxiety and DIA tended to be significant in the model, the confidence intervals included zero, revealing unreliable results. In summary, the best model was Step 3 and no factor was a significant predictor of CD, even if the introduction of DIA and DAF factors significantly improved the model. Results are reported in Table 4.

Additional Analysis

Despite the fact that the DIA dimension had good internal reliability, this dimension includes only two items (57). For this reason, we have carried out additional analyses by including, instead of the DAF and DIA dimensions, the theoretical DIF and DDF dimensions of the TAS-20 as predictors. We decided to keep only these two dimensions because they included all the items distributed in the DAF and DIA dimensions.

Contribution of DDF and DIF dimensions in predicting the presence of IBS. When entering anxiety in addition to depression as a predictor of IBS, the full regression equation was significant, $\chi^2(2)=23.10$, p < .001; R^2 Nagelkerke=.50. The model correctly

TABLE 4 | Summary of hierarchical logistical regression analysis the presence of Crohn's disease (CD) (95% BCa bootstrap confidence intervals based on 5,000 samples).

	b	р		95% Confidence Interval		95% Confidence Interval for Odds Ratio		
			Lower	Upper	Lower	Odds	Upper	
Step 1								
Constant	-4.29	.001***	-9.20	-1.76				
Anxiety	.07	.072	-0.01	.23	0.99	1.08	1.18	
Depression	.13	.027*	0.02	.35	0.99	1.14	1.31	
Step 2								
Constant	-4.23	.008**	-14.31	-1.15				
Anxiety	.09	.028	0.001	0.37	0.99	1.09	1.20	
Depression	.15	.066	-0.02	0.61	0.99	1.16	1.36	
HFnu	04	.071	-0.19	-0.001	0.92	0.96	1	
Cortisol	.002	.408	-0.004	0.01	1	1	1.01	
Step 3								
Constant	-9.52	.001***	-1365.01	-4.51				
Anxiety	.11	.051	-0.26	19.76	0.98	1.11	1.26	
Depression	.06	.553	-6.65	22.64	0.87	1.06	1.29	
HFnu	05	.074	-12.58	0.002	0.90	0.95	1	
Cortisol	.01	.077	-0.01	0.95	1	1.01	1.01	
DAF	.20	.260	-5.1	18.93	0.88	1.22	1.68	
DIA	.73	.058	-0.71	170.57	0.97	2.08	4.49	

***5.001; **5.01; *5.05. HFnu, High Frequency Normalized unit; DAF, Difficulty in awareness of feelings; DIA, Difficulty in interoceptive abilities dimension of the Toronto Alexithymia Scale.

classified 83.7% of cases. Only depression was a predictor of IBS, W(1)=7.71, p=.005. The introduction of HFnu index and cortisol levels in the model did not add an explanation $(\Delta \chi^2(2)=0.34, p=.844)$ despite the fact that the full regression equation was significant, $\chi^2(4)=23.44$, p < .001; R^2 Nagelkerke=.51. Finally, the introduction of the interest variables, the DDF and DIF dimensions, did not improve model, $\Delta \chi^2(2)=.04$, p=.98, $\chi^2(6)=23.48$, p=.001; R^2 Nagelkerke=.51. Model 1 better explained the presence of IBS than model 3 ($\Delta \chi^2(4)=.38$, p=.984). In summary, the best model was Step 1 and only depression scores were a significant predictor of IBS. Results are reported in **Table 5**.

Contribution of DDF and DIF dimensions in predicting the presence of UC. When entering anxiety in addition to depression as a predictor of UC, the result of the full regression equation was not significant, $\chi^2(2)=0.98$, p=.613; R^2 Nagelkerke=.03. However, at Step 2, when introducing HFnu index and cortisol levels in the model, the full regression equation was significant ($\chi^2(4)=10.87$, p=.028; R^2 Nagelkerke=.30) and correctly classified 72.1% of cases. The difference from Step 1 revealed that the introduction of physiological parameters added an explanation of the prediction of the presence of UC, $\Delta \chi^2(2)=9.89$, p=.007. However, only cortisol levels were a significant predictor of UC, W(1)=5.11, p=.026. At Step 3, the introduction of the interest variables, the DDF and DIF dimensions, did not improve the model ($\Delta \chi^2(2)=2.14$, p=.344), but the full regression model was significant, $\chi^2(6)=13$, p=.043; R^2 Nagelkerke=.35. Therefore, the best model was Step 2 and only cortisol levels were a significant predictor of UC. Results are reported in Table 6.

Contribution of DDF and DIF dimensions in predicting the presence of CD. When entering anxiety in addition to depression

TABLE 5 | Summary of hierarchical logistical regression analysis predicting the presence of irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) (95% BCa bootstrap confidence intervals based on 5,000 samples).

	b	b p	95% Con Inter		95% Confidence Interval for Odds Ratio			
			Lower	Upper	Lower	Odds	Upper	
Step 1								
Constant	-4.35	.003**	-11.08	-1.80				
Anxiety	0.053	.226	-0.03	0.23	0.96	1.05	1.16	
Depression	0.18	.005**	0.07	0.42	1.05	1.20	1.36	
Step 2								
Constant	-4.44	.006**	-14.70	-0.97				
Anxiety	0.06	.223	-0.03	0.36	0.96	1.06	1.16	
Depression	0.19	.003**	0.07	0.61	1.05	1.20	1.37	
HFnu	-0.01	.713	-0.12	0.06	0.95	0.99	1.04	
Cortisol	0.001	.778	-0.01	0.01	1	1	1.01	
Step 3								
Constant	-4.74	.055 ^t	-291.88	6.43				
Anxiety	0.06	.260	09	7.20	0.96	1.06	1.17	
Depression	0.18	.014*	.04	29.74	1.02	1.19	1.4	
HFnu	-0.01	.726	-3.82	.12	0.95	0.99	1.04	
Cortisol	0.001	.737	23	.02	1	1	1.01	
DIF	0.02	.858	-5.35	3.23	0.79	1.02	1.31	
DDF	0.01	.897	-18.69	2.01	0.75	1.01	1.36	

**<01; *<.05; ^t <.07. HFnu, High Frequency Normalized unit; DIF, Difficulty identifying feelings; DDF, Difficulty describing feelings on the Toronto Alexithymia Scale. as a predictor of CD, the full regression equation was significant, $\chi^2(2)=11.21$, p=.004; R² Nagelkerke=.30. The model correctly classified 68.9% of cases. Only depression was a predictor of the presence of CD, W(1)=3.51, p=.025. The introduction of the HFnu index and cortisol levels in the model did not add an explanation ($\Delta \chi^2(2)$ =4.35, p=.113) despite the fact that the full regression equation was significant, $\chi^2(4)=15.56$, p=.004; R^2 Nagelkerke=.39. Finally, the introduction of the interest variables, the DDF and DIF dimensions, improved the model, $\chi^{2}(6)=28.19, p < .001; R^{2}$ Nagelkerke=.62. Model 3 better explained the presence of CD than model 2 ($\Delta \chi^2(2)=12.62$, p=.002) or model 1 ($\Delta \chi^2(4)=$ 16.98, p=.002), and correctly classified 82.2% of cases. Only DDF predicted CD, W(1)=6.16, p < .001. Although anxiety and cortisol levels tended to be significant in the model, the confidence intervals included zero, revealing unreliable results. In summary, the best model was Step 3 and only DDF was a significant predictor of CD. Results are reported in Table 7.

DISCUSSION

The aim of this paper was to explore the contribution of DIA and DAF in predicting the presence of gastrointestinal pathologies which could be considered vulnerabilities. After checking for the effects of psychological (i.e., anxiety, depression) and physiological (i.e., ANS and HPA axis activities at rest) factors, the results showed that DIA was a significant predictor only for IBS patients. In IBD patients, despite the fact that UC and CD are usually grouped in the same category (i.e., IBD), the factors

TABLE 6 | Summary of hierarchical logistical regression analysis predicting the presence of ulcerative colitis (UC) (95% BCa bootstrap confidence intervals based on 5,000 samples).

	b	р		nfidence rval		nfidence Odds Ra	
			Lower	Upper	Lower	Odds	Upper
			Lower	Upper	Lower	Odds	Upper
Step 1							
Constant	-1.67	.308	-6.66	1.57			
Anxiety	.03	.534	-0.07	0.20	0.94	1.03	1.13
Depression	.03	.583	-0.15	0.17	0.92	1.03	1.16
Step 2							
Constant	2.22	.347	-3.30	13.39			
Anxiety	.04	.471	-0.10	0.25	0.93	1.04	1.16
Depression	004	.959	-0.24	0.22	0.87	1	1.14
HFnu	02	0.3	-0.11	0.03	0.94	0.98	1.02
Cortisol	01	.026*	-0.04	-0.003	0.98	0.99	1
Step 3							
Constant	2.88	.431	-12.37	19.99			
Anxiety	.07	.218	-0.10	0.66	0.95	1.08	1.21
Depression	.09	.442	-0.51	0.59	0.89	1.09	1.33
HFnu	04	.147	-0.21	0.06	0.91	0.96	1.01
Cortisol	01	.011*	-0.11	-0.003	0.98	0.99	1
DIF	27	.148	-1.57	0.36	0.51	0.76	1.14
DDF	.12	.514	-0.37	1.76	0.84	1.12	1.51

*<.05. HFnu, High Frequency Normalized unit; DIF, Difficulty identifying feelings; DDF, Difficulty describing feelings on the Toronto Alexithymia Scale.

TABLE 7 Summary of hierarchical logistical regression analysis predicting the
presence of Crohn's disease (CD) (95% BCa bootstrap confidence intervals
based on 5,000 samples).

	b	b p		95% Cont Inter		95% Confidence Interval for Odds Ratio			
			Lower	Upper	Lower	Odds	Upper		
Step 1									
Constant	-4.29	.002**	-9.38	-1.87					
Anxiety	.08	.076	-0.01	0.23	0.99	1.08	1.18		
Depression	.13	.025*	0.01	0.35	0.99	1.14	1.31		
Step 2									
Constant	-4.23	.008**	-14.87	-1.02					
Anxiety	.09	.033*	.001	.38	0.99	1.09	1.2		
Depression	.15	.067	01	.61	0.99	1.16	1.36		
HFnu	04	.074	17	.001	0.92	0.96	1		
Cortisol	.002	.401	004	.01	1	1	1.01		
Step 3									
Constant	-15.13	.001***	-1605.15	-8.86					
Anxiety	.16	.015	10	18.32	1.01	1.17	1.36		
Depression	.11	.331	-1.19	23.91	0.87	1.11	1.43		
HFnu	03	.193	-5.14	.07	0.92	0.97	1.01		
Cortisol	.01	.016	003	.61	1	1.01	1.01		
DIF	.13	.438	-1.12	25.65	0.8	1.14	1.63		
DDF	.56	< .001***	.15	53.73	1.12	1.74	2.71		

***5.001; **5.01; *<05. HFnu, High Frequency Normalized unit; DIF, Difficulty identifying feelings; DDF, Difficulty describing feelings on the Toronto Alexithymia Scale.

predicting the presence of these pathologies are different. UC was predicted by biological parameters (i.e., cortisol level), while CD was not predicted by any factors, although some psychological factors (i.e., depression and DIA scores) tended to explain the presence of this disease. Analyses with the original TAS-20 dimensions (i.e., DIF and DDF) showed that the lack of consideration of interoceptive abilities (i.e., DIA dimension) in IBS or IBD patients led to different predictions. Indeed, in IBS patients, depression scores were a significant predictor of the presence of the pathology, while in CD patients it was the DDF scores. Cortisol remained the predictor of the presence of UC disease.

In this study, IBS patients exhibited an alteration of interoceptive abilities that might reflect increased attention to their visceral sensations and an intense concern for their own health (26). All internal stimuli, including visceral sensations, are monitored by interoceptive mechanisms, closely associated with pain (66). An alteration in interoceptive abilities could thus explain the high levels of visceral pain as observed in the IBS group, but also could explain the presence of high levels of alexithymia. Indeed, interoceptive abilities are difficult to separate from the ability to identify and describe feelings. Being aware of one's internal bodily changes necessarily implies being able to identify them. As a consequence, poor discrimination and sensitivity of body states would lead to difficulties in regulating one's own emotional states in an adaptive way, and thus to the use of more somatic patterns to describe emotions (67, 68), which can, in turn, contribute to the development of psychological and physical disorders. In addition, interoceptive dysfunctions are associated with psychopathology (69) such as panic disorders, anxiety

syndromes, depression, schizophrenia (34), addictions, eating disorders and somatic symptom disorders (70). One of the major components of interoception is the immune communication between the periphery and the brain. Through various channels of communication, including the interoceptive pathway, the peripheral inflammatory state is transmitted to the brain. These signals are then integrated and translated into experiential feeling states and can lead to changes in reward/ punishment motivational behaviors, mood, cognition, and visceral pain perception. When inflammation is severe or chronic, these changes may be comparable to those observed in major depressive disorders (71). Consistent with this theory, a review of the literature mentions a link between inflammation and depression and suicidal behaviors (72). Similarly, high levels of C-reactive protein in schizophrenia suggest a role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of this psychopathology (73). The potential roles of interoception and inflammation in the aetiology and/or symptomatology of a number of psychiatric conditions makes understanding these relationships a central goal for clinical psychology. Understanding these relationships could be instructive about how the brain perceives the body and could help identify the mechanisms by which interoception and inflammation lead to a risk of developing or relapsing into pathology. Therefore, DIA could be the aetiology of a greater vulnerability to develop or relapse into IBS when faced with stressful situations. This study could provide new targets for effective treatment.

Since pharmacotherapy has limited effects on IBS (74), physicians are increasingly using psychological interventions such as cognitive behavioral therapies (CBT) or interpersonal psychotherapy (IPT), (75) and hypnotherapy (76). Among these therapies, CBT seems to be the most effective practice for alleviating IBS symptoms compared to hypnosis, psychodynamics and relaxation (77). This practice involves a combination of different techniques (i.e., psycho-education, relaxation strategies, cognitive restructuring, problem-solving techniques or coping skills, interoceptive, and situational exposure techniques) (78). Its aim is to modify dysfunctional behaviors and thoughts, but also to promote awareness of the body's sensations as felt in the gastrointestinal tract and during breathing. In particular, the integration of interoceptive exposure exercises in CBT has shown their effectiveness in comparison to stress management intervention and an attention control group (79). Therefore, Craske and colleagues (79) and Kinsinger (78) showed the need to focus on interoceptive abilities when treating IBS patients. IBS patients present a hypersensitivity to and a hypervigilance of gastrointestinal symptoms that may contribute to visceral anxiety. In addition, IBS patients avoid many situations (e.g., situations without access to restrooms) and adopt safe behaviors (e.g., taking medication during a trip) which also contributes to maintaining symptom-related anxiety. The incorporation of interoceptive exposure in a CBT programme would thus reduce visceral anxiety by acting on the fear of gastrointestinal sensations. The practice of these exposure exercises could lead to increased self-efficacy and change the misperception about the nociception of gastrointestinal

sensations and the urgency of symptoms. The results of this study therefore support the need to improve the interoceptive capacities of patients with IBS for alleviating symptoms and ideally preventing relapses. New longitudinal studies in which the intervention's target is the improvement of interoceptive abilities must therefore be conducted.

For UC patients in remission, low cortisol levels predicted the presence of this pathology. Cortisol has an antiinflammatory action and reduces visceral pain. Low cortisol levels are associated with an increase in pain perception (80) and may reflect dysfunction of the HPA axis (81). This axis inhibits the sympathetic (adrenergic) nervous system (82, 83). An alteration of these feedback loops could favor overactivity of the sympathetic axis during rest and when faced with a stressful situation. It therefore makes UC patients more vulnerable to stress. In addition, low cortisol levels could reflect habituation to an environment considered as hostile (84, 85). This could result in the body's inability to maintain a state of homeostasis. In the long term, this could lead to the development of many pathologies related to chronic stress (86, 87), or to a greater vulnerability to relapse into the disease. Another explanation is that low cortisol levels could reflect a previous trauma in early life. Repeated and prolonged exposure to one or more adverse situations in childhood (e.g., physical trauma, loss of a parent, physical/sexual abuse) increases an individual's susceptibility to somatic and psychiatric diseases (88). An explanation of this link is based on brain-gut-microbiota axis, involving the ANS, the HPA axis, and the gastrointestinal tract (89). In a review article, Agorastos and colleagues detail the various mechanisms involved in early-life stress and trauma (90). They mentioned that earlylife trauma is associated with insufficient glucocorticoid signalling that may have negative effects on the regulation of the immune system and ANS functioning. In addition, a repeated activation of the stress system may result in increased or decreased peripheral cortisol levels due to an alteration of the HPA axis. The HPA axis is closely interconnected with the ANS. An alteration of the HPA axis may deregulate the central autonomic network, thereby altering peripheral ANS activity and overall stress responsiveness. This can then lead to a dysregulation of inflammatory feedback mechanisms, which promotes the development of inflammatory-related or immunosuppressed medical conditions. Even years later (91, 92), these alterations may persist. Thus, this assumption of repeated or chronic stress in early life in UC patients would not be surprising given that the prevalence of early adversities (i.e., exposure to parental domestic violence, childhood physical abuse, childhood sexual abuse) is high in these patients (93).

Despite the inclusion of DIA and DAF assessment in the best model, no factors predicted CD. A 1-year longitudinal study found that psychosocial factors associated with chronic disease (i.e., stress induced by the physical symptoms of the disease, the use of emotion-focused coping, loss of resources and the quality of life related to chronic diseases) were the best predictors of vulnerability to relapse in CD (94). Due to their longitudinal dimension, the quantitative and qualitative data in this paper provided a comprehensive assessment of the stressors and quality of life associated with relapse. However, psychosocial stressors act through complex neuroendocrine immune pathways. Thus, biological factors underpinned psychosocial factors when considering a relapse in CD. A study integrating physiological and psychological factors revealed that physiological factors were independent predictors of relapse (higher CRP, fistulizing behavior, and colon-confined disease) and psychological factors were protectors of relapse (patients living in low stress conditions and with low avoidance rates) (95). Moreover, among CD patients, some have an overlap between their symptoms and IBS symptoms (96). CD patients suffering IBS-like symptoms present visceral hypersensitivity (97) while patients with CD alone have instead visceral hyposensitivity (64). Here, we do not differentiate between CD with IBS-like symptoms and CD-like symptoms. It may be that the DIA factor can predict the presence of CD with concomitant features of IBS. Further studies should be carried out to further develop this hypothesis.

For IBD patients, treatment typically focuses on the prevention of disease symptoms and inflammatory episodes, addressed through medications and/or surgery (2, 98). Yet, a White Paper from the American Gastroenterological Association provided evidence-based recommendations from health centres for the integration of psychosocial management in IBD care (99). Moreover, the results of this study and the literature highlight the importance of considering psychological factors in the vulnerability of IBD to develop chronic stress, which could lead to the recurrence or aggravation of gastrointestinal pathologies. However, the integration of psychosocial care seems to be more important for CD than UC patients. However, studies on the effectiveness of CBT in the treatment of HPA axis dysfunction in UC have shown that this practice increases cortisol levels by reversing some of the effects induced by low physical activity levels, depression and stress in early life (81). CBT may therefore influence the management of UC. However, recent research has reported better outcomes for CD patients than UC patients after CBT therapy, but these data were self-reported, were not from a standardized measure, and thus have to be interpreted with caution (100).

In Fournier and colleagues (57) and in this study, the DIA dimension had good internal reliability. However, this dimension includes only two items. For this reason, we carried out additional analyses by including the theoretical DIF and DDF dimensions of the TAS-20 as predictors. For UC patients, the introduction of the DDF and DIF dimensions instead of the DIA and DAF dimensions did not change the results. The best model was the model at Step 2 and only cortisol levels predicted the presence of an UC. However, for IBS patients, the best model became the one at Step 1 and only depression scores could predict the presence of this disorder. Without considering the DIA and DAF dimensions, we would have made wrong conclusions about the targets of action. Indeed, we could have concluded that the target of action must be depression when in fact it would be interoception involving other types of therapeutic interventions. Regarding CD patients, the best model reported that DDF scores predicted the presence of this

disease. Yet, in the first analysis, the DAF dimension, that included items from the DDF (item 2, 4, 11) and DIF (item 1, 6, 9, 13, 14) dimensions, was not a significant predictor of CD. This suggests that the main difficulty of CD patients is in describing feelings to others and not a global difficulty in awareness of feelings. CD patients could be able to identify their feelings but might be unable to find the right words to describe them to others. CD patients would have more semantic difficulties (revealed by the original structure of the TAS) while IBS patients would have more visceral difficulties (revealed by items 3 and 7 of the new TAS structure). Thus, both forms of the TAS (traditional and new structures) are interesting because they reveal the weak point of each of the pathologies with regard to the identification and description of one's body sensations or feelings. The new factorial structure can be helpful for predicting some diseases like IBS, but not for predicting others like CD where DDF is the strongest predictor. Therefore, the traditional factor structure is still relevant for predicting diseases other than IBS. However, for IBS, there is a need to use the new subscales of alexithymia. These data lead us to believe that it would be useful to keep, in alexithymia assessment, a dimension that allows the evaluation of the difficulty in describing feelings to others, but also to include a new dimension of interoception based on a factor for which new items need to be developed.

This study had various limitations. First, the number of participants included in the study was small and the number of predictors high. However, all validity criteria for statistical analyses were verified and met, making the results reliable. Second, patients with IBS were diagnosed from Rome II criteria (52). Now, we are in Rome IV criteria (101). The main differences between these two criteria concern the frequency and duration of symptoms (at least 12 weeks out of the preceding 12 months for the Rome II criteria and at least 1 day/week in the last 3 months for the Rome IV criteria), the addition of a classification of IBS by subtypes based on predominant bowel habits on days with abnormal bowel movements, and the term "discomfort" was removed from the current definition and diagnostic criteria to keep only the notion of abdominal pain. Another significant change was that the symptom of bloating as a primary symptom was eliminated from the definition. It is therefore possible that some IBS patients may have been misdiagnosed. Third, the DIA measurement was obtained from only two items of the TAS-20. Despite good internal consistency for this dimension, it is necessary to develop a new alexithymia scale that would contain an interoceptive dimension. Current studies highlight the importance of considering interoceptive abilities when studying alexithymia and the results of this study support the interest of including this dimension in alexithymic individuals with chronic pathologies. In addition, it would be interesting to conduct new studies with validated interoceptive measures such as the Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Consciousness (MAIA) (102) to measure subjective interoceptive abilities, and a heartbeat-counting task to measure objective interoceptive abilities, different from Schandry's task (103) which seems controversial (104, 105). Fourth, our study does not consider all the alterations in the

biopsychosocial sphere mentioned in the literature such as inflammatory markers. It may be interesting to conduct another study that takes more predictors into consideration.

In summary, this paper highlights the importance of considering interoceptive abilities in gastrointestinal disorders as a vulnerability factor when patients are faced with stress situations, especially in IBS patients. In the IBS group, the DIA dimension was predictive of the presence of IBS, suggesting that when faced with a new stressful situation, patients in remission would have difficulty in perceiving their own internal body changes and thus would have difficulty properly regulating their emotions. Faced with intense and/or repetitive stress, this could contribute to a relapse into the disease. In the CD group, difficulties describing feelings to others would be a predictor of the presence of this disorder. In light of the literature and our results, the contribution of factors such as the DIA and DDF dimensions and cortisol levels could be significant. Further studies are needed to deepen or improve knowledge. In the UC group, predictors seem to belong more to the physiological sphere. Even if CD and UC are grouped under the term "IBD," it seems that their psychophysiological functioning is completely different. Genetic susceptibility, environmental factors, and altered gut microbiota, leading to dysregulated innate and adaptive immune responses, are the core issue of IBD (106, 107). Despite some common aetiological factors between UC and CD, some differences exist at the macroscopic level since the digestive expression of the disease restricted to the rectum and colon in UC is generalised to the all tract in the CD, but also at the autonomic level and psychologic level. For instance, the autonomic balance between UC and CD has been shown to be different depending on affects and psychological adjustment (18). Moreover CD patients generally report more anxiety and depression than UC patients (108, 109). However, few studies compare the functioning of the HPA axis between UC and CD, which does not allow us to conclude on the role of cortisol in UC. It is therefore of great importance to distinguish UC from CD when studying IBD. The model presented in this paper must now be tested under experimental conditions in patients with regards to relapse. These results are promising and open new perspectives for the healthcare of patients with gastrointestinal diseases, such as CBT.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding authors.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethical Committee of the CHU (ref: CPP 08-CHUG-23; ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT010950421). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SP, CD, FC, LM, and BB designed the study. BB and NM recruited the patients. SP and BB raised funds to finance the protocol. SP recruited the healthy controls for inclusion. SP and CD performed the experiments and collected psychological and physiological data. AG performed the biochemical assays. AF analysed the data. OL and AF interpreted the data. AF, OL, LM, and SP drafted the manuscript. FC, NM, AG, CD, and BB undertook a critical revision of the manuscript. All the authors approved the final version submitted for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Association François Aupetit (AFA), the French National Society of Gastroenterology

REFERENCES

- Bai T, Xia J, Jiang Y, Cao H, Zhao Y, Zhang L, et al. Comparison of the Rome IV and Rome III criteria for IBS diagnosis: A cross-sectional survey. J Gastroenterol Hepatol (2017) 32(5):1018–25. doi: 10.1111/jgh.13642
- Mowat C, Cole A, Windsor A, Ahmad T, Arnott I, Driscoll R, et al. Guidelines for the management of inflammatory bowel disease in adults. *Gut* (2011) 60:571–607. doi: 10.1136/gut.2010.224154
- Bonaz BL, Bernstein CN. Brain-Gut Interactions in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Gastroenterology (2013) 144(1):36–49. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.10.003
- Pellissier S, Bonaz B. The Place of Stress and Emotions in the Irritable Bowel Syndrome. Vitam Horm (2017) 103:327–54. doi: 10.1016/bs.vh.2016.09.005
- Jones MP, Dilley JB, Drossman D, Crowell MD. Brain-gut connections in functional GI disorders: anatomic and physiologic relationships. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* (2006) 18(2):91–103. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2005.00730.x
- Whitehead WE, Palsson O, Jones KR. Systematic review of the comorbidity of irritable bowel syndrome with other disorders: what are the causes and implications? *Gastroenterology* (2002) 122(4):1140–56. doi: 10.1053/ gast.2002.32392
- Henningsen P, Zimmermann T, Sattel H. Medically Unexplained Physical Symptoms, Anxiety, and Depression: A Meta-Analytic Review. *Psychosom Med* (2003) 65(4):528–33. doi: 10.1097/01.psy.0000075977.90337.e7
- Ceuleers H, Van Spaendonk H, Hanning N, Heirbaut J, Lambeir A-M, Joossens J, et al. Visceral hypersensitivity in inflammatory bowel diseases and irritable bowel syndrome: the role of proteases. *World J Gastroenterol* (2016) 22(47):10275–86. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i47.10275
- Ananthakrishnan AN, Khalili H, Pan A, Higuchi LM, De Silva P, Richter JM, et al. Association between depressive symptoms and incidence of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis: results from the nurses' health study. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2013) 11(1):57–62. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2012.08.032
- Karling P, Nyhlin H, Wiklund U, Sjöberg M, Olofsson BO, Bjerle P. Spectral analysis of heart rate variability in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. *Scand J Gastroenterol* (1998) 33(6):572–6. doi: 10.1080/ 00365529850171800
- Tanaka T, Manabe N, Hata J, Kusunoki H, Ishii M, Sato M, et al. Characterization of autonomic dysfunction in patients with irritable bowel syndrome using fingertip blood flow. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* (2008) 20 (5):498–504. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2007.01039.x
- Spaziani R, Bayati A, Redmond K, Bajaj H, Bienenstock J, Collins SM, et al. Vagal dysfunction in irritable bowel syndrome assessed by rectal distension and baroreceptor sensitivity. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* (2008) 20(4):336–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2007.01042.x
- Van Orshoven NP, Andriesse GI, Van Schelven LJ, Smout AJ, Akkermans LMA, Oey PL. Subtle involvement of the parasympathetic nervous system in

(SNFGE), and the Direction de la Recherche Clinique (DRC 2008 – BONAZ B.) of Grenoble University Hospital. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish or preparation of the manuscript. All authors of this article had authority over manuscript preparation and the decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Patricia Raiewski, Nathalie Drivas, David Tartry, Françoise Bardin, and Virginie Debard from the Division of Hepato-Gastroenterology of Grenoble University Hospital, for their helpful technical support during the enrolment of the patients. They are also grateful to the participants who took part in the study.

patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Clin Auton Res (2006) 16(1):33–9. doi: 10.1007/s10286-006-0307-x

- Pellissier S, Dantzer C, Mondillon L, Trocme C, Gauchez AS, Ducros V, et al. Relationship between vagal tone, cortisol, TNF-alpha, epinephrine and negative affects in Crohn's disease and irritable bowel syndrome. *PloS One* (2014) 9(9):e105328. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0105328
- Chen Z. Treatment of ulcerative colitis with acupuncture. J Tradit Chin Med (1995) 15(3):231–3.
- Furlan R. Sympathetic overactivity in active ulcerative colitis: effects of clonidine. *AJP Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2006) 290(1):R224–32. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00442.2005
- Ganguli SC, Kamath MV, Redmond K, Chen Y, Irvine EJ, Collins SM, et al. A comparison of autonomic function in patients with inflammatory bowel disease and in healthy controls. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* (2007) 19(12):961– 7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2982.2007.00987.x
- Pellissier S, Dantzer C, Canini F, Mathieu N, Bonaz B. Psychological adjustment and autonomic disturbances in inflammatory bowel diseases and irritable bowel syndrome. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2010) 35:653–62. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.10.004
- Zawadka-Kunikowska M, Słomko J, Kłopocka M, Liebert A, Tafil-Klawe M, Klawe JJ, et al. Cardiac and autonomic function in patients with Crohn's disease during remission. *Adv Med Sci* (2018) 63(2):334–40. doi: 10.1016/ j.advms.2018.04.009
- Dinan TG, Quigley EMM, Ahmed SMM, Scully P, O'Brien S, O'Mahony L, et al. Hypothalamic-pituitary-gut axis dysregulation in irritable bowel syndrome: plasma cytokines as a potential biomarker? *Gastroenterology* (2006) 130(2):304–11. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.11.033
- Kennedy PJ, Cryan JF, Quigley EMM, Dinan TG, Clarke G. A sustained hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis response to acute psychosocial stress in irritable bowel syndrome. *Psychol Med* (2014) 44(14):3123–34. doi: 10.1017/ S003329171400052X
- Patacchioli FR, Angelucci L, Dellerba G, Monnazzi P, Leri O. Actual stress, psychopathology and salivary cortisol levels in the irritable bowel syndrome (IBS). J Endocrinol Invest (2001) 24(3):173–7. doi: 10.1007/BF03343838
- Tak LM, Cleare AJ, Ormel J, Manoharan A, Kok IC, Wessely S, et al. Metaanalysis and meta-regression of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity in functional somatic disorders. *Biol Psychol* (2011) 87(2):183–94. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2011.02.002
- Mawdsley JE, Rampton DS. The role of psychological stress in inflammatory bowel disease. *Neuroimmunomodulation* (2006) 13(5–6):327–36. doi: 10.1159/000104861
- Mayer EA. The neurobiology of stress and gastrointestinal disease. Gut (2000) 47(6):861–9. doi: 10.1136/gut.47.6.861
- 26. Longarzo M, Quarantelli M, Aiello M, Romano M, Del Prete A, Cimminiello C, et al. The influence of interoceptive awareness on functional connectivity in

patients with irritable bowel syndrome. Brain Imaging Behav (2017) 11(4):1117-28. doi: 10.1007/s11682-016-9595-5

- Bernstein CN, Frankenstein UN, Rawsthorne P, Pitz M, Summers R, McIntyre MC. Cortical mapping of visceral pain in patients with GI disorders using functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2002) 97(2):319–27. doi: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2002.05464.x
- Porcelli P, Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, De Carne M. Alexithymia and Functional Gastrointestinal Disorders. A comparison with inflammatory bowel disease. *Psychother Psychosom* (1999) 68(5):263–9. doi: 10.1159/000012342
- Fournier A, Mondillon L, Dantzer C, Gauchez A-S, Ducros V, Mathieu N, et al. Emotional overactivity in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. *Neurogastroenterol Motil Motil* (2018) 30(10):e13387. doi: 10.1111/nmo.13387
- Pollatos O, Herbert BM. Interoception: Definitions, dimensions, neural substrates. In: Hauke G, Kritikos A, editors. *Embodiment in Psychotherapy A Practitioner*"s *Guide*. Basel, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing (2018). p. 15–27. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-92889-0_2
- James W. What is an emotion. *Mind* (1884) 9(34):188–205. doi: 10.1093/ mind/os-IX.34.188
- Damasio A. Descartes" Error: Emotion, Reason and the Human Brain. New York, USA: Grosset/Putman (1994).
- Terasawa Y, Shibata M, Moriguchi Y, Umeda S. Anterior insular cortex mediates bodily sensibility and social anxiety. Soc Cognit Affect Neurosci (2013) 8(3):259–66. doi: 10.1093/scan/nss108
- Murphy J, Brewer R, Catmur C, Bird G. Interoception and psychopathology: A developmental neuroscience perspective. *Dev Cognit Neurosci* (2017) 23:45–56. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2016.12.006
- Herbert BM, Herbert C, Pollatos O. On the relationship between interoceptive awareness and alexithymia: is interoceptive awareness related to emotional awareness? J Pers (2011) 79(5):1149–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2011.00717.x
- Shah P, Hall R, Catmur C, Bird G. Alexithymia, not autisme, is associated with impaired interoception. *Cortex* (2016) 81:215–20. doi: 10.1016/ j.cortex.2016.03.021
- Sowden S, Brewer R, Catmur C, Bird G. The specificity of the link between alexithymia, interoception and imitation. J Exp Psychol Hum Percept Perform (2016) 42(11):1687–92. doi: 10.1037/xhp0000310
- Brewer R, Cook R, Bird G. Alexithymia: a general deficit of interoception. R Soc Open Sci (2016) 3(10):150664. doi: 10.1098/rsos.150664
- Zamariola G, Vlemincx E, Corneille O, Luminet O. Relationship between interoceptive accuracy, interoceptive sensibility, and alexithymia. *Pers Individ Dif* (2018) 125:14–20. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2017.12.024
- Nemiah JC, Sifneos PE. Psychosomatic Illness: A Problem in Communication. Psychother Psychosom (1970) 18(1):154–60. doi: 10.1159/000286074
- Apfel RJ, Sifneos PE. Alexithymia: Concept and Measurement. *Psychother Psychosom* (1979) 32(1–4):180–90. doi: 10.1159/000287386
- Taylor GJ, Ryan D, Bagby M. Toward the Development of a New Self-Report Alexithymia Scale. *Psychother Psychosom* (1985) 44(4):191–9. doi: 10.1159/ 000287912
- Luminet O, Zamariola G. Emotion knowledge and emotion regulation in alexithymia. In: Luminet O, Bagby RM, Taylor GJ, editors. Alexithymia: Advances in Research, Theory, and Clinical Practice. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press (2018). p. 49–77. doi: 10.1017/9781108241595
- 44. Preece D, Becerra R, Allan A, Robinson K, Dandy J. Establishing the theoretical components of alexithymia *via* factor analysis: introduction and validation of the attention-appraisal model of alexithymia. *Pers Individ Dif* (2017) 119:341–52. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2017.08.003
- Gross JJ. Emotion Regulation: Conceptual and Empirical Foundations. In: Gross JJ, editor. *Handbook of emotion regulation*, 2nd ed. New York: The Guilford Press (2014). p. 3–20.
- Mariotti A. The effects of chronic stress on health: new insights into the molecular mechanisms of brain–body communication. *Futur Sci OA* (2015) 1(3):FSO23. doi: 10.4155/fso.15.21
- Gignac GE, Palmer BR, Stough C. A Confirmatory Factor Analytic Investigation of the TAS-20: Corroboration of a Five-Factor Model and Suggestions for Improvement. J Pers Assess (2007) 89(3):247–57. doi: 10.1080/00223890701629730
- Tuliao AP, Klanecky AK, Landoy BVN, McChargue DE. Toronto Alexithymia Scale-20: Examining 18 Competing Factor Structure Solutions in a U.S. Sample and a Philippines Sample. *Assessment* (2019). doi: 10.1177/1073191118824030

- Zhu X, Yi J, Yao S, Ryder AG, Taylor GJ, Bagby RM. Cross-cultural validation of a Chinese translation of the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale. *Compr Psychiatry* (2007) 48(5):489–96. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2007.04.007
- Zimmermann G, Quartier V, Bernard M, Salamin V, Maggiori C. [The 20item Toronto alexithymia scale: structural validity, internal consistency and prevalence of alexithymia in a Swiss adolescent sample]. *Encephale* (2007) 33 (6):941–6. doi: 10.1016/j.encep.2006.12.006
- Dere J, Tang Q, Zhu X, Cai L, Yao S, Ryder AG. The cultural shaping of alexithymia: values and externally oriented thinking in a Chinese clinical sample. *Compr Psychiatry* (2013) 54(4):362–8. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2012.10.013
- Thompson WG, Longstreth GF, Drossman DA, Heaton KW, Irvine EJ, Muller-Lissner SA. Functional bowel disorders and functional abdominal pain. *Gut* (1999) 45(Supplement 2):ii43–7. doi: 10.1136/gut.45.2008.ii43
- Lichtiger S, Present DH, Kornbluth A, Gelernt I, Bauer J, Galler G, et al. Cyclosporine in Severe Ulcerative Colitis Refractory to Steroid Therapy. N Engl J Med (1994) 330(26):1841–5. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199406303302601
- Harvey RF, Bradshaw JM. A simple index of Crohn's-disease activity. Lancet (1980) 1(8167): 514. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(80)92767-1
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Parker JDA. The 20-Item Toronto Alexithymia Scale IV. Reliability and factorial validity in different languages and cultures. J Psychosom Res (2003) 55(3):277–83. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00601-3
- Loas G, Parker JDA, Otmani O, Verrier A, Fremaux D. Confirmatory factor analysis of the French translation of the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale. *Percept Mot Skills* (1997) 85(3):1018. doi: 10.2466/pms.1997.85.3.1018
- Fournier A, Luminet O, Dambrun M, Dutheil F, Pellissier S, Mondillon L. Importance of considering interoceptive abilities in alexithymia assessment. *PeerJ* (2019) 7:e7615. doi: 10.7717/peerj.7615
- Radloff LS. The CES-D scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Appl Psychol Meas* (1977) 1(3):385–401. doi: 10.1177/014662167700100306
- Führer R, Rouillon F. [The French version of the CES-D (Center for Epidemiologic Studies-Depression Scale)]. *Psychiatry Psychobiol* (1989) 4:163-6.
- Spielberger CD, Gorsuch RL, Lushene R, Vagg PR, Jacobs GA. Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory STAI-Form Y. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press (1983). p. 36.
- Bruchon-Schweitzer M, Paulhan I. [Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory Form Y (STAI-Y)]. Paris, France: Les Editions du Centre de Psychologie Appliquée (1993). p. 68.
- 62. Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology. Heart rate variability: standards of measurement, physiological interpretation and clinical use. *Circulation* (1996) 93(5):1043–65. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.93.5.1043
- Billman GE. The LF/HF ratio does not accurately measure cardiac sympatho-vagal balance. Front Physiol (2013) 4:26. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2013.00026
- Rubio A, Pellissier S, Picot A, Dantzer C, Bonaz B. The link between negative affect, vagal tone, and visceral sensitivity in quiescent Crohn's disease. *Neurogastroenterol Motil* (2014) 26(8):1200–3. doi: 10.1111/nmo.12373
- 65. Szumilas M. Explaining odds ratios. J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2010) 19(3):227–9.
- Craig AD. Interoception: the sense of the physiological condition of the body. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* (2003) 13(4):500–5. doi: 10.1016/S0959-4388(03)00090-4
- Lumley MA, Neely LC, Burger AJ. The assessment of alexithymia in medical settings: implications for understanding and treating health problems. *J Pers* Assess (2007) 89(3):230–46. doi: 10.1080/00223890701629698
- Taylor SE, Stanton AL. Coping resources, coping processes, and mental health. Annu Rev Clin Psychol (2007) 3:377–401. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.clinpsy.3.022806.091520
- Duquette P. Increasing Our Insular World View: Interoception and Psychopathology for Psychotherapists. *Front Neurosci* (2017) 11:135. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00135
- Khalsa SS, Lapidus RC. Can Interoception Improve the Pragmatic Search for Biomarkers in Psychiatry? *Front Psychiatry* (2016) 7:121. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyt.2016.00121
- Harrison NA. Brain Structures Implicated in Inflammation-Associated Depression. Curr Top Behav Neurosci (2017) 31:221–48. doi: 10.1007/ 7854_2016_30

- Marini S, Vellante F, Matarazzo I, De Berardis D, Serroni N, Gianfelice D, et al. Inflammatory markers and suicidal attempts in depressed patients: a review. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol (2016) 29(4):583–94. doi: 10.1177/ 0394632015623793
- Orsolini L, Sarchione F, Vellante F, Fornaro M, Matarazzo I, Martinotti G, et al. Protein-C Reactive as Biomarker Predictor of Schizophrenia Phases of Illness? A Systematic Review. *Curr Neuropharmacol* (2018) 16(5):583–606. doi: 10.2174/1570159X16666180119144538
- Camilleri M, Ford CA. Pharmacotherapy for Irritable Bowel Syndrome. J Clin Med (2017) 6(11):101. doi: 10.3390/jcm6110101
- Zijdenbos IL, de Wit NJ, van der Heijden GJ, Rubin G, Quartero AO. Psychological treatments for the management of irritable bowel syndrome. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2009) 1:CD006442. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006442.pub2
- Radziwon CD, Lackner JM. Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for IBS: How Useful, How Often, and How Does It Work? *Curr Gastroenterol Rep* (2017) 19(10):49. doi: 10.1007/s11894-017-0590-9
- Laird KT, Tanner-Smith EE, Russell AC, Hollon SD, Walker LS. Comparative efficacy of psychological therapies for improving mental health and daily functioning in irritable bowel syndrome: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Clin Psychol Rev* (2017) 51:142–52. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2016.11.001
- Kinsinger SW. Cognitive-behavioral therapy for patients with irritable bowel syndrome: current insights. *Psychol Res Behav Manag* (2017) 10:231–7. doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S120817
- Craske MG, Wolitzky-Taylor KB, Labus J, Wu S, Frese M, Mayer EA, et al. A cognitive-behavioral treatment for irritable bowel syndrome using interoceptive exposure to visceral sensations. *Behav Res Ther* (2011) 49(6– 7):413–21. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2011.04.001
- Gulewitsch MD, Weimer K, Enck P, Schwille-Kiuntke J, Hautzinger M, Schlarb AA. Stress reactivity in childhood functional abdominal pain or irritable bowel syndrome. *Eur J Pain* (2017) 21(1):166–77. doi: 10.1002/ejp.914
- Tomas C, Newton J, Watson S. A Review of Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis Function in Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. *ISRN Neurosci* (2013) 2013:784520. doi: 10.1155/2013/784520
- Brown MR, Fisher LA, Webb V, Vale WW, Rivier JE. Corticotropinreleasing factor: a physiologic regulator of adrenal epinephrine secretion. *Brain Res* (1985) 328(2):355–7. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(85)91048-0
- Jeong KH, Jacobson L, Pacák K, Widmaier EP, Goldstein DS, Majzoub JA. Impaired basal and restraint-induced epinephrine secretion in corticotropin-releasing hormone-deficient mice. *Endocrinology* (2000) 141 (3):1142–50. doi: 10.1210/en.141.3.1142
- Rohleder N, Joksimovic L, Wolf JM, Kirschbaum C. Hypocortisolism and increased glucocorticoid sensitivity of pro-Inflammatory cytokine production in Bosnian war refugees with posttraumatic stress disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 55(7):745–51. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2003.11.018
- Yehuda R, Lowy MT, Southwick SM, Shaffer D, Giller EL. Lymphocyte glucocorticoid receptor number in posttraumatic stress disorder. Am J Psychiatry (1991) 148(4):499–504. doi: 10.1176/ajp.148.4.499
- Boscarino JA. Posttraumatic stress disorder and physical illness: results from clinical and epidemiologic studies. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2004) 1032:141–53. doi: 10.1196/annals.1314.011
- Qureshi SU, Pyne JM, Magruder KM, Schulz PE, Kunik ME. The link between post-traumatic stress disorder and physical comorbidities: a systematic review. *Psychiatr Q* (2009) 80(2):87–97. doi: 10.1007/s11126-009-9096-4
- Enck P, Aziz Q, Barbara G, Farmer AD, Fukudo S, Mayer EA, et al. Irritable bowel syndrome. *Nat Rev Dis Prim* (2016) 2(1):16014. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2016.14
- Clarke G, O'Mahony S, Dinan T, Cryan J. Priming for health: gut microbiota acquired in early life regulates physiology, brain and behaviour. *Acta Paediatr* (2014) 103(8):812–9. doi: 10.1111/apa.12674
- Agorastos A, Pervanidou P, Chrousos GP, Kolaitis G. Early life stress and trauma: developmental neuroendocrine aspects of prolonged stress system dysregulation. *Hormones* (2018) 17(4):507–20. doi: 10.1007/s42000-018-0065-x
- Pervanidou P. Biology of post-traumatic stress disorder in childhood and adolescence. J Neuroendocrinol (2008) 20(5):632–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2008.01701.x
- Pervanidou P, Chrousos GP. Neuroendocrinology of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. Prog Brain Res (2010) 182:149–60. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(10)82005-9

- Fuller-Thomson E, West KJ, Sulman J, Baird SL. Childhood Maltreatment Is Associated with Ulcerative Colitis but Not Crohn's Disease. *Inflammation Bowel Dis* (2015) 21(11):2640–8. doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000551
- 94. Lainé A, Laurent A, Mariage A, Boschetti G, Charlois A-L, Roblin X, et al. Facteurs psychosociaux et risque de rechute au cours de la maladie de Crohn. *Ann Médico-psychologiques Rev Psychiatr* (2016) 174(6):461–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.amp.2015.03.030
- Bitton A, Dobkin PL, Edwardes MD, Sewitch MJ, Meddings JB, Rawal S, et al. Predicting relapse in Crohn's disease: a biopsychosocial model. *Gut* (2008) 57(10):1386–92. doi: 10.1136/gut.2007.134817
- 96. Kamal A, Padival R, Lashner B. Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Irritable Bowel Syndrome: What to Do When There Is an Overlap. *Inflammation Bowel Dis* (2018) 24(12):2479–82. doi: 10.1093/ibd/izy277
- Rani RA, Ali RAR, Lee YY. Irritable bowel syndrome and inflammatory bowel disease overlap syndrome: pieces of the puzzle are falling into place. *Intest Res* (2016) 14(4):297–304. doi: 10.5217/ir.2016.14.4.297
- Colombel J-F, Narula N, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Management Strategies to Improve Outcomes of Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 152(2):351–361.e5. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.09.046
- Szigethy EM, Allen JI, Reiss M, Cohen W, Perera LP, Brillstein L, et al. White Paper AGA: The Impact of Mental and Psychosocial Factors on the Care of Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2017) 15(7):986–97. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.02.037
- 100. Mikocka-Walus A, Pittet V, Rossel JB, von Känel RSwiss IBD Cohort Study Group. Symptoms of Depression and Anxiety Are Independently Associated With Clinical Recurrence of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2016) 14(6):829–835.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.cgh.2015.12.045
- 101. Lacy BE, Mearin F, Chang L, Chey WD, Lembo AJ, Simren M, et al. Bowel Disorders. *Gastroenterology* (2016) 150(6):1393–1407.e5. doi: 10.1053/ j.gastro.2016.02.031
- 102. Mehling WE, Price C, Daubenmier J, Acree M, Bartmess E, Stewart A. The Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness (MAIA). *PloS One* (2012) 7(11):e48230. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048230
- Schandry R. Heart Beat Perception and Emotional Experience. *Psychophysiology* (1981) 18(4):483–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1981.tb02486.x
- 104. Meganck R, Vanheule S, Desmet M, Inslegers R. The Observer Alexithymia Scale: A Reliable and Valid Alternative for Alexithymia Measurement? J Pers Assess (2010) 92(2):175–85. doi: 10.1080/00223890903510449
- 105. Desmedt O, Luminet O, Corneille O. The heartbeat counting task largely involves non-interoceptive processes: evidence from both the original and an adapted counting task. *Biol Psychol* (2018) 138:185–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsycho.2018.09.004
- 106. Torres J, Mehandru S, Colombel J-F, Peyrin-Biroulet L. Crohn's disease. Lancet (2017) 389(10080):1741–55. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31711-1
- 107. Kuhnen A. Genetic and Environmental Considerations for Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Surg Clin North Am (2019) 99(6):1197–207. doi: 10.1016/ j.suc.2019.08.014
- 108. Nordin K, Påhlman L, Larsson K, Sundberg-Hjelm M, Lööf L. Health-Related Quality of Life and Psychological Distress in a Population-based Sample of Swedish Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Scand J Gastroenterol (2002) 37(4):450–7. doi: 10.1080/003655202317316097
- 109. Sainsbury A, Heatley RV. Review article: psychosocial factors in the quality of life of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2005) 21(5):499–508. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2005.02380.x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Fournier, Mondillon, Luminet, Canini, Mathieu, Gauchez, Dantzer, Bonaz and Pellissier. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Using the Body When There Are No Words for Feelings: Alexithymia and Somatization in Self-Harming Adolescents

Alessia Raffagnato¹, Caterina Angelico¹, Perla Valentini², Marina Miscioscia^{1,3} and Michela Gatta^{1*}

¹ Child and Adolescent Neuropsychiatry Unit, Department of Women's and Children's Health, Padua University Hospital, Padua, Italy, ² Department of Communication Sciences, Humanistic and International Studies: History, Culture, Languages, Literature, Arts, Media, University of Urbino 'Carlo Bo', Urbino, Italy, ³ Department of Developmental Psychology and Socialisation, University of Padua, Padua, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Laura Orsolini, University of Hertfordshire, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Graziella Orrù, University of Pisa, Italy Emanuele Maria Merlo, University of Messina, Italy

> ***Correspondence:** Michela Gatta michela.gatta@unipd.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 21 January 2020 Accepted: 18 March 2020 Published: 08 April 2020

Citation:

Raffagnato A, Angelico C, Valentini P, Miscioscia M and Gatta M (2020) Using the Body When There Are No Words for Feelings: Alexithymia and Somatization in Self-Harming Adolescents. Front. Psychiatry 11:262. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00262 The present case-control study aimed to investigate the relationship between alexithymia and somatic complaints in the psychopathological setting of non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI). A clinical sample of 134 adolescents (115 females; 85.5%) from 12 to 18 years old engaging in NSSI was compared with a control group of 243 high-school students (157 females; 64.6%) from 13 to 18 years old. Data were collected using two questionnaires: The Youth Self-Report 11-18 and the 20 Toronto Alexithymia Scale. In both cases and controls, the presence of somatization and alexithymia was associated with more severe psychopathological problems. Analyses were conducted to explore the association between somatic disorders and alexithymia. In the clinical group, somatic complaints were reported by 95.9% of alexithymic individuals, whereas only 44.3% of alexithymic adolescents reported somatic complaints. A one-way relationship emerged between somatization and alexithymia: while alexithymia would seem to be a factor associated with self-injury, somatic disorders were strongly associated with alexithymia, but not necessarily with self-injury. Among the self-harming adolescents, those with both alexithymia and somatization had a more severe psychopathological picture than the individuals with alexithymia but no somatization. This would suggest that, in the setting of NSSI, greater difficulty with identifying feelings is associated with somatization, and alexithymia would be an attribute common to self-harming behavior and somatization, both of which are characterized by the body being used to express psychological and emotional problems. Future research could further investigate alexithymia in self-harming individuals, in relation to any presence or absence of somatic disorders, with longitudinal assessments on any differences in their manifestation of self-injury and its psychopathological correlates.

Keywords: somatic complaints, somatization, non-suicidal self-injury, alexithymia, adolescence, developmental psychopathology, self-harming

INTRODUCTION

"Nonsuicidal self-harming, or self-injury" (NSSI) was defined by Nock and Favazza (1) as the voluntary destruction or alteration of body tissue without any suicidal intent, for purposes that are not socially approved. This category includes behavior such as self-cutting, head banging, burning, self-hitting, scratching to the point of bleeding, and interfering with the healing of a wound (1–6).

Research on NSSI has been increasing, particularly in the last two decades (7). Published empirical studies report that hospitals have been seeing rising numbers of people who engage in selfharming behavior, with or without suicidal intent, over the past 10 to 20 years (3, 8, 9). Self-harming can generally be considered a growing health problem worldwide (10), and the individuals engaging in this behavior are at high risk of subsequent suicide (4, 11), so it is important to identify them and take preventive action. While some empirical evidence shows that people tend to contact the healthcare services before a self-harming episode or suicide attempt, they often complain of physical rather than psychological problems. In a study by Idenfors et al. (12) it emerged that children and adolescents beginning to engage in self-harming behavior had more contact with healthcare services and more hospitalizations for non-psychiatric causes before any episodes of self-injury than their peers not engaging in such behavior. In a subsequent study, the same authors found that individuals who had complained of somatic disorders in the 12 months before an episode of self-injury were also at a higher risk of suicide. The authors concluded that it is important to check for a possible self-injuring or suicidal risk in adolescents who access healthcare for somatic symptoms (13). Another study by Houston et al. (14) found that two in three patients arriving at a hospital in Oxford for NSSI had been seen by a general practitioner in the month preceding the self-harming episode, and one in three had done so in the previous week. In particular, 36.1% of those who had been seen by a general practitioner within a month before the episode of NSSI had physical ailments. Approximately one in three patients had suicidal ideation during the medical examination, but only 13.3% reported such thoughts to the specialist in hospital (14).

In light of such findings, some authors have claimed that selfharming patients show their malaise through somatic rather than psychical symptoms (15). On the other hand, several studies highlighted the association between self-harming and difficulty with regulating emotions regulation, and with identifying and communicating feelings. Specifically, in adolescent age, moreover, the motives behind self-harming are mainly linked to dealing with negative emotions.

In both psychosomatic patients and self-harming individuals, the body serves as a means to cope with psychological pain. While psychosomatic patients express their psychological distress in the shape of physical disorders (e.g., headache, stomachache, nausea, sleep problems, dizziness, rashes, or other skin problems), self-harming individuals hurt the surface of their body to contain their psychological pain. Neither psychosomatic nor self-harming individuals can mentalize and express their negative feelings in words, so they use their body to show their psychological pain (16).

Empirical studies found that alexithymia, i.e., difficulty in identifying and describing feelings and modulating states of emotional arousal (17, 18), is associated with both self-harming (19–21) and psychosomatic behavior (16–18).

A limited ability to identify, understand, and express an emotional state may increase the risk of NSSI (22). An Italian study on a non-clinical adolescent population found a positive association between difficulty in identifying and describing one's feelings and NSSI behavior. It also found that dysfunctional relationships with peers and parents can raise the risk of NSSI and suicidal ideation, consequently impairing an adolescent's ability to identify their emotions (23).

In a longitudinal study conducted in New Zealand, alexithymia emerged as a predictive and proximal factor for NSSI. In the presence of mood disorders, alexithymia determined an individual's vulnerability to the use of NSSI as an avoidance coping strategy, or an alternative way to express emotions (24).

The association between alexithymia and NSSI has been analyzed in neuroimaging studies, too, using functional magnetic resonance imaging. Different patterns of activation of the supramarginal gyrus, angular gyrus, and mid-temporal gyrus emerged as a result of individuals viewing different images of facial expressions. These areas appear to be involved in identifying and understanding emotions from others' facial expressions, in empathy, and the assimilation of multisensory information. In particular, a more outward-oriented way of thinking, or a lesser tendency for introspection seem to relate to a lack of activation in response to seeing facial expressions of happiness. Functional tests on NSSI patients who reported not caring about their feelings showed lower levels of neuron activation at the sight of images of happy expressions and higher levels of activation for frightening images (25).

As mentioned earlier, difficulties with identifying and communicating feelings (i.e., alexithymia) could also be a factor common to both somatic symptoms and self-injury. In both clinical pictures, the body is used to express psychological and emotional aspects that are otherwise impossible to communicate (16). Besides, in the case of self-harming behavior in people with somatic symptoms, several authors found a strong association between their latter symptoms and signs of anxiety and depressed mood (26, 27). Bohman et al. (28) reported that adolescents with depressive disorders had more somatic symptoms (e.g., headache, abdominal pain, dizziness, nausea, tired eyes) than healthy controls. They also found that the duration and severity of their depression correlated with the number of their somatic symptoms. A strong correlation emerged between their depression, the number of somatic symptoms they experienced, and their suicidal plans, thoughts, or attempts as well. Ginsburg, Riddle, and Davies (29) made the point that children and adolescents with anxiety disorders have significantly more somatic symptoms, and their reported somatic symptoms are more severe the higher the severity of their anxiety. Studies in the literature have emphasized how depressive symptoms and anxiety coincide with NSSI (30-32),

as well as with suicide (33). This gives the impression that the presence of NSSI in individuals with somatic symptoms might be mediated by comorbidity with internalizing disorders (34).

More research is needed to elucidate the relationship between somatic complaints and self-harm in young people. Some studies exploring the relationship between alexithymia and somatic symptoms (35–38)—also in clinical samples, such as patients with depression (39)—have identified an association between these two conditions, especially for difficulty in identifying feelings, however, this link is sometimes unclear or can be mediated by psychological distress (40). These features of alexithymia could represent itself, indeed, a high risk of psychological distress (41).

Parolin and colleagues (42) investigate the levels of alexithymia in young adults with substance use disorders compared to a young adolescent with psychiatric disorders and healthy individuals. In this study, the authors found higher levels of alexithymia in both clinical groups as compared to control groups, but they did not differ from each other. This study highlights that alexithymia is not associated with specific clinical disorders but is correlated with depressive symptoms.

At the same time, some authors find the strong association between psychological factors and medical condition, as fibromyalgia, psoriasis, diabetes, where psychological distress and poor quality of life correlate with higher severity of the pathology (43, 44). However, no work has been done on the combination of alexithymia and somatic symptoms with NSSI.

Hence the present study, which aimed: i) to test whether selfharming adolescents have significantly more somatic complaints (with no known medical cause) than their peers who do not engage in NSSI; and ii) to clarify the relationship between somatization and alexithymia in the setting of NSSI, and the related clinical characteristics.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

We enrolled self-harming young people attending two neuropsychiatry units for children and adolescents in Northern Italy from January 2015 to December 2018. Participants and their parents gave their informed consent to the study (the two services have an institutionally approved protocol based on the use of standardized forms for obtaining informed consent to the administration of questionnaires and the collection of data for clinical and research purposes). Our final clinical sample consisted of 134 self-harming adolescents, 19 males (14.2% of the sample), and 115 females (85.8%), from 12 to 19 years old (mean 15.4 years, SD=1.36).

The experimental group has been enrolled with the following inclusion and exclusion criteria: a) aged between 12 and 19 years; b) presenting almost 1 episode of self-harming; c) that does not exhibit an intellectual disability [tested with the Wechsler Intelligence Scale)(45)]; d) parents signed the informed consent.

A control group was recruited from among students attending five regional high schools. The non-experimental

group sees the following inclusion and exclusion criteria: a) aged between 12 and 19 years; b) have had a formal consent signed by parents (or legal ward/caregiver). After an informative interview with the headmaster, parents were sent a letter describing the research project, providing details of the test methods, and requesting that they sign a form to authorize their child's participation. The questionnaires administered to the controls were the same as those administered to the cases. They were completed anonymously in class during regular school hours, in compliance with current legislation on privacy, and the presence of an operator from our service. After ruling out respondents who admitted in the questionnaire to having taken some self-harming action, the group of controls considered in the statistical analysis amounted to 243 students: 86 males (35.4% of the sample) and 157 females (64.6%), aged from 13 to 19 years (mean 15.8, SD=1.35).

Procedures

Patients completed the questionnaires used in the study (see list below) at the time of clinical interviews for their diagnostic assessment. During these interviews with patients, we recorded their clinical history, their reason for coming to our service, clinical aspects of their self-harming behavior.

The clinical sample was classified with certain characteristics: reason for accessing our service (patients presenting with NSSI, or with a history of such behavior; patients presenting with problems other than NSSI, who subsequently experienced NSSI episodes); frequency of self-harming episodes (occasionally or habitually, i.e., patients with fewer or more than five episodes a year, respectively); psychopathological features from administration tests' results.

Study Protocol and Materials

Case-control study design was adopted. The cases and controls were administered two questionnaires: the 11-18 Youth Self-Report (YSR) (46); and the 20 Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20) (17). The scores obtained were first compared between cases and controls. Then comparisons were drawn between the groups into which the clinical sample was further divided.

The Achenbach questionnaires are among the scales most often used internationally for juvenile rating behavior, in the clinical setting, and research. We used the version for adolescents (YSR 11-18), which yields two profiles: one concerning competences (activities, social functioning, school performance), then how well the adolescent performs in sports, hobbies, autonomy, and socialization, and at school; the other covers behavioral and emotional problems, which can be classified as "normal," "borderline," or "clinical" on eight specific syndrome scales. These syndrome scales relate to various psychopathological pictures: anxiety/depression; withdrawal; somatization; social problems; thought-related problems, attention problems; aggressive and rule-breaking behavior. Problems are grouped into internalizing problems (anxiety, depression, withdrawal, somatization); externalizing problems (aggressive and rule-breaking behavior); and other problems (social problems, thought-related problems, attention problems).

The 20 Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS 20) is 20 items selfreport questionnaire that measures the three factors defining alexithymia: "difficulty in identifying feelings," "difficulty in communicating feelings to others," and "externally-oriented thinking." Respondents were classified as non-alexithymic (scores <51), borderline (scores 51–60), or alexithymic (scores >61). We used the Italian validated version of the TAS-20.

Statistics

The statistical analyses were all conducted with the "Jamovi" statistical software. Univariate analysis of variance (ANOVA) was run to identify possible similarities or differences between the clinical and control groups as regards their psychobehavioral profile and the alexithymia dimension. A bivariate parametric correlation analysis (Pearson's r coefficient) was conducted to investigate the relationships between clinical features and groups. Within the clinical group, analyses were run to examine the relationship between alexithymia, somatic disorders and psychopathological characteristics. The statistical tests used in this study were bidirectional, and the threshold for statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

RESULTS

Frequency and percentage statistics are shown for the categorical variables corresponding to the clinical group's characteristics. We obtained information on the frequency of self-harming for 84 subjects: 30 of them (35.7%) did so occasionally, and 54 (64.3%) habitually. Information on the reasons for accessing our services was only available for 77 subjects: it was NSSI in 37 cases (48.1%); NSSI in association with attempted suicide in 4 (5.2%); affective disorders in 12 (15.6%); and problems at school in 5 (6.5%); and other reasons—including eating disorder, depression

and NSSI, behavioral disorder, phobia, and social closure—in one case each (1.3%).

Psychopathological Characteristics

ANOVA revealed statistically significant differences between the clinical group and the control group regarding emotionalbehavioral problems. There were no statistically significant differences within the clinical group based on the frequency of self-injury. The descriptive statistics are shown in **Table 1**. The clinical group had more severe problems than the control group on all the scales investigated:

• *YSR 11-18*: "internalizing problems" (F=132.89, p<.001), "externalizing problems" (F=71.53, p<.001), "total problems" (F=163.73, p<.001), "social problems" (F=85.59, p<.001), "anxious/depressed" (F=85.11, p<.001), "withdrawn/depressed" (F=78.64, p<.001), "somatic complaints" (F=82.35, p<.001), and "aggressive behavior" (F= 41.73, p<.001).

To be more specific, 74% of our patients with NSSI had clinically-relevant scores for internalizing problems, as opposed to 41.2% in the control group. The situation was similar for clinically-relevant externalizing problems (identified in 28.6% of the patients and 8.2% of the controls). As for somatic problems, 22.8% of the NSSI group obtained a borderline score, and 18.1% were in the clinical range, whereas 90.5% of the control group presented no such problems. In short, our clinical group had more psychopathological issues than controls, including internalizing and externalizing problems, depression, anxiety, social difficulties, and aggressive behavior.

Pearson's correlation analysis revealed statistically significant correlations between the clinical group and all test scores (**Table 2**). Statistically significant negative correlations emerged on the Competence scales (NSSI individuals scored lower), while

TABLE 1 | Average scores on the Youth Self-Report (YSR) scales for cases and controls.

CBCL	Group	M (SD)		Group	M (SD)
Anxious/depressed	Case control	70.3 (12.30)	Affective problems	Case control	72.3 (12.15)
		59.1 (8.59)			56.6 (7.09)
Withdrawn depressed	Case control	69.5 (12.1)	Anxiety problems	Case control	64.4 (8.58)
		58.5 (9.61)			58.5 (7.68)
Somatic complaints	Case control	63.9 (9.26)	Somatic problems	Case control	62.4 (9.70)
		55.6 (6.40)			55.1 (6.52)
Social problems	Case control	66.0 (9.68)	Oppositional defiant problems	Case control	58.6 (7.63)
		56.6 (8.41)			53.8 (5.50)
Thought problems	Case control	64.6 (10.22)	Attention deficit/hyperactivity problems	Case control	58.1 (6.72)
		54.2 (5.43)			53.6 (5.02)
Attention problems	Case control	63.4 (9.66)	Conduct problems	Case control	58 (8.70)
		55.4 (7.30)			52.1 (4.62)
Rule-breaking behavior	Case control	59.2 (8.42)	Internalizing problems	Case control	69.7 (10.72)
		53.9 (5.40)			56.1 (11.01)
Aggressive behavior	Case control	59.3 (8.53)	Externalizing problems	Case control	58.6 (9.66)
		53.8 (5.72)			49.9 (8.84)
Activities	Case control	37.4 (9.39)	Total problems	Case control	66.2 (9.31)
		39.8 (8.76)			53.0 (9.63)
Social	Case control	39.2 (9.74)			
		45.6 (8.97)			
Total competence	Case control	35.1 (9.71)			
		40.4 (9.27)			

TABLE 2	Correlations of the	Youth Self-Report (YSR) global problems scales.
---------	---------------------	---

	Group	Conduct	Internalizing	Externalizing	Total problems	Somatic problems	Anxiety depression	Thought problems	Affective problems
Gender	.228**	.063	.242**	.048	.173**	.204**	.204**	.102	.202**
Group	1	.410**	.512**	.413**	.551**	.409**	.473**	.556**	.631**
Conduct		1	.359**	.777**	.598**	.301**	.349**	.532**	.473**
Internalizing			1	.513**	.879**	.622**	.855**	.687**	.829**
Externalizing				1	.799**	.416**	.481**	.601**	.567**
Total problems					1	.603**	.802**	.793**	.839**
Somatic problems						1	.482**	.530**	.550**
Anxiety depression							1	.672**	798**
Thought problems								1	.783**

**p < 0.01.

statistically positive correlations were seen for all the other YSR scales; that means that the clinical group has less competences and more problems. All psychopathological characteristics investigated were significantly associated with NSSI. In qualitative terms, there were stronger correlations between the clinical group and affective disorders, and specifically for thought problems in the cluster of affective problems. As for differences by gender, female sex was associated with more psychopathological problems.

The Alexithymia Dimension

Our assessment of alexithymia showed statistically significant differences between the clinical and control groups.

• *TAS-20*: "difficulties identifying feelings" (F=92.69, p<.001), "difficulties describing feelings" (F=35.64, p<.001), "externally-oriented thinking" (F=40.44, p<.001), "total alexithymia" (F=99.17 p<.001).

The mean score for total alexithymia in the clinical sample was M= 63.8 (SD=12.01), while in the control sample, it was M= 51 (SD=11.27). Adopting a score of 61 as a cut-off for alexithymia, the clinical group scored higher (i.e., had alexithymia), and the control group lower. In detail, 64.1% of the NSSI individuals showed clinically-relevant levels of alexithymia, while 23.4% obtained borderline scores. In the control group, 21.1% had clinical scores, and 24.8% were in the borderline range. As reported elsewhere in the literature, alexithymia is a common characteristic of self-harming individuals (**Table 3**).

Pearson's correlation analyses revealed statistically significant positive correlations between the clinical group and the TAS-20 sub-scales. Individuals engaging in NSSI were associated with a

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 3}}$ | Average Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS)-20 scores for cases and controls.

TAS-20	Group	Mean (SD)
Difficulties identifying feelings	Case control	23.4 (6.54)
		16.6 (6.16)
Difficulties describing feelings	Case control	17.5 (4.64)
		14.4 (4.95)
Externally oriented thinking	Case control	23.0 (4.49)
		20.0 (4.04)
Total alexithymia	Case control	63.8 (12.01)
		51.0 (11.27)

higher degree of alexithymia. TAS-20 factors also showed a statistically significant positive correlation with all the YSR problem scales except for social competence, with which they correlated negatively. The higher the difficulties in identifying and describing feelings, and in externally oriented thinking, the higher the scores on the psychopathological scales for internalizing and externalizing disorders (**Table 4**).

Relationship Between Alexithymia and Somatic Disorders in the Clinical Group

To investigate the link between alexithymia, somatic disorders and psychopathological characteristics, we ran analyses on the clinical group and compared it with the control group. Subjects were subgrouped by the presence of alexithymia and the presence of somatic disorders. Analysis of variance in the clinical group revealed statistically significant differences within these subgroups: NSSI patients with alexithymia had more severe emotional-behavioral problems. The same pattern emerged when these subjects were grouped by the presence or absence of somatic disorders. Alexithymia and somatization were both associated with more severe psychopathological issues. The analyses conducted on the control group produced the same results. To explore possible associations between alexithymia and somatization, a statistical analysis was carried out with the x^2 test. We obtained statistically significant results in both the NSSI

TABLE 4 | Correlations between condition, gender, Youth Self-Report (YSR)

 scores, and Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS)-20 subscales.

	Difficulties describing feelings	Difficulties identifying feelings	Externally- oriented thinking	Total alexithymia
Gender	.238**	.142**	034	.186**
Condition	.455**	.297**	.324**	.470**
Internalizing	.630**	.591**	.347**	.701**
Externalizing	.457**	.226**	.309**	.447**
Total	.669**	.533**	.387**	.714**
Somatic complaints	.536**	.402**	.226**	.527**
Affective problems	.632**	.469**	.339**	.643**
Somatic problems	.453***	.359**	.224**	.463**

**p < 0.01.

group (x^2 =5.24; p=0.02), and the control group (x^2 =10.7; p=0.001); see **Table 5**.

The presence of somatic disorders is strongly associated with the alexithymia dimension. Only two individuals in the NSSI group had somatic disorders but no alexithymia, while 95.9% of those reporting clinically-relevant somatic complaints had alexithymia. That said, alexithymia was not necessarily associated with somatic disorders: 55.7% of the NSSI subjects with alexithymia did not report any clinically-relevant somatic complaints. Within the NSSI group, 38.8% had somatic complaints concomitantly with alexithymia. When the same analyses were run on the control group, the same one-way relationship between somatic disorders and alexithymia came to light: 78.3% of the individuals presenting somatic disorders had clinical alexithymia. The controls differed from the group of NSSI patients in that alexithymia was less strongly associated with somatization: only 16.2% of the controls had clinical levels of alexithymia concomitantly with somatic complaints. No statistically significant differences were found when we checked for possible associations between frequency of NSSI, alexithymia and somatic disorders.

Since alexithymia was not necessarily associated with the presence of somatic disorders in the group with NSSI, we run an ANOVA on this group to seek any differences between the alexithymic cases based on the presence or absence of concomitant somatization. The results showed statistically significant differences between these two subgroups.

- YSR 11-18: "internalizing problems" (F=18.46, p<.001), "externalizing problems" (F=5.54, p=0.021), "total problems" (F=19.34, p<.001), "anxious/depressed" (F=6.13, p=0.016), "withdrawn depressed" (F=4.01, p=0.04), "social problems" (F=5.30, p=0.023), "thought problem" (F=7.34, p=0.008), "aggressive behavior" (F=5.22, p=0.025), "affective problems" (F=12.26, p<.001), "oppositional defiant problems" (F=5.46, p=0.022)
- *TAS-20*: "difficulties identifying feelings" (F=8.98, p=0.003), "difficulties describing feelings" (F=5.89, p=0.017), "total alexithymia" (F=10.23, p=0.002)

The association between alexithymia and somatization correlated with a clinically more severe psychopathological condition. This association was more common in the group of NSSI patients than in the control group.

We conducted further analyses to clarify what distinguishes a self-harming individual among those revealing a combination of alexithymia and somatization. We considered only the subgroups with clinically-relevant levels of both alexithymia

TABLE 5 Relationship between alexithymia and somatic disorders.

Somatization		Alexithymia					
	Ab	sent	Pre	sent			
	Case	Control	Case	Control			
Absent	13 (10.7%)	126 (52.1%)	59 (48.8%)	93 (38.4%)			
Present	2 (1.7%)	5 (2.1%)	47 (38.8%)	18 (7.4%)			
Total	15 (12.4%)	131 (54.1%)	106 (87.6%)	111 (45.9%)			

and somatization within each of the two groups (cases and controls). The results of our ANOVA showed statistically significant differences between them.

- YSR 11-18: "internalizing problems" (F=9.23, p=0.005), "externalizing problems" (F=13.81, p<.001), "total problems" (F=20.36, p<.001), "anxious/depressed" (F=9.70, p=0.003), "withdrawn depressed" (F=8.83, p=0.006), "social problems" (F=10.52, p=0.003), "thought problem" (F=26.33, p=<.001), "attention problems" (F=10.73, p=0.002), "rulebreaking behavior" (F=8.73, p=0.005), "aggressive behavior" (F=14.58, p<.001), "affective problems" (F=36.27, p<.001), "anxiety problems" (F=7.34, p=0.01), "oppositional defiant problems" (F=7.56, p=0.009), "attention deficit/hyperactivity problems" (F=11.01, p=0.002), "conduct problems" (F=14.37, p<.001).
- *TAS-20* "difficulties identifying feelings" (F=10.43, p=0.003), "externally oriented thinking" (F=6.32, p=0.016), "total alexithymia" (F=11.23, p=0.002).

The subgroup of NSSI cases with both alexithymia and somatization differed from the controls with these two concomitant conditions in that the former had more severe degrees of psychopathology, and higher difficulties with identifying feelings, and outward-oriented thinking.

DISCUSSION

As in the literature, which points to females engaging in selfinjury more than males, both in clinical samples (47, 48), and in the general population (19, 48–51), our clinical group consisted mainly of girls, with a male to female ratio of one to six.

This study aimed to investigate the relationship between psychopathological traits, alexithymia, and somatic disorders in a sample of self-harming adolescents. More than half of our sample (64.3%) engaged habitually in self-injury (more than five episodes a year). This is a higher proportion than the figures reported in non-clinical populations (52), but similar to the rate seen in clinical populations considered in other Italian studies (20), and lower than the percentage recorded by Washburn (53) in a clinical population of adolescent inpatients and outpatients.

Regarding the reasons why our NSSI patients came to our neuropsychiatric service, about half of the sample mentioned not NSSI, but affective disorders, problems at school, phobias, social problems, behavioral issues, or eating disorders. Such disorders are often associated with self-harming behavior, and the latter might be investigated as part of the clinical assessment of patients presenting with these kinds of psychopathological issues. Much the same picture emerged in other clinical studies (19). We can also assume that most adolescents revealing self-harming behavior tend to underestimate it, and even their parents when they are aware of it—may minimize the problem (54). Parents are frequently unaware of their children's self-harming behavior. However, a meta-analysis recently revealed that only 49% of adolescents engaging in NSSI ask for help, and only 25% of them talk to members of their family about the problem (55). General practitioners or pediatricians (who can request a neuropsychiatric examination) might have difficulty in diagnosing NSSI, especially when it is not associated with behavioral or affective disorders or suicidal behavior. A recent review found that about one in two pediatricians did not feel able to deal with a patient engaging in self-harming, and less than one in three routinely assessed their patients for NSSI (6).

The results of the present study generally show more severe psychopathological traits in the clinical population of adolescents engaging in NSSI. This confirms other clinical reports (3, 48, 51, 56-61) of several psychopathological disorders being related to self-injury, an aspect that underscores the nosographic transversality of NSSI. We hypotheses that self-harming adolescents could have significantly more somatic complaints (with no known medical cause) than their peers who do not engage in NSSI. There was a statistically significant correlation in our sample with all the scales in the YSR questionnaire, including somatic complaints. The same picture emerged in other studies using the same instrument (YSR): in a case-control study, Laukkanen et al. (62) found more pathological scores in selfinjuring adolescents than controls on all the syndrome scales considered (anxiety and depression, depression and social withdrawal, somatic complaints, social problems, thought problems, attention problems, rule-breaking and aggressive behavior). Baetens et al. (63) found their NSSI group scored higher on the following DSM-oriented scales: affective problems, anxiety problems, somatic problems, attention and hyperactivity problems, oppositional-defiant problems, and conduct problems. The same differences emerged in another Italian case-control study too (20), with self-harming patients showing more severe psychopathological issues than controls in all subscales of the YSR.

It is important to emphasize, however, that internalizing disorders were qualitatively the most represented in our clinical sample, and stronger correlations were apparent between the NSSI group and the presence of affective disorders. This finding seems to be in line with other studies (19, 51, 64, 65). Some authors have concluded that the presence of a mood disorder can be a predictor of NSSI (65), as seen in other works on non-clinical adolescent populations (24, 66, 67). One hypothesis is that adolescents with mood disorders find comfort in the act of self-injury (68), as a strategy for coping with their depressive symptoms, like brooding (or rumination), to escape negative emotional and cognitive states (69-71). Among the mood disorders, bipolar disorder is characterized by strong emotional lability, and patients may be more vulnerable to acts of NSSI (72). Young people with severe depressive symptoms may use NSSI to obtain positive emotions, and as behavior that gives them social reinforcement (73).

The literature shows that the female gender is associated with more significant psychopathological problems (74). Studies on clinical samples and general populations report to a higher prevalence of females with a history of NSSI (47, 48, 50, 51). Some authors even consider female sex a risk factor for NSSI (75, 76), as well as for a range of feelings of distress, such as anxiety and depression (51, 77). Compared to their peers of the opposite

sex, females tend to have a higher prevalence of psychopathological issues, especially internalizing problems, and they are associated with a higher risk of developing more severe forms of self-injury, such as suicidal behavior (78, 79).

Alexithymia appears to be a specific feature associated with self-harming behavior. In fact, a significant correlation emerged between our NSSI group and all subscales of the TAS-20 questionnaire. The risk of NSSI developing in alexithymic subjects was highlighted in a study by Norman and Borril, too (22). These findings also confirm a previous report from Gatta et al. (19) on a non-clinical population of adolescents: those engaging in self-harming had considerably more difficulty in recognizing and expressing their own and others' emotional states, suggesting a fundamental role for alexithymia in the onset of NSSI (19). Similar evidence comes from other research in Italy and New Zealand (23, 24), suggesting that alexithymia is a risk factor for NSSI as a dysfunctional coping mode, as well as by neuroimaging studies using functional magnetic resonance imaging (25).

In our results, the correlation between the YSR and TAS-20 scales goes to show how a higher difficulty with identifying and communicating feelings, and with outward-oriented thinking is associated with more serious mental issues. It is also important to emphasize that, inasmuch as a self-report questionnaire can measure psychopathological issues, the presence of alexithymic traits could just impact this.

This study aimed to clarify the relationship between somatization and alexithymia in the setting of NSSI and the related clinical characteristics. To investigate the relationship between alexithymia, somatization, and emotional-behavioral psychopathological issues, in the NSSI group, we divided the sample by the presence or absence of somatic complaints and alexithymia. Our results showed a one-way relationship between the presence of somatic disorders and alexithymia: while 95.9% of the adolescents reporting clinically-relevant somatic complaints had alexithymia, 55.7% of those with alexithymia reported no somatic complaints. There was a statistically significant association between alexithymia and somatization in the control group too, consistently with the literature (35, 36, 39), but this association was weaker in qualitative terms.

Difficulties in identifying and communicating feelings thus seem to be a factor common to both somatization and selfharming. In both cases, the body is used to express psychological and emotional issues that an individual finds impossible to communicate verbally (16).

Further analyses conducted on our sample of clinical cases aimed to look for differences between individuals with alexithymia based on whether or not they had concomitant somatization. Our results showed more severe psychopathological issues in the adolescents in our NSSI group who had clinical levels of alexithymia and somatization than in those with clinicallyrelevant alexithymia alone. Although we cannot identify a causeeffect relationship, we can say that concomitant somatization in selfharming individuals with clinical levels of alexithymia is associated with a more severe psychopathological picture. We, therefore, surmise that alexithymic individuals' expressions of psychoemotional distress in the form of somatic complaints constitute a risk factor for their engaging in self-harming.

The concomitant presence of alexithymia and somatization was seen mainly in our self-harming group, and to a lesser degree in the control group. We sought to identify what distinguished the individuals who engaged in self-harming, after accounting for the association between somatization and alexithymia, in our sample of adolescents as a whole. To answer this research question, we analyzed only the individuals with both alexithymia and somatic complaints, divided by the presence or absence of NSSI. We found that the adolescents who engaged in self-harming had higher scores for psychopathological problems, and for difficulties in identifying feelings, and in outward-oriented thinking.

CONCLUSION

This study aimed to explore the relationship between alexithymia, somatic disorders, and psychopathological traits in a group of self-harming adolescents, as compared with a control group. Our results indicated that individuals who engaged in NSSI had more problems in the internalizing and externalizing domains than the control group. There was evidence of the nosographic transversality of self-injury. In qualitative terms, internalizing disorders (and affective disorders in particular) were the factor that most strongly characterized the clinical group. This finding has important implications for clinical practice, and for primary and secondary prevention.

Self-harming individuals had more severe somatic disorders and alexithymia. Our results showed a one-way relationship between somatization and alexithymia (with somatic complaints reported by 95.9% of our alexithymic adolescents, while only 44.3% of alexithymic adolescents reported somatic complaints). Alexithymia would thus seem to be a factor associated with selfinjury, whereas somatization would be closely associated with alexithymia, but not necessarily with self-injury. It may be that an alexithymic trait is like a common denominator in the use of the body instead of words to express emotion in the case of psychological disease: through somatization when the psychic conflict is displaced inside the body; or through NSSI when the emotional dysregulation and negative feelings prevail.

In our NSSI sample, the combination of alexithymia with somatization was associated with a more severe psychological picture than alexithymia alone. It could be that, in the context of NSSI, higher difficulty with identifying is associated with somatization. This leads us to suggest, once again, that alexithymia is an attribute shared by self-harming and somatization, both of which are characterized by the use of the body to express an emotional problem. Somatic complaints also appeared to be associated with more severe psychopathological issues in our sample, however, so it may be that the former was a manifestation of the latter.

Further longitudinal research is needed on alexithymia in NSSI, vis-à-vis the presence or absence of associated somatic disorders, to identify any differences in the manifestation of self-injury and its psychopathological correlates. Moreover, further researches should consider causal relationships. As regards methodology, the main limitation of the present study lies in our use of self-report tools and the lack of any clinical assessment. Since alexithymia can hinder individuals' proper identification and description of feelings, future research could include multiple informants, also considering the clinician's opinion.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets analyzed for this study will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by "Comitato Etico per la Ricerca Clinica" Aulss 16 Euganea. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AR: wrote the first draft of this paper, literature review, and discussion of results. CA: wrote the first draft of this paper, data analysis, and discussion of results. PV: database and discussion of results. MM: discussion of results, and wrote revisions. MG: study design, discussion of results, and conclusion.

REFERENCES

- Nock M, Favazza AR. Non-suicidal self-injury: definition and classification. In: Nock M, editor. Understanding non-suicidal self-injury: origins, assessment, and treatment. Washington, DC: APA (2009).
- Heath NL, Toste JR, Nedecheva T, Charlebois A. An examination of nonsuicidal self-injury among college students. J Ment Health Couns (2008) 30:137–56. doi: 10.17744/mehc.30.2.8p879p3443514678
- Nock MK. Self-injury. Annu Rev Clin Psychol (2010) 6:339–63. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.clinpsy.121208.131258
- Hamza CA, Stewart SL, Willoughby T. Examining the link between nonsuicidal self-injury and suicidal behavior: a review of the literature and an integrated model. *Clin Psychol Rev* (2012) 32(6):482–95. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2012.05.003
- Gratz KL, Conrad SD, Roemer L. Risk factors for deliberate self-harm among college students. Am J Orthopsychiatry (2002) 72(1):128–40. doi: 10.1037/0002-9432.72.1.128
- Pluhar E, Lois RH, Burton ET. Nonsuicidal self-injury in adolescents. Curr Opin Pediatr (2018) 30(4):483–9. doi: 10.1097/MOP.000000000000655

- Klonsky ED, Victor SE, Saffer BY. Nonsuicidal self-injury: what we know, and what we need to know. *Can J Psychiatry* (2014) 59(11):565–8. doi: 10.1177/ 070674371405901101
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Youth Risk Behavior Survey: 1991–2005: trends in the prevalence of suicide ideation and attempts. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2007).
- Hawton K, Hall S, Simkin S, Bale L, Bond A, Codd S, et al. Deliberate self- harm in adolescents: a study of characteristics and trends in Oxford, 1990-2000. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2003) 44(8):1191–8. doi: 10.1111/1469-7610.00200
- Murray CJ, Vos T, Lozano R, Naghavi M, Flaxman AD, Michaud C, et al. Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990–2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet* (2012) 380(9859):2197–223. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12) 61690-0
- Owens D, Horrocks J, House A. Fatal and non-fatal repetition of self-harm. Br J Psychiatry (2002) 181(3):193–9. doi: 10.1192/bjp.181.3.193
- Idenfors H, Strömsten LM, Renberg ES. Non-psychiatric inpatient care preceding admission for self-harm in young people. J Psychosom Res (2016) 88:8–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016.06.011
- Idenfors H, Strömsten LMJ, Renberg ES. Are non-psychiatric hospitalisations before self-harm associated with an increased risk for suicide among young people? J Psychosom Res (2019) 120:96–101. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpsychores.2019.02.013
- Houston K, Haw C, Townsend E, Hawton K. General practitioner contacts with patients before and after deliberate self harm. Br J Gen Pract (2003) 53(490):365–70.
- Pan YJ, Lee MB, Chiang HC, Liao SC. The recognition of diagnosable psychiatric disorders in suicide cases' last medical contacts. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry* (2009) 31(2):181–4. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2008.12.010
- Kämpfer N, Staufenbiel S, Wegener I, Rambau S, Urbach AS, Mücke M, et al. Suicidality in patients with somatoform disorder-the speechless expression of anger? *Psychiatry Res* (2016) 246:485–91. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.10.022
- Gatta M, Spitaleri C, Balottin U, Spoto A, Balottin L, Manganoand S, et al. Alexithymic characteristics in pediatric patients with primary headache: a comparison between migraine and tension-type headache. *J Headache Pain* (2015) 16(98). doi: 10.1186/s10194-015-0572-y
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Parker JD. The alexithymia construct: a potential paradigm for psychosomatic medicine. *Psychosomatics* (1991) 32(2):153–64. doi: 10.1016/S0033-3182(91)72086-0
- Gatta M, Dal Santo F, Rago A, Spoto A, Battistella PA. Non-suicidal self-injury among Northern Italian high-school students: emotional, interpersonal and psychopathological correlates. *J Psychopathol* (2016) 22:185–90.
- Gatta M, Dal Santo F, Rago A, Spoto A, Battistella PA. Alexithymia, impulsiveness, and psychopathology in nonsuicidal self-injured adolescents. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* (2016) 12:2307–17. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S106433
- Paivio SC, McCulloch CR. Alexithymia as a mediator between childhood trauma and self-injurious behaviors. *Child Abuse Negl* (2004) 28(3):339–54. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2003.11.018
- 22. Norman H, Borrill J. The relationship between self-harm and alexithymia. *Scand J Psychol* (2015) 56(4):405–19. doi: 10.1111/sjop.12217
- 23. Cerutti R, Zuffianò A, Spensieri V. The role of difficulty in identifying and describing feelings in non-suicidal self-injury behavior (NSSI): associations with perceived attachment quality, stressful life events, and suicidal ideation. *Front Psychol* (2018) 9:318. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00318
- Garisch JA, Wilson MS. Prevalence, correlates, and prospective predictors of non-suicidal self-injury among New Zealand adolescents: cross-sectional and longitudinal survey data. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health* (2015) 9:28. doi: 10.1186/s13034-015-0055-6
- 25. Demers LA, Schreiner MW, Hunt RH, Mueller BA, Klimes-Dougan B, Thomas KM, et al. Alexithymia is associated with neural reactivity to masked emotional faces in adolescents who self-harm. J Affect Disord (2019) 249:253–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.02.038
- Bohman H, Jonsson U, Päären A, von Knorring L, Olsson G, von Knorring AL. Prognostic significance of functional somatic symptoms in adolescence: a 15-year community-based follow-up study of adolescents with depression compared with healthy peers. *BMC Psychiatry* (2012) 12:90. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-12-90
- 27. Campo JV. Annual Research Review: Functional somatic symptoms and associated anxiety and depression-developmental psychopathology in

pediatric practice. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2012) 53(5):575–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2012.02535.x

- Bohman H, Jonsson U, Von Knorring AL, Von Knorring L, Päären A, Olsson G. Somatic symptoms as a marker for severity in adolescent depression. *Acta Paediatr* (2010) 99(11):1724–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2010.01906.x
- Ginsburg GS, Riddle MA, Davies M. Somatic symptoms in children and adolescents with anxiety disorders. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2006) 45(10):1179–87. doi: 10.1097/01.chi.0000231974.43966.6e
- Gollust SE, Eisenberg D, Golberstein E. Prevalence and correlates of selfinjury among university students. J Am Coll Health (2008) 56(5):491–8. doi: 10.3200/JACH.56.5.491-498
- Ross S, Heath N. A study of the frequency of self-mutilation in a community sample of adolescents. J Youth Adolesc (2002) 31(1):67–77. doi: 10.1023/ A:1014089117419
- Tilton-Weaver L, Marshall SK, Svensson Y. Depressive symptoms and nonsuicidal self-injury during adolescence: latent patterns of short-term stability and change. J Adolesc (2019) 75:163–74. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2019.07.013
- Ribeiro JD, Huang X, Fox KR, Franklin JC. Depression and hopelessness as risk factors for suicide ideation, attempts and death: meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. Br J Psychiatry (2018) 212(5):279-86. doi: 10.1192/ bjp.2018.27
- Giupponi G, Maniscalco I, Mathà S, Ficco C, Pernther G, Sanna L, et al. Suicide risk in somatoform disorders. *Neuropsychiatr* (2018) 32(1):9–17. doi: 10.1007/s40211-017-0248-8
- Bailey PE, Henry JD. Alexithymia, somatization and negative affect in a community sample. *Psychiatry Res* (2007) 150:13–20. doi: 10.1016/ j.psychres.2006.05.024
- Ballesp S, Vives J, Alonso N, Sharp C, Ramirez MS, Fonagy P, et al. To know or not to know? Mentalization as protection from somatic complaints. *PloS One* (2019) 14(5):e0215308. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0215308
- Marchi L, Marzetti F, Orrù G, Lemmetti S, Miccoli M, Ciacchini R, et al. Alexithymia and psychological distress in patients with fibromyalgia and rheumatic disease. *Front Psychol* (2019) 10:1735. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01735
- Aaron RV, Fisher EA, de la Vega R, Lumley MA, Palermo TM. Alexithymia in individuals with chronic pain and its relation to pain intensity, physical interference, depression, and anxiety: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Pain* (2019) 160(5):994–1006. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000001487
- Taycan O, Özdemir A, Taycan SE. Alexithymia and somatization in depressed patients: the role of the type of somatic symptom Attribution. Arch Neuropsychiatry (2017) 54:99–104. doi: 10.5152/npa.2016.12385
- Di Tella M, Castelli L. Alexithymia in chronic pain disorders. *Curr Rheumatol Rep* (2016) 18(7):41. doi: 10.1007/s11926-016-0592-x
- Härtwig EA, Crayen C, Heuser I, Eid M. It's in the mix: psychological distress differs between combinations of alexithymic facets. *Front Psychol* (2014) 5:1259. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01259
- Parolin M, Miscioscia M, De Carli P, Cristofalo P, Gatta M, Simonelli A. Alexithymia in young adults with substance use disorders: Critical issues about specificity and treatment predictivity. *Front Psychol* (2018) 9:645. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00645
- Martino G, Langher V, Cazzato V, Vicario CM. Psychological factors as determinants of medical conditions. *Front Psychol* (2019) 10:2502. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02502
- Conversano C. Psychological common factors in chronic diseases. Front Psychol (2019) 10:2727. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02727
- 45. Wechsler D. *WISC-IV.Manuale.* Orsini A, Pezzuti L, editors. Firenze: Giunti OS (2012). (a cura di).
- Achenbach TM, Rescorla LA. Manual for the ASEBA School-age forms and profiles. Burlington, VT: University of Vermont, Department of Psychiatry (2001).
- Claes L, Vandereycken W, Vertommen H. Self-injury in female versus male psychiatric patients: a comparison of characteristics, psychopathology and aggression regulation. *Pers Individ Dif* (2007) 42(4):611–21. doi: 10.1016/ j.paid.2006.07.021
- Cipriano A, Cella S, Cotrufo P. Nonsuicidal self-injury: a systematic review. Front Psychol (2017) 8:1946. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01946
- Muehlenkamp JJ, Claes L, Havertape L, Plener PL. International prevalence of adolescent non-suicidal self-injury and deliberate self-harm. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health* (2012) 6:10. doi: 10.1186/1753-2000-6-10

- Muehlenkamp JJ, Brausch A, Quigley K, Whitlock J. Interpersonal features and functions of nonsuicidal self-injury. *Suicide Life Threat Behav* (2013) 43 (1):43–67. doi: 10.1111/j.1943-278X.2012.00128.x
- 51. Brunner R, Kaess M, Parzer P, Fischer G, Carli V, Hoven CW, et al. Life-time prevalence and psychosocial correlates of adolescent direct self-injurious behavior: a comparative study of findings in 11 European countries. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* (2014) 55(4):337–48. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12166
- Barrocas AL, Hankin BL, Young JF, Abela JR. Rates of nonsuicidal self-injury in youth: age, sex, and behavioral methods in a community sample. *Pediatrics* (2012) 130:39–45. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-2094
- Washburn JJ, Potthoff LM, Juzwin KR, Styer DM. Assessing DSM-5 nonsuicidal self-injury disorder in a clinical sample. *Psychol Assess* (2015) 27(1):31–41. doi: 10.1037/pas0000021
- Lewis SP, Baker TG. The possible risks of self-injury web sites: a content analysis. Arch Suicide Res (2011) 15(4):390–6. doi: 10.1080/13811118.2011.616154
- 55. Gillies D, Christou MA, Dixon AC, Featherston OJ, Rapti I, Garcia-Anguita A, et al. Prevalence and characteristics of self-harm in adolescents: meta-analyses of community-based studies 1990-2015. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2018) 57(10):733–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2018.06.018
- Nock MK, Joiner EE Jr, Gordon KH, Lloyd-Richardson E, Prinstein MJ. Nonsuicidal self-injury among adolescents: diagnostic correlates and relation to suicide attempts. *Psychiatry Res* (2006) 144:65–72. doi: 10.1016/ j.psychres.2006.05.010
- Fox KR, Franklin JC, Ribeiro JD, Kleiman EM, Bentley KH, Nock MK. Metaanalysis of risk factors for nonsuicidal self-injury. *Clin Psychol Rev* (2015) 42:156–67. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2015.09.002
- Gratz KL, Tull MT. The relationship between emotion dysregulation and deliberate self-harm among inpatients with substance use disorders. *Cognit Ther Res* (2010) 34(6):544–53. doi: 10.1007/s10608-009-9268-4
- Hawton K, Saunders KEA, O'Connor RC. Self-harm and suicide in adolescents. *Lancet* (2012) 379:2373–82. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60322-5
- Vaughn M, Salas-Wright C, Underwood S, Gochez-Kerr T. Subtypes on nonsuicidal self-injury based on childhood adversity. *Psychiatr Q* (2015) 86:137– 51. doi: 10.1007/s11126-014-9313-7
- Hornor G. Nonsuicidal self-injury. J Pediatr Health Care (2016) 30(3):261–7. doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2015.06.012
- Laukkanen E, Rissanen ML, Tolmunen T, Kylmä J, Hintikka J. Adolescent self-cutting elsewhere than on the arms reveals more serious psychiatric symptoms. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry* (2013) 22(8):501–10. doi: 10.1007/ s00787-013-0390-1
- Baetens I, Claes L, Muehlenkamp J, Grietens H, Onghena P. Differences in psychological symptoms and self-competencies in non-suicidal self-injurious Flemish adolescents. J Adolesc (2012) 35(3):753–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.adolescence.2011.11.001
- In-Albon T, Ruf C, Schmid M. Proposed diagnostic criteria for the DSM-5 of nonsuicidal self-injury in female adolescents: diagnostic and clinical correlates. *Psychiatry J* (2013) 2013:159–208. doi: 10.1155/2013/159208
- Rodav O, Levy S, Hamdan S. Clinical characteristics and functions of nonsuicide self-injury in youth. *Eur Psychiatry* (2014) 29(8):503–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.eurpsy.2014.02.008
- Lee WK. Psychological characteristics of self-harming behavior in Korean adolescents. Asian J Psychiatr (2016) 23:119–24. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2016.07.013
- 67. Plener PL, Schumacher TS, Munz LM, Groschwitz RC. The longitudinal course of non-suicidal self-injury and deliberate self-harm: a systematic review

of the literature. Borderline Pers Disord Emot Dysregul (2015) 2:2. doi: 10.1186/s40479-014-0024-3

- Kumar G, Pepe D, Steer RA. Adolescent psychiatric inpatients' self-reported reasons for cutting themselves. J Nerv Ment Dis (2004) 192(12):830–6. doi: 10.1097/01.nmd.0000146737.18053.d2
- Muchlenkamp JJ, Gutierrez PM. An investigation of differences between selfinjurious behavior and suicide attempts in a sample of adolescents. *Suicide Life Threat Behav* (2004) 34:12–22. doi: 10.1521/suli.34.1.12.27769
- Andover MS, Gibb BE. Non suicidal self-injury, attempted suicide, and suicidal intent among psychiatric inpatients. *Psychiatry Res* (2010) 178:101– 05. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2010.03.019
- Andover MS, Pepper CM, Ryabchenko KA, Orrico EG, Gibb BE. Selfmutilation and symptoms of depression, anxiety, and borderline personality disorder. *Suicide Life Threat Behav* (2005) 35(5):581–91. doi: 10.1521/ suli.2005.35.5.581
- Nock MK, Prinstein MJ. A functional approach to the assessment of selfmutilative behavior. J Consult Clin Psychol (2004) 72:885–90. doi: 10.1037/ 0022-006X.72.5.885
- 73. Esposito-Smythers C, Goldstein T, Birmaher B, Goldstein B, Hunt J, Ryan N, et al. Clinical and psychosocial correlates of non-suicidal self-injury within a sample of children and adolescents with bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord (2010) 125(1-3):89–97. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.12.029
- Victor SE, Muehlenkamp JJ, Hayes NA, Lengel GJ, Styer DM, Washburn JJ. Characterizing gender differences in nonsuicidal self-injury: evidence from a large clinical sample of adolescents and adults. *Compr Psychiatry* (2018) 82:53–60. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2018.01.009
- Brown RC, Plener PL. Non-suicidal self-injury in adolescence. Curr Psychiatry Rep (2017) 19(3):20. doi: 10.1007/s11920-017-0767-9
- Bresin K, Schoenleber M. Gender differences in the prevalence of nonsuicidal self-injury: a meta-analysis. *Clin Psychol Rev* (2015) 38:55–64. doi: 10.1016/ j.cpr.2015.02.009
- Valencia-Agudo F, Burcher GC, Ezpeleta ,L, Kramer T. Nonsuicidal selfinjury in community adolescents: a systematic review of prospective predictors, mediators and moderators. J Adolesc (2018) 65:25–38. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.02.012
- Kaess M, Parzer P, Haffner J, Steen R, Roos J, Klett M, et al. Explaining gender differences in non-fatal suicidal behaviour among adolescents: a population-based study. *BMC Public Health* (2011) 11:597. doi: 10.1186/ 1471-2458-11-597
- Victor SE, Klonsky ED. Correlates of suicide attempts among self-injurers: a meta-analysis. *Clin Psychol Rev* (2014) 34(4):282–97. doi: 10.1016/ j.cpr.2014.03.005

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Raffagnato, Angelico, Valentini, Miscioscia and Gatta. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Impact of Alexithymia on Treatment Response in Psychiatric Disorders: A Systematic Review

Federica Pinna^{1,2†}, Mirko Manchia^{1,2,3*†}, Pasquale Paribello^{1,2} and Bernardo Carpiniello^{1,2}

¹ Section of Psychiatry, Department of Medical Sciences and Public Health, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy, ² Unit of Clinical Psychiatry, University Hospital of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy, ³ Department of Pharmacology, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy

Reviewed by:

Stefano Comai, Vita-Salute San Raffaele University, Italy Alessandro Carano, ASUR Marche, Italy

> *Correspondence: Mirko Manchia mirkomanchia@unica.it

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 31 January 2020 Accepted: 27 March 2020 Published: 16 April 2020

Citation:

Pinna F, Manchia M, Paribello P and Carpiniello B (2020) The Impact of Alexithymia on Treatment Response in Psychiatric Disorders: A Systematic Review. Front. Psychiatry 11:311. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00311 Treatment of psychiatric disorders relies heavily on a trial and error approach, often prolonging the time required to obtain symptomatic improvements. The identification of reliable predictors of treatment response is instrumental to enact an individualized approach. Alexithymia represents a personality trait reflecting an intrinsic difficulty in recognizing the emotional components of subjective experiences. Thus, its modulating role on treatment outcome has gathered substantial attention during the past years. In the present paper, we aimed at exploring the available evidence for Alexithymia role in influencing the treatment outcome on a wide range of psychiatric conditions by means of a systematic review.

Data Source: We performed a systematic review in Medline and Scopus, augmented by tracking the reference list of the pertinent articles.

Inclusion Criteria: To be included in this review, research studies had to assess alexithymia impact on a treatment intervention delivered to manage a primary psychiatric disorder.

Study Evaluation and Data Synthesis: After removing duplicates, titles were screened first, then abstracts, and last full texts were read, eventually leading to the inclusion or exclusion of the papers according to the criteria established before the online search. Then results of the search were downloaded in.xml format and uploaded in Rayyan, a free web software, that helps expedite the initial screening of abstracts and titles using a process of semi-automation while incorporating a high level of usability. After uploading, screening of the literature was performed in blind by two investigators. Disagreement between reviewers was resolved by joint discussion with a third senior investigator. The quality of evidence was assessed using the Newcastle Ottawa Scale. Thereafter, the data considered relevant was extracted and synthetized in this paper.

Results: Our search yielded a total of 30 articles dealing with a wide range of psychiatric conditions and exploring both pharmacological and psychotherapeutic interventions. Several lines of evidence suggest a complex role for alexithymia in influencing the

90

psychiatric treatment outcome, further underscoring the need for additional research in this area to better address the existing knowledge gaps.

Keywords: depression, longitudinal, personality disorders, systematic review, eating disorders

INTRODUCTION

Psychiatric disorders exact a large toll on society at a global level (1, 2). The epidemiological figure in 2016 showed that more than one billion people worldwide were affected by mental or addictive disorders making up about 16% of the world's population (2). This determines the very high levels of disability exemplified by the 162.5 million Disability-Adjusted Life Years lost in 2016 (2). In turn, this substantial burden of illness is responsible for the enormous socio-economic costs associated with psychiatric disorders (3).

In this context, reducing the burden of psychiatric illness is vital. Several approaches, including those at large scale, have shown their effectiveness in decreasing the impact of these severe chronic disorders (4, 5). These include interventions that can be implemented in parenting, at schools, at the workplace, in older age, and that focus, among the others, on the innovative use of technological platforms to enhance access, cut costs, and reduce stigma (5). However, direct interventions on psychopathological symptoms, either pharmacological or non-pharmacological, remain the backbone in the clinical management of psychiatric disorders. For instance, historical trends showed that the advent of antipsychotic treatment improved significantly the clinical outcome of patients affected by schizophrenia (6). Yet, the prevalence of common psychiatric disorders has remained unchanged in the last decades (7), suggesting that, even if psychological and pharmacological treatment are effective, several factors might reduce their capacity of decreasing their burden.

In this context, the search for moderators of treatment response has received much attention in the past years. The identification of these factors (clinical and/or biological) might ideally lead to accurate predictive models of response to treatment. Indeed, machine learning algorithms were able to identify relatively accurate predictive models of resistance to antidepressant treatments relying solely on patient self-reported measures (8). Of interest, some clinical factors, such as low energy or presence of psychosis, were among the contributors to the risk of treatment resistance (8). Acting on factors that might limit the effectiveness of treatments, either with primary or secondary/tertiary preventive strategies, might decrease the burden of these severe chronic disorders.

In this context, alexithymia represents a promising candidate. Since its introduction as a psychological construct (9), research has focused on the delineation of its clinical (phenotypic), neurophysiological, neurobiological, and genetic underpinnings (10, 11). These investigation have helped in delineating the developmental trajectory of alexithymia, with the recognition that there might be an etiological heterogeneity leading to the manifestation of alexithymia (12). Indeed, Messina et al. have postulated that at least three forms, primary, secondary, and organic, might characterize alexithymia (12). The presence of contributing factors to the development of alexithymia acquires importance in light of the possibility of reducing its detrimental impact on the effectiveness of treatments. Indeed, the literature shows that alexithymia is a potent predictor of resistance to treatment, and this effect extends beyond the area of psychiatric disorders as testified by the evidence gathered in somatic disorders such as gastrointestinal (13) and dermatologic (14) conditions, among the others. Furthermore, alexithymia can be a precipitating factor of suicidal behavior in patients affected by psychiatric disorders (15–17).

In this manuscript, we aim to perform a qualitative assessment of the literature on the moderating role of alexithymia on psychological and pharmacological interventions in common psychiatric disorders.

Our group has previously investigated the impact of alexithymia on the treatment of eating disorders (18), highlighting: 1) its significant role in modulating the effectiveness of interventions, and 2) that alexithymia levels remain often elevated even in the presence of symptomatologic relief in other dimensions. Building on this work, we expanded the systematic search updating the results on eating disorders and summarizing findings for each diagnostic category.

Aim

As summarized above, there is consistent evidence pointing to a role of alexithymia in moderating treatment response. It is conceivable that higher levels of alexithymia before treatment initiation might reduce the response to the intervention. In addition, the impact of alexithymia could be more prominent in specific diagnostic categories (for instance, anxiety or eating disorders, than in others, such as psychosis). In this context, we performed a systematic review of the available literature with the aim of clarifying to what extent alexithymia exerts its moderating role on treatment response.

METHODS

Systematic Assessment of the Literature

We performed a systematic review in Medline and Scopus according to Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (19) (**Figure 1**) using the following search string: "Alexithymia" AND ("treatment" OR "drug" OR "pharmacotherapy"). The search was performed on October 28, 2019. This search strategy was augmented by identifying additional original reports by tracking citations from reference lists of included articles. After removing duplicates, titles were screened first, and those clearly not in line with the purpose of



the review were excluded. Then abstracts were assessed, and last full texts were read, eventually leading to the inclusion or exclusion of the papers, according to the criteria established before the online search. The systematic review of the literature was performed on Medline and Scopus. Then results of the search were downloaded in.xml format and uploaded in Rayyan, a free web software, that helps expedite the initial screening of abstracts and titles using a process of semi-automation while incorporating a high level of usability (20). After uploading, screening of the literature was performed in blind by two investigators (MM and PP). Disagreement between reviewers was resolved by joint discussion with a third senior investigator (FP). The quality of evidence was assessed using the Newcastle Ottawa Scale (NOS) (21).

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

To be included in the review, research studies had to: (a) deal with patients affected by a primary psychiatric disorder (excluding substance use disorders), without limits of age; (b) involve the application of any kind of pharmacological or nonpharmacological treatment; (c) assess alexithymia and the impact of alexithymia on a treatment intervention using a validated standardized assessment tool; (d) be written in English. We excluded reviews and meta-analyses of the literature, case reports, and case series from the systematic appraisal.

Data Extraction

The following data considered relevant for the systematic search were extracted from each study and tabulated in a data management software: authors, year of publication, study objectives, study design, clinical methodology, assessment tool of alexithymia, type of treatment, diagnostic assessment tools, diagnosis, findings.

RESULTS

Literature Search and Selection of Papers

Our systematic search identified 1,157 papers (440 from Medline and 717 from Scopus). 2 papers were added through accurate check of reference lists. After removing 364 duplicates, 795 papers were screened for an initial assessment. We then excluded 734 papers through the assessment of the title and abstract content. The PRISMA selection process is illustrated in **Figure 1**.

Quality Assessment

The NOS scale average score for the included studies was 3.7 (standard deviation, \pm 1.3). The assessment scores are available in the **Supplementary Table**.

Assessment Tools of Alexithymia

The majority of studies employed the Toronto Alexithymia Scale 20 items (TAS-20) (22, 23) and its older 26-item version (24). One study applied the Alexithymia Provoked Response Questionnaire APRQ (25).

Included Studies

Thirty studies were included in the final systematic assessment. Extracted data are presented according to the main diagnostic outcome as detailed below. We created a miscellaneous disorders category for studies where multiple diagnoses were reported.

Alexithymia in the Treatment of Mood Disorders

Our systematic search identified six studies examining the role of alexithymia in the treatment of mood disorders. Ozsahin et al. (26) conducted the first follow-up study to assess the impact of alexithymia on response to antidepressant treatment and the impact of antidepressant treatment on alexithymia levels in patients affected by major depression (MD). The working hypothesis was to investigate the influence of alexithymia on the short-term outcome of treatment. The study sample included 65 outpatients with MD, 32 with alexithymia, and 33 devoid of alexithymia, who were treated with paroxetine, 20 mg/day for 10 weeks. Over the course of treatment, changes in HAM-D scores were found to correlate significantly with baseline alexithymia levels measured using TAS-20. Conversely, changes in TAS-20 scores failed to correlate with baseline levels of depression. The percentage of responders, defined by a 50% decrease in total HAM-D scores versus baseline, was 21.9% in the alexithymia group and 54.5% in the group without alexithymia. Following treatment, 31.2% of basal alexithymia patients had returned to the category of non-alexithymia patients, obtaining a cut-off score at TAS-20 below the threshold for alexithymia, while alexithymia persisted in 68.8% of cases. Response to antidepressant treatment was observed in 50% of patients who were no longer alexithymic compared to baseline, and in only 9.1% of patients with persistently stable alexithymia. Based on these findings, the authors highlighted the potential of alexithymic features and stability of alexithymia to produce a negative influence on short-term response to antidepressant treatment in patients with MD. Subsequently, Ogrodniczuk et al. (27) conducted a retrospective study to assess the potential role of alexithymia in predicting the persistence of residual symptoms following short-term individual psychotherapy. A sample of 33 outpatients with a diagnosis of unipolar MD was studied. Data relating to all patients selected were extrapolated from a randomized controlled study of two forms of short-term individual psychotherapy (interpretative and supportive); patients all responded positively to psychotherapy, as attested by scores obtained at the Beck Depressive Inventory (BDI) (50% reduction in scores obtained at BDI rating scale and a post-treatment BDI score equal to or lower than 8). Concomitant to psychotherapy, 52% of patients received antidepressant treatment (tricyclics or selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors) for a period of at least 6 weeks. Residual depressive symptoms were observed in 82% of recruited

patients. No significant correlations were revealed between baseline levels of depression and levels of alexithymia and individual factors at TAS-20, thus underlining a scarce association between alexithymia and severity of depressive symptoms at baseline. Scores obtained for DIF factor at TAS-20 were predictive of the severity of residual symptoms (measured using BDI) to a considerably higher extent than initial levels of depression and anxiety, type of psychotherapy, and use of antidepressants. The authors concluded that difficulty in identifying feelings may impact on the subject's ability to effectively benefit from psychotherapy and might consequently be considered a factor underlying the persistence of residual symptoms. The results obtained also support the notion according to which alexithymia and depression are separate constructs, particularly bearing in mind the scarce correlation between baseline levels of depression and scores relating to alexithymia factors. Even when giving due consideration to the effect of initial levels of depression and anxiety, to the form of psychotherapy received and to the use of antidepressants, scores relating to the "Difficulties Identifying Feelings" (DIF) factor of TAS continued to act as a predictor of the severity of residual symptoms. A possible explanation for the association between DIF and residual symptoms might lie in the patient's inability to identify his or her feelings, thus potentially compromising the ability to effectively share these feelings and emotional problems with the therapist who, faced with a series of vague complaints may not be able to develop an effective treatment plan for the patient. Moreover, the ability of the patient to understand the measures implemented by the therapist relating to his or her feelings may be compromised. Given the importance in psychotherapy of working with feelings and bearing in mind the difficulty of alexithymic patients of sharing their feelings, treatment may not achieve the desired efficacy. Based on the hypothesis of a series of authors who considered alexithymia a stable characteristic capable of hindering a favorable outcome to psychotherapy, Spek et al. (28) conducted a study to assess whether alexithymia was a stable or changeable trait when associated with a change in depressive symptoms, and whether the pre-treatment presence of alexithymia prevented the patient from benefitting from psychotherapeutic treatment. A sample of 129 subjects affected by sub-threshold depression (presence of significant depressive symptoms although not sufficient to meet DSM-IV criteria for a diagnosis of major depression) underwent cognitive behavioral therapy. The type of outcome was defined according to the change in depressive symptoms as measured by BDI, from the pre-treatment to the post-treatment stage and at 1-year follow-up. Changes in depressive symptoms correlated significantly with changes in alexithymia, measured using TAS-20, thus demonstrating how alexithymia is actually a less stable trait than frequently maintained. Baseline alexithymia levels were not indeed correlated with treatment outcome. The authors hypothesized that this finding, at variance with other studies using different forms of psychotherapy, may be related to the possibility that CBT represents a less problematic treatment option in alexithymia patients. Gunther et al. (29) carried out a prospective study to evaluate the association between pretreatment alexithymia levels (TAS-20) and depressive symptoms at follow-up (7 weeks) following multimodal inpatient treatment. Forty-five patients admitted for acute MD who had taken part in a multimodal treatment program comprising both individual therapy and psychodynamic-interactional oriented group therapy were studied. The majority of patients were also prescribed antidepressant treatment. Of all TAS-20 factors, only scores obtained for the "Externally Oriented Thinking" EOT factor were predictive of the severity of depressive symptoms at follow-up, when measured using both selfadministered questionnaires (BDI-II) or clinician-administered scales (HAM-D). A higher baseline score for the EOT factor correlated with more severe depressive symptoms, even following evaluation of potential confounding factors, such as baseline levels of anxiety and depression. Total baseline scores at TAS-20 were predictive for severity of depressive symptoms measured by means of BDI, but not HAM-D. A moderate correlation was moreover revealed between alexithymia (DIF and "difficulties describing feelings" DDF factors) and selfreported depressive symptoms at baseline, in accordance with previous studies reporting a moderate correlation between DIF and DDF, but not EOT, with depression (30). Furthermore, alexithymia was found to be a stable trait, as a significant reduction in scores at BDI-II and HAM-D failed to correspond to a significant change over time in scores obtained at total TAS-20 and factors DIF, DDF, and EOT. The impact of alexithymia in terms of outcome was demonstrated for the EOT factor, but not for DIF and DDF. Several authors maintain that the EOT factor is a fundamental characteristic of alexithymia and emotional ability (31). DIF and DDF factors have been subject to debate due to their sensitivity to a series of biases in assessing the emotional ability of an individual (self-critical response biases, perfectionism, mood-congruent memory biases). The finding of elevated scores for DIF and DDF in depressed patients may indeed correlate not only with a more marked level of alexithymia, but also with a singular predisposition to provide specific answers induced by the state of depression. Conversely, the EOT factor may well be less susceptible to this type of response bias, focusing tendentially on the subject's preferences and habits, and may result in a more precise indicator of the alexithymic construct in clinical populations. The authors suggest that patients affected by MD with a more externally oriented cognition and lower interest in intrapsychic conflicts may derive less benefit from a multimodal therapeutic approach (including psychodynamic interactional therapy, antidepressant medication, and complementary therapies). Bearing in mind that the program used envisaged a series of therapeutic approaches, it is unclear which aspect of the treatment (group or individual psychotherapy, antidepressant drugs or complementary therapies) may prove less effective in the presence of an externally oriented cognition. In a study conducted by Bressi et al. (32), the authors evaluated the efficacy of Short-Term Psychodynamic Psychotherapy (STPP) using Mentalization-Based Techniques (STMBP) on the clinical outcome of 274 patients affected by MD, focusing on the impact of Reflective Functioning (RF) and baseline alexithymia on treatment

outcome. The duration of treatment was 40 weeks, and patients were assessed at T0, T1 (after 40 weeks) and T2 (after 1-year follow-up). All patients recruited to the study were receiving antidepressants (SSRIs or SNRIs). Treatment proved effective on both depressive symptoms (HAM-D) and levels of alexithymia. A significant reduction of scores for the EOT factor and, to a lesser extent DIF, was observed between T0 and T1. A further improvement of alexithymia, limited to EOT, was subsequently observed at follow-up. Higher levels of depression at HAM-D and higher levels RF at T0 were predictive of a worse treatment outcome. Alexithymia levels (TAS-20) at T0 displayed no significant impact in terms of outcome. Quilty et al. (33) investigated the role of alexithymia in predicting the therapistand patient-rated therapeutic alliance and response to psychotherapy (CBT and IPT) in a sample of patients with MD. Seventy-five adults affected by MD were randomized to two treatment arms comprised of weekly individual sessions of CBT or IPT over a period of 16 weeks. Scores obtained at TAS-20 and factor DIF correlated with a negative impact on the patientrated therapeutic alliance at week 13; at week 13, DIF factor alone displayed a negative impact on therapist-rated therapeutic alliance. Path models supported the hypothesis of a direct negative effect of alexithymia on response to treatment by means of a negative association with therapeutic alliance. More specifically, alexithymia was negatively associated with the alliance which, in turn, was positively associated with the change in depression registered during treatment. Contrary to expectations, scores for the EOT factor negatively correlated with the severity of depression at week 13 (pre-treatment, a rise in EOT corresponded to a decrease in severity of depression) and correlated positively with the change in depression (pretreatment, a rise in EOT was associated with a more marked change in levels of depression from week 1 to week 13). Data present in literature in line with the hypothesis whereby therapists were negatively influenced by the alexithymic features of their patients were further confirmed by the findings of the present study that highlighted the impact of alexithymia on patient-rated perception of therapeutic alliance, including perception of the understanding and involvement of the therapist. Moreover, the results of the study invite us to reflect on the impacts produced by the different facets of the alexithymic construct in terms of clinical outcome. The study conducted by Quilty et al. (33) revealed a negative prognostic role of alexithymia in general, and of the DIF factor on patientrated therapeutic alliance, and a positive prognostic role of the EOT factor on depression. The authors underlined the possibility that the DIF factor might impact on fundamental psychotherapeutic activities such as cognitive restructuring, which may be limited to those patients unable to adequately express their feelings. On the other hand, it may be the case that the EOT factor in depressed patients correlates with a decrease in ruminative thinking and, hypothetically, with more adequate adaptive and problem-focused coping strategies. The therapeutic strategies used for the purpose of the study (CBT and IPT), in view of their characteristics as active and objective-oriented treatments, may explain the reduced impact of alexithymia in

negatively affecting outcome of the study treatment, at variance with other studies conducted using a different approach (27). All these findings are summarized in **Table 1**.

Alexithymia in the Treatment of Eating Disorders

Nine studies investigating the role of alexithymia in eating disorders were identified by our systematic search. Schmidt et al. (34) were the first to analyze the impact of alexithymia on response to short-term pharmacological treatment of bulimia nervosa (BN). Forty-one female outpatients with a diagnosis of BN according to DSM-III-R were recruited to a 10-week prospective study of patients receiving fluvoxamine treatment. Alexithymia levels failed to correlate with any of the other variables investigated at either baseline or T1. On completion of treatment, higher TAS scores registered at T1 correlated with a persistently higher number of episodes of binge eating. Overall, post-treatment, no significant change in total TAS scores was registered versus baseline, although the eating pathology displayed a marked improvement. The authors hypothesized that the persistence of eating symptoms and a failure to achieve recovery during treatment might correlate with the presence and persistence of elevated TAS scores. The concomitant absence of a significant change in TAS following treatment, albeit in the presence of an improvement of the eating disorder (ED), appeared to suggest that alexithymia should not be seen as a dimension that correlates exclusively with the ED trend, but rather as an independent feature. Subsequently, de Groot et al. (35) assessed the impact of alexithymia on response to a 9.6-week intensive group psychotherapy program focused on nutrition, body image, management of symptoms, relationships, and family interactions (Toronto Hospital Day Hospital Program for ED). The sample was comprised of 31 women with severe BN according to DSM-III-R, and a control group of 20 healthy subjects (all nurses) was set up. On completion of treatment, patients who were more alexithymic at T1 were also found to be those most affected by both ED symptoms and depression. Although on completion of treatment patients' mean alexithymia levels remained high - considerably higher than those of healthy controls, overall treatment had produced a positive impact not only on eating symptomatology, but also on alexithymia levels, particularly in a subgroup of patients who had been devoid of binge episodes and vomiting (abstinent) over the 28 days prior to discharge. The authors linked the partial reversibility of alexithymia to a series of factors, including a direct effect of treatment, reduction of associated depressive symptoms, and reduction of eating symptomatology. A cross-sectional study conducted by Beales et al. (36) studied a total of 79 women affected by severe, chronic ED treated with a range of therapeutic options, who were divided into 3 groups - anorexic, bulimic, and recovered — according to EDI-2. Scores obtained at TAS-20 revealed that 65% anorexic, 83% bulimic, and 33% recovered patients were alexithymic, with a significant difference between those presenting with ongoing ED and the group of recovering patients. This led the authors to hypothesize that lower levels of alexithymia may have a potentially relevant impact on the

recovery of ED patients. The specific study design prevented assessment of the impact of treatment on alexithymia levels.

Becker-Stoll et al. (37) evaluated 47 female patients with ED diagnosed according to DSM-IV criteria, who attended the Treatment Center for Eating Disorders of the Max Planck Institute of Psychiatry in Munich. A three-phase treatment plan was envisaged: a 4-week outpatient motivation phase, a 4month day-hospital phase, and a 4-month outpatient follow-up treatment phase. Treatment options included Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT), Interpersonal Therapy (IPT) and Psycho-educational Therapy (PET). During group psychotherapy sessions, art therapy, among others, was used to stimulate the identification and expression of feelings. Posttreatment, both eating symptomatology and alexithymia improved irrespective of diagnosis. The most significant impact produced related to the factor DIF, while EOT was impacted only marginally. Despite evidence of an improvement of alexithymia, patients displayed an ongoing tendency towards alexithymia. No correlation was detected in the study between baseline TAS and outcome variables. Conversely, high TAS scores registered posttreatment, indicating persistent alexithymia, correlated with an increased severity of eating symptoms and a less favorable prognosis. In a subsequent study, Shiina et al. (38) investigated the effectiveness and predictors of drop-out in a treatment program comprised of 10-week outpatient group therapy combining CBT with assertiveness training and self-esteem building therapy (combined group CBT). The final stages of treatment envisaged two role-play sessions during which patients were expected to identify and try to express their feelings. Treatment produced a positive effect on both eating pathology and alexithymia, self-esteem, and social functioning. Baseline alexithymia levels were not predictive of drop-out. In 2007, bearing in mind the limitations of the previous studies, Speranza et al. (39) carried out a long-term naturalistic prospective study with 3-year follow-up to evaluate the impact of alexithymia on the outcome of an outpatient sample of ED patients who underwent a range of therapeutic interventions available in routine clinical practice. The sample was made up of 102 young women affected by severe, chronic ED, 39 of whom with BN and 63 with AN. Exclusion criteria included major depressive episode or ongoing substance or alcohol addiction. Two categories of clinical outcome were envisaged: "favorable outcome" with full remission of eating symptoms at follow-up, and an "intermediate/unfavorable outcome" with persistence of a subsyndromal pattern or full ED diagnosis at follow-up. At 3year assessment 75% of patients displayed an "intermediate/ unfavorable outcome" and 25% "favorable outcome". The majority of patients had undergone at least one form of therapeutic intervention over the three-year period, mainly psychotherapy (57%) or treatment for depression (40%). DIF factor of TAS-20 was found to be a significant predictor of unfavorable outcome. The predictive power of this factor persisted, although to a lesser extent, in a second predictive model taking into account depressive symptoms, clinical severity of the disorder, and treatment prescribed. Patients experiencing

TABLE 1 | Studies investigating the impact of alexithymia on treatment outcome in mood disorders.

Reference	Objectives	Study design	Sample size	Standardized assessment of alexithymia	Treatment	Assessment tools	Diagnosis	Results
Ozsahin et al., (26)	To investigate the influence of alexithymic features on depression treatment outcome, along with the eventual change in alexithymia burden over the course of treatment.	Prospective design with patients evaluated before beginning treatment (T0), and post- treatment (T1) after 10 weeks.	65 (32 alexithymic and 33 non- alexithymic)	TAS-20	Antidepressant (i.e. Paroxetine)	SCID for DSM-IV, HAM-D	MDD	At T1 a positive correlation was described between HAM-D and TAS-20, with a significantly greater HAM-D score reduction among non- alexithymic individuals.
Ogrodniczuk et al. (27)	To investigate the association between alexithymia and residual symptoms among short- term psychotherapy responders in the outpatient setting.	A 20-week RCT including individuals randomly assigned to receive either interpretative or supportive psychotherapy	33	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT	20 weekly sessions of either interpretative or supportive psychotherapy (17/33 concomitantly received antidepressant medication, either a SSRI or a tricyclic; these individuals were equally distributed between the 2 study groups)	Computer assisted SCID I and II for DSM-III R, BID assessed pre- and post- treatment, STAI	MDD	No association was found between baseline alexithymia and baseline depression severity; DIF was significantly associated with residual depressive symptoms.
Spek et al. (28)	To investigate the interplay between alexithymia and CBT outcome at 12 months follow-up	Prospective design with 1- year follow-up	119	TAS-20	Groups) CBT psychotherapy	BDI	Subthreshold MDD	Symptoms. Changes in alexithymia were significantly correlated with BDI changes, however no significant association was found between pre-treatment alexithymia and treatment outcome.
Gunther et al. (29)	To study the relationship between alexithymia and symptom severity after a course of	Prospective design with assessments performed after an average of 2 weeks from admission (T0) and at 7 weeks after starting therapy (T1)	45	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT	Psychodynamic interactional psychotherapy (at T1 33/45 individuals were also taking antidepressants)	BDI-II, HAM- D, SCID for DSM-IV, STAI	MDD	Baseline EOT (T0) predicted depressive symptom burden at T1.
Bressi et al. (32)	A 12-month follow-up study exploring the effectiveness of STMBP in MDD (1), the possible correlation among alexithymia and reflective functioning (2), the correlation among clinical variables and their eventual impact on TAS- 20 and HAM-D	Prospective design with assessments (GAF, HAM-D, TAS-20) at baseline (T0), after 40 weeks (T1) and at 12 months follow- up (T2)	24	TAS-20	40 weekly session of STMBP; all study participants were taking antidepressant medications (SSRI, SNRI); during the follow-up no medication allowed except for occasional BDZs administration	AAI-RF, GAF, HAM-D	MDD	A reduction in HAM-D and TAS- 20 scores was described, along with a negative correlation between RF and TAS-20 score.
Quilty et al. (33)	To test the role of alexithymia in influencing CBT and IPT treatment	An 16-week RCT with patients randomized	75	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT at baseline	16 weekly sessions of either IPT or CBT (no antidepressant	BDI-II and CALPAS at 3- 8 and 13 weeks; SCID	MDD	A negative correlation was described for EOT and 13-

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Reference	Objectives	Study design	Sample size	Standardized assessment of alexithymia	Treatment	Assessment tools	Diagnosis	Results
	outcome in MDD affected individuals.	either to IPT or CBT (38 to IPT, 37 to CBT)			medication was allowed during the trial)	for DSM-IV, HAM-D		week depression burden; an increased alexithymia level was also associated with lower alliance score

AAI-RF, Adult Attachment Interview-RF; BDZ, benzodiazepine; BID, Beck Depression Inventory; CALPAS, California Psychotherapy Alliance Scale; CBT, cognitive behavioral therapy; DIF, TAS-20 factor 1 Difficulty Describing Feelings; DDF, TAS-20 factor 2 Difficulty Identifying Feelings; DSM-III, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders III edition; DSM-IV, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV-edition; HAM-D, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; IPT, Interpersonal Therapy; MDD, major depressive disorder; RCT, randomized controlled trial; RF, reflective functioning; SCID, Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV; SNRI, serotonin norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor; SSRI, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; STAI, Spielberger State Trait Anxiety Inventory; STMBP, Short-Term Psychodynamic Psychotherapy with Mentalization-Based Techniques; TAS-20, Toronto Alexithymia Scale 20 items.

more difficulty in identifying their feelings at baseline were more frequently symptomatic at follow-up, displaying a substantially less favorable clinical course. Tchanturia et al. (40) conducted a cross-sectional study to evaluate a sample of 148 subjects, 105 of whom with either ongoing ED or recovered meeting DSM-IV criteria, in comparison with a group of healthy controls (n = 43)with no family or personal history of mental disorders. Patients with ongoing ED displayed higher levels of alexithymia and social anhedonia versus recovered patients, collocated on an intermediate level, and healthy controls who registered the lowest levels of alexithymia at TAS-20. A significant correlation was revealed between persistence and severity of ED symptoms and higher levels of alexithymia and social anhedonia. This correlation remained even when depression was taken into account in analysis. A study by Balestrieri and colleagues (41) analyzed the factors underlying response to a short-term (10 weeks) psychoeducational outpatient group treatment. The study was conducted on a sample of 98 patients (91% women) with a diagnosis of BED (n=54) and EDNOS (n=44) according to DSM-IV. Each treatment session included nutritional counselling, analysis of thoughts and behaviors correlated with ED, and assertiveness training. On completion of treatment patients displayed an improvement, although of negligible clinical significance, in total TAS scores. Lower levels of alexithymia at baseline were predictive of a higher probability of patients achieving recovery from ED following treatment. Finally, Ohmann et al. (42) studied 29 adolescent girls with AN in a 10-month multimodal group CBT study conducted in an outpatient setting. Treatment provided for nine modules (therapeutic motivation, psychoeducation, individual problem analysis, teaching of problem-solving strategies, soft and communication skills, hedonistic training, elements of awareness, body, and schema psychotherapy) and monthly family sessions. On request, individual CBT sessions were arranged. Three separate patient groups were subsequently obtained on the basis of outcome: good outcome (n=16), bad outcome (n=5), drop-out (n=8). Evaluations made throughout the different treatment stages (3, 6, 9, and 12 months after onset and 1 year after completion of treatment) revealed lower levels of alexithymia in the good outcome group of patients compared to the bad outcome and drop-out groups. Alexithymia was shown to be a factor resistant to change, particularly in patients with a bad outcome, even in the presence of improvement of other clinical variables including BMI, eating habits, mood, social anxiety, personal care, and self-efficacy. These findings are summarized in **Table 2**.

Alexithymia in the Treatment of Anxiety Disorders

A study carried out by Rufer et al. (43) is the sole study to have specifically investigated the role of alexithymia as a predictor of outcome in the treatment of anxiety disorders. In the context of a naturalistic study, the authors assessed the impact of alexithymia on the outcome of a short-term cognitive-behavioral group therapy (CBGT) lasting 5 weeks. Fifty-five consecutive outpatients with panic disorder (PD), 58% of whom without agoraphobia and 42% with agoraphobia, were enrolled. Forty percent of patients presented with comorbidity of one or two Axis I disorders, mainly major depression. Patients underwent CBGT and were assessed at baseline, post-treatment, and at follow-up 6 months after completion of treatment. Thirty-five percent of patients were on concomitant antidepressant treatment. Baseline alexithymia levels were not predictive of the outcome of CBGT either post-treatment or at 6-month follow-up. Conversely, the presence of comorbidity with Axis I disorders was predictive of outcome post-treatment but not at follow-up. A comparison between treatment completers and non-completers and follow-up completers and non-completers failed to reveal any significant differences in alexithymia levels. Over the course of treatment, a reduction in scores obtained for total TAS-20 and factors DIF and DDF of TAS was observed, but not for factor EOT, which remained substantially stable. A tendency towards improvement of alexithymia during treatment persisted even after verifying the potential influence of depression which strongly correlated with alexithymia pretreatment. The authors suggest that failure to detect a negative impact of alexithymia on outcome of CBGT treatment may be attributable to the efficacy of this psychotherapeutic approach on the type of patient studied, not focused specifically on the degree

TABLE 2 | Studies investigating the impact of alexithymia on treatment outcome in eating disorders.

Reference	Objectives	Study design	Sample size	Standardized assessments of alexithymia	Treatment	Assessment tools	Diagnosis	Results
Schmidt et al. (34)	To investigate alexithymia prevalence among individuals affected by DSM-III defined eating disorders as compared with healthy controls (1), eventual differences in alexithymia prevalence among the included nosological categories (2), alexithymia persistence in these conditions (3), the predicting value of alexithymia for short-term treatment outcome (4)	Combination of cross- sectional study and of a 10-week double blind placebo- controlled trial	(a)173 F cases (93 BN, 55 AN/R, 25 AN/BN); 95 healthy controls (48 F, 47 M). (b)41 F individuals affected by BN	a. TAS-26 b. TAS-26	(b) Fluoxetine vs placebo	a. BITE, BSQ b. BITE, BSQ, HAM-D	AN/RN, AN/BN, BN	 (a)Cases had a significantly higher alexithymia prevalence than controls. TAS did not correlate with BMI, BITE, BSQ. (b)TAS at t0 correlated with TAS at t1 but did not correlate to any other variable. TAS at t1 positively correlated with rater-assessed binge.
de Groot et al. (35)	To estimate alexithymia prevalence among women affected by DSM-III defined BN treated in a DH (1), alexithymia relationship with somatic symptoms and depression (2), efficacy of group psychotherapy in reducing alexithymia burden	Prospective study with assessments pre- and post- treatment; case control analysis with a comparison group assessed at 1 point only	31 cases, 20 controls	TAS-26	Psychotherapeutic group focusing on body image, nutrition, family interactions and symptoms management (average duration of treatment 9.6 weeks)	BDI, EDE, EDI	BN	A greater proportion of BN affected individuals presented alexithymia as compared with healthy controls before treatment (t0); post- treatment (t1) there was a significant reduction in alexithymia proportion among BN individuals, but it persisted at a higher level than the comparison group
Beales et al. (36)	To explore the presence of alexithymic features in a selected group of individuals affected by ED and the potential implications of the said features for the primary care setting	Survey	79	TAS-20		EDI-2, 16- PF5,	AN/R, BN and RV	A higher prevalence of alexithymia was found among AN/R and BN groups as compared with the R group; 16PF5 social skills domain negatively correlated with alexithymia
Becker- Stoll et al. (37)	To investigate the potential efficacy of an intensive 4- month intervention program on alexithymia in ED (DSM- IV defined) and the possible alexithymia role in predicting treatment outcome	Prospective design with assessments performed before (t0) and after treatment (t1)	47	TAS-20	A 4-month psychotherapeutic program employing interpersonal, cognitive-behavioral and psychoeducational methods.	EDI	AN, BN, EDNOS	There was a significant reduction in both EDI-2 and TAS-20 (especially DIF) at T1. TAS-20 score at T1 correlated with EDI2 at T1 and with a worse prognostic outlook; there was no significant correlation between TAS at t1 and the recovery state
Shiina et al. (38)	To study the efficacy of a CGCBT for BN affected individuals in the outpatient setting, further exploring the characteristic of individuals failing to respond under such treatment	Prospective design with assessments at the beginning (TO) and at the end of the treatment course (T1)	25	TAS-20	1-h weekly sessions of CGCBT over a 10- week period, including diet psychoeducation, social skill training, self- esteem enhancement, coping training for interpersonal problems	BITE, CGI-C, CGI-S, EDI-2, GAF, HAM-D, RSES	BNP, ANBP, BNNP, EDNOS	Among the 16 individuals that completed the treatment course, at T1 there was a significant reduction in BITE, GAF, EDI-2, RSES scores as compared with T0; mean TAS-20 scores showed a non- significant reduction (p= 0.06). No significant association was found

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Reference	Objectives	Study design	Sample size	Standardized assessments of alexithymia	Treatment	Assessment tools	Diagnosis	Results
Speranza	To investigate the influence	3-year	102	TAS-20 DIF,	Due to the naturalistic	MINI, BDI-13,	ED	between TAS-20 and treatment outcome. At the 3-year follow-up
et al. (39)	of alexithymia on treatment outcome in a large sample of ED affected individuals	longitudinal study		DDF, EOT	study design no treatment was specifically recommended; of the total sample 57% was undergoing psychotherapy, 40% was on antidepressants	CGI-S, PSRS		assessment 76 patients were judged to have an unfavourable prognosis with DIF being a significant predictor of a negative outcome
Tchanturia et al. (40)	To explore the complex interplay between ED, social anhedonia and alexithymia	Observational study	148	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT	Due to the observational nature of the study, no specific treatment was recommended	SCID for DSM-IV, DASS, EDE- Q, RSAS	AN, BN	A positive correlation was described between social anhedonia and alexithymia
Balestrieri et al. (41)	To explore the efficacy of a 10-week psychoeducational group program among BED and EDNOS affected individuals, and the persistence of its eventual benefits	A 1-year follow-up study with assessments before treatment (T0), after treatment (t1) and at 1-year follow up (T2)	98	TAS-20	10-week psychoeducational group including nutritional interventions and thoughts related to eating disorder along with assertiveness training. After the first 10- weeks, those individuals still satisfying ED criteria were involved in a further extension protocol comprising 8 additional monthly sessions	EDI-2, EDI- SC, HADS	BED, EDNOS	A lower or absent alexithymia level was associated with a higher likelihood of responding to treatment
Ohmann et al. (42)	To explore emotional problems of young individuals affected by AN and undergoing GCBT	A 12-month follow-up study with assessments before treatment (T0), during treatment (at 3 and 6 months, T1 and T2, respectively), and post- treatment (T3) after 12 months	29	TAS-26	GCBT focusing on psychoeducation, schema psychotherapy, communication skill training, problem analysis, therapeutic motivation, hedonistic training, problem solving (5 individuals were concomitantly treated with antidepressants)	ASW, BDI, JTCI, MDI, YSR	AN	Only two patients described themselves as not alexithymic. Alexithymia presented a non-significant trend toward improvement in responding individuals.

16PF5, Sixteen Personality Factor Questionnaire 5th Edition; AN/RN, Anorexia Nervosa/Restrictive subtype; AN/BN, Anorexia Nervosa/Bulimic subtype; NBP, Anorexia Nervosa Bingeeating/Purging type; ASW, Assessment of Self-Efficacy; BDI-13, Beck Depression Inventory 13 items version; BITE, Bulimic Investigatory Test; BMI, Body Mass Index; BNNP, Bulimia Nervosa Non-Purging type; BNP, Bulimia Nervosa Purging type; BSQ, Body Shape Questionnaire; CGCBT, Combined Group Cognitive Behavioral Therapy; CGI-C, Clinical Global Impression Change; CGI-S, Clinical Global Impression Severity; DIF, TAS-20 factor 1 Difficulty Describing Feelings; DDF, TAS-20 factor 2 Difficulty Identifying Feelings; DSM-III, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders III-edition; DSM-IV, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV-edition; EDI-Q, Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire; EDI-2, Eating Disorder Inventory-2; EDI-SC, Eating Disorder Inventory-Symptom Checklist; EDNOS, eating disorders; EDE-Q, Eating Disorder Therapy; HADS, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; HAM-D, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; HC, healthy control; JTCI, Junior Temperament and Character Inventory; MDI, Marburg Diagnostic Inventory; MINI, Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview; PSRS, Psychiatric Status Rating Scale; RAN, recovered anorexia nervosa; RSAS, Revised Social Anhedonia Scale; RSES, Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale; RV, recovered; SPS, Social Phobia Scale; SIAS, Social Interaction Anxiety Scale; TAS-20, Toronto Alexithymia Scale-20; YSR, Youth Self Report. of insight nor on verbal interventions, but rather on behavioral "experiments" such as exposure (43). The opportunity for alexithymic patients with PD to experience new emotional events during exposure sessions might motivate patients to modify a series of dysfunctional beliefs and behaviors, in turn capable of impacting positively on their anxiety symptoms. These studies are listed in **Table 3**.

Alexithymia in the Treatment of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorders

Two studies on Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) were identified in our systematic review. The first study to investigate the role of alexithymia as predictor of treatment response in PTSD dates back to 1992 (44). The authors analyzed a sample of 57 Vietnam veterans affected by PTSD according to DSM-III. The impact of alexithymia on response to treatment was evaluated in the context of an 8-week randomized controlled double-blind trial with two treatment arms (imipramine and phenelzine) and 1 placebo arm. All participants underwent concomitant individual psychotherapy based on a short-term psychodynamic approach. Alexithymia levels were assessed using the APRQ. Lower levels of alexithymia were predictive of a better outcome for avoidance items (emotional numbing, distance from others, and efforts to avoid thinking about the traumatic event) on the Impact of Events Scale (IES), irrespective of the severity of trauma. This finding was only relevant for placebo-treated subjects receiving psychotherapy. No impact was observed for on intrusion items of the IES or in pharmacologically-subjects receiving psychotherapy. As all three treatment groups received psychotherapy in addition to the pharmacological agent, the results of the study suggest that psychotherapy alone may not be effective in reducing avoidance symptoms in alexithymic patients with PTSD. More recently, Zorzella et al. (56) examined the role of alexithymia in terms of improvement of trauma-specific difficulties experienced before and after trauma therapy in women with a history of childhood abuse. Date were collected from 167 women enrolled in the Women Recovering from Abuse Program (WRAP), an 8-week multimodal treatment program comprising a series of therapeutic options, both group and individual, specifically devised for women with a history of severe childhood trauma. Contrary to expectations, baseline alexithymia levels were not predictive of the magnitude of change registered post-treatment in PTSD symptoms, dissociation, and interpersonal issues. Higher baseline levels of alexithymia (TAS-20) prior to any form of treatment were found to be predictive of increased severity of PTSD, higher degree of dissociation, and additional interpersonal difficulties. At the same time, improvement in alexithymia levels over the course of treatment correlated significantly with better treatment response in terms of symptoms of PTSD, levels of dissociation, and interpersonal difficulties. The methodology applied in the study does not enable a causal relationship to be established between these variables. These studies are summarized in Table 3.

Alexithymia in the Treatment of Personality Disorders

Two studies analyzed the impact of alexithymia on the treatment of personality disorders. The first study to analyze the implications of alexithymia on treatment outcome in personality disorders (PD) was carried out by McMain et al. (51). The authors conducted an exploratory study aimed at investigating the relationship between specific emotional processes and cognitive problem-solving processes and treatment outcome in subjects with borderline personality disorder (BPD). Patients were recruited from an extended sample of subjects enrolled in a randomized controlled study to compare the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of a yearly program of Dialectical Behavior Therapy (DBT) or General Psychiatric Management (GPM), a multimodal outpatient treatment comprised of individual psychodynamic therapy, case management, and symptom-targeted medication management. The sample selected for the study was made up of 80 subjects, mainly women, all of whom treatment completers, in line with the specific aims of the study. The majority of participants presented with one or more comorbidities with other Axis I and/or Axis II mental disorders (major depressive disorder, anxiety disorders, and substance use disorders). Assessments were carried out at baseline (pre-treatment) and then every 4 months during the course of active treatment. An analysis was conducted to ascertain whether changes observed during treatment (identification of emotions, ability to describe emotions, externalizing, verbalization of positive emotions, affect balance, perceived cognitive problem solving) impacted on treatment outcome. Assessments were made bearing in mind the working alliance, a consolidated outcome predictor. Improvements observed over the course of treatment relating to the ability to identify, describe, and fully experience emotions were associated with a more favorable treatment outcome (symptom distress and interpersonal functioning). Löf et al. (51) conducted a longitudinal naturalistic study aimed at assessing the effectiveness of Mentalization-based treatment (MBT) and psychiatric and psychological moderators of outcome in a sample of 75 patients with BPD. Evaluations were made at baseline and 6, 12, and 18 months after start of treatment. Treatment proved effective on borderline symptoms and on general psychiatric symptoms, suicidality, self-harm, alexithymia, particularly difficult in identifying feelings, and self-image. Alexithymia, similarly to severity of BPD and, in general, to psychological moderators, revealed no predictive effect in terms of outcome. These studies are summarized in Table 3.

Alexithymia in the Treatment of Obsessive-Compulsive Disorders

Our systematic review identified two studies assessing the role of alexithymia in obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) treatment. Rufer et al. (47) evaluated absolute and relative stability of alexithymia in response to treatment and the predictive power of alexithymia on treatment outcome in patients with OCD.

TABLE 3 | Studies investigating the impact of alexithymia on treatment outcome in diverse psychiatric disorders.

Reference	Objectives	Study design	Sample size	Standardized assessments of alexithymia	Treatment	Assessment tools	Diagnosis	Results	
Kosten et al. (44)	To explore the complex interplay between alexithymia and treatment outcome in PTSD	An 8-week double blind RCT with randomization to either imipramine, phenelzine or placebo	57	APRQ	8-week course of either imipramine, phenelzine or placebo	IES	PTSD	Alexithymia level was significantly associated with a worse treatment outcome	
Bach and Bach (45)	To evaluate pre- treatment alexithymia as a potential outcome predicting factor among individuals affected by SD, along with the assessment of alexithymia level heterogeneity among different diagnostic categories	Prospective design with assessments performed at baseline and at 2-years follow-up	30	TAS-26	Integrated behavioral therapy over a minimum of 8 weeks including exposure, group cognitive therapy, muscle relaxation and assertiveness training	WI, SCID, SCL-90R	SD, PD, HY, USD	A non-significant correlation between higher pre-treatment TAS-26 score and USD persistence at follow-up was described	
McCallum et al. (46)	To explore the predicting value of alexithymia and PM	Reanalysis of two previously published clinical trials	251	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT	Either 12 weeks of weekly STGT or 20 weeks of STIT	PMAP	CG, MDD, AVO, DEP, BPD, DST, OCD, PAB	AVO, DEP,	A modest portion of improvement variance was linked to alexithymia and PM in both treatment group.
Rufer et al. (47)	To test the predicting value of alexithymia among OCD patients undergoing CBT	Prospective design with assessment before and after treatment	39	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT	Multimodal CBT (25 individuals received concomitant antidepressant)	Y-BOCS, HAM-D	OCD	Alexithymia level did not predict treatment outcome	
Rufer et al. (48)	To investigate alexithymia outcome predicting value for OCD in the long term	A 6-year prospective design with assessments before, after treatment and at 6 years follow-up	34	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT	Multimodal CBT (25 individuals received concomitant antidepressant)	Y-BOCS, HAM-D	OCD	Alexithymia level did not predict treatment outcome at follow-up	
Grabe et al. (49)	To explore alexithymia persistence in the inpatient setting and its influence on the outcome	Prospective analysis with assessments at T0 at baseline, T1 at 4 weeks and at discharge T2	297	TAS-20	Treatment duration varied from 8 up to 12 weeks administered in the inpatient setting and included: 3 weekly sessions of psychodynamic STGT and 1 weekly session of individual psychotherapy; daily art, sport, movement and relaxation therapy (medications were administered as needed)	SCL-90R, GSI	AUD, MDD, ADD, SFD, DIS, ED, PED	Higher levels of psychological stress were described among alexithymic individuals as compared with non- alexithymic individuals; alexithymia was not associated with a higher likelihood of early withdrawal from therapy, nor with a higher degree of treatment resistance. Nonetheless, a higher post-treatment GSI was described among alexithymic	
Leweke et al. (50)	To investigate baseline alexithymia influence on treatment outcome in an inpatient setting	Prospective design with a 4 or an 8- week treatment course depending on	480	TAS-26 DIF, DDF, EOT, RD	administered as needed) Multimodal treatment including psychodynamic oriented individual psychotherapy, associated with art, group body and music	SCL-90R, GSI	DD, ADS, ASD, PTSD, ADJ, SFD, ED	alexithymic Alexithymia was associated with a small risk for worse outcome as compared with non-alexithymic.	

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

Reference	Objectives	Study design	Sample size	Standardized assessments of alexithymia	Treatment	Assessment tools	Diagnosis	Results
Löf et al., (51)	To investigate the complex interplay between alexithymia, self- image and treatment outcome among BPD undergoing MBT.	the underlying condition Prospective design with a 12-month treatment course; assessments were performed at baseline, at 6, 12, and 18 months.	75	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT, RD	therapy; pharmacotherapy was offered as needed Multimodal treatment comprising individual and group MBT; pharmacotherapy was administered as needed.	DSHI-9, KABOSS-S, MINI, RQ, SASB, SCID- II, SCL-90-R, ZAN-BPD	BPD	No correlation was described between treatment outcome and alexithymia.
Rufer et al. (43)	To test alexithymia predictive value on treatment outcome among PD individuals receiving a course of CBT (1), and the eventual change of alexithymia over time (2).	Prospective	55	TAS-20 total score, DIF, DDF, EOT	5 sessions of GCBT (19 patients received concomitant pharmacotherapy)	MINI, BDI, PAS-20	without	Alexithymia level decreased over time, but it did not predict GCBT outcome. The EOT factor remained more stable over time.
Ogrodniczuk et al. (45)	To test the potential efficacy of a group therapy among outpatient psychiatric users, and the impact eventual alexithymia changes in interpersonal functioning	Prospective 2- year observational study with assessments at baseline, post-therapy and at 3 months follow-up	68	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT	5 weekly sessions of group therapy for 3 months	BDI, IIP-28	AD, DD, PED	Alexithymia level was associated with greater interpersonal difficulties at follow-up, with higher alexithymia changes corresponding to greater improvement in interpersonal functioning
McMain et al. (52)	•	A subset analysis of an RCT	80	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT	Either multiple weekly sessions of DBT (individual and group therapy) or GPM (combined psychodynamic and pharmacotherapy)	DABS, SCID- I, SCL-90-R, IIP-64, LIWC	BPD	No significant correlation was described between alexithymia level and treatment outcome; changes on the DDF significantly predicted IIP improvements
Terock et al. (53)	To study the relationship between alexithymia, SD and their eventual influence on the outcome	Prospective analysis with assessments at admission and discharge	716	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT	6-8 weeks of psychodynamic oriented therapy with cognitive behavioral elements (pharmacotherapy was offered as needed)	SCL-90R, GSI, TCI	AD, AUD, ED, PED, SFD	The DIF was the only factor in the TAS-20 predicting treatment outcome.
Probst et al. (54)	To explore the complex interplay between alexithymia, therapeutic alliance and	Reanalysis of a 12-week RCT	83	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT	12 sessions of weekly PIT	SCID for DSM-IV, HAQ, PHQ-9, PCS	MSD	No significant relationship was described between alexithymia, therapist alliance and treatment outcome when controlling for depression burden

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

Reference	Objectives	Study design	Sample size	Standardized assessments of alexithymia	Treatment	Assessment tools	Diagnosis	Results
McGillivray (55)	treatment outcome in MSD To study the potential influence of alexithymia on treatment outcome	Prospective study with assessments performed at the beginning and at the end of the treatment	61	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT	Integrated group therapy CBT-based	DASS-42	AD, MD, SFD, PED	No significant correlation was described between alexithymia and treatment outcome either at baseline or after treatment
Zorzella et al. (56)	To test the influence of alexithymia on treatment outcome among women with a history of sexual abuse	course Prospective study with assessments were performed at baseline (T0), post BRG (T1), post WRAP (T2)	51	TAS-20 DIF, DDF, EOT	4-6 weekly sessions of a group therapy (BRG) followed by a further 8- week course of multimodal trauma therapy WRAP (e.g. CBT, Psychoeducation, IPT)	CTQSF, PTSDC, DES, IIP, MMPI, PSI, WAI-S	PTSD	A significant correlation was described between alexithymia improvements at T1 and T2 and changes in dissociation, PTSD and IP at the same timepoints

AD, anxiety disorders: ADD, adjustment disorder: ADJ, adjustment disorder: APRO, Alexithymia Provoked Response Questionnaire: ASD, acute stress disorders: AUD, alcohol use disorder; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; BPD, borderline personality disorder; BRG, Building Resources Group; CBT, cognitive behavioral therapy; CG, complicated grief; CTSFQ, Childhood Trauma Questionnaire Short Form; DABS, Derogatis Affects Balance Scale; DASS, Depression Anxiety Stress Scale; DD, depressive disorders; DIF, TAS-20 factor 1 Difficulty Identifying Feelings; DDF, TAS-20 factor 2 Difficulty Describing Feelings; DIS, dissociative disorders; DSHI, Deliberate Self-Harm Inventory-9; DSM-III, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders III; DST, dysthymia; ED, eating disorders; EOT, TAS-20 factor 3 Externally Oriented Thinking; GSI, Global Severity Index; GPM, general psychiatric management; HAM-A, Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale; HAM-D, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; HAQ, Helping Alliance Questionnaire; HC, healthy control; HY, hypochondria; IES, Impact of Events Scale; IIP-64, Inventory of Interpersonal Problems-64 items; IIP-28, Inventory of Interpersonal Problems-28; IPT, Interpersonal Therapy; KABOSS-S, Karolinska Borderline and Symptoms Scales; LIWC, Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count; MBT, Mentalisation-based Therapy; MD, mood disorders; MDD, major depressive disorder; MINI, Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview for DSM-IV; MMPI, Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory; MSD, Multisomatoform Disorder; PCS, Physical Component Summary from the SF-36; PD, panic disorder; PED, personality disorders; PHQ-9, Patient Health Questionnaire; PIT, Psychodynamic-Interpersonal Psychotherapy; PM, psychological mindedness; PMAP, Psychological Mindedness Assessment Procedure; PSI, Problem-Solving Inventory; PTSD, posttraumatic stress disorders; PTSDC, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Checklist; RD, reduced daydream; RQ, Relationship Questionnaire; SASB, Structural Analysis of Social Behavior; SCID-II, Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis-II disorders; SCL-90, Symptoms Checklist 90R; SD, somatization disorder; SED, self-directedness; SFD, somatoform disorder; STGT, Short-Term Group Therapy; STIT, Short-Term Individual Therapy; STP, short-term psychotherapy; TAS-20, Toronto Alexithymia Scale 20 items; TCI, Temperament and Character Inventory; USD, Undifferentiated Somatoform Disorder; WAI-S, Working Alliance Inventory, short form; WI, Whiteley Index; WRAP, Women Recovering From Abuse Program; Y-BOCS, Yale-Brown Obsessive-Compulsive Scale; ZAN-BPD, Zanarini Rating Scale for Borderline Personality Disorder.

Forty-two patients affected by OCD were recruited to the study, hospitalized, and subjected to intensive multimodal CBT for a mean period of 70 days. Treatment provided for both individual and groups sessions, as well as pharmacological treatment with antidepressants, largely fluvoxamine, for some of the patients. Although treatment proved effective on obsessive compulsive symptoms and associated depressive symptoms, no significant changes were observed from pre- to post-treatment for total TAS-20 or factors DIF and EOT. A decrease in levels of factor DDF alone was registered during treatment, and a relative stability of alexithymia emerged as a personality trait rather than a state-dependent phenomenon in obsessive-compulsive patients. Neither alexithymia pre-treatment nor other variables examined (depression and pharmacological treatment) appeared to significantly predict response to multimodal CBT in OCD. Bearing in mind the limitations of the previous study which, being devoid of a follow-up period, had not enabled the longterm course of alexithymia or its predictive power on the longterm outcome of treatment to be established, Rufer et al. (48), followed on from this work to conduct a long-term study with a

6-year follow-up period. Thirty-four of the 42 patients enrolled in the previous study (47) were recruited and, thus, reassessed 6 years after their hospitalization. In addition to confirming the relative long-term stability of alexithymia, the study also confirmed the absence of a predictive power of alexithymia levels, both pre- and post-treatment, on the long-term outcome of OCD. On the other hand, the decrease in alexithymia levels observed at follow-up (total TAS-20, DIF, and DDF) may have been implicated in protecting some patients against a worsening of obsessive-compulsive symptoms during the follow-up period. These findings are illustrated in **Table 3**.

Alexithymia in the Treatment of Somatoform Disorders

The only study to date to have specifically investigated the role of alexithymia as predictor of treatment outcome in somatoform disorders (SD) was carried out by Probst et al. (54). In reanalyzing data from a multicenter randomized, controlled trial on brief psychodynamic-interpersonal therapy (PIT) for patients with multisomatoform disorders, the authors addressed the issue of whether alexithymia moderated the association

between therapeutic alliance and outcome of PIT and the implications of the depression variable on these potential effects. 107 patients affected by multisomatoform disorder with pain as predominant symptom were randomized to PIT (duration 12 weeks) and 104 patients to the control condition (enhanced medical care, EMC). Only the subsample randomized to PIT was considered for the purpose of analysis, based on the singular relevance of the therapeutic alliance in PIT compared to the control condition. All patients met the criteria for a somatic disorder according to DSM-5. The outcome was based on selfreported physical quality of life 9 months after completion of treatment. Pre-treatment alexithymia and therapeutic alliance post-treatment and at 9-month follow-up were rated by both patients and therapists. Neither alexithymia nor therapeutic alliance correlated with PIT outcome. On considering patientrated therapeutic alliance, alexithymia was not found to moderate the associations between alliance and outcome. Conversely, when considering therapist-rated therapeutic alliance, alexithymia was found to significantly moderate the relationship between alliance and treatment outcome. A stronger alliance in the therapists' perspective was beneficial for the outcome only in patients with very high scores at TAS-20, and therefore with very high levels of alexithymia. The importance of the therapist's perception of a good alliance with the patient is underlined, also in view of an improved outcome when treating patients with alexithymia. As demonstration of the complex interaction between alexithymia and depression, the significance of alexithymia as a moderator of the allianceoutcome link was lost when pre-treatment levels of depression as covariate to the moderation model. These results are presented in Table 3.

Alexithymia and Its Impact on Treatment in Samples With Diverse Psychiatric Disorders

A series of studies assessed the impact of alexithymia on treatment response analysis samples with diverse diagnoses. Bach & Bach (57) investigated the potential role of alexithymia in predicting long-term treatment outcome in 30 patients admitted to hospital for somatoform (36.7%) and panic disorders (63.3%). Thirteen of the 19 patients affected by panic disorder presented with an additional diagnosis of somatoform disorder. In all subjects, the presence of functional somatic symptoms, mainly cardiorespiratory, gastrointestinal, and neurological symptoms constituted the main reason underlying request for treatment. All patients underwent integrative behavior therapy with both group and individual sessions over a period of hospitalization of no less than 8 weeks. The study envisaged diagnostic assessment prior to hospitalization and 2 years after discharge. Assessment at 2-year follow-up revealed how patients who met the criteria for undifferentiated somatoform disorder had presented with higher baseline levels of alexithymia (TAS-26) versus patients who had gone into remission from the somatoform disorder and those who had never met the criteria for somatoform disorder. No other baseline or follow-up diagnosis was found to correlate significantly with baseline levels of alexithymia. Higher levels

of alexithymia at baseline were therefore predictive of a persistent somatization, irrespective of other variables relating to psychopathology, socio-demographics or severity of the disorder, thus demonstrating the potential role of alexithymia in predicting relapse in the long-term and a less favorable response to treatment in somatizing patients. The presence of alexithymic characteristics, and therefore, a difficulty for patients to identify and share their feelings, might make these subjects more susceptible to communicating through use of bodily sensations, an aspect that could complicate the process of recovery from their illness. Several years later, McCallum et al. (46) explored the impact of alexithymia and psychological mindedness (PM) as predictors of outcome in 4 forms of short-term psychotherapy. Data were extrapolated from two comparative trials of interpretive therapy versus supportive therapy. The first trial provided for a once-weekly session of short-term group therapy over a period of 12 weeks in 107 outpatients with complicated grief. The second trial involved 144 psychiatric outpatients with a mixed diagnosis, who underwent once-weekly short-term individual therapy for a total of 20 weeks. Seventy-one percent of patients met the criteria for an Axis I diagnosis, with a higher prevalence of major depressive disorder; fifty-five percent of patients were affected by an Axis II disorder; 38% of patients received a diagnosis of both Axis I and Axis II disorders. In the two trials, both alexithymia (TAS-20) and PM were found to be predictive of outcome. Higher levels of PM and lower levels of alexithymia were associated with a more favorable response to the four forms of therapy, with the additive effect of the two variables on outcome. In supportive individual therapy, the DDF factor of TAS-20 was inversely associated with an improvement on General Symptoms. In the short-term individual therapy trial, the DIF factor was found to be inversely associated with improvement on General Symptoms and Social-Sexual Maladjustment; the EOT factor was inversely associated with improvement on Social-Sexual Maladjustment. One clinical implication of these findings may lie in the hypothesis whereby, generally speaking, patients with lower levels of alexithymia and a higher PM may prove better suited to psychotherapy, both of an interpretative and supportive nature. Likewise, patients displaying high levels of alexithymia and low levels of PM pre-treatment may experience an improvement of these characteristics following psychotherapy, and thus benefit from treatment in the same way as subjects who approach therapy with low levels of alexithymia and high levels of PM. With regard to the impact of alexithymia of the different forms of interpretative and supportive therapy, non-alexithymic patients were generally found to benefit from both supportive and interpretative treatment. Contrary to expectations, and bearing in mind the specific deficits of subjects with alexithymia, although alexithymia was not found to interfere with the ability of patients to gain benefit from individual interpretative therapy, it was however seen to interfere with their ability to benefit from individual supportive treatment, at least in terms of improvement of symptoms. The authors suggested that this finding might be explained by the attitude of the therapist during supportive therapy; indeed, by avoiding

the exploration and interpretation of an association between symptoms and underlying feelings, the therapist could further exacerbate the initial difficulty of the alexithymic subject to identify and share his or her feelings. Although the findings of the study underline the predictive value of alexithymia on treatment outcome, they however fail to provide sufficient elements to allow this variable to be considered of use in opting for one specific therapeutic approach over another.

Grabe et al. (49) assessed a total of 414 consecutive psychiatric patients admitted for hospital treatment, 297 of whom had been followed up at 4 weeks (T1) and 8-12 weeks (T2) after discharge. Patients underwent psychodynamic group therapy in a naturalistic setting over a period of 8-12 weeks. Pharmacological treatment was offered when clinically indicated. Art therapy, sport therapy, relaxation therapy, body, and movement therapy were available on a daily basis. Patients admitted to psychotherapy were affected by depressive disorders, anxiety and adjustment disorders, somatoform disorders, eating disorders, and comorbid alcohol-related disorders and personality disorders. Subjects with alexithymia at T0 displayed a higher Global Severity Index at Symptom Checklist-90, and consequently increased psychopathological distress at T0, T1, and T2. Over the course of treatment, the group with alexithymia displayed a significant improvement over time of alexithymia levels and at individual factors at TAS-20, at variance with the very slight reduction in TAS scores manifested by the patients without alexithymia. Levels of alexithymia in patients who had suspended treatment within the first 4 weeks were no higher than those of patients who had continued treatment, thus highlighting a lack of interference of the alexithymia variable on treatment compliance. Alexithymic features were therefore found predictive of a worse long-term outcome in this study. In the context of an extended study conducted on 480 psychiatric patients from a series of diagnostic categories (eating disorder, depressive disorder, anxiety disorder, acute or post-traumatic stress disorder, somatoform disorder), Leweke et al. (50) assessed alexithymia as outcome predictor of psychodynamic-oriented multimodal inpatient therapy. The treatment program included both individual and group psychodynamic-oriented therapy, art and music therapy, and pharmacological treatment as indicated. Both short-term and long-term treatments were envisaged, with duration ranging from 4 to 8-12 weeks. A high baseline level of alexithymia (TAS-26) was found to be a significant predictor of treatment outcome only in patients with somatoform disorder, with a marked association with the DDF factor, whereby subjects registering higher scores at factor DDF displayed a less favorable evolution of symptoms.

Ogrodniczuk et al. (45) evaluated 68 psychiatric outpatients with heterogeneous psychopathological issues who were enrolled in a comprehensive group therapy program organized in group sessions 5 days a week for a total of 12 weeks. Patients were assessed at baseline, post-therapy, and at 3-month follow-up. Alexithymia levels, in particular factor DIF at TAS-20, were found to improve significantly during treatment. A reduction in alexithymia levels during treatment and throughout the followup period were significantly associated with an improvement in interpersonal issues both during treatment and the follow-up period, i.e. in the long-term. The findings of the study confirmed the hypothesis according to which a positive change in alexithymia levels may contribute towards an improved treatment outcome, particularly with regard to interpersonal functioning. In the light of this evidence, the authors highlighted the feasibility of considering alexithymic traits as changeable features, thus focusing treatment come on the optimal management of the same with the aim of producing a positive impact on treatment outcome. In 2015, Terock et al. (53) investigated the impact of alexithymia and self-directedness (SD) on general psychopathology and on treatment outcome in a sample of 716 consecutively admitted day-clinic outpatients with alcohol/drug dependence and abuse (8.7%), depressive disorders (84.4%), anxiety and somatoform disorders (18.3%), eating disorders (0.6%), and personality disorders (20,5%). Routine treatment provided for psychodynamic-oriented psychotherapy with the inclusion of elements of CBT. Duration of the treatment program ranged from 6 to 8 weeks according to patients' individual needs. The program included sessions of art therapy, group therapies, and individual psychotherapy, in addition to pharmacological treatment when clinically indicated. Both baseline alexithymia levels (TAS-20) and SD levels were found to be significant predictors of psychopathological stress at baseline at the Global Severity Index of SCL-90 (GSIT0). SD, but not alexithymia levels, proved to be a significant predictor of treatment outcome as measured by GSI at T1. The DIF factor of TAS was the only strong predictor of GSI both at T0 and T1, thus constituting the sole alexithymic factor capable of predicting treatment outcome. Changes in levels at TAS-20, together with changes in SD were predictive of GSI at T1. The results obtained highlight the higher impact of the SD variable on treatment outcome compared to alexithymia. More recently, McGillivray et al. (55) evaluated the role of alexithymia on treatment outcome in a naturalistic group therapy setting. Sixty-one psychiatric outpatients affected by mood disorders (54.1%), neurotic, stress-related, and somatoform disorders (19.7%), disorders of adult personality and behavior (14.8%), schizophrenia, schizotypal, and delusional disorders (9.8%) and behavioral syndromes associated with physiological disturbances and physiological factors (1.6%) were enrolled in the study and assessed both pre- and posttreatment. Treatment lasted for approximately 8 weeks and was based on a CBT approach. Baseline alexithymia levels, in relation to both total scores obtained at TAS-20 and to individual factors, was not found to be a significant predictor of treatment outcome (change in psychological distress) once baseline psychological distress was controlled for. In the course of treatment, a small, albeit significant, reduction in mean alexithymia scores at TAS-20, and reduction in alexithymia levels during treatment, proved to be a significant predictor of a decrease in psychological distress during treatment. The authors hypothesized that absence of a correlation between baseline alexithymia levels and treatment outcome might be associated with the efficacy of the implemented group cognitive behavioral therapy on the alexithymia dimension, as demonstrated by the findings of the study. All these findings are summarized in **Table 3**.

DISCUSSION

Over the years increasing debate has been focused on the issue of whether, and if so to what extent, alexithymia should be considered a stable personality trait or a phenomenon linked to psychopathological status, and whether it is capable of predicting treatment outcome. However, in spite of the increasingly frequent findings confirming the clinical significance of alexithymia and its correlation with a wide range of physical complaints and mental disorders, studies conducted to investigate, in the context of psychiatric disorders, the implications of alexithymia as a predictor of treatment outcome are still numerically scarce and methodologically limited. More and more frequently in the field of psychiatry, the finding of sub-optimal responses to treatment requires an increasingly personalized treatment plan focused on the individual and his or her characteristics, problems, and specific needs, rather than merely on his or her illness. The need to improve treatment outcome in the case of mental disorders implies a growing urgency to identify outcome predictors, both generally and in specific categories of patients and for specific therapeutic approaches. The reasons underlying the hypothesis whereby alexithymia is purported to be significantly implicated in terms of impact on the outcome of mental disorders are numerous and include a negative influence of alexithymia on clinical expression of the disorder and on response to therapeutic intervention, its correlation with other disorders and pathological behaviors, in addition to treatment choices made by the clinician and the clinical setting. Of note, a recent study showed that distinct clinical and sociodemographic characteristics, such as lower educational level, high rates of psychiatric comorbidity as well as of cardiological comorbid disorder, were associated with alexithymia in mood disorder patients (16). These findings point to alexithymia as a relevant determinant of adverse outcomes in psychiatric disorders, underlying its potential in the implementation of personalized care. For the purpose of the present review, a total of 30 studies were selected and analyzed. Eating disorders represented the mental disorders in which alexithymia fostered increasing interest as a predictor of outcome. These were followed by mood disorders (depressive disorders), personality disorders (borderline personality disorders), post-traumatic and obsessive-compulsive disorders, and lastly, somatoform (multisomatoform disorders) and anxiety disorders (panic disorder). Overall, seven studies focused on the analysis of mixed patient samples with a series of psychiatric diagnoses. Almost all studies selected featured a longitudinal prospective design, 1 study had a retrospective design (27), and 2 studies a cross-sectional design (36, 40). The studies invariably focused on evaluation of the predictive impact of alexithymia on the outcome of different forms of group or individual

psychotherapy (cognitive behavioral therapy, psychodynamic therapy, interpersonal therapy, psychodynamic-interpersonal therapy, psychoeducational therapy, mentalization-based treatment, rhythmic movement therapy, dialectical behavior therapy) conducted in a series of treatment settings (doctor's surgery, day-hospital, hospital). Three studies alone assessed the impact of alexithymia primarily on the outcome of pharmacological treatment (imipramine and phenelzine versus placebo; fluvoxamine; paroxetine) (26, 34, 44). It should however be highlighted that even when the primary treatment was psychotherapy, a percentage of patients also received concomitant pharmacological treatment. In many cases the treatment program provided for an integrated approach comprising both individual and group psychotherapeutic and pharmacological measures, in addition to the use of a series of psychotherapeutic techniques. This prevented the identification of the degree of impact of specific approaches or measures on alexithymia levels and insight into the type of interventions impacted to a greater extent by alexithymia, particularly in terms of outcome. In the majority of cases, samples recruited were relatively small, scarcely representative, and featured a marked heterogeneity with regard to patient characteristics (outpatients, inpatients, acute or chronic, with varying degrees of severity and alexithymia levels), diagnostic groups considered, and psychiatric comorbidities. Moreover, in view of the scarce number of patients assessed in the majority of studies selected, the additional impact of missing data both post-treatment and during the follow-up period, if envisaged, should be taken into account. A short longitudinal observation period was implemented in numerous studies, limiting assessment of alexithymia levels to pre- and post-treatment. Only a few studies implemented a medium to long-term follow-up (28, 32, 37, 39, 42, 43, 45, 48, 49, 51, 54, 57), the presence of a control group of healthy individuals (34, 35, 40) or comparison between the different therapeutic approaches used (27, 33, 44, 46, 52, 54). Moreover, in the studies selected, the alexithymia dimension was detected solely by means of self-reported assessments which, in view of the issues addressed and the high risk of confounding by other pathological variables, may not be sufficiently reliable in measuring the true entity of alexithymic involvement. Finally, certain studies Overall, although the results obtained should be read and interpreted bearing in mind the numerous limitations of studies available to date, the data provided largely correlate lower baseline and/or post-treatment levels of alexithymia and/ or improvement in alexithymia levels over the course of treatment, with a less favorable treatment outcome on the mental disorders considered.

A smaller number of studies, although substantial (8 out of 30 studies), failed to acknowledge a predictive role for alexithymia in terms of treatment outcome (28, 32, 38, 43, 47, 48, 51, 54). In the study by Kosten et al. (44), a double-blind, randomized controlled trial of patients with PTSD, higher levels of alexithymia were found to be predictive of a worse outcome with regard to avoidance symptoms, although only in subjects treated with placebo and psychotherapy. This finding led the authors to hypothesize that when given alone, psychotherapy

may not be effective in reducing avoidance symptoms in PTSD patients with alexithymia. In the study conducted by Leweke et al. (50) higher baseline levels of alexithymia were a significant predictor of treatment outcome only in individuals affected by somatoform disorder, showing a particularly strong correlation with the DDF factor, with higher scores indicating a less favorable evolution of symptoms in these subjects.

When the studies included did not report correlations between levels of alexithymia and treatment outcome, to justify this lack of confirmation the authors mentioned: efficacy of treatment on alexithymia, and therefore improvement of alexithymia in the course of treatment; increased feasibility and adaptability of a series of therapeutic approaches in patients with alexithymia; a different impact of alexithymia in relation to the diagnostic group considered. In the context of the naturalistic study conducted by Rufer et al. (43) the authors attributed failure to detect a negative impact of alexithymia on treatment outcome to the type of psychotherapy approach based on behavioral "experiments" used in the study, maintaining that this approach may have elicited a change in alexithymic features, thus impacting positively on symptoms of anxiety.

Throughout the majority of studies analyzed, the impact of alexithymia on treatment outcome was assessed on the basis of the association between baseline alexithymia levels and outcome variables post-treatment and, where relevant, at follow up. In other cases, the correlation between improvement in alexithymia levels during treatment and outcome variables was analyzed (45). In vet others, both aspects were taken into account, at times yielding discordant findings (55, 56). In the study carried out by Zorzella et al. (56) in a sample of patients with PTSD, an improvement in alexithymia levels over the course of treatment was found to correlate significantly with a better response to treatment, in relation to both PTSD symptoms and levels of dissociation and interpersonal difficulties. This was in line with the findings of McGillivray et al. (55) who investigated a sample of psychiatric outpatients with different diagnoses, all of whom treated with CBT. In some studies, the evaluation was limited to alexithymia levels post-treatment and outcome variables (36, 40). Despite a failure to detect a correlation between correlation between baseline alexithymia levels and treatment outcome, other studies highlighted how higher levels of alexithymia post-treatment, indicating persistent alexithymia, correlated with an increased severity of the disorder post-treatment, and accordingly, with a lower response to treatment (34, 37).

Most of the studies examined confined their evaluation to the global alexithymia construct, implying that total baseline or posttreatment TAS scores or improvements in total TAS over the course of treatment correlated with outcome variables. A smaller number of studies investigated the different facets of alexithymia and assessed their impact as predictor of outcome. The study conducted by Speranza et al. (39) found the DIF factor to be the best predictor of an unfavorable outcome, being negatively correlated in particular with clinical improvement of patients with severe or chronic eating disorders. This was in line with the findings of Ogrodniczuk et al. (27) and Terock et al. (53). Accordingly, a difficulty in identifying feelings may, hypothetically, impinge on the ability of the individual to gain effective benefit from psychotherapy. Conversely, in a study in hospital inpatients affected by major depression, Gunther et al. (29) detected a predictive role for the severity of depressive symptoms at follow-up solely for the EOT factor. Indeed, higher EOT scores at baseline correlated with more severe depressive symptoms, even once the potential influence of confounding factors, such as baseline levels of anxiety and depression had been accounted for. The authors suggested that such a multimodal therapeutic approach might not be effective in depressed patients with a more marked externally oriented cognition and decreased interest in intrapsychic issues.

At variance with the observations made by these authors, Quilty et al. (33) reported a positive prognostic role for the EOT factor. The authors underlined the possibility that in depressed patients the EOT factor might be associated with a decrease in ruminative thinking, and therefore, with a more adaptive and problem-focused coping strategy. In addition, McCallum et al. (46) revealed how higher levels of psychological mindedness and lower levels of alexithymia at DIF and EOT factors were associated with a more generally positive response to treatment, with an additive effect of the two variables on outcome. Based on the above findings, and despite the current paucity of available data, the observation of a varying predictive impact across the different dimensions of alexithymia, in addition to the diverse impacts of treatment on the various factors, suggests that in future studies it may prove more informative and useful to implement a multidimensional approach to alexithymia. A further fundamental aspect, in the light of which the results obtained in the studies examined should be construed and interpreted, relates to the role of confounding factors. Only a few of the studies examined took into consideration the impact of variables, such as depression, clinical severity of the disorder, psychiatric comorbidities, and treatments received. In some cases, significance of the predictive power of TAS and related factors persisted, although to a lesser extent, even when the impact of depression, clinical severity of the disorder, and treatments received had been taken into account (39). In yet others, the correlation of results obtained for the confounding variables resulted in a loss of significance for the association alexithymia and treatment outcome (54). In the study by Probst et al. (54), the sole study to have specifically assessed the role of alexithymia as outcome predictor in the treatment of somatoform disorders, alexithymia was initially found to significantly moderate the correlation between therapist-rated therapeutic alliance and treatment outcome, although this significance was subsequently lost on accounting for the levels of depression present pre-treatment. With regard to the effect of specific treatments on alexithymia levels, although this aspect was not included among the specific aims of this review, it may be helpful to briefly refer to these. Indeed, several authors assessed the impact of an improvement of alexithymia in the course of treatment on the outcome of the same treatment. Moreover, in some cases failure to detect a predictive power of alexithymia on treatment outcome was attributed by the authors to the particular efficacy of the treatment options adopted on
alexithymia. It should however be highlighted that even when a decrease in alexithymia levels was observed post-treatment, the finding that levels frequently continued to be elevated, invites us to reflect on the actual clinical effectiveness of these changes, underlining the need to identify types of treatment capable of producing a significant impact on the alexithymia dimension (35, 37). Furthermore, although the finding that an improvement in alexithymia levels over the course of treatment was largely correlated with a better treatment outcome is certainly of interest, it should be viewed as a preliminary finding which, particularly in view of the methodological limitations of the studies, does not allow any conclusions to be drawn as to possible causality. An additional limitation concern the use, in some studies, of the older 26-item version of the TAS, which might have impacted the reliability in the assessment of alexithymia. Undoubtedly, the increasingly frequent findings reporting alexithymia as a trait which is, at least in part, modifiable, appear encouraging, and should motivate us to undertake more extensive and methodologically valid studies aimed at identifying the forms of treatment capable of impinging more effectively on the alexithymia dimension, thus resulting in an increased probability of impacting on treatment outcome. A considerable number of studies examined observed over the course of treatment an improvement of varying significance at TAS, with a tendentially greater efficacy of treatments providing for specific intervention on feelings (37, 38). At the same time, the marked heterogeneity of treatment strategies adopted and the methodological limitations of the studies are such as to prevent the generalization and comparison of available data.

Crucially, therefore, particular focus should be placed on identifying which types of treatment and elements involved may prove of greater efficacy in patients with alexithymia. Treatment options encouraging the identification, sharing, and understanding of feelings would appear to be more effective in reducing alexithymia (58). Additionally, these patients appear to prefer, and obtain greater benefit from, a group therapeutic setting (58). A group context provides these patients with an opportunity to observe and copy other members of the group who are able to express their feelings more effectively, to gather feedback on their method of communication, to be encouraged to share their feelings with the others in the group, to witness the watering down of their "emotional arousal" with a lower risk of somatic expression, or to be, as needed, mere observers (58). Several authors have highlighted how patients with alexithymia may be poorer responders to classic medical treatments and to psychotherapy, particularly psychodynamic psychotherapy (27). Indeed, in patients with high levels of alexithymia their emotional experiences may prevent the formulation of a fully aware symbolic and verbal elaboration in the course of treatment. This aspect, together with a scarce interest for introspection, might prevent patients with alexithymia from benefitting from psychotherapeutic interventions based on the above activities (48). In a study by McCallum et al. (46), contrary to expectations, while alexithymia was not found to interfere with patients' ability to benefit from individual interpretative

therapy, it did however interfere with their ability to benefit from individual supportive therapy, at least in terms of improvement of symptoms. The authors suggest that this finding could be explained by the attitude of the therapist during supportive therapy who, by avoiding the exploration and interpretation of an association between symptoms and the underlying feelings, might contribute toward maintaining the initial deficit of the alexithymic subject in identifying and describing his or her feelings to the therapist. It would not therefore seem to be appropriate to maintain that patients with alexithymia are necessarily reluctant to undergo psychotherapeutic treatment (59). Likewise, the opinion according to which patients with alexithymia are poorly suited to psychodynamic approaches has to date found little support, although it is assumed that individuals with high levels of alexithymia may gain greater benefit from psychodynamic approaches involving a more active and empathetic role of the therapist, elements of supportive therapy, and a good therapeutic alliance (58). In the study conducted by Speranza et al. (60) patients were found to have been treated differently by their therapists, both on a quantitative and qualitative levels, based on their alexithymic profile. Accordingly, the authors hypothesize that the clinician might incorrectly view this type of subject as being less suited to psychotherapy (60). It has moreover been demonstrated how high levels of alexithymia may elicit negative reactions in the therapist, as well as negative interpersonal processes with controtransferal feelings of frustration or boredom, which might hinder the achievement of a good therapeutic alliance, and thus contribute to a less favorable outcome of treatment (59).

CONCLUSIONS

To conclude, although the results obtained should be scrutinized and interpreted bearing in mind, the marked limitations of the studies published to date, the available data tend largely to correlate low baseline, and/or post-treatment levels of alexithymia and/or an improvement in levels of alexithymia over the course of treatment, with a more favorable outcome of the treatment of the mental disorders considered. However, the presence of numerous discordant findings prevents us from drawing any firm conclusions as to the actual impact produced by alexithymia on the treatment of psychiatric disorders both in general and in specific diagnostic groups. Likewise, at the current state of the art, we are still far from being able to draw conclusions in favor of specific treatment protocols demonstrating a greater efficacy in this type of patients. It is conceivable, however, that the analysis of large datasets containing longitudinally collected information on measures of alexithymia, with innovative analytical methods, including machine learning, could lead to more accurate estimates of the predictive power of this construct in terms of response to treatments. Further studies should be undertaken on more extensive and homogeneous patient populations, including controlled studies and a comparison between different forms of treatment. Moreover, in analyzing the observations made, due consideration should be given to potential confounding factors, and to a multidimensional analysis of alexithymia and an objective assessment of the alexithymic construct performed.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

FP drafted the first version of the manuscript, performed the assessment of the included manuscripts, and oversaw the systematic search. MM contributed to the writing of the first draft, performed the systematic search, and designed the study. PP performed the systematic search and contributed to the writing. BC critically revised the paper, designed, and oversaw

REFERENCES

- Whiteford HA, Degenhardt L, Rehm J, Baxter AJ, Ferrari AJ, Erskine HE, et al. Global burden of disease attributable to mental and substance use disorders: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet* (2013) 382:1575–86. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61611-6
- Rehm J, Shield KD. Global Burden of Disease and the Impact of Mental and Addictive Disorders. *Curr Psychiatry Rep* (2019) 21:10. doi: 10.1007/s11920-019-0997-0
- Gustavsson A, Svensson M, Jacobi F, Allgulander C, Alonso J, Beghi E, et al. Cost of disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2011) 21:718–79. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2011.08.008
- Anderson P, Jane-Ilopis E, Hosman C. Reducing the silent burden of impaired mental health. *Health Promot Int* (2011) 26:i4–9. doi: 10.1093/heapro/dar051
- Rebello TJ, Marques A, Gureje O, Pike KM. Innovative strategies for closing the mental health treatment gap globally. *Curr Opin Psychiatry* (2014) 27:308–14. doi: 10.1097/YCO.00000000000068
- Hegarty JD, Baldessarini RJ, Tohen M, Waternaux C, Oepen G. One hundred years of schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of the outcome literature. *Am J Psychiatry* (1994) 151:1409–16. doi: 10.1176/ajp.151.10.1409
- Jorm AF, Patten SB, Brugha TS, Mojtabai R. Has increased provision of treatment reduced the prevalence of common mental disorders? Review of the evidence from four countries. *World Psychiatry* (2017) 16:90–9. doi: 10.1002/ wps.20388
- Perlis RH. A clinical risk stratification tool for predicting treatment resistance in major depressive disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* (2013) 74:7–14. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2012.12.007
- Sifneos PE. The Prevalence of 'Alexithymic' Characteristics in Psychosomatic Patients. Psychother Psychosom (1973) 22:255–62. doi: 10.1159/000286529
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM. New Trends in Alexithymia Research. Psychother Psychosom (2004) 73:68–77. doi: 10.1159/000075537
- Meza-Concha N, Arancibia M, Salas F, Behar R, Salas G, Silva H, et al. Towards a neurobiological understanding of alexithymia. *Medwave* (2017) 17: e6960–0. d. doi: 10.5867/medwave.2017.04.6960
- 12. Messina A, Beadle JN, Paradiso S. Towards a classification of alexithymia: primary, secondary and organic. J Psychopathol (2014) 20:38–49.
- Porcelli P, Bagby RM, Taylor GJ, De Carne M, Leandro G, Todarello O. Alexithymia as predictor of treatment outcome in patients with functional gastrointestinal disorders. *Psychosom Med* (2003) 65:911–8. doi: 10.1097/ 01.PSY.0000089064.13681.3B
- Consoli SM, Rolhion S, Martin C, Ruel K, Cambazard F, Pellet J, et al. Low levels of emotional awareness predict a better response to dermatological treatment in patients with psoriasis. *Dermatology* (2006) 212:128–36. doi: 10.1159/000090653
- De Berardis D, Fornaro M, Orsolini L, Valchera A, Carano A, Vellante F, et al. Alexithymia and suicide risk in psychiatric disorders: a mini-review. Front Psychiatry (2017) 8:148. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00148

the study. All authors have seen and approved the submitted version of this paper.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to thank Ms. Anne Farmer for his gracious assistance in the editing of the text.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2020. 00311/full#supplementary-material

- 16. De Berardis D, Olivieri L, Rapini G, Di Natale S, Serroni N, Fornaro M, et al. Alexithymia, suicide ideation and homocysteine levels in drug naïve patients with major depression: a study in the real world clinical practice. *Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci* (2019) 17:318–22. doi: 10.9758/cpn.2019.17.2.318
- 17. De Berardis D, Vellante F, Fornaro M, Anastasia A, Olivieri L, Rapini G, et al. Alexithymia, suicide ideation, affective temperaments and homocysteine levels in drug naïve patients with post-traumatic stress disorder: an exploratory study in the everyday 'real world'clinical practice. *Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract* (2020) 24:83–7. doi: 10.1080/13651501.2019.1699575
- Pinna F, Sanna L, Carpiniello B. Alexithymia in eating disorders: Therapeutic implications. *Psychol Res Behav Manag* (2014) 8:1–15. doi: 10.2147/ PRBM.S52656
- Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JPA, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and metaanalyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ* (2009) 339:b2700. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2700
- Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, Elmagarmid A. Rayyan—a web and mobile app for systematic reviews. Syst Rev (2016) 5:210. doi: 10.1186/s13643-016-0384-4
- 21. Wells GA, Shea B, O'connell D, Petersen J, Welch V, Losos M, et al. *The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomized studies in meta-analyses.* Canada: Department of Epidemiology and Community Medicine, University of Ottawa, Canada. Univ Ottawa (2011). Available www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical_epidemiology/oxford/asp [Google Sch.
- Bagby RM, Parker JDA, Taylor GJ. The twenty-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale—I. Item selection and cross-validation of the factor structure. J Psychosom Res (1994) 38:23–32. doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(94)90005-1
- Bagby RM, Taylor GJ, Parker JDA. The twenty-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale—II. Convergent, discriminant, and concurrent validity. J Psychosom Res (1994) 38:33–40. doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(94)90006-X
- Taylor GJ, Ryan D, Bagby M. Toward the development of a new self-report alexithymia scale. *Psychother Psychosom* (1985) 44:191–9. doi: 10.1159/ 000287912
- Krystal JH, Giller EL, Cicchetti DV. Assessment of alexithymia in posttraumatic stress disorder and somatic illness: introduction of a reliable measure. *Psychosom Med* (1986) 48:84–94. doi: 10.1097/00006842-198601000-00007
- Özsahin A, Uzun Ö, Cansever A, Gulcat Z. The effect of alexithymic features on response to antidepressant medication in patients with major depression. *Depress Anxiety* (2003) 18:62–6. doi: 10.1002/da.10117
- Ogrodniczuk JS, Piper WE, Joyce AS. Residual symptoms in depressed patients who successfully respond to short-term psychotherapy. J Affect Disord (2004) 82:469–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2004.03.007
- Spek V, Nyklíček I, Cuijpers P, Pop V. Alexithymia and cognitive behaviour therapy outcome for subthreshold depression. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* (2008) 118:164–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2008.01199.x

- Günther V, Rufer M, Kersting A, Suslow T. Predicting symptoms in major depression after inpatient treatment: The role of alexithymia. Nord J Psychiatry (2016) 70:392–8. doi: 10.3109/08039488.2016.1146796
- Li S, Zhang B, Guo Y, Zhang J. The association between alexithymia as assessed by the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale and depression: a metaanalysis. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 227:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.02.006
- Lumley MA, Gustavson BJ, Partridge RT, Labouvie-Vief G. Assessing alexithymia and related emotional ability constructs using multiple methods: Interrelationships among measures. *Emotion* (2005) 5:329. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.5.3.329
- 32. Bressi C, Fronza S, Minacapelli E, Nocito EP, Dipasquale E, Magri L, et al. Short-Term Psychodynamic Psychotherapy with Mentalization-Based Techniques in Major Depressive Disorder patients: Relationship among alexithymia, reflective functioning, and outcome variables – A Pilot study. *Psychol Psychother Theory Res Pract* (2017) 90:299–313. doi: 10.1111/ papt.12110
- Quilty LC, Taylor GJ, McBride C, Bagby RM. Relationships among alexithymia, therapeutic alliance, and psychotherapy outcome in major depressive disorder. *Psychiatry Res* (2017) 254:75–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.psychres.2017.04.047
- Schmidt U, Jiwany A, Treasure J. A controlled study of alexithymia in eating disorders. *Compr Psychiatry* (1993) 34:54–8. doi: 10.1016/0010-440X(93) 90036-4
- de Groot JM, Rodin G, Olmsted MP. Alexithymia, depression, and treatment outcome in bulimia nervosa. *Compr Psychiatry* (1995) 36:53–60. doi: 10.1016/ 0010-440X(95)90099-H
- 36. Beales DL, Dolton R. Eating disordered patients: Personality, alexithymia, and implications for primary care. *Br J Gen Pract* (2000) 50:21–6.
- Becker-Stoll F, Gerlinghoff M. The impact of a four-month day treatment programme on alexithymia in eating disorders. *Eur Eat Disord Rev* (2004) 12:159–63. doi: 10.1002/erv.566
- Shiina A, Nakazato M, Mitsumori M, Koizumi H, Shimizu E, Fujisaki M, et al. An open trial of outpatient group therapy for bulimic disorders: Combination program of cognitive behavioral therapy with assertive training and selfesteem enhancement. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* (2005) 59:690–6. doi: 10.1111/ j.1440-1819.2005.01438.x
- Speranza M, Loas G, Wallier J, Corcos M. Predictive value of alexithymia in patients with eating disorders: A 3-year prospective study. J Psychosom Res (2007) 63:365–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2007.03.008
- Tchanturia K, Davies H, Harrison A, Fox JRE, Treasure J, Schmidt U. Altered social hedonic processing in eating disorders. *Int J Eat Disord* (2012) 45:962–9. doi: 10.1002/eat.22032
- Balestrieri M, Isola M, Baiano M, Ciano R. Psychoeducation in binge eating disorder and EDNOS: A pilot study on the efficacy of a 10-week and a 1-year continuation treatment. *Eat Weight Disord* (2013) 18:45–51. doi: 10.1007/ s40519-013-0014-2
- Ohmann S, Popow C, Wurzer M, Karwautz A, Sackl-Pammer P, Schuch B. Emotional aspects of anorexia nervosa: Results of prospective naturalistic cognitive behavioral group therapy. *Neuropsychiatrie* (2013) 27:119–28. doi: 10.1007/s40211-013-0065-7
- Rufer M, Albrecht R, Zaum J, Schnyder U, Mueller-Pfeiffer C, Hand I, et al. Impact of alexithymia on treatment outcome: A naturalistic study of shortterm cognitive-behavioral group therapy for panic disorder. *Psychopathology* (2010) 43:170–9. doi: 10.1159/000288639
- Kosten TR, Krystal JH, Giller EL, Frank J, Dan E. Alexithymia as a predictor of treatment response in post-traumatic stress disorder. J Trauma Stress (1992) 5:563–73. doi: 10.1002/jts.2490050406
- Ogrodniczuk JS, Sochting I, Piper WE, Joyce AS. A naturalistic study of alexithymia among psychiatric outpatients treated in an integrated group therapy program. *Psychol Psychother Theory Res Pract* (2012) 85:278–91. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8341.2011.02032.x
- McCallum M, Piper WE, Ogrodniczuk JS, Joyce AS. Relationships among psychological mindedness, alexithymia and outcome in four forms of shortterm psychotherapy. *Psychol Psychother Theory Res Pract* (2003) 76:133–44. doi: 10.1348/147608303765951177

- Rufer M, Hand I, Braatz A, Alsleben H, Fricke S. Peter H. A Prospective Study of Alexithymia in Obsessive-Compulsive Patients Treated with Multimodal Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy. *Psychother Psychosom* (2004) 73:101–6. doi: 10.1159/000075541
- Rufer M, Ziegler A, Alsleben H, Fricke S, Ortmann J, Brückner E, et al. A prospective long-term follow-up study of alexithymia in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Compr Psychiatry* (2006) 47:394–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.comppsych.2005.12.004
- Grabe HJ, Frommer J, Ankerhold A, Ulrich C, Gröger R, Franke GH, et al. Alexithymia and outcome in psychotherapy. *Psychother Psychosom* (2008) 77:189–94. doi: 10.1159/000119739
- Leweke F, Bausch S, Leichsenring F, Walter B, Stingl M. Alexithymia as a predictor of outcome of psychodynamically oriented inpatient treatment. *Psychother Res* (2009) 19:323–31. doi: 10.1080/10503300902870554
- Löf J, Clinton D, Kaldo V, Rydén G. Symptom, alexithymia and self-image outcomes of Mentalisation-based treatment for borderline personality disorder: A naturalistic study. *BMC Psychiatry* (2018) 18:185. doi: 10.1186/ s12888-018-1699-6
- McMain S, Links PS, Guimond T, Wnuk S, Eynan R, Bergmans Y, et al. An exploratory study of the relationship between changes in emotion and cognitive processes and treatment outcome in borderline personality disorder. *Psychother Res* (2013) 23:658–73. doi: 10.1080/10503307.2013.838653
- Terock J, Janowitz D, Spitzer C, Miertsch M, Freyberger HJ, Grabe HJ. Alexithymia and self-directedness as predictors of psychopathology and psychotherapeutic treatment outcome. *Compr Psychiatry* (2015) 62:34–41. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2015.06.007
- 54. Probst T, Sattel H, Gündel H, Henningsen P, Kruse J, Schneider G, et al. Moderating effects of alexithymia on associations between the therapeutic alliance and the outcome of brief psychodynamic-interpersonal psychotherapy for multisomatoform disorder. *Front Psychiatry* (2017) 8:261. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00261
- McGillivray L, Becerra R, Harms C. Alexithymia stability and therapeutic outcome in an Australian psychiatric outpatient sample. *Clin Psychol* (2019) 23:37–46. doi: 10.1111/cp.12148
- 56. Zorzella KPM, Muller RT, Cribbie RA, Bambrah V, Classen CC. The Role of Alexithymia in Trauma Therapy Outcomes: Examining Improvements in PTSD, Dissociation, and Interpersonal Problems. *Psychol Trauma Theory Res Pract Policy* (2019) 12:20–8. doi: 10.1037/tra0000433
- Bach M, Bach D. Predictive value of alexithymia: a prospective study in somatizing patients. *Psychother Psychosom* (1995) 64:43-8. doi: 10.1159/ 000288989
- Cameron K, Ogrodniczuk J, Hadjipavlou G. Changes in alexithymia following psychological intervention: a review. *Harv Rev Psychiatry* (2014) 22:162–78. doi: 10.1097/HRP.00000000000036
- Ogrodniczuk JS, Piper WE, Joyce AS. Effect of alexithymia on the process and outcome of psychotherapy: A programmatic review. *Psychiatry Res* (2011) 190:43–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2010.04.026
- Speranza M, Loas G, Guilbaud O, Corcos M. Are treatment options related to alexithymia in eating disorders? Results from a three-year naturalistic longitudinal study. *BioMed Pharmacother* (2011) 65:585–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopha.2010.01.009

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer SC declared a past co-authorship with several of the authors, MM and BC, to the handling editor.

Copyright © 2020 Pinna, Manchia, Paribello and Carpiniello. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Rates of Alexithymia and Its Association With Smartphone Addiction Among a Sample of University Students in Egypt

Hussien Elkholy^{*}, Mahmoud Elhabiby and Islam Ibrahim

Department of Neurology and Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, Ain Shams University, Cairo, Egypt

Introduction: Alexithymia is characterized by difficulties in describing feelings. Many studies have shown that there is a relation between alexithymia and different types of addictions. Nowadays, smartphone addiction is proposed to be a global problem. The current study focuses on the rates of alexithymia and its association with smartphone addiction in an Egyptian university.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy

Reviewed by:

Marco Di Nicola, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic, Italy Mirko Manchia, University of Cagliari, Italy

*Correspondence:

Hussien Elkholy h.elkholy@med.asu.edu.eg

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 12 December 2019 Accepted: 26 March 2020 Published: 24 April 2020

Citation:

Elkholy H, Elhabiby M and Ibrahim I (2020) Rates of Alexithymia and Its Association With Smartphone Addiction Among a Sample of University Students in Egypt. Front. Psychiatry 11:304. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00304 **Materials and Methods:** This is a cross-sectional study that was conducted in Ain Shams University. A sample of 200 university students was surveyed using Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS) and Smartphone Addiction Scale–Short Version (SAS-SV).

Results: The results showed that 44 students (22%) had alexithymia. It was also found that around one third of the sample (N=65, 32.5%) met the criteria of smartphone addiction. There was a strong association between alexithymia and smartphone addiction (OR=4.33, 95% Cl 2.15–8.74, p = < 0.001).

Conclusion: This study supports existing literature indicating the strong association between alexithymia and smartphone addiction.

Keywords: alexithymia, smartphone addiction, university students, behavioral addiction, Smartphone Addiction Scale-Short Version (SAS-SV), Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS)

INTRODUCTION

Alexithymia is characterized by difficulties describing feelings and a decreased ability to differentiate between emotions and physical sensations (1). It was first studied in patients with psychosomatic disorders (2). Those suffering from alexithymia are unable to verbalize their own emotions and/or the emotions of others. Alexithymia has been linked to difficulties in facing and dealing with stressful conditions (3), anxiety and depression (4), lower self-esteem, dissociative experiences (5), low relationship satisfaction (6), and difficulties in building and maintaining healthy interpersonal relationships (7).

Moreover, many studies have shown that there is a relation between alexithymia and different types of addictions; including opioid use disorder (8), alcohol use disorder (9), and behavioral addictions like internet addiction (10).

On the other hand, smartphones are devices capable of processing information that include access to Internet and social networks, messaging, and multimedia besides their main function as a

tool for communication (11). As individuals almost always have their smartphones with them, and they can use their smartphones multiple times during the day, smartphone use may become an automatic behavior that is performed with little thinking (12). Therefore, a great concern has emerged that high frequency smartphone use may suggest that smartphones could become a behavioral addiction. However, the fifth version of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) does not recognize smartphone addiction as a disorder (13).

Individuals with symptoms of smartphone addiction tend to bring their phone with them wherever they are and think about their phone even if they cannot use it, which ultimately influences daily tasks. The proposed criteria to determine whether an individual suffer from smartphone dependence consists of four main components: compulsive phone use, tolerance witnessed by longer and more intense use, withdrawal symptoms, and functional impairment by interfering with other life activities (14).

Despite the advantages of providing information and communication opportunities (15) and not yet being officially recognized as a disorder (13), smartphone overuse or addiction is proposed to have negative impacts on health. Physical health problems such as visual impairment, musculoskeletal problems (16, 17), ear pain, headache, and sleep disorders, (18, 19) have been suggested to be related to it. Moreover, some mental health problems have also been linked to smartphones addiction such as depression and anxiety (20).

On the other hand, as individuals with alexithymia complain of having difficulties in identifying and describing their feelings, thus, they may resort to internet use to manage them (21). With the rapid development of smartphones, internet use became easier and more accessible (22). Thus, the use of smartphone and even dependence on it might be higher among this group. Few previous studies have investigated the relation between alexithymia and smartphone addiction and the results were interesting. Alexithymia was positively correlated with mental health problems and smartphone addiction (23–25). Yet, to our knowledge, no studies have explored such relation in Arab countries.

Furthermore, many smartphone addiction studies were focused on college students. They may spend much time on "interaction" with the mobile phone which may affect their daily life. Moreover, researchers suggest that the higher the degree of mobile phone addiction, the greater the likelihood that college students' academic performance will be affected (26). Hence, the current study focuses on alexithymia and its relation to smartphone addiction in students at an Egyptian university.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This is a cross-sectional study that was conducted in Ain Shams University, which is in Cairo, Egypt, from April to August 2019. The study obtained the approval of the Research Ethics Committee (REC) of Faculty of Medicine (approval no. FMASU: R 45/2019). The sample size was calculated to be 200 students setting alpha error at 5% and confidence interval width at 0.1 (margin of error at 5%). Prevalence of alexithymia among university students was shown to be 12.5% in a previous study (27). The sample size was calculated taking in account 10% drop out rate. Students were recruited from campus and asked to complete a questionnaire including some demographic data and two scales. A total of 200 students participated in the study. The participants were requested to fill in a traditional paper-andpencil questionnaire. They were informed about the aim of the study and that by filling in the questionnaire they consent to take part. It took the respondents approximately 15 min to complete the questionnaire.

Measures

Demographic information collected includes age, sex, faculty, and academic year. The questionnaire included two scales: Toronto Alexithymia Scale and Smartphone Addiction Scale-Short Version.

Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20), Arabic Version

Toronto Alexithymia Scale, (28) Arabic Version (29) was used to measure alexithymia. TAS is the most used and extensively validated measure for alexithymia (30). TAS consists of 20 items that is divided into three subscales: difficulty identifying feelings (DIF) with seven items, difficulty describing feelings (DDF) with five items, and externally oriented thinking (EOT) with eight items. TAS is five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 "strongly disagree" to 5 "strongly agree," with five items negatively keyed. The total score is calculated by summing the responses of all the items with a range of 20-100. The cutoff point is 60 and people with score of more than 60 are considered as having alexithymia. People with scores between 52 and 60 are considered to have possible alexithymia. People with a score of 51 or below are considered free of alexithymia. This tool has been translated to Arabic and back translated to the original language by a panel of experts following the World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines for translation of instruments. The scale showed good internal consistency reliability, test-retest reliability, convergent, discriminant, and concurrent validity. In this study, we arranged the sample into two groups using the score of 60 as a cutoff point for having alexithymia or not.

The Smartphone Addiction Scale–Short Version (SAS-SV), Arabic Version

The SAS-SV is a validated scale which was originally designed in South Korea but published in English (31, 32). This scale is a shortened version of the original 40 itemed scale. It is a ten itemed questionnaire used to assess levels of smartphone addiction. Participants are asked to rate on a dimensional scale how much each statement relates to them. The total score ranges from 10 to 60. This scale has been used in various research across different cultures including (33, 34). The scale is very quick and easy to use, there are no reverse scores involved. Smartphone addiction cut-off values of \geq 31 and \geq 33 for male and female participants, respectively, were applied as suggested by Kwon et al. (31, 32). Arabic version of SAS-SV used in this study was translated and validated by Sfendla et al. (35) and showed excellent reliability based on Cronbach's alpha ($\alpha = 0.94$).

Data Analysis

The SPSS 22.0 was used in our study for statistical analyses. The significance level was set at 0.05. Chi square and T-test were used to check the differences regarding alexithymia and smartphone addiction among the demographic features. Odds ratio was used to express the magnitude of the association between alexithymia and smartphone addiction.

RESULTS

Demographic Features of the Participants

Data were collected from 85 males (42.5%) and 115 females (57.5%). The age of the participants ranged from 17 to 27 years with a mean age of 21.225 ± 1.986 . Eighty-four students (42%) were enrolled in practical faculties (i.e. medicine, engineering, etc.) and 116 (58%) students were enrolled in theoretical faculties (i.e. law, commerce, etc.). Regarding academic years, 21 students (10.5%) were enrolled in the first year, 38 students (19%) were enrolled in second year, 48 students were enrolled in third year (24%), 72 students (36%) were enrolled in fourth year, 17 students (8.5%) were enrolled in fifth year, and only 4 students (2%) were enrolled in sixth year.

Alexithymia According to TAS-20 Scores

Alexithymia was measured by TAS-20. In this study the cutoff score of 60 was used to differentiate those with and without alexithymia. The results showed that 44 students (22%) had alexithymia, while the remaining 78% were considered negative for it. There was no significant difference between males and females (p=0.917), between practical and theoretical faculties (p=0.391), nor academic year (p= 0.520) regarding alexithymia rates as shown in **Table 1**. There were also no significant differences between males and females (p=0.790), type of faculties (p=0.795), nor different academic years regarding (p=0.750) the scores of TAS as shown in **Table 2**.

Smartphone Addiction According to SAS-SV Scores

Smartphone addiction was measured by SAS-SV scale and results showed that around one third of the sample (N=65, 32.5%) met the criteria of smartphone addiction. There was no significant difference between males and females (p=0.086) nor practical and theoretical faculties (p=0.691) regarding smartphone addiction rate as shown in **Table 1**. No significant differences in SAS-SV scores were found between faculties (p=0.293) nor different academic years (p=0.125), however,

TABLE 1 | Comparing rates of smartphone addiction and alexithymia according to sex and type of faculty.

							Se	×							
				F	emale			Male				Chi square tes			
			N		(%			Ν		9	6		p value	sig.
Smartphone Addiction	Negative		72		62	.6%			63		74.	1%		0.086	NS
(SAS-SV)	Positive		43		37	.4%			22		25.	9%			
Alexithymia (TAS)	one Addiction Negative 72 62.6% 63 Positive 43 37.4% 22 nia No Alexithymia 90 78.3% 66 Alexithymia 25 21.7% 19 Faculty Image: Practical T No Alexithymia 58 69.0% 77 Image: No Alexithymia 58 69.0% 77 Image: No Alexithymia 68 81.0% 88 Alexithymia 16 19.0% 28 Academic Year One Two Three Four	77.6%				0.917	NS								
	Alexithymia		25		21	.7%			19		22.	4%			
							Fac	ulty						_	
				Practical			Theoretical					Chi square te			
			Ν			%			Ν		9	6		p value	Sig.
Smartphone Addiction	Negative		58		69	.0%			77		66.	4%		0.691	NS
(SAS-SV)	Positive		26		31	.0%			39		33.	6%			
Alexithymia (TAS)	No Alexithymia		68		81.0%			88	75.9%			0.391	NS		
	Alexithymia		16		19	.0%			28		24.	1%			
							Academ	ic Yea	ar					_	
			One		Two	1	Three		Four		Five		Six	Chi Squa	re test
		Ν	%	Ν	%	N	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	p value	Sig.
Smartphone Addiction	Negative	17	81.0%	27	71.1%	32	66.7%	44	61.1%	12	70.6%	3	75.0%	0.626	NS

(TAS) Alexithymia 6 28.6% 5 13.2% 12 25.0%

71.4%

11 28.9%

33 86.8%

4 19.0%

15

SAS-SV, Smartphone Addiction Scale-Short Version; TAS, Toronto Alexithymia Scale.

Positive

No Alexithvmia

(SAS-SV)

Alexithymia

75.0%

16 33.3%

36

28 38.9%

54 75.0%

18 25.0%

5 29.4%

14 82.4%

3 17.6%

0.520

NS

1 25.0%

100%

4

0 0.0%

Sig.

S

NS

Sig.

NS

NS

Sig.

NS

NS

females had significantly higher scores on SAS-SV (p=0.003) as shown in Table 2.

Relation Between Alexithymia and Smartphone Addiction

There was a strong association between alexithymia and smartphone addiction (OR=4.33, 95% CI: 2.15-8.74, p= < 0.001) as shown in Table 3. Also, logistic regression analysis for predictors of smartphone addiction only showed presence of alexithymia as a significant factor as shown in Table 4.

DISCUSSION

The term alexithymia was introduced by Peter Sifneos in 1972 (1) and was originally described in patients with psychosomatic complaints (36). The present study addressed the rates of alexithymia and its relation with smartphone addiction among a sample of university students. To our knowledge this is the first

TABLE 2 | Relation between scores of SAS-SV and TAS and different factors.

TABLE 4 | Logistic regression analysis for predictors of smartphone addiction.

Dependent SAS-SV	OR	95% C.I. for OR	p value	Sig.
Sex (ref. Male)	1.85	0.96–3.58	0.067	NS
Faculty (ref. Theoretical)	1.04	0.55-1.99	0.898	NS
Age	1.11	0.95-1.3	0.197	NS
TAS (ref. negative)	4.72	2.29-9.73	<0.001	S

SAS-SV, Smartphone Addiction Scale-Short Version; TAS, Toronto Alexithymia Scale.

study to address the topic in Arab countries and one of the few worldwide.

This study showed that the rate of alexithymia for the whole sample was 22%, and almost the same in both sexes (21.7% of males and 22.4% of females). This rate is comparable to alexithymia rate (24.6%) among Jordanian university students (37). However, this rate is higher than rates found in western countries; 16.7% among Italian high school students (21) and 17.92% among British undergraduate students (38). This discrepancy may be explained by the cultural belief in Arab countries that emotional expression is

				s	ex			T Te	st
			Females (N=115)			Males (N=85)		P value	Si
SAS-SV	Mean ± SD		31.504 ± 11.716			26.871 ± 9.723		0.003	9
TAS	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$		55.948 ± 14.063			56.565 ± 18.694		0.790	Ν
				Fac	culty			T tes	st
			Practical (N=84)			Theoretical (N=116)		P value	Si
SAS-SV	Mean ± SD		28.560 ± 11.555			30.241 ± 10.802		0.293	N
TAS	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$		56.560 ± 17.831			55.957 ± 14.894		0.795	Ν
				Acaden	nic Year			ANO	VA
		One (N=21)	Two (N=38)	Three (N=48)	Four (N=72)	Five (N=17)	Six (N=4)	P value	Si
SAS-SV	Mean ± SD	23.381 ± 8.891	29.632 ± 12.314	29.042 ± 10.244	31.361 ± 11.493	30.529 ± 9.049	29.750 ± 15.945	0.125	Ν
TAS	Mean ± SD	61.048 ± 30.556	54.316 ± 11.414	55.292 ± 14.265	56.667 ± 14.900	55.059 ± 12.060	56.500 ± 4.726	0.750	Ν

TABLE 3 | Relation between alexithymia and smartphone addiction.

			Smartphon (SAS		OR (95% CI)	P value	Sig.
			Negative	Positive			
Alexithymia	No alexithymia	Ν	117	39	4.33	<0.001	S
(TAS)		% of TAS	75.0%	25.0%	(2.15-8.74)		
		% of SAS	86.7%	60.0%			
	Alexithymia	Ν	18	26			
	,	% of TAS	40.9%	59.1%			
		% of SAS	13.3%	40.0%			

SAS-SV, Smartphone Addiction Scale-Short Version; TAS, Toronto Alexithymia Scale.

a sign of personal weakness (39). Another explanation might be that previous research has found psychosomatic complaints to be higher in Arabic cultures (40).

On the other hand, smartphone addiction is a global problem with multiple complications that have been addressed in multiple research. This study showed smartphone addiction to be present among 32.5% of the sample. Moreover, despite being a not statistically significant difference, rate among females (37.45) was higher than males (25.9%). This rate is comparable to those found in some other studies as 28.7% in the Netherlands (41) and 25% in the United States (42). However other studies reported lesser rates as low as 6% in Italy (43) and 18.8% in Japan (44). On the other hand, the non-statistically significant gender difference of smartphone addiction is consistent with previous studies (44, 45). Yet, some studies have reported that female participants indeed have higher rates of smartphone addiction than males (46, 47).

Regarding the relationship between alexithymia and smartphone addiction, our study results showed that there is a strong association between both. This was consistent with most of previous literature (23, 24). One possible explanation of such relation is that people with alexithymia tend to regulate their emotions by various types of addictive behaviors (48). However, one study showed that individuals with alexithymia had less frequent mobile phone use (49)

Several limitations are present in this study. The crosssectional study design could not provide the causal relationship between alexithymia and smartphone addiction so longitudinal studies are needed to address this problem. Secondly the study is based on a self-reported questionnaire, which may result in several confounding factors. Thus, a more objective data collection methods should be used to improve credibility in the future. Finally, the small sample size and the collection of data from one university could affect the generalizability of the findings. Despite that the sample size was calculated to be

REFERENCES

- Sifneos PE. The prevalence of alexithymic characteristics in psychomatic patients. *Psychother Psychosomat* (1973) 22:255–262. doi: 10.1159/000286529
- Taylor GJ. Alexithymia: concept, measurement, and implications for treatment. Am J Psychiatry (1984) 141:725–32. doi: 10.1176/ajp.141.6.725
- Hisli Sahin N, Güler M, Basim HN. The relationship between cognitive intelligence, emotional intelligence, coping and stress symptoms in the context of type A personality pattern. *Turk Psikiyatri Dergisi* (2009) 20 (3):243–54.
- Nekouei ZK, Doost HTN, Yousefy A, Manshaee G, Sadeghei M. The relationship of Alexithymia with anxiety-depression-stress, quality of life, and social support in Coronary Heart Disease (A psychological model). *J Educ Health Promot* (2014) 3:68. doi: 10.4103/2277-9531.134816
- De Berardis D, D'Albenzio A, Gambi F, Sepede G, Valchera A, Conti CM, et al. Alexithymia and its relationships with dissociative experiences and internet addiction in a nonclinical sample addiction in a nonclinical sample. *CyberPsychol Behav* (2009) 12(1):67–9. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2008.0108
- Humphreys TP, Wood LM, Parker JDA. Alexithymia and satisfaction in intimate relationships. *Pers Ind Diff* (2009) 46(1):43-7. doi: 10.1016/ j.paid.2008.09.002
- Timoney LR, Holder MD. Correlates of alexithymia. In: Timoney LR, Holder MD, editors. *Emotional processing deficits and happiness*. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands (2013). p. 41–60. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-7177-2_6

enough, we would recommend larger samples and recruitments from more than one university in future studies.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Research Ethics Committee (REC) of Ain Shams University Faculty of Medicine (approval no. FMASU: R 45/ 2019). Written informed consent from the participants' legal guardian/next of kin was not required to participate in this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the conceptualization and design of the study. II was responsible for the field work. All authors were responsible for data revision. HE and II drafted the first version. HE and ME critically revised and finalized it for publication. All authors approved and contributed to the final version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank all the students who participated in filling in this survey.

- Haviland MG, Hendryx MS, Shaw DG, Henry JP. Alexithymia in women and men hospitalized for psychoactive substance dependence. *Compr Psychiatry* (1994) 35(2):124–8. doi: 10.1016/0010-440X(94)90056-N
- Barth F. Listening to words, hearing Feelings: links between eating disorders and alexithymia. *Clin Soc Work J* (2016) 44:38–46. doi: 10.1007/s10615-015-0541-6
- Schimmenti A, Passanisi A, Caretti V, La Marca L, Granieri A, Iacolino C, et al. Traumatic experiences, alexthimia, and Internet addiction sympotoms among late adolescence: A moderated mediation analysis. *Addict Behav* (2017) 64:314–20. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2015.11.002
- Statista. (2017). Number of smartphone users worldwide from 2014 to 2020. Available at: https://www.statista.com/statistics/330695/numberofsmartphone-users-worldwide/.
- Oulasvirta A, Rattenbury T, Ma L, Raita E. Habits make smartphone use more pervasive. *Pers Ubiquitous Comput* (2012) 16:105–14. doi: 10.1007/s00779-011-0412-2
- Billieux J. Problematic use of the mobile phone: A literature review and a pathways model. *Curr Psychiatry Rev* (2012) 8:299–307. doi: 10.2174/ 157340012803520522
- Lin YH, Chiang CL, Lin PH, Chang LR, Ko CH, Lee YH, et al. Proposed diagnostic criteria for Smartphone addiction. *PloS One*; (2016) 11(11): e163010. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0163010
- Lee YS, Kim E-Y, Kim LS, Choi Y. Development and effect evaluation of smartphone addiction prevention program for adolescent (in Korean). *Korean* J Youth Counsel (2014) 22(1):303–34. doi: 10.35151/kyci.2014.22.1.013

- İNal EE, Demİrcİ K, Çetİntürk A, Akgönül M, Savaş S. Effects of smartphone overuse on hand function, pinch strength, and the median nerve. *Muscle Nerve* (2015) 52(2):183–8. doi: 10.1002/mus.24695
- Kim SH, Kim KU, Kim JS. Changes in cervical angle according to the duration of computer use. J Korean Soc Phys Med (2013) 7:179–87. doi: 10.21184/ jkeia.2013.06.7.2.179
- Sahin S, Ozdemir K, Unsal A, Temiz N. Evaluation of mobile phone addiction level and sleep quality in university students. *Pak J Med Sci* (2013) 29:913–8. doi: 10.12669/pjms.294.3686
- Subba SH, Mandelia C, Pathak V, Reddy D, Goel A, Tayal A, et al. Ringxiety and the mobile phone usage pattern among the students of a medical college in South India. J Clin Diagn Res (2013) 7:205–9. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2013/ 4652.2729
- Demirci K, Akgönül M, Akpinar A. Relationship of smartphone use severity with sleep quality, depression, and anxiety in university students. J Behav Addict (2015) 4(2):85–92. doi: 10.1556/2006.4.2015.010
- Scimeca G, Bruno A, Gava L, Pandolfo G, Muscatello M, Zoccali R. The relationship between alexithymia, anxiety, depression, and internet addiction severity in a sample of Italian high school students. *Sci World J* (2014) 2014:1– 8. doi: 10.1155/2014/504376
- Montag C, Błaszkiewicz K, Sariyska R, Lachmann B, Andone I, Trendafilov B, et al. Smartphone usage in the 21st century: who is active on WhatsApp? *BMC Res Notes*. (2015) 4;8:331. doi: 10.1186/s13104-015-1280-z
- Mei S, Xu G, Gao T, Ren H, Li J. The relationship between college students' alexithymia and mobile phone addiction: Testing mediation and moderation effects. *BMC Psychiatry* (2018) 18(1):329. doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1891-8
- Gao T, Li J, Zhang H, Gao J, Kong Y, Hu Y, et al. The influence of alexithymia on mobile phone addiction: The role of depression, anxiety and stress. J Affect Disord (2018) 1(225):761–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.08.020
- Hao Z, Jin L, Li Y, Akram H, Saeed M, Ma J, et al. Alexithymia and mobile phone addiction in Chinese undergraduate students: The roles of mobile phone use patterns. *Comput Hum Behav* (2019) 97:51–9. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2019.03.001
- Çağan Ö., Ünsal ,A, Çelik N. Evaluation of college students' the level of addiction to cellular phone and investigation on the relationship between the addiction and level of depression. *Proc Soc Behav Sci* (2014) 114:831–9. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.12.793
- Baysan-Arslan S, Cebeci S, Kaya M, Canbal M. Relationship between internet addiction and alexithymia among university students. *Clin Invest Med* (2016) 39(6):111. doi: 10.25011/cim.v39i6.27513
- Bagby R, Parker JDA, Taylor GJ. The Twenty-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale: I. Item selection and crossvalidation of the factor structure. The Twenty-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale: II. Convergent, discriminant, and concurrent validity. J Psychosom Res (1994) 38(1):33–40. doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(94)90006-X
- 29. Kafafi A, Aldawash F. *The 20-item Toronto alexithymia scale (Arabic version)*. Cairo: Anglo-Egyptian Library (2011).
- Säkkinen P, Kaltiala-Heino R, Ranta K, Haataja R, Joukamaa M. Psychometric properties of the 20-item Toronto alexithymia scale and prevalence of alexithymia in a Finnish adolescent population. *Psychosomatics* (2007) 48 (2):154–61. doi: 10.1176/appi.psy.48.2.154
- Kwon M, Lee JY, Won WY, Park JW, Min JA, Hahn C, et al. Development and validation of a smartphone addiction scale (SAS). *PloS One* (2013) 8(2): e56936. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0056936
- Kwon M, Kim D-J, Cho H, Yang S. The Smartphone Addiction Scale: Development and Validation of a Short Version for Adolescents. *PloS One* (2013) 8:e83558. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0083558
- 33. Lopez-Fernandez O. Short version of the Smartphone Addiction Scale adapted to Spanish and French: Towards a cross-cultural research in problematic mobile phone use. *Addict Behav* (2017) 64:275–80. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2015.11.013
- 34. Noyan C, Darcin A, Nurmedov S, Yilmaz O, Dilbaz N. Validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the Smartphone Addiction Scale-Short Version

among university students. Anatolian J Psychiatry (2015) 16:73. doi: 10.5455/apd.176101

- Sfendla A, Laita M, Nejjar B, Souirti Z, Touhami AAO, Senhaji M. Reliability of the Arabic Smartphone Addiction Scale and Smartphone Addiction Scale-Short Version in Two Different Moroccan Samples. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw* (2018) 21(5):325–32. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2017.0411
- Sifneos PE, Apfel-Savitz R, Frankel FH. The phenomenon of 'alexithymia': observations in neurotic and psychosomatic patients. *Psychother Psychosomat* (1977) 28:47–57. doi: 10.1159/000287043
- Hamaideh SH. Alexithymia among Jordanian university students: Its prevalence and correlates with depression, anxiety, stress, and demographics. *Perspect Psychiatr Care* (2018) 54(2):274–80. doi: 10.1111/ ppc.12234
- Mason O, Tyson M, Jones C, Spotts S. Alexithymia: Its prevalence and correlates in British undergraduate sample. *Psychol Psychother* (2005) 78:113-25. doi: 10.1348/147608304X21374
- 39. Sayed MA. Arabic psychiatry and psychology: The physician who is philosopher and the physician who is not a philosopher: Some cultural considerations. *Soc Behav Pers Int J* (2002) 30:235–42. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2002.30.3.235
- Alqahtani MM, Salmon P. Prevalence of somatization and minor psychiatric morbidity in primary healthcare in Saudi Arabia: A preliminary study in Asir region. J Fam Commun Med (2008) 15:27–33.
- Leung L. Leisure boredom, sensation seeking, self-esteem, addiction: Symptoms and patterns of cell phone use. In Kojin EA, Utz S, Tanis M, Barnes SB. editors. *Mediated interpersonal communication*. New York, NY: Routledge (2008), p. 359–81.
- Smetaniuk P. A preliminary investigation into the prevalence and prediction of problematic cell phone use. J Behav Addict (2014) 3:41–53. doi: 10.1556/ JBA.3.2014.004
- Martinotti G, Villella C, Di Thiene D, Di Nicola M, Bria P, Conte G, et al. Problematic mobile phone use in adolescence: a cross sectional study. J Public Health (2011) 19:545–51. doi: 10.1007/s10389-011-0422-6
- Toda M, Monden K, Kubo K, Morimoto K. Mobile phone dependence and health-related lifestyle of university students. Soc Behav Pers (2006) 34 (10):1277–84. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2006.34.10.1277
- Chen B, Liu F, Ding S, Ying X, Wang L, Wen Y. Gender differences in factors associated with smartphone addiction: a cross-sectional study among medical college students. *BMC Psychiatry* (2017) 17(1):341. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1503-z
- De-Sola Gutiérrez J, Rodríguez De Fonseca F, Rubio G. Cell-phone addiction: a review. Front Psychiatry (2016) 7:175. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2016.00175
- Yang SY, Lin CY, Huang YC, Chang JH. Gender differences in the association of smartphone use with the vitality and mental health of adolescent students. J Am Coll Health (2018) 66(7):693–701. doi: 10.1080/07448481.2018.1454930
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Parker JD. The alexithymia construct: A potential paradigm for psychosomatic medicine. *Psychosomatics* (1991) 32:153–64. doi: 10.1016/S0033-3182(91)72086-0
- Mattila AK, Luutonen S, Ylinen M, Salokangas RK, Joukamaa M. Alexithymia, human relationships, and mobile phone use. *J Nerv Ment Dis* (2010) 198:722– 7. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181f4ab50

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Elkholy, Elhabiby and Ibrahim. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Alexithymic Traits and Hair Cortisol Concentrations in Pregnant Women

Jani Kajanoja^{1,2,3*}, Max Karukivi^{1,3,4}, Paula Mustonen^{3,5}, Noora M. Scheinin^{1,3}, Susanna Kortesluoma³, Ana João Rodrigues⁶, Hasse Karlsson^{1,3} and Linnea Karlsson^{1,3,5}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, University of Turku and Turku University Hospital, Turku, Finland, ² Department of Psychiatry, Satakunta Hospital District, Pori, Finland, ³ FinnBrain Birth Cohort Study, Population Health Research Centre, University of Turku, Turku, Finland, ⁴ Department of Adolescent Psychiatry, Satakunta Hospital District, Pori, Finland, ⁵ Department of Child Psychiatry, University of Turku and Turku University Hospital, Turku, Finland, ⁶ School of Medicine, Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), University of Minho, Braga, Portugal

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy

Reviewed by:

Laura Orsolini, University of Hertfordshire, United Kingdom Carmine Tomasetti, SPDC di Giulianova, Italy Amir Hossein Jalali Nadoushan, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

> ***Correspondence:** Jani Kajanoja jani.kajanoja@utu.fi

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 16 October 2019 Accepted: 24 April 2020 Published: 13 May 2020

Citation:

Kajanoja J, Karukivi M, Mustonen P, Scheinin NM, Kortesluoma S, Rodrigues AJ, Karlsson H and Karlsson L (2020) Alexithymic Traits and Hair Cortisol Concentrations in Pregnant Women. Front. Psychiatry 11:421. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00421 **Introduction:** Alexithymia, a personality construct characterized by difficulties in identifying and expressing emotions, and an externally oriented thinking style, has been associated with a number of stress-related disorders, and physiological markers of stress. We examined the relationships of alexithymia and hair cortisol concentrations (HCC), a measure of long-term cortisol levels, in pregnant women.

Methods: Participants were 130 women from the FinnBrain Birth Cohort study. Alexithymia was measured with the Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20). Analysis of covariance and regression analyses were used to assess the associations between alexithymia and HCC. Educational level, current depressive symptoms, and body mass index (BMI) were applied as covariates.

Results: In the adjusted analyses, individuals with moderate to high alexithymic traits had significantly higher HCC (F = 5.11, partial $\eta^2 = 0.040$, p = 0.026) compared to non-alexithymics. Regression analyses in the whole sample revealed that, of the individual dimensions of alexithymia, Difficulty Identifying Feelings (DIF) was associated with HCC ($\beta = 0.187$, t = 2.064, p = 0.041).

Conclusions: Alexithymia, and especially its dimension DIF, were associated with higher HCC and, therefore, may be linked to increased chronic physiological stress. Implications for pregnancy outcomes and infant development are discussed.

Keywords: alexithymia, stress, cortisol, prenatal, emotional regulation, psychosomatic medicine

INTRODUCTION

Alexithymia is a personality construct characterized by difficulties in identifying and expressing emotions, and an externally oriented thinking style, lacking tendencies for fantasy and imagination (1). Although it is not considered a psychiatric disorder in itself, alexithymia has been linked with a number of stress-related disorders, such as depression, anxiety, pain syndromes, and an increased

117

risk of cardiovascular disease and mortality (2–6). According to the stress-alexithymia hypothesis, alexithymic individuals, due to a lack of emotional awareness, may fail to identify and respond to stressful events adequately, thus leading to increased levels of chronic stress (7). This chronic stress in turn could explain the higher psychiatric and somatic morbidity associated with alexithymia.

Previous studies have provided support for the stressalexithymia hypothesis, showing increased cortisol responses in alexithymic individuals following a social stress test (8, 9). As for chronic stress measures, alexithymia has been linked to increased cortisol secretion in the dexamethasone suppression test, as well as an aberrant cortisol awakening response (10, 11). Furthermore, several studies have associated alexithymia to altered immune responses and tissue inflammation, possibly reflecting physiological effects of prolonged stress (12-14). Interestingly, alexithymia seems also to be more prevalent in patients with immune-related disorders, such as rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis, and systemic lupus erythematosus (15-17). Existing studies on alexithymia and stress have largely focused on acute stress markers in experimental settings and have rarely controlled for the effects of depressive symptoms, which are highly prevalent in alexithymic individuals (3).

To our knowledge, only two studies have investigated alexithymia during pregnancy (18, 19). In both studies alexithymia was related to psychiatric symptoms during pregnancy. Le et al. (18) additionally concluded that alexithymia was a stable phenomenon during pregnancy and the postnatal period. No studies have investigated the association of alexithymia and objective stress measures during pregnancy. Elucidating psychological factors associated with physiological stress is especially relevant in the prenatal context, as psychosocial stress during the gestational period can have long-term consequences for offspring development and future health outcomes (20). Glucocorticoids are able to partially pass the placental barrier and play an important role in fetal development. However, excessive exposure to glucocorticoids may have adverse consequences for the developing brain. Animal models have indicated that prenatal stress or glucocorticoid treatment induces permanent changes in offspring physiology that increase the risk for later somatic and neuropsychiatric disease (21-23). Similarly, in humans, elevated maternal glucocorticoid levels may disrupt fetal brain development and harmfully affect child socioemotional functioning (20, 24).

The aim of this study was to test the stress-alexithymia hypothesis by analyzing the association of alexithymia, depressive symptoms, and physiological stress in the prenatal period. We examined alexithymia levels and hair cortisol concentrations (HCC) in a birth cohort sample of pregnant women. Hair cortisol is an emerging potential biomarker for chronic stress (25, 26) and is thought to reflect cumulative cortisol concentrations over the previous months (27). According to the stress-alexithymia hypothesis, we expected higher alexithymia levels to be associated with higher HCC.

METHODS

Study Details and Participants

This study is based on the FinnBrain Birth Cohort study (www. finnbrain.fi), a prospective cohort established to study the effects of prenatal and early life stress exposure on child brain development and health (28). Participants were recruited between December 2011 and April 2015 from maternal welfare clinics in the South-Western Hospital District and the Åland Islands in Finland. After recruitment, the participants filled in a set of self-report questionnaires three times during pregnancy, at gestational weeks (gwk) 14, 24, and 34. After birth, the families are followed up at 3- to 6-month intervals (the first 30 months) or 12-to 36-month intervals (from 36 months onward), and the study is planned to continue for decades. The parents gave written informed consent on their own and on their child's behalf. The children will be asked for personal consent at an appropriate age. The ethics committee of the Hospital District of Southwest Finland has approved the study protocol (number of ethical approval ETMK-57/180/2011). The participants for this study consist of those mothers who provided hair samples (collection began at the end of the cohort recruitment) and filled in all relevant questionnaires concerning alexithymia levels and depressive symptoms (N = 130). Depressive symptoms were assessed in the 3rd trimester of pregnancy (at gwk 34), and hair samples were collected at the maternity ward 1 to 3 days after childbirth.

Educational level and BMI were considered as potential confounders as they have previously been associated with both alexithymia (29, 30), as well as HCC levels (31, 32). Depressive symptoms were also initially controlled for because the measurement of alexithymia may show some overlap with negative affect (33). However, consistently with previous research (31), depressive symptoms were not associated with HCC levels, and were therefore removed from the final analyses. Regarding possible substance abuse problems, our protocol was to refer participants with substance abuse to treatment. However, as discussed below, no participants reported problematic substance use during pregnancy.

QUESTIONNAIRE DATA

Questionnaire data included a variety of background information on the participants. For this study, we included age, body mass index (BMI), previous, and/or current substance use (including alcohol, tobacco, and illicit drugs), and the level of education divided into five classes: 1) high school or lower; 2) vocational degree; 3) upper secondary school; 4) applied sciences or bachelor's degree; 5) graduate school or PhD degree. Current medication use during pregnancy was inquired including antidepressant (SSRI or SNRI), non-steroidal antiinflammatory (NSAID), and glucocorticoid and thyroid medication use. Background information was collected in the 1st trimester of pregnancy, substance use was additionally assessed in the 3rd trimester. Participants were also asked to report any diagnosed medical or psychiatric conditions.

Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20) (34, 35) is one of the most commonly used self-report scales used to measure alexithymic features. It consists of 20 items divided into three subscales: difficulty identifying feelings (DIF), difficulty describing feelings (DDF), and externally oriented thinking style (EOT). Items are rated with a five-point Likert scale (1, strongly disagree; 5, strongly agree). Thus, the total score ranges from 20 to 100. An individual is considered highly alexithymic if the TAS-20 total score exceeds 60 points, and moderately alexithymic if the total score is between 52 and 60 points (36). The TAS-20 was administered 6 months after the baby was born. Alexithymia levels were assessed both continuously as well as categorically. As the prevalence of high alexithymia was very low (3.1%, N = 4), the cutoff score of moderate to high alexithymia (TAS-20 overall score > 52) was used. Individuals scoring under 52 points were classified as non-alexithymic.

The Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) (37) is a widely used questionnaire for screening prenatal and postnatal depression. It is a 10-item self-report scale that asks respondents to rate their mood and other depressive symptoms in the previous 7 days. Questions are scored from 0 to 3, and thus, the total score ranges from 0 to 30 points. Depressive symptoms were measured at gwk 34 and used as a continuous variable.

Hair Cortisol Assessment

Maternal hair samples were collected from a random population of the FinnBrain Cohort participant mothers at the maternity ward 1 to 3 days after delivery between December 2014 and November 2015. A strand of hair was cut from a standardized area of the posterior vertex region of the head as close to the scalp as possible. Hair samples were stored in foil in a dry place protected from light according to good research practice, Finnish legislation, and data protection until the analyses. The analyses were performed at Life and Health Sciences Research Institute (ICVS), University of Minho, Portugal. For the analysis, a 5-cm segment was used. As hair grows approximately 1 cm per month (38), a 5-cm segment was estimated to reflect the cortisol concentrations of the previous 5 months.

The hair segments were washed in isopropanol for 3 min three times and finely minced using surgical scissors. For extraction of cortisol, 1.5 ml of methanol was added to each sample, and the samples were incubated at 55°C for 24 h. After centrifuging at 10,000 rpm for 2 min, the supernatant was transferred to a new vial. Methanol was evaporated at 60°C under a constant stream of nitrogen until the samples were dried completely. Finally, 0.15 ml of phosphate buffer was added, and 50 µl of each sample was analyzed with ELISA (IBL International Cortisol Saliva ELISA) following the manufacturer's procedure. All samples were analyzed in duplicates with coefficients of variation below 15%.

The HCC data were examined for outliers, and values >3 standard deviations (SD) above the mean were excluded from the final analyses (HCC > 190.5 pg/mg, N = 5) (31). Hair samples weighing < 5 mg (N = 0) or > 15 mg (N = 7) were excluded.

Statistical Methods

All statistical analyses were conducted using the IBM SPSS (version 24.0). Normality of distribution within variables was assessed with the Shapiro-Wilk test. Associations between categorical variables were analyzed with Chi Square test. Student's t-test was used to examine differences in HCC between groups. As BMI was non-normally distributed, Mann Whitney U-test was used. An analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was conducted to examine group differences in HCC between alexithymic individuals and non-alexithymics while controlling for the selected covariates. Multiple regression analyses were conducted to examine the associations between alexithymia dimensions, overall alexithymia scores, and HCC, controlling for the effects of educational level, BMI, and current depressive symptoms (EPDS) at gwk 34. As substance use levels were negligible, they were not used as covariates. Maternal age was unrelated to both alexithymia levels and HCC, and was thus also left out of the final analyses. Natural logarithmic transformations were performed on the HCC data to reduce skewness according to common practice (26, 39). After transformation, HCC was normally distributed (Shapiro-Wilk test, p > 0.4 for both groups).

RESULTS

Basic information on the study sample is provided in **Table 1**. Only one participant in each group reported tobacco use after the 1st trimester of pregnancy. Nine individuals (7.7%) in the non-

TABLE 1 Basic information and comparison of hair cortisol concentrations
between alexithymia groups.

	No alexithymia (N = 118)	Moderate to high alexithymia (N = 12)	Test statistic	p
Level of				
education*				
1.	0%	16.7%		
2.	9.6%	25.0%	–2.257 ^b	0.024
3.	9.6%	8.3%		
4.	37.4%	25.0%		
5.	43.5%	25.0%		
Age	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)		
	31.6 (3.7)	30.2 (4.6)	1.24 ^a	0.217
Depressive	4.3 (3.9)	7.3 (3.9)	-2.55 ^b	0.011
symptoms				
BMI	24.2 (27.6)	27.6 (7.2)	-1.68 ^b	0.094
HCC (pg/ml)	17.8 (19.3)	35.1 (31.5)	-2.73 ^a	0.007
DIF	11.2 (3.6)	20.8 (4.3)	-5.22 ^b	<0.001
DDF	9.2 (3.0)	16.4 (3.4)	–5.12 ^b	<0.001
EOT	17.7 (4.3)	22.0 (3.4)	-3.21 ^b	<0.001
TAS-20 total	38.0 (7.2)	59.2 (5.8)	-5.67 ^b	<0.001

^aStudent's t-test.

^bMann Whitney U test.

*Level of education: 1, high school or lower; 2, vocational degree; 3, upper secondary school; 4, applied sciences or bachelor's degree; 5, graduate school or PhD degree. HCC, hair cortisol concentrations; BMI, body mass index; DIF, difficulty identifying feelings; DDF, difficulty describing feelings; EOT, externally oriented thinking. No alexithymia = TAS-20 score < 52.

Moderate to high alexithymia = TAS-20 score > 52.

alexithymia group, and one (8.3%) in the moderate to high alexithymia group reported alcohol use after the 1st trimester. Frequency of use in all cases was less than once a month, and ≤ 1 standard dose of alcohol per occasion. No participants reported current illicit drug use. Three participants reported SSRI/SNRI use during pregnancy, eight participants reported thyroid medication (levothyroxine) use during pregnancy, and five participants reported glucocorticoid use during pregnancy. None of the participants reported NSAID use. Regarding somatic diseases and disorders potentially affecting the immune system or causing inflammation, one participant reported a diagnosed cancer and two reported a diagnosis of an autoimmune disorder (not further specified). No one reported current bacterial or viral infections. Mean duration of pregnancy was 280 days (min, 254 days; max, 296 days). Duration of pregnancy had no correlation with HCC (Spearman's rho = 0.032, p = 0.714), TAS-20 scores (rho = 0.117, p = 0.185), or DIF (rho = 0.116, p = 0.189).

Figure 1 shows the distributions of HCC and alexithymia levels. The moderate/high alexithymia group showed higher HCC levels compared to those with low alexithymia levels (t = 2.75, p = 0.007). Results of the ANCOVA showed that the difference in HCC between alexithymia groups stayed significant after controlling for the selected covariates (F = 5.11, partial $\eta^2 = 0.040$, p = 0.026). One participant in each group reported SSRI/SNRI use during late pregnancy. Removing these participants from the analyses slightly strengthened the group difference (F = 6.12, partial $\eta^2 = 0.049$, p = 0.015). Additionally, one participant in the moderate/high alexithymia group reported SSRI/SNRI use only in the first trimester of pregnancy. Removing all three SSRI/SNRI users did not affect the results. Five participants in the low alexithymia group reported current glucocorticoid use, and removing these did not affect the results. Removing those with





TABLE 2 Summary of multiple regression analysis of variables predicting hair
cortisol concentration.

	в	Standard error	β	t	р
Body mass index	-0.045	0.017	-0.243	-2.668	0.009
Level of education	-0.213	0.080	-0.234	-2.667	0.009
DIF	0.039	0.019	0.187	2.064	0.041

DIF, difficulty identifying feelings.

thyroid conditions/medications, cancer, and autoimmune disorders did not affect the results either.

Separate regression analyses were conducted for TAS-20 and its individual dimensions in the whole sample. As the EPDS score was not associated with the outcome variable HCC (Spearman's rho = 0.092, p = 0.298), it was excluded from the covariates in the regression analyses.

After controlling for confounders, DIF remained a significant predictor of HCC (**Table 2**). The associations between HCC and TAS-20 total score, as well as the two other (DDF and EOT) alexithymia dimensions were non-significant (p > 0.1 for all comparisons). Of the covariates, educational level and BMI were negatively associated with HCC (**Table 2**).

DISCUSSION

Our results suggest that, among pregnant women, moderate to high alexithymia is associated with elevated HCC levels, compared to the non-alexithymic group. This association was driven by subjective difficulty in identifying feelings (DIF), as it was the only dimension of alexithymia that was associated with HCC in the whole sample, after controlling for potential confounders. While educational level and BMI were both negatively associated with HCC, depressive symptom scores in late pregnancy (gwk 34) were unrelated to HCC.

Our results are in line with previous research that has associated alexithymia with altered HPA axis functioning, inflammatory markers, and immune responses (8-14, 39). A review article by De Berardis et al. (40) summarized findings showing that alexithymia has been consistently linked to higher circulating levels of acute phase proteins, as well as proinflammatory cytokines. They argued that alexithymia may involve a chronic hyperreactivity of the HPA axis to stressful situations, increasing cortisol levels, which in turn affect immune responses and cytokine production. As hair cortisol is considered a marker of long-term HPA axis activity, our findings lend support to these ideas. Chronically heightened cortisol concentrations as a result of prolonged psychosocial stress may at least partially explain the altered immune system functioning, as well as the higher prevalence of alexithymia in individuals suffering from stress- and immune-related disorders.

Several psychological mechanisms could explain the apparent link between alexithymia and physiological stress. Martin & Pihl (7), in their stress-alexithymia hypothesis, proposed that alexithymia could directly increase long-term stress levels due to an impaired ability to identify and downregulate stress responses. The fact that only DIF was related to increased hair cortisol levels is partially in line with previous research: In a study by Hua et al. (9), only the DIF dimension of alexithymia was associated with increased salivary cortisol secretion before, during, and after a social stress test. They suggested that DIF may impede emotional appraisal and may, therefore, increase anticipatory reactions to stressful situations and hinder recovery from them. A recent study by De Berardis et al. (41) found that DIF together with low resilience was associated with suicide ideation. They hypothesized that alexithymia, and particularly the DIF dimension may contribute to low resilience *via* maladaptive coping strategies. In sum, from the different facets of alexithymia, DIF may be particularly relevant for stress vulnerability and resilience.

However, other mediating factors for the association of alexithymia and stress are also possible. Alexithymic individuals tend to suffer from social anhedonia and interpersonal difficulties, possibly making everyday social situations more stressful. Alexithymic individuals are also more prone to substance use, and more often engage in a sedentary lifestyle and unhealthier diets (42–44), all of which may increase physiological stress levels. As our study was cross-sectional and did not assess potential mediating factors for chronic stress, future studies will need to address specific causal pathways between alexithymia and stress. Furthermore, as prenatal stress in mothers may have programming effects for fetal development, increasing the likelihood of future somatic and psychiatric morbidity in the offspring, future studies should examine the effects of maternal alexithymia on child development.

Some limitations of this study should be considered. The prevalence of alexithymia in this sample, as well as in the whole birth cohort, was low compared to the prevalence of alexithymia in the general population (45, 46), and the distribution of HCC was substantially wide. The low prevalence of alexithymia may be explained by the fact that the FinnBrain study sample is relatively highly educated and consists of young adults, thus the results may not be generalizable to all populations and other countries. Therefore, the results should be replicated in a larger and more representative sample of alexithymic individuals, and with more diverse measures of stress. Furthermore, HPA axis metabolism as measured by HCC in the context of alexithymia should be investigated among non-pregnant females and males, to gain more generalizable knowledge on the associations between longterm HPA axis homeostasis and alexithymia. Another limitation was that alexithymia was measured postnatally, whereas HCC was measured during late pregnancy. Cortisol levels are generally known to rise toward the end of pregnancy, and little longitudinal data exists on postnatal alterations off HCC (47). However, this is a minor limitation as several studies have concluded that alexithymia is a relatively stable trait (48), including in the course of pregnancy and the postnatal period (18). Finally, we did not assess traumatic experiences in adult life, adjustment disorders or post-traumatic stress disorder, and therefore we cannot speculate whether the alexithymic features in our study sample were attributable to

developmental factors, traumatic experiences in adulthood or some other predisposing factor.

CONCLUSIONS

Alexithymia in pregnant women was associated with higher hair cortisol concentrations during the third trimester, possibly indicating chronic prenatal stress. The association was driven by subjective difficulty in identifying feelings, and was independent of current depressive symptoms. Further research is warranted to examine if alexithymia plays a causal role in prenatal physiological stress, and whether maternal alexithymia may affect offspring development.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee, Hospital District of Southwest Finland. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors have been involved in the writing process of the article. JK, MK, NS, LK, and HK were involved in planning the research. JK has conducted the statistical analyses and most of the planning and writing.

FUNDING

We wish to thank the Finnish Cultural Foundation Satakunta Regional Fund, Signe, and Ane Gyllenberg Foundation, Turku University Foundation, Jane and Aatos Erkko Foundation, and Academy of Finland (Grant number 287908) for funding this study. In addition, the FinnBrain Birth Cohort Study has received funding for this part of the project from the Academy of Finland (grants 134950 and 253270) and Finnish State Grants for Clinical Research (ERVA projects P3003, P3498, and P3654).

REFERENCES

- Sifneos PE. The prevalence of "alexithymic" characteristics in psychosomatic patients. Psychother Psychosom (1973) 22(2):255–62. doi: 10.1159/000286529
- Berthoz S, Consoli S, Perez-Diaz F, Jouvent R. "Alexithymia and anxiety: compounded relationships? A Psychom study" Eur Psychiatry: J Assoc Eur Psychiatrists (1999) 14 7:372–8. doi: 10.1016/S0924-9338(99)00233-3
- Honkalampi K, Hintikka J, Tanskanen A, Lehtonen J, Viinamäki H. Depression is strongly associated with alexithymia in the general population. J Psychosom Res (2000) 48 1:99–104. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(99)00083-5
- Grabe H, Schwahn C, Barnow S, Spitzer C, John U, Freyberger H, et al. Alexithymia, hypertension, and subclinical atherosclerosis in the general population. J Psychosom Res (2010) 68(2):139–47. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpsychores.2009.07.015
- Tolmunen T, Lehto S, Heliste M, Kurl S, Kauhanen J. Alexithymia Is Associated With Increased Cardiovascular Mortality in Middle-Aged Finnish Men. *Psychosom Med* (2010) 72(2):187–91. doi: 10.1097/ PSY.0b013e3181c65d00
- Montoro CI, Reyes del Paso GA, Duschek S. Alexithymia in fibromyalgia syndrome. Pers Individ Dif (2016) 102:170–9. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2016.06.072
- Martin JB, Pihl RO. The stress-alexithymia hypothesis: theoretical and empirical considerations. *Psychother Psychosom* (1985) 43(4):169–76. doi: 10.1159/000287876
- de Timary P, Roy E, Luminet O, Fillée C, Mikolajczak M. Relationship between alexithymia, alexithymia factors and salivary cortisol in men exposed to a social stress test. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2008) 33(8):1160–4. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2008.06.005
- Hua J, Le Scanff C, Larue J, José F, Martin J-C, Devillers L, et al. Global stress response during a social stress test: impact of alexithymia and its subfactors. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2014) 50:53-61. doi: 10.1016/ j.psyneuen.2014.08.003
- Lindholm T, Lehtinen V, Hyyppä MT, Puukka P. Alexithymic Features in Relation to the Dexamethasone Suppression Test in a Finnish Population Sample. Am J Psychiatry (1990) 147(9):1216–9. doi: 10.1176/ajp.147.9.1216
- Alkan Härtwig E, Aust S, Heuser I. HPA system activity in alexithymia: a cortisol awakening response study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2013) 38 (10):2121–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.03.023
- Guilbaud O, Corcos M, Hjalmarsson L, Loas G, Jeammet P. Is there a psychoneuroimmunological pathway between alexithymia and immunity? Immune and physiological correlates of alexithymia. *Biomed Pharmacother* = *Biomed Pharmacother* (2003) 57(7):292–5. doi: 10.1016/S0753-3322(03) 00085-4
- Honkalampi K, Lehto SM, Koivumaa-Honkanen H, Hintikka J, Niskanen L, Valkonen-Korhonen M, et al. Alexithymia and tissue inflammation. *Psychother Psychosom* (2011) 80(6):359–64. doi: 10.1159/000327583
- Honkalampi K, Viinamäki H, Niskanen L, Koivumaa-Honkanen H, Valkonen-Korhonen M, Elomaa A-P, et al. Reduced serum adiponectin levels in alexithymia. *Neuroimmunomodulation* (2014) 21(5):234–9. doi: 10.1159/000357051
- Fernandez A, Sriram TG, Rajkumar S, Chandrasekar AN. Alexithymic characteristics in rheumatoid arthritis: a controlled study. *Psychother Psychosom* (1989) 51 1:45–50. doi: 10.1159/000288133
- Barbosa F, Mota C, Alves M, Alcântara C, Rossiñol B, Patrício P, et al. Alexithymia in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Ann New York Acad Sci* (2009) 1173:227–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04640.x
- Chalah MA, Ayache SS. Alexithymia in multiple sclerosis: A systematic review of literature. *Neuropsychologia* (2017) 104:31–47. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuropsychologia.2017.07.034
- Le HN, Ramos MA, Muñoz RF. The relationship between alexithymia and perinatal depressive symptomatology. J Psychosom Res (2007) 62 2:215–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2006.09.012
- Gilanifar M, Delavar MA. The relationship between alexithymia and general symptoms of pregnant women. *Romanian J Internal Med = Rev Roumaine Med Interne* (2017) 55(1):14–8. doi: 10.1515/rjim-2016-0048
- Madigan S, Oatley H, Racine N, Fearon RMP, Schumacher L, Akbari E, et al. A Meta-Analysis of Maternal Prenatal Depression and Anxiety on Child Socioemotional Development. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2018) 57(9):645–657.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2018.06.012

- Borges S, Coimbra B, Soares-Cunha C, Ventura-Silva AP, Pinto L, Carvalho MM, et al. Glucocorticoid programing of the mesopontine cholinergic system. *Front Endocrinol* (2013) 4:190. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2013.00190
- Soares-Cunha C, Coimbra B, Borges S, Domingues AV, Silva D, Sousa N, et al. Mild Prenatal Stress Causes Emotional and Brain Structural Modifications in Rats of Both Sexes. *Front Behav Neurosci* (2018) 12:129. doi: 10.3389/ fnbeh.2018.00129
- Seckl JR, Holmes MC. Mechanisms of disease: glucocorticoids, their placental metabolism and fetal "programming" of adult pathophysiology. *Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab* (2007) 3(6):479–88. doi: 10.1038/ncpendmet0515
- Buss C, Davis EP, Shahbaba B, Pruessner JC, Head K, Sandman CA. Maternal cortisol over the course of pregnancy and subsequent child amygdala and hippocampus volumes and affective problems. *Proc Natl Acad Sci United States America* (2012) 109 20:E1312–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1201295109
- Russell E, Koren G, Rieder M, Van Uum S. Hair cortisol as a biological marker of chronic stress: current status, future directions and unanswered questions. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2012) 37(5):589–601. doi: 10.1016/ j.psyneuen.2011.09.009
- Mustonen P, Karlsson L, Kataja E-L, Scheinin NM, Kortesluoma S, Coimbra B, et al. Maternal prenatal hair cortisol is associated with prenatal depressive symptom trajectories. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2019) 109:104383. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.104383
- Kirschbaum C, Tietze A, Skoluda N, Dettenborn L. Hair as a retrospective calendar of cortisol production-Increased cortisol incorporation into hair in the third trimester of pregnancy. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2009) 34(1):32– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2008.08.024
- Karlsson L, Tolvanen M, Scheinin NM, Uusitupa H-M, Korja R, Ekholm E, et al. Cohort Profile: The FinnBrain Birth Cohort Study (FinnBrain). Int J Epidemiol (2018) 47(1):15–16j. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyx173
- Kokkonen P, Karvonen JT, Veijola J, Läksy K, Jokelainen J, Järvelin MR, et al. Prevalence and sociodemographic correlates of alexithymia in a population sample of young adults. *Compr Psychiatry* (2001) 42(6):471–6. doi: 10.1053/ comp.2001.27892
- Kajanoja J, Karukivi M, Scheinin NM, Tuulari JJ, Ahrnberg H, Karlsson L, et al. Alexithymia, body mass index and gestational diabetes in pregnant women—FinnBrain birth cohort study. J Psychosom Res (2019) 124:109742. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2019.109742
- Stalder T, Steudte-Schmiedgen S, Alexander N, Klucken T, Vater A, Wichmann S, et al. Stress-related and basic determinants of hair cortisol in humans: A meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2017) 77:261–74. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.12.017
- Ursache A, Merz EC, Melvin S, Meyer J, Noble KG. Socioeconomic status, hair cortisol and internalizing symptoms in parents and children. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2017) 78:142–50. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2017.01.020
- 33. Marchesi C, Ossola P, Tonna M, De Panfilis C. The TAS-20 more likely measures negative affects rather than alexithymia itself in patients with major depression, panic disorder, eating disorders and substance use disorders. *Compr Psychiatry* (2014) 55(4):72–978. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2013.12.008
- Bagby RM, Parker JDA, Taylor GJ. The twenty-item Toronto Alexithymia scale— I. Item selection and cross-validation of the factor structure. *J Psychosom Res* (1994) 38(1):23–32. doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(94)90005-1
- Joukamaa M, Miettunen J, Kokkonen P, Koskinen M, Julkunen J, Kauhanen J, et al. Psychometric properties of the Finnish 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale. Nordic J Psychiatry (2001) 55(2):123-7. doi: 10.1080/ 08039480151108561
- Taylor GJ, Michael Bagby R, Parker JDA. Disorders of Affect Regulation: Alexithymia in Medical and Psychiatric Illness. Cambridge University Press (1999).
- Cox JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of Postnatal Depression: Development of the 10-item Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. Br J Psychiatry: J Ment Sci (1987) 150(6):782–6. doi: 10.1192/bjp.150.6.782
- Greff MJE, Levine JM, Abuzgaia AM, Elzagallaai AA, Rieder MJ, van Uum SHM. Hair cortisol analysis: An update on methodological considerations and clinical applications. *Clin Biochem* (2019) 63:1–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.clinbiochem.2018.09.010
- 39. De Berardis D, Serroni N, Campanella D, Carano A, Gambi F, Valchera A, et al. Alexithymia and its relationships with C-reactive protein and serum lipid

levels among drug naïve adult outpatients with major depression. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* (2008) 32(8):1982–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.pnpbp.2008.09.022

- 40. De Berardis D, Conti C, Iasevoli F, Valchera A, Fornaro M, Cavuto M, et al. Alexithymia and its relationships with acute phase proteins and cytokine release: an updated review. *J Biol Reg Homeostatic Agents* (2014) 28(4):795–9.
- 41. De Berardis D, Fornaro M, Valchera A, Rapini G, Di Natale S, De Lauretis I, et al. Alexithymia, resilience, somatic sensations and their relationships with suicide ideation in drug naïve patients with first-episode major depression: An exploratory study in the 'real world' everyday clinical practice. *Early Int Psychiatry* (2019) 1–7. doi: 10.1111/eip.12863
- Helmers KF, Mente A. Alexithymia and health behaviors in healthy male volunteers. J Psychosom Res (1999) 47(6):635–45. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999 (99)00067-7
- Honkalampi K, Ruusunen A, Viinamäki H, Koivumaa-Honkanen H, Valkonen-Korhonen M, Lehto SM. Dietary patterns are associated with the prevalence of alexithymia. Scand J Psychol (2017) 58(4):318–23. doi: 10.1111/sjop.12370
- Kajanoja J, Scheinin NM, Karukivi M, Karlsson L, Karlsson H. Alcohol and tobacco use in men: the role of alexithymia and externally oriented thinking style. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse (2019) 45(2):199–207. doi: 10.1080/ 00952990.2018.1528267
- Mattila AK, Salminen JK, Nummi T, Joukamaa M. Age is strongly associated with alexithymia in the general population. *J Psychosom Res* (2006) 61(5):629– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2006.04.013

- 46. Kajanoja J, Scheinin NM, Karlsson L, Karlsson H, Karukivi M. Illuminating the clinical significance of alexithymia subtypes: A cluster analysis of alexithymic traits and psychiatric symptoms. J Psychosom Res (2017) 97:111-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2017.04.010
- Mustonen P, Karlsson L, Scheinin NM, Kortesluoma S, Coimbra B, Rodrigues AJ, et al. Hair cortisol concentration (HCC) as a measure for prenatal psychological distress - A systematic review. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* (2018) 92:21–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.03.019
- Hiirola A, Pirkola S, Karukivi M, Markkula N, Bagby RM, Joukamaa M, et al. An evaluation of the absolute and relative stability of alexithymia over 11 years in a Finnish general population. J Psychosom Res (2017) 95:81–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.jpsychores.2017.02.007

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Kajanoja, Karukivi, Mustonen, Scheinin, Kortesluoma, Rodrigues, Karlsson and Karlsson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Panic Disorder as Unthinkable Emotions: Alexithymia in Panic Disorder, a Croatian Cross-Sectional Study

Daniela Šago^{1,2*}, Goran Babić^{3,4}, Žarko Bajić¹ and Igor Filipčić^{1,2,4,5}

¹ Day Hospital for Psychotic Disorder, Psychiatric Hospital Sveti Ivan, Zagreb, Croatia, ² Faculty of Medicine, Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek, Osijek, Croatia, ³ Independent Researcher, Zagreb, Croatia, ⁴ School of Medicine, University of Zagreb, Zagreb, Croatia, ⁵ Faculty of Dental Medicine and Health, Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek, Osijek, Croatia

Objectives: Previous research on alexithymia has led to controversy over its prevalence in panic disorder. The aim of this study was to assess the difference in the prevalence of alexithymia in panic disorder and other anxiety disorders.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Domenico De Berardis, Azienda Usl Teramo, Italy

Reviewed by:

Alessandro Carano, ASUR Marche, Italy Carmine Tomasetti, SPDC di Giulianova, Italy

*Correspondence: Daniela Šago daniela.sago@pbsvi.hr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 30 September 2019 Accepted: 06 May 2020 Published: 20 May 2020

Citation:

Šago D, Babić G, Bajić Ž and Filipčić I (2020) Panic Disorder as Unthinkable Emotions: Alexithymia in Panic Disorder, a Croatian Cross-Sectional Study. Front. Psychiatry 11:466. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00466 **Design and Methods:** We performed a cross-sectional study on a sample of 71 patients diagnosed with panic disorder and 113 patients diagnosed with other anxiety disorders; both groups were 18–50 years old. Primary outcome was the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS) score. Secondary outcome was the prevalence of alexithymia defined as a TAS score \geq 61.

Results: Patients diagnosed with panic disorder had a 25% higher score on the TAS subscale of difficulty identifying feelings than patients diagnosed with other anxiety disorders. The prevalence of alexithymia was 27% in patients with panic disorder and 13% in patients with other anxiety disorders. Patients diagnosed with panic disorder had significantly higher odds for alexithymia.

Conclusions: The results of our study support the hypothesis of higher prevalence of alexithymia in individuals with panic disorder than in individuals with other anxiety disorders. In addition, difficulty identifying feelings as a salient feature of alexithymia is higher in panic disorder than in other anxiety disorders.

Keywords: alexithymia, anxiety disorders, mentalizing, panic disorder, psychoanalytical interpretation

INTRODUCTION

The construct of alexithymia refers to a cluster of features, comprising difficulty identifying and describing subjective feelings, an impoverished fantasy life, and preoccupation with external events rather than to inner mental processes (1–3). Initially, alexithymia was described in psychosomatic patients (4–7). As alexithymia theory advanced, the construct progressed beyond the psychosomatic field. For almost half a century, researchers and clinicians argued whether alexithymia is specific to certain groups of patients or not specific and theoretically accessible to all of us, a prerequisite of

symptom formation or itself a symptom, primary or secondary, innate or acquired, a state or trait, a defense mechanism, or a structure deficit (3, 8). Nowadays, alexithymia as unique personality trait is considered to reflect deficits in cognitiveemotional processing and regulation of affect (9, 10). While the accurate meaning of the term alexithymia suggests a type of anomia instead of agnosia, for most clinicians and researchers inspired by Sifneos and Nemiah, it is the name of a multifaceted construct that encompasses more than a difficulty finding words for emotional feelings, rather words denuded of their affective significance (11, 12). Alexithymia is also viewed as a massive defense against intolerable emotions as well as a deficit in the mental representation of emotions (9, 12). Alexithymia is in neither the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) nor the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) diagnostic category. Prevalence of alexithymia is around 10% in the general population (13-17).

Panic disorder (PD) is characterized by recurrent and unexpected panic attacks (18, 19). The lifetime prevalence of PD is approximately 4% (20). PD has high rates of relapse, which suggests a gap in our understanding of the maintain factors behind PD symptoms and that improving our understanding of the psychological processes underlying PD may enhance the efficacy of treatment (21). "Other anxiety disorders" (AODs; ICD-10 F41), including PD, are disorders in which manifestation of anxiety is the major symptom manifested by the somatic and affective component. Somatic arousal activates psychic elaboration whereby metabolize emotions into feelings (22, 23). Analogous to PD, alexithymic persons are prone to misinterpret somatic sensation as signs of physical illness and focus on the somatic manifestation of emotional arousal while minimizing the affective components of emotion (24, 25).

Nemiah was the first author who highlighted the connection between alexithymia and PD (26). In 1993, the first empirical studies were published to confirm this theoretical assumption (27, 28). Subsequently, using the Toronto Alexithymia Scale with 26 item (TAS-26), Bach et al. found no significant association between alexithymia and personality disorders (29). Since 1995, the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20) has been used predominantly for research. The most researchers investigated the prevalence of alexithymia in PD, or in comparison with its prevalence in social phobia, affective disorders, obsessive compulsive disorder, suicidality, personality traits, eating disorders, substance use disorders, and childhood trauma (19, 30-36). De Berardis made a major contribution in this area by studying the impact of alexithymia on anxiety disorders (37, 38). At the same time, theories of pathophysiological mechanisms underlying PD have been developed. Nevertheless, the treatment of PD is still unsatisfactory (39-42). Moreover, alexithymic persons are thought to have poor response to treatment (43, 44). Consequently, there are still many questions to be answered.

In individuals with a normally functioning affective system, somatic arousal activates psychic elaboration (45). Panic can be understood as a core basic signal that is not adequately processed in its significance as a signal function and is not clearly defined or mentalized (46). Elaboration of affect includes identification of

the meaning of panic, converting it to an anxiety signal that does not overwhelm the cognitive system (46). It is to be assumed that patients with PD are typically unable to identify bodily experiences and symptoms as representations or symbols of affective states. Somatic symptoms of the PD apparently have neither biological sense nor symbolic significance. The threat is experienced as if it is occurring in the body rather than in the mind, and as if it is a catastrophic danger to the body. This subjective experience indicates a deficit in symbolizing, a subsymbolic state that has not been represented (46). Bypassing the psyche, anxiety directly affects the soma (47).

We assume that intense anxiety in PD and alexithymia due to insufficient psychological elaboration precipitate into fear and relocates to a somatic symptom (19). This implies that the degree of anxiety is more pronounced in PD than in OAD, leading to a breakdown of the mentalization process. Panic attack as alexithymia is an inability to master bodily arousal and a failure to metabolize primary somatic and affective experiences: a failure to metabolize emotions into feelings (23, 48). PD provides a useful model for exploring maladaptive alarm systems (46). This motivated us to deepen our research on alexithymia in PD.

Contemporary conceptualization of alexithymia inclined toward a dimensional rather than a categorical approach as well as it often included trait and state components (49–53). Nevertheless, the largest number of studies used a categorical model. In line with different methodology, sample size, version of the TAS scale, history of illness, comorbidity, and pharmacological treatment, a diverse range, from 16% to 67%, of alexithymia in individuals with PD was obtained (27, 28, 30, 31, 34, 36, 54–56).

So far researchers have studied alexithymia in Neurotic, stress-related and somatoform disorders. Regarding anxiety disorders, most researches compared alexithymia in PD and phobic disorders where anxiety is evoked only in certain welldefined situations. Since the emotion of anxiety in phobic disorder can be identified and mentalized and is oriented toward external object, it is questionable whether it can be named anxiety or fear.

Considering the above mentioned, our intention was to focus on insufficiently researched diagnostic category, "Other anxiety disorders" (F41). Although this category might seem heterogeneous, the disorders encompassed in it have a common core symptom—a free-floating, unrepresented, unmentalized anxiety directed toward own bodily sensations rather than an external object (like in phobias), which is especially seen in PD and generalized anxiety disorder. While the label "Other anxiety disorders" might imply all anxiety disorders, actually it doesn't encompass F40 codes, under the label of "Phobic anxiety disorders."

The aim of our study was to assess the prevalence of alexithymia in PD, the difference in alexithymia prevalence in PD and OAD, and correlation between alexithymia and the severity of PD. We hypothesized that the prevalence of alexithymia is higher in patients with PD (F41.0) than in patients with OAD (F41.1, F41.2, F41.3, F41.8, and F41.9).

According to our knowledge, this is the first study comparing these diagnostic categories. We also bring into focus the qualitative assessment between PD and alexithymia, using the Panic Disorder Severity Scale (PDSS).

METHODS

Study Design

Cross-sectional study was performed during three years in Mental Health Center Zagreb, Croatia. The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Mental Health Center Zagreb. All participants provided written informed consent for participation, and their identities were concealed by assigning them a numerical code. We kept the signed informed consent forms and completed questionnaires separate. Informed consent included the aim and the purpose of the research. The study was performed in accordance with the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki 2013 (57).

Subjects

Our targeted population was outpatients newly diagnosed with PD (ICD-10 F41.0). The control population was patients newly diagnosed with OAD (ICD-10 F41.1–F41.9). We selected a consecutive sample, enrolling the patients by the order of their arrival to the first psychiatric evaluation. Inclusion criteria included both genders, age 18–50 years, and ability to complete the questionnaires by themselves. Exclusion criteria consisted of presence of other psychiatric or somatic disorders, previous PD or OAD, psychotherapy or pharmacotherapy, and acute suicidality. Of the 192 respondents, two did not give their consent to participate in the study, five had psychiatric or somatic comorbidity, and one had a previous psychotherapy so they were excluded from the sample. Therefore, 71 patients with PD and 113 with OAD were included in the study.

The diagnosis was made by an experienced psychiatrist during a clinical interview according to the ICD-10 criteria verified by the PDSS for patients with PD. The PDSS was administered by the same psychiatrist. Participants were screened for exclusion criteria during the clinical interview, and in the self-report questionnaire (made for the purpose of this research) that included items regarding comorbidities and previous pharmacological and psychotherapy treatment. We performed the power analysis before the enrollment. We obtained the expected TAS-20 values from the Cucchi et al. study (35), set the needed power at 80%, the significance at p <0.05, and the minimal difference at least as large as the one found in the Cucchi et al. study. The largest sample size was needed for the externally oriented thinking (EOT) TAS-20 subscale, n = 58 in each group. We expected up to 10% of incorrectly collected data and determined the initially needed sample size to be 65 in each group. The needed sample size was calculated using PASS 13 Power Analysis and Sample Size Software (2014) (NCSS, LLC; Kaysville, Utah, USA, ncss.com/ software/pass).

Outcomes

Our primary outcome was the 20-item TAS-20 score (58, 59). Each item was rated on a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from "strongly disagree" (scored 1) to "strongly agree" (scored 5), with scores ranging from 20 to 100. Higher total scores indicated more alexithymia. TAS-20 has three subscales that assess difficulty identifying feelings (DIF), difficulty describing feelings (DDF) to others, and EOT. The scale has been translated into numerous languages, and its three-factor structure, has been cross-validated by confirmatory factor analysis across many countries and cultures (60-65). These findings support the view that alexithymia is a common trait rather than a culturespecific construct (3). Our secondary outcome was the prevalence of alexithymia. TAS-20 at the same time provides continuous assessment of alexithymia characteristics to identify persons with high and low alexithymia as well as empirically derived cutoff scores (58). Subjects with a total score of \leq 51 are considered non-alexithymic, those scoring 52 to 60 possibly alexithymic, and subjects scoring ≥ 61 considered alexithymic (66). As a tertiary, exploratory outcome, we analyzed the association of the TAS-20 score with the severity of PD measured by the PDSS (67, 68).

The PDSS was developed to provide a simple method of measuring the overall severity of PD (68). It consists of seven items, each rated on a five-point Likert scale. The items consider panic frequency, distress during panic, anticipatory anxiety, phobic avoidance of situations, phobic avoidance of physical sensations, impairment in work functioning, and impairment in social functioning (68). A total score is calculated by summing the scores for all seven items. Individual responses are scored on a scale of 0–4, and total scores range from 0 to 28.

Possible Confounders

Possible confounders of our primary and secondary outcomes whose effects we tried to control by the multivariable statistical analysis were: age in years, gender, education, partnership, having children, work status, and number of household members. All this data was collected by participants' selfreports by answering the questionnaires. We did not independently check the validity of any of this data.

Statistical Analysis

In the analysis of our primary outcome, we calculated the absolute difference between medians of the TAS-20 and its three subscales in PD and OAD patients with Bonett–Price 95% confidence intervals (CI), the difference relative to the median in the OAD group; the statistical significance of the difference, using quantile regression; and Cliff's delta as the standardized effect size in the crude, unadjusted, and in the analysis adjusted for all preplanned possible confounding factors. We used the sequential Holm–Bonferroni correction to control the false-positive rate caused by multiple testing. In the analysis of our secondary outcome, we analyzed the difference in the prevalence of alexithymia in PD and OAD by multivariable, adjusted, binary logistic regression. Finally, we analyzed the unadjusted correlation between the TAS-20 score and the

TABLE 1 | Participants' sociodemographic characteristics.

		c disorder 1 = 71)		xiety disorder = 113)
Sociodemographic characteristics				
Gender				
Men	29	(40.8)	45	(39.8)
Women	42	(59.2)	68	(60.2)
Age (years), median (IQR)	29	(24–36)	32	(23–36)
Education				
High school	49	(69.0)	70	(61.9)
University	22	(31.0)	43	(38.1)
Partnership				
Single	18	(25.4)	30	(26.5)
In a steady partnership	13	(18.3)	26	(23.0)
Married	40	(56.3)	57	(50.4)
Having children				. ,
Yes	40	(56.3)	61	(54.5)
No	31	(43.7)	51	(45.5)
Work status				. ,
Employed or student	47	(66.2)	82	(73.2)
Unemployed or retired	24	(33.8)	30	(26.8)
Number of household members,	3	(3-4)	4	(3-4)
median (IQR)		· · /		· · ·
Number of household members				
≤2	17	(23.9)	24	(21.2)
3	20	(28.2)	31	(27.4)
4	27	(38.0)	35	(31.0)
≥5	7	(9.9)	23	(20.4)

Data is presented as number (percentage) of participants if not stated otherwise. IOR, interguartile range,

Data was missing for working status for one (0.9%) patient; with other anxiety disorder in one (1.4%) patients with panic disorder.

severity of PD measured by the PDSS in the PD group, using Kendall's tau b coefficient, and the independent correlation after the adjustment for preplanned possible confounding factors,

TABLE 2 | Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20) results in two study groups.

using a quantile regression. We set the level of significance at two-tailed p <0.05 and all CIs at 95%. We performed statistical data analysis by using the R Core Team (2018). R is a language and environment for statistical computing (R Foundation for Statistical Computing; Vienna, Austria; URL https://www.R-project.org).

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author, upon reasonable request.

RESULTS

We enrolled 71 patients diagnosed with PD and 113 patients diagnosed with OAD. Two study groups were balanced regarding the gender, age, education, partnership status, having children, work status, and number of household members (**Table 1**).

After the adjustment for preplanned possible confounding factors and sequential Holm–Bonferroni correction for multiple testing, patients diagnosed with PD had significantly higher scores on the DIF subscale (**Table 2**). The difference in adjusted medians was $\Delta = 4$ (95% CI: 3.1–5.6), which was 25% relative to the score in the OAD group. This was a moderately high standardized effect size of Cliffs $\delta = 0.61$ (95% CI: 0.48–0.70). The differences between PD and OAD patients regarding the other two TAS-20 subscales, DDF and EOT, as well as the total TAS-20 score, were not significant.

In PD, the unadjusted prevalence of alexithymia was 19/71 (27; 95% CI: 17%–39%) and 15/113 (13%, 95% CI: 8%–21%) in OAD. Patients diagnosed with PD had unadjusted odds for alexithymia odds ratio (OR) = 2.39 (95% CI: 1.05–2.28) compared to patients diagnosed with OAD. PD patients had

	Panic disorder (n = 71)				Δ	(95% CI)	Δ%	δ	(95% CI)	р	p _{corr}
	Median	(IQR)	Median	(IQR)							
Crude, unadjusted TAS total score	53	(43–63)	46	(37–54)	7	(2.0–12.0)	15%	0.25	(0.08–0.41)	0.004	0.024
AS subscales	13	(10–16)	12	(9–15)	1	(-0.8-2.8)	8%	0.17	(-0.01-0.33)	0.261	0.522
DIF	20	(14–26)	15	(12–21)	5	(2.9-7.1)	33%	0.27	(0.10-0.43)	0.002	0.016
EOT	20	(16–22)	19	(15–21)	1	(-0.8-2.8)	5%	0.09	(0.08–0.25)	0.213	0.639
adjusted* AS total score (20-100)	52	(51–57)	45	(42–48)	7	(5.9–8.0)	16%	0.66	(0.55–0.74)	0.012	0.060
AS subscales DDF	14	(12–15)	12	(11–13)	2	(1.6–2.4)	17%	0.56	(0.42–0.67)	0.065	0.260
DIF	20	(17–23)	16	(13–18)	4	(3.1–5.6)	25%	0.61	(0.48–0.70)	0.003	0.021
EOT	19	(18–20)	18	(17–20)	1	(0.4–1.7)	6%	0.15	(-0.01-0.30)	0.680	0.680

DDF, difficulty describing feelings; DIF, difficulty identifying feelings; EOT, externally oriented thinking; Δ , absolute median difference; CI, Bonett-Price confidence interval; Δ % median difference relative to the value in other anxiety disorder group; δ , Cliff's delta given as the standardized effect size of the difference in medians; p, statistical significance of the difference between the panic disorder and other anxiety-disorder groups calculated by quantile regression; p_{corr} , statistical significance corrected by the sequential Holm–Bonferroni correction for multiple testing.

* Medians were adjusted for age, gender, education, working and partnership status, having children, and number of household members.

61% higher relative risk for alexithymia than OAD patients, relative risk (RR) = 1.61 (95% CI: 1.03–2.28). After the adjustment for preplanned possible confounding factors by multivariable binary logistic regression, patients diagnosed with PD had significantly and more than two times higher odds for alexithymia, defined as TAS-20 score \geq 61, than patients diagnosed with OAD (OR = 2.75; 95% CI: 1.19–6.36; p = 0.018).

In unadjusted analysis in the PD group, the severity of PD measured by the PDSS was significantly correlated with the total TAS-20 score (Kendall's tau b, $\tau = 0.16$, p = 0.011) (Figure 1), subscales: DIF (Kendall's tau b, $\tau = 0.14$, p = 0.030), and DDF (Kendall's tau b, $\tau = 0.17$, p = 0.010), but not with the EOT subscale (Kendall's tau b, $\tau = 0.09$, p = 0.186). After the adjustment for preplanned covariates by quantile regression, the total TAS-20 score and none of its subscales were significant independent predictors of the severity of PD (total TAS-20, p = 0.065; DIF, p = 0.187; DDF, p = 0.159; EOT, p = 0.060).

DISCUSSION

The results of this study are limited and only partially confirm our hypothesis. In this study, TAS-20 DIF subscale scores were significantly higher in the PD group than in the OAD. This is consistent with the results of previous similar research (27, 28, 36, 69). This result supports the hypothesis of a higher rate of alexithymia in patients with PD than in those with OAD, as well as understanding alexithymia as the difficulty to identify emotions. Capacity to communicate and name one's emotion, in other words DIF subscale, is a central aspect in alexithymia (19, 70).



FIGURE 1 | Scatter diagram of correlation between the Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-20) and the Panic Disorder Severity Scale (PDSS); the line is a locally estimated scatterplot smoothing (LOESS) trend-line with the smoothing span of 80%.

In this survey, the prevalence rate of alexithymia in PD was 27%. The first two studies of alexithymia and PD that used the TAS-26 suggested that alexithymia may constitute one of the psychological characteristics of PD, with a prevalence of 67% and 46.7%, respectively (27, 28). The first and highest prevalence rate of alexithymia in PD could be explained due to the relatively small sample of 27 patients (28). Successively, Iancu and colleagues (56) reported a prevalence of alexithymia of 39% by use of the TAS-26, whereas Cox and colleagues (30) found a prevalence of 34.0% with the TAS-20. In a more recent and well-conducted follow-up study on 52 adult patients with PD, Marchesi et al. (32) reported a prevalence for alexithymia of 44.2%. Contrary to De Berardis and colleagues (34), many studies examined PD patients with a relatively long history of illness, and this could lead to potential biases due to actual or previous psychological and pharmacological treatments that may, on their own, influence psychological characteristics, such as alexithymia. We used very selective inclusion criteria and restricted the observation to outpatients with recent-onset PD only, and without a history of previous regular treatment in an attempt to avoid potential biases as secondary alexithymia or somatic symptoms secondary to a psychiatric disorder (34, 71).

The differences between PD and OAD patients regarding DDF and EOT, the other two TAS-20 subscales, and the total TAS-20 score, as well as PDSS were not significant.

Most researchers agree that DIF and DDF are salient features of alexithymia, although some researchers have suggested that the EOT subscale is substantially different from the DIF and DDF subscales (72, 73). In our study, the EOT subscale appears to be a quite independent variable from PD, and this finding resonates with those of previous studies. Many authors emphasize the difference and caution interpreting of the EOT subscale scores (74, 75). The EOT dimension corresponds closely to a concept of pensée opératoire (operative thinking) introduced by French researchers Marty and de M'Uzan. An operative or utilitarian style of thinking includes the absence of fantasy and other manifestations of the depleted inner mental world of feelings and ideas about intentions, needs, and attitudes and focused on external events (3, 6). Whereas healthy individual integrate dreams, fantasies, or symbolic interactions in symbolic representations, the alexithymic individual fills his or her inner world with external details, a fact that can be particularly well observed (6, 8). The origin of alexithymia can be located at a stage prior to the formation of representations (8). The failure in the mother-child symbiosis prevents the development of symbolic thinking (8). Emptiness instead of good object, actions instead of language direct person from inside to outside reality, to concrete presence of external objects instead of fantasy and internalization (8, 47). The disturbances of the mother's alfa function do not signalize so much of separation anxiety, but rather an unspecified fear of annihilation (8, 46, 76). No good object representations are accessible, and such individuals remain reliant on on the concrete presence of external objects (8, 47). Object loss represents one of two dangerous extremes of "oneness to

none-ness" and precipitates the formation of somatic symptoms (8).

In terms of affective states, panic patients have particular difficulty identifying, verbalizing, and representing certain affects, although this capacity can vary depending on the context (46). The experience of certain emotions, including anger, dependent feelings, and separation fears, as dangerous is relevant to this difficulty, but identification of these feelings is necessary to identify the danger. In fact, understanding that emotions can trigger anxiety can be seen as part of the process of representing affects. Mentalization as capacity to understand ourselves and others could enhance alexithymic characteristics particularly items in DIF subscale which were negatively correlated with bias in emotion perception, especially in social relation (77). Exploration and interpretation of avoided emotions improve reflective function and mentalization in PD (78).

We suppose that patients with PD, unlike OAD, suffer from the lack of an integrated representational system that links affective, somatic, and verbal realms, adding to the vulnerability to panic and severe anxiety onset and persistence. These bodily and emotional experiences are dissociated from meaningful conscious links and the verbal symbolic realm. Psychoanalytical interpretation enables us to understand alexithymia and PD as an insufficiency in the process of mentalization and, consequently, a deficiency in the regulation of affect.

Limitations of the Study

This study has several limitations. Among the major one is quite dispersive and heterogeneous OAD as a comparison group. In addition to "Generalized Anxiety Disorder" (F41.1), "Other specified anxiety disorders" (F41.8), and "Anxiety disorder, unspecified" (F41.9), other diagnoses such as "Mixed anxiety and depressive disorder" (F41. 2), and "Other mixed anxiety disorders" (F41.3) may contain other symptoms, in particular depressive symptoms, that may affect the results.

The data were collected at one site and by only one rater, experienced psychiatrist. The advantage of such approach is homogeneity, but it could also lead to reduced possibility of generalization as well as lead to systematic error.

The data were mostly based on self-report. This method has some inherent flaws such as poor self-awareness, an increased risk for socially desirable answers, and various response styles (79, 80). Measuring alexithymia by TAS-20 has some shortcomings even though captures an impairment in feeling and describing emotions and is a valid measure of the alexithymia construct (12). The concurrent use of the Toronto Structured Interview for Alexithymia (TSIA) with TAS-20 may overcome some of these limitation (81).

We used a cross-sectional design that is limited in terms of causality.

Concerning theoretical part, there is an additional significant limitation. Psychodynamic theory did not emerge as a result of this study, even though it makes it easier to understand that anxiety in PD is overwhelming and different from anxiety in OAD. Considering the global scientific literature the biological theory of PD are well-researched yet poorly understood while psychodynamic thought is scarcely validated by empirical evidence-based research (82–85). Fostering a multi-perspective approach to PD affords distinctive glimpses into psychopathology and enhances our understanding of PD (86).

CONCLUSIONS

Even though anxiety is the core symptom of the ICD-10 F41 (F41.0–F41.9) diagnostic category, there is a difference between PD (F41.0) and OAD (F41.1–F41.9). The construct of alexithymia enable us to think of PD as an unthinkable emotion. Alexithymia and the "unmentalized" psychosomatic mind in some way distinguish PD from OAD. Alexithymia represents difficulties in affective and cognitive differentiation of emotions characterized by poor verbalization, resomatization, and dedifferentiation of mental and somatic affective experience; similarly, PD is a perfect example of such dedifferentiation and resomatization of affects in undifferentiated form.

Elevated rates of alexithymia in PD may reflect patients' inclination to constrict their emotional experience to avoid affect-based psychological sensation (56). Individuals with alexithymic features, as well as individuals with PD, are unable to use bodily perceptions as a helpful signal for themselves. Enhancing or improving symbolic thinking or mentalizing might be beneficial for these individuals.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the Health Center Zagreb. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed substantially to the conception and design, reviewed the manuscript, and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to acknowledge the work of all patients and colleagues who took part in the data collection, especially Vanja Lovretić and Anamarija Bogović Dijaković for substantially review of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Nemiah JC, Sifneos PE. Psychosomatic illness: a problem in communication. Psychother Psychosom (1970) 18(1):154–60. doi: 10.1159/000286074
- Sifneos P. The prvalence of "alexithymic" characteristics in psychosomatic patients. Psychother Psychosom (1973) 22:255–62. doi: 10.1159/000286529
- 3. Šago D, Babić G. Roots of Alexithymia. Arch Psychiatry Res Int J Psychiatry Relat Sci (2019) 55(1):71-84. doi: 10.20471/may.2019.55.01.06
- Ruesch J. The infantile personality. The core problem of psychosomatic medicine. *Psychosom Med* (1948) 10(3):134–44. doi: 10.1097/00006842-194805000-00002
- Maclean PD. Psychosomatic disease and the visceral brain; recent developments bearing on the Papez theory of emotion. *Psychosom Med* (1949) 11(6):338-53. doi: 10.1097/00006842-194911000-00003
- 6. Marty P, de M'Uzan M. La "pensee operatoire." *Rev Fr Psychanal* (1963) 22 (27), 1345–56.
- Sifneos PE. Clinical observations on some patients suffering from a variety of psychosomatic diseases. Acta Med Psychosom (1967) 7:3–10.
- von Rad M. Alexithymia and Symptom Formation. Psychother Psychosom (1984) 42(1–4):80–9. doi: 10.1159/000287827
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM. Psychoanalysis and empirical research: the example of alexithymia. J Am Psychoanal Assoc (2013) 61(1):99–133. doi: 10.1177/ 0003065112474066
- Saarijärvi S, Salminen J, Toikka T. Alexithymia and depression. J Psychosom Res (2001) 51(6):729–33. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(01)00257-4
- McDougall J. Alexithymia: a psychoanalytic viewpoint. *Psychother Psychosom* (1982) 38(1):81–90. doi: 10.1159/000287617
- 12. Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Parker JDA. What's in the name "alexithymia"? A commentary on 'Affective agnosia: Expansion of the alexithymia construct and a new opportunity to integrate and extend Freud's legacy.' Neurosci Biobehav Rev (2016) 68:1006–20. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.05.025
- Franz M, Popp K, Schaefer R, Sitte W, Schneider C, Hardt J, et al. Alexithymia in the German general population. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* (2008) 43(1):54–62. doi: 10.1007/s00127-007-0265-1
- Honkalampi K, Hintikka J, Tanskanen A, Lehtonen J, Viinamäki H. Depression is strongly associated with alexithymia in the general population. J Psychosom Res (2000) 48(1):99–104. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(99)00083-5
- Mattila AK, Salminen JK, Nummi T, Joukamaa M. Age is strongly associated with alexithymia in the general population. *J Psychosom Res* (2006) 61(5):629– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2006.04.013
- Salminen JK, Saarijärvi S, Aärelä E, Toikka T, Kauhanen J. Prevalence of alexithymia and its association with sociodemographic variables in the general population of Finland. J Psychosom Res (1999) 46(1):75–82. doi: 10.1016/ S0022-3999(98)00053-1
- Mattila AK, Kronholm E, Jula A, Salminen JK, Koivisto A-M, Mielonen R-L, et al. Alexithymia and somatization in general population. *Psychosom Med* (2008) 70(6):716–22. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e31816ffc39
- 18. Cackovic C, Adigun R. Panic Disorder (Attack). StatPearls (2017).
- Zou Z, Huang Y, Wang J, He Y, Min W, Chen X, et al. Association of childhood trauma and panic symptom severity in panic disorder: Exploring the mediating role of alexithymia. J Affect Disord (2016) 206:133–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.07.027
- Kessler RC, Petukhova M, Sampson NA, Zaslavsky AM, Wittchen H-U. Twelve-month and lifetime prevalence and lifetime morbid risk of anxiety and mood disorders in the United States. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res* (2012) 21 (3):169–84. doi: 10.1002/mpr.1359
- Pompoli A, Furukawa TA, Imai H, Tajika A, Efthimiou O, Salanti G. Psychological therapies for panic disorder with or without agoraphobia in adults: a network meta-analysis. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2016) 4: CD011004. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011004.pub2
- Nemiah JC. Alexithymia. Psychother Psychosom (1977) 28(1-4):199–206. doi: 10.1159/000287064
- Sifneos PE, Apfel-Savitz R, Frankel FH. The Phenomenon of 'Alexithymia. Psychother Psychosom (1977) 28(1–4):47–57. doi: 10.1159/000287043
- Lipsanen T, Saarijärvi S, Lauerma H. Exploring the Relations between Depression, Somatization, Dissociation and Alexithymia – Overlapping or Independent Constructs? *Psychopathology* (2004) 37(4):200–6. doi: 10.1159/ 000080132

- Cam Celikel F, Saatcioglu O. Alexithymia and anxiety sensitivity in Turkish depressive, anxiety and somatoform disorder outpatients. *Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract* (2007) 11(2):140–5. doi: 10.1080/13651500600971521
- Nemiah JC. Diagnosis and treatment of anxiety disorders. In: Pasnau R, editor. *The Psyshodynamic view of anxiety*. Washington DC: American Psychiatric Press; (1984) p. 117–37.
- Parker JD, Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Acklin MW. Alexithymia in panic disorder and simple phobia: a comparative study. *Am J Psychiatry [Internet]* (1993) 150 (7):1105–7. doi: 10.1176/ajp.150.7.1105
- Zeitlin SB, McNally RJ. Alexithymia and anxiety sensitivity in panic disorder and obsessive-compulsive disorder. Am J Psychiatry [Internet] (1993) 150 (4):658–60. doi: 10.1176/ajp.150.4.658
- Bach M, de Zwaan M, Ackard D, Nutzinger DO, Mitchell JE. Alexithymia: relationship to personality disorders. *Compr Psychiatry* (1994) 35(3):239–43. doi: 10.1016/0010-440X(94)90197-X
- Cox BJ, Swinson RP, Shulman ID, Bourdeau D. Alexithymia in panic disorder and social phobia. *Compr Psychiatry* (1995) 36(3):195–8. doi: 10.1016/0010-440X(95)90081-6
- Fukunishi I, Kikuchi M, Wogan J, Takubo M. Secondary alexithymia as a state reaction in panic disorder and social phobia. *Compr Psychiatry* (1997) 38 (3):166–70. doi: 10.1016/S0010-440X(97)90070-5
- Marchesi C, Brusamonti E, Maggini C. Are alexithymia, depression, and anxiety distinct constructs in affective disorders? J Psychosom Res (2000) 49 (1):43–9. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(00)00084-2
- Marchesi C, Fontò S, Balista C, Cimmino C, Maggini C. Relationship between alexithymia and panic disorder: a longitudinal study to answer an open question. *Psychother Psychosom* (2005) 74(1):56–60. doi: 10.1159/ 000082028
- 34. De Berardis D, Campanella D, Gambi F, La Rovere R, Sepede G, Core L, et al. Alexithymia, fear of bodily sensations, and somatosensory amplification in young outpatients with panic disorder. *Psychosomatics* (2007) 48(3):239–46. doi: 10.1176/appi.psy.48.3.239
- Cucchi M, Cavadini D, Bottelli V, Riccia L, Conca V, Ronchi P, et al. Alexithymia and anxiety sensitivity in populations at high risk for panic disorder. *Compr Psychiatry* (2012) 53(6):868–74. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych. 2012.01.005
- 36. Izci F, Gültekin BK, Saglam S, Koc MI, Zincir SB, Atmaca M. Temperament, character traits, and alexithymia in patients with panic disorder. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* (2014) 10:879–85. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S62647
- Berardis D, Campanella D, Nicola S, Gianna S, Alessandro C, Chiara C, et al. The Impact of Alexithymia on Anxiety Disorders: a Review of the Literature. *Curr Psychiatry Rev* (2008) 4(2):80-6. doi: 10.2174/ 157340008784529287
- Honkalampi K, De Berardis D, Vellante F, Viinamäki H. Clinical Issues and Somatic and Psychiatric Pathology. In: Luminet O, Bagby RM, Taylor GJ, editors. *Alexithymia: Advances in Research, Theory, and Clinical Practice.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; (2018). p. 142–57.
- Beutel ME, Scheurich V, Knebel A, Michal M, Wiltink J, Graf-Morgenstern M, et al. Implementing panic-focused psychodynamic psychotherapy into clinical practice. *Can J Psychiatry* (2013) 58(6):326–34. doi: 10.1177/07067437 1305800604
- Perna G, Alciati A, Riva A, Micieli W, Caldirola D. Long-Term Pharmacological Treatments of Anxiety Disorders: An Updated Systematic Review. Curr Psychiatry Rep (2016) 18(3):23. doi: 10.1007/s11920-016-0668-3
- Caldirola D, Alciati A, Riva A, Perna G. Are there advances in pharmacotherapy for panic disorder? A systematic review of the past five years. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* (2018) 19(12):1357-68. doi: 10.1080/ 14656566.2018.1504921
- Perna G, Schruers K, Alciati A, Caldirola D. Novel investigational therapeutics for panic disorder. *Expert Opin Invest Drugs* (2015) 24(4):491–505. doi: 10.1517/13543784.2014.996286
- De Berardis D, Fornaro M, Orsolini L, Valchera A, Carano A, Vellante F, et al. Alexithymia and Suicide Risk in Psychiatric Disorders: A Mini-Review. Front Psychiatry (2017) 8(148). doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00148
- 44. Serafini G, De Berardis D, Valchera A, Canepa G, Geoffroy PA, Pompili M, et al. Alexithymia as a possible specifier of adverse outcomes: clinical correlates in euthymic unipolar individuals. J Affect Disord (2020) 263:428– 36. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.10.046

- Nemiah JC, Sifneos PE, Apfel-Savitz R. A Comparison of the Oxygen Consumption of Normal and Alexithymic Subjects in Response to Affect-Provoking Thoughts. *Psychother Psychosom* (1977) 28(1–4):167–71. doi:
- 10.1159/000287059
 Busch FN, Sandberg LS. Unmentalized aspects of panic and anxiety disorders. Psychodyn Psychiatry (2014) 42(2):175–95. doi: 10.1521/pdps.2014.42.2.175
- McDougall J. The Psychosoma and the Psychoanalytic Process. Int Rev Psychoanal (1974) 1:437–59.
- 48. Verhaeghe P, Vanheule S, De Rick A. Actual neurosis as the underlying psychic structure of panic disorder, somatization, and somatoform disorder: an integration of Freudian and attachment perspectives. *Psychoanal Q* (2007) 76(4):1317–50. doi: 10.1002/j.2167-4086.2007.tb00306.x
- Karukivi M, Saarijärvi S. Development of alexithymic personality features. World J Psychiatry (2014) 4(4):91–102. doi: 10.5498/wjp.v4.i4.91
- Lane RD, Weihs KL, Herring A, Hishaw A, Smith R. Affective agnosia: Expansion of the alexithymia construct and a new opportunity to integrate and extend Freud's legacy. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2015) 55:594–611. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.06.007
- Keefer KV, Taylor GJ, Parker JDA, Bagby RM. Taxometric Analysis of the Toronto Structured Interview for Alexithymia: Further Evidence That Alexithymia Is a Dimensional Construct. Assessment (2019) 26(3):364–74. doi: 10.1177/1073191117698220
- 52. Primmer J. Understanding the dimensional nature of alexithymia. *J Conscious Stud* (2013) 20(9–10):111–31.
- Luminet O, Bagby R, Taylor G eds. Alexithymia: Advances in Research, Theory, and Clinical Practice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; (2018).
- Marchesi C, Giaracuni G, Paraggio C, Ossola P, Tonna M, De Panfilis C. Premorbid alexithymia in panic disorder: a cohort study. *Psychiatry Res* (2014) 215(1):141–5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.10.030
- Galderisi S, Mancuso F, Mucci A, Garramone S, Zamboli R, Maj M. Alexithymia and cognitive dysfunctions in patients with panic disorder. *Psychother Psychosom [Internet]* (2008) 77(3):182-8. doi: 10.1159/ 000119738
- Iancu I, Dannon PN, Poreh A, Lepkifker E, Grunhaus L. Alexithymia and suicidality in panic disorder. *Compr Psychiatry [Internet]* (2001) 42(6):477– 81. doi: 10.1053/comp.2001.27893
- World Medical Association. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *JAMA* (2013) 310(20):2191–4. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.281053
- Bagby RM, Parker JD, Taylor GJ. The twenty-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale-I. Item selection and cross-validation of the factor structure. J Psychosom Res (1994) 38(1):23-32. doi: 10.1016/ 0022-3999(94)90005-1
- Bagby RM, Taylor GJ, Parker JD. The Twenty-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale–II. Convergent, discriminant, and concurrent validity. J Psychosom Res (1994) 38(1):33–40. doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(94)90006-X
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Parker JDA. The 20-Item Toronto Alexithymia Scale. IV. Reliability and factorial validity in different languages and cultures. J Psychosom Res (2003) 55(3):277–83. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999 (02)00601-3
- Trajanović NN, Djurić V, Latas M, Milovanović S, Jovanović AA, Djurić D. Serbian translation of the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale: psychometric properties and the new methodological approach in translating scales. *Srp Arh Celok Lek* (2013) 141(5–6):366–70. doi: 10.2298/SARH1306366T
- Pinaquy S, Chabrol H, Barbe P. [Factorial analysis and internal consistency of the French version of the Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS 20), in obese women]. *Encephale* (2002) 28(4):277–82.
- Ling Y, Zeng Y, Yuan H, Zhong M. Cross-cultural validation of the 20-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale in Chinese adolescents. J Psychiatr Ment Health Nurs (2016) 23(3-4):179–87. doi: 10.1111/jpm.12298
- 64. Marchesi C, Ossola P, Tonna M, De Panfilis C. The TAS-20 more likely measures negative affects rather than alexithymia itself in patients with major depression, panic disorder, eating disorders and substance use disorders. *Compr Psychiatry* (2014) 55(4):972-8. doi: 10.1016/ j.comppsych.2013.12.008
- Lovko SK, Gelo J, Karlović D. Validation study of the Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS-26) in Croatian population. Acta Clin Croat (2015) 54(3):272–8.

- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM PJ. Disorders of Affect Regulation: Alexithymia in medical and psychiatric illness. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press; (1997).
- Shear MK, Rucci P, Williams J, Frank E, Grochocinski V, Vander Bilt J, et al. Reliability and validity of the Panic Disorder Severity Scale: replication and extension. J Psychiatr Res (2001) 35(5):293–6. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3956(01) 00028-0
- Shear MK, Brown TA, Barlow DH, Money R, Sholomskas DE, Woods SW, et al. Multicenter collaborative panic disorder severity scale. *Am J Psychiatry* (1997) 154(11):1571–5. doi: 10.1176/ajp.154.11.1571
- Cox BJ, Endler NS, Swinson RP. Anxiety sensitivity and panic attack symptomatology. *Behav Res Ther* (1995) 33(7):833-6. doi: 10.1016/0005-7967(95)00019-T
- Laloyaux J, Fantini C, Lemaire M, Luminet O, Larøi F. Evidence of Contrasting Patterns for Suppression and Reappraisal Emotion Regulation Strategies in Alexithymia. J Nerv Ment Dis (2015) 203(9):709–17. doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000000353
- Fava GA, Cosci F, Sonino N. Current Psychosomatic Practice. Psychother Psychosom (2017) 86(1):13–30. doi: 10.1159/000448856
- Vanheule S, Meganck R, Desmet M. Alexithymia, social detachment and cognitive processing. *Psychiatry Res* (2011) 190(1):49–51. doi: 10.1016/ j.psychres.2010.06.032
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Luminet O. Assessment of Alexithymia: self-report and observer-rated measures. In: Bar-On R, Parker JDA, editors. *The handbook of emotional intelligence*. San Francisco;: Jossey-Bass (2000). p. 301–19.
- Haviland MG, Reise SP. Structure of the twenty-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale. J Pers Assess (1996) 66(1):116-25. doi: 10.1207/ s15327752jpa6601_9
- 75. Rokvić N, Jovanović T. Alexithymia Measured with the Tas-20 Questionnaire: Determining the Validity of the Factor Structure and its Relation to life Satisfaction and the Big Five Personality Traits. *Psihol istraživanja* (2018) 21 (1):23–40. doi: 10.5937/PsIstra1801023R
- McDougall J. A Child is Being Eaten. Contemp Psychoanal (1980) 16(4):417– 59. doi: 10.1080/00107530.1980.10745634
- Kafetsios K, Hess U. Seeing mixed emotions: Alexithymia, emotion perception bias, and quality in dyadic interactions. *Pers Individ Dif* (2019) 137:80–5. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2018.08.014
- Keefe JR, Huque ZM, DeRubeis RJ, Barber JP, Milrod BL, Chambless DL. In-session emotional expression predicts symptomatic and panic-specific reflective functioning improvements in panic-focused psychodynamic psychotherapy. *Psychotherapy* (2019) 56:514–25. doi: 10.1037/pst00 00215
- Keefer KV, Taylor GJ, Parker JDA, Inslegers R, Michael Bagby R. Measurement equivalence of the Toronto Structured Interview for Alexithymia across language, gender, and clinical status. *Psychiatry Res* (2015) 228(3):760–4. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.04.044
- Rutten EAP, Bachrach N, van Balkom AJLM, Braeken J, Ouwens MA, Bekker MHJ. Anxiety, depression and autonomy-connectedness: The mediating role of alexithymia and assertiveness. *Psychol Psychother* (2016) 89(4):385–401. doi: 10.1111/papt.12083
- Bagby RM, Taylor GJ, Parker JDA, Dickens SE. The development of the Toronto Structured Interview for Alexithymia: item selection, factor structure, reliability and concurrent validity. *Psychother Psychosom* (2006) 75(1):25–39. doi: 10.1159/000089224
- Pilecki B, Arentoft A, McKay D. An evidence-based causal model of panic disorder. J Anxiety Disord (2011) 25(3):381-8. doi: 10.1016/ j.janxdis.2010.10.013
- Leichsenring F, Steinert C. Towards an evidence-based unified psychodynamic protocol for emotional disorders. J Affect Disord (2018) 232:400-16. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.11.036
- Leichsenring F, Steinert C, Crits-Christoph P. On Mechanisms of Change in Psychodynamic Therapy. Z Psychosom Med Psychother (2018) 64(1):16–22. doi: 10.13109/zptm.2018.64.1.16
- Benecke C, Huber D, Staats H, Zimmermann J, Henkel M, Deserno H, et al. A Comparison of Psychoanalytic Therapy and Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Anxiety (Panic/Agoraphobia) and Personality Disorders (APD Study): Presentation of the RCT Study Design. Z Psychosom Med Psychother (2016) 62(3):252–69. doi: 10.13109/zptm.2016.62.3.252

 Lilienfeld SO. Clinical Psychological Science. Clin Psychol Sci (2017) 5(1):3– 13. doi: 10.1177/2167702616673363

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Šago, Babić, Bajić and Filipčić. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





More Than Words Can Say: A Multi-Disciplinary Consideration of the Psychotherapeutic Evaluation and Treatment of Alexithymia

Patrice Duquette*

Private Practice, Birmingham, MI, United States

Alexithymia is a disorder that stands at the border of mind and body, with psychological/ affective and physiological/experiential disturbances. The purpose of this article is to propose a new clinical access point for the evaluation and treatment of the deficits in emotional awareness demonstrated in alexithymia. This will be based on insights from recent neuroscientific research, which is adding to the psychodynamic understanding of alexithymia, regarding clinical presentation and etiology. Following a brief review of definitions, forms of measurement, and potential etiologic elements of alexithymia, current neuroscientific theory and research into "predictive processing" approaches to brain function will be outlined, including how "interoception" and "interoceptive inference" underpins emotion and emotional awareness. From this synergistic perspective, I will outline how interoceptive inference provides a key to the link between: problems in early life relational experiences and the patient's long held, but suboptimal models of their inner and outer world. This is reflected in the deficits in affective experiencing and emotional awareness described in alexithymia. Three clinical cases will be presented to illustrate this nuanced consideration of alexithymic etiology and treatment. The implications of the historical, psychological, and somatic aspects of experience will be considered, regarding the patients' diminished ability to: experience and represent emotional experience as distinct feeling states; signify the relevant meaning of affective experience; and incorporate such with cognitions to adaptively guide behavior. These will be addressed using psychometric, psychological, neuro-cognitive, and neurocomputational approaches. Elements from current theory, research, and treatment of alexithymia, will be highlighted that are salient to the clinician, in order to support their understanding of patients against the backdrop of current psychodynamic and neuroscientific research, which will thereby increase treatment options and benefits. The focus, and conclusion, of this article is the role that attention to interoception can play (within the safety of the therapeutic relationship and within any therapeutic process) in allowing updating of the patient's strongly held but dysfunctional beliefs.

Keywords: alexithymia, psychotherapy, interoception, interoceptive inference, mentalization, levels of emotional awareness, TAS-20, predictive processing

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Laura Orsolini, University of Hertfordshire, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Roberta Vecchiotti, Hermanas Hospitalarias, Italy Federica Vellante, Università degli Studi G. d'Annunzio Chieti e Pescara, Italy

> *Correspondence: Patrice Duquette patrice@pmdmd.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychosomatic Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 21 November 2019 Accepted: 28 April 2020 Published: 25 May 2020

Citation:

Duquette P (2020) More Than Words Can Say: A Multi-Disciplinary Consideration of the Psychotherapeutic Evaluation and Treatment of Alexithymia. Front. Psychiatry 11:433. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00433

INTRODUCTION

The construct of alexithymia has been studied from many different clinical and neuroscientific perspectives. It was originally organized around common clinical characteristics that psychosomatic patients present, notably their difficulty in verbalizing their emotions as feelings. The word alexithymia's Greek roots describes this lack of the language for feelings (1, 2). Subsequently, the concept has taken on more depth and meaning, now denoting a disturbance in: the individual's affective experience; level of emotional awareness; and, ultimately, verbalizations of emotions as feeling states. There has, however, been persistent difficulty across disciplines in creating a comprehensive clinical and neurobiological account of the disturbance and in representing this in adequately descriptive language that is understandable by all disciplines and which takes account of the inherent variability in clinical presentations of alexithymic patients. As a clinician, it is my intention here to introduce therapists to research and theoretical propositions that are relevant to psychological and neuroscientific perspectives regarding alexithymia.

Following a brief review of the history of the concept of "alexithymia," I will address measurement constructs and review proposals regarding psychological approaches to etiology, focusing on what part early-life development may play in the emotional, relational and bodily-oriented aspects of the disturbance. Neurobiologic theory and processes, that provide insight into both etiological and clinical considerations, will be presented in some detail, to facilitate the clinician's understanding. The relevant neuroscientific terms and theory will be explained, where required.

As a clinician, it is my intention to present a unique perspective of alexithymia, bringing together new information from clinical and scientific disciplines. This will involve contextualizing current psychometric measurement and psychological theories of alexithymia within current neuroscientific theory of how "predictive processes" create emotional experience. These processes rely on: physiological necessities, prior beliefs, and sensory evidence from the environment (in this paper, the focus is on bodily experience). I will link psychological and neuroscientific proposals to explain how an alexithymic patient's unique symptomatic presentation is generated and how this may be best comprehended and responded to in their treatment.

HISTORY OF THE DEFINITION AND MEASUREMENT OF THE ALEXITHYMIA CONSTRUCT

The concept of alexithymia arose from the clinical presentation of symptoms, noticed by a small number of clinicians, who were impressed by distinct similarities in how these patients expressed their emotional state as feelings¹, or, more accurately, could not describe their emotional states. Focus was initially on patients with psychosomatic illnesses, whose thought processes were seen as "utilitarian" and concrete, with apparent minimal ability to fantasize or abstract. This form of thought was labeled "pensee operatoire" (4) because patients' vocabulary for their emotional states often utilized only somatic descriptions, focusing on external events as causative for internal experiences. However, patients also exhibited behaviors that were disorganized and appeared to be affectively charged, such as poor impulse control and chaotic relationships-expressing no recognition of the affect evidenced in their behaviors (2). Clinicians proposed that such patients did not recognize their emotions through symbolic representation, nor perceive them as signals regarding their needs or wants (5), but rather enacted their feelings in behavior, or referenced affective experience through somatic sensations or somatization.

A consensus was reached on the definition of alexithymia at a 1977 conference on psychosomatic research in Heidelberg, Germany. The definition was organized around the clinically salient features: 1.) difficulty identifying feelings and in distinguishing between feelings and bodily sensations that reference emotions; 2.) difficulty describing feelings to others; 3.) restricted imagination and lack of fantasy; and 4.) an externally oriented thinking style (6–8). Subsequent research has proven alexithymia to be a multi-faceted dimensional personality trait, with varying degrees of expression in individuals (9–11), including individuals who have diagnosable psychiatric illness but also healthy individuals (12). Clinically relevant alexithymia is thought to affect 10% of the general population (13, 14).

Alexithymia is a complex construct that involves both cognitive and affective disturbances. It is considered a deficit in experiencing, describing, and regulating emotion (8), evidenced as a more global deficit in emotional awareness, involving an inability to bring emotional experiences to the level of conceptualizing feelings regarding oneself or others (15). Although there is consensus on the factors comprising alexithymia, there is much disagreement over how to test and quantify these. The most common measurement approaches will be addressed below. (For a more extensive review the reader is directed to Lumley et al. (16) and Maroti et al. (17).

The Toronto Alexithymia Scale (TAS), which is the most commonly used self-report measure, was originally developed as 26 items and then pared down to a 20-item questionnaire (TAS-20). The TAS-20 provides individual sub-scores for the three factors from the Heidelberg consensus i.e.: 1.) Difficulty Describing Feelings (DDF); 2.) Difficulty Identifying Feelings (DIF); and 3.) Externally Oriented Thinking (EOT).

¹Within this paper, a distinction is made between the terms *emotion* and *feelings*. This is in accord with Damasio's assertion that emotions are embodied experiences, while feelings are the awareness of having emotions (3). The term *affect* is used here to include both emotion and feeling (6).

Daydreaming, as a potential factor, was eliminated from the TAS-20, as it was considered subject to social responsivity bias and insufficiently reflective of the subject's capacity for imagination (8). The overall score generated by the TAS-20 is intended to indicate severity of alexithymia generally. This is widely used within research settings, with cutoff scores indicating the presence (greater than 61) or absence (under 51) of clinical levels of alexithymia. Advantages of the TAS-20 are that it easy to use, brief and has good construct validity (9) and reliability (17).

By contrast, the Levels of Emotional Awareness Scale (LEAS), developed by Lane and co-workers, reflects their conceptualization of alexithymia as a global impairment in affective processing, resulting in deficits in emotion generation, description and awareness (18). The LEAS requires written answers to questions that are intended to elicit feelings-within the subject and in their relation to others. The test rubric allots points for the degree of differentiation in the emotional words used, as well as in the differentiation of the self from other. Therefore, if the individual uses more specifically affectively laden language, and/or describes blends of feelings, and language that differentiates self from other, they will receive a higher score. The LEAS has good inter-rater reliability, internal consistency, and criterion validity (17). A strength is that only the structure of experience is addressed, not the content, which limits the subject's ability to falsely enhance their scores in order to make a desirable impression. The LEAS is linked to the construct of Emotional Awareness (15, 19, 20) as well as to the Three Process Model (TPM) of emotional experience (21–24).

The TAS-20 and the LEAS are both commonly used throughout research and in clinical literature and practice. Importantly, the creators of both measurement tools agree that a disturbance in emotional processing is salient to alexithymia (9, 16). However, both measures have been criticized. It is now recognized that they potentially measure different aspects of alexithymia.

Furthermore, as Lumley notes, the TAS-20 was the first readily reproducible test and has been very commonly used because it is simple to administer. As a result, it has become, by default, improperly considered actually to *define* alexithymia. However, "the measure one is using, (e.g., TAS-20, OAS, BVAQ, LEAS, etc.) is not itself alexithymia but only an approximation of it" [(25), p. 241]. We must be mindful, when considering the results of any particular measurement instrument, that alexithymia is not a measured score on any given test but, is the affective and cognitive difficulties that characteristically present in some patients. In this article, I will, therefore, treat the TAS-20 as a descriptive measure of predominant deficits that present clinically in an alexithymic patient. I will also address the construct of Emotional Awareness but again as a descriptive measure, not as an empirically measured value.

PSYCHODYNAMIC CONSIDERATION OF ALEXITHYMIA

Psychoanalytic theorists have discussed alexithymia from different perspectives for decades [e.g., (5, 7, 26)]. Krystal (5)

hypothesizes that alexithymia could result from: developmental disruptions in affect development related to infantile psychic trauma; post-traumatic disturbances due to trauma experienced later in life (particularly if anhedonia is a significant component of the presentation); and/or neurobiologic dysfunction. In his clinical opinion, alexithymic symptoms are most often associated with *"impairment in the capacity for self-care"* [(5), p. 243)]. Moreover, he posits that patients are fundamentally unable to recognize and utilize emotions as signals to themselves. They can't realize their emotions as feelings, nor can they recognize them as vital and necessary reaction to their lived experience. He elegantly describes this underlying difficulty.

"Only when one experiences the cognitive aspect of an emotion—the meaning of the affect and some indication of the "story behind it"—and simultaneously has the expressive reaction and an adequate capacity for reflective selfawareness [sic], can one observe that one is experiencing a 'feeling' and identify it." [(5), p. 243]

According to Krystal's interpretation, the cognitive disturbances of alexithymia represent a lack of affective vitality, as evidenced in the content of verbalizations, which are externally oriented and monotonous. They may seem well adjusted to reality, *"superadjusted"* in fact (5). However, this present-minded focus overlies a severe paucity of imaginative capacity. Thought is stimulus-bound, with utilitarian attachments and a significant lack of relational involvement with others.

Other theorists highlight that the results of this outward focus is to leave the individual with bodily sensations that are confusing and can trigger somatic disturbance which increase somatization, without the means to break out of this cycle through language and relationship (8). Such a lack of resonance and cohesion between bodily sensation and awareness of their emotional implications leaves alexithymic patients with a distinct inability to symbolize and therefore to regulate their emotional states, leaving them vulnerable to dysregulation, both somatically and psychologically. The functional capacity of "mentalized affectivity" (27) is lacking, such that they are unable to: identify; regulate; or communicate their emotional state to themselves or others; and therefore unable to utilize relationships to emotionally regulate (28). As we shall discuss below, reigniting emotional experience and awareness is an important element of psychotherapy with alexithymic patients, within any theoretical formulation.

Regarding patients with both alexithymia *and* anhedonia, Krystal (5) asserts that this combination is reflective of *later* (rather than early) life trauma that can create an experience in which the trauma continues to be subjectively experienced, as if it were punishment for the patient's transgression in seeking their own goals. Thus, reaching for any goal generates distress, with the trauma implicitly acting as a command to the individual not to experience positivity or vitality. McDougall's (26) noted that anhedonic alexithymic patients have a significant distortion in their self-representation, which does not allow them to even "be" themselves, much less to take care of their needs (26). They have diminished access to all affective experience, so as not to touch any pleasurable emotion, with the anhedonia resulting from an inability to play, to demonstrate pleasure, or to seek well-being.

Using Piaget's theory of cognitive development as a template, Lane and Schwartz (15) developed a concept they refer to as Emotional Awareness, which is directly applicable to the deficits in alexithymia. This construct provides a means to: consider the experiential aspect of emotion; provide support to clinical exploration of individual differences in emotional experience: determine, and potentially measure, how this might change over time (15). In their formulation, Emotional Awareness is a trait that represents a cognitive *ability*, or skill, developing in a stepwise progression over time. Thus, an individual's ability to detect and describe their emotional experience, and that of others, undergoes structural transformation, with increasing differentiation. There is a progression from (implicit) bodilybased sensory experience through levels of cognitive awareness that are increasingly more explicitly and consciously recognized. Alexithymia represents dysfunction, with the patient operating at a Level of Emotional Awareness that is limited by specific developmental disturbances that have created deficiency in some of the elements necessary for emotional awareness at higher levels. For example, there may be deficits in awareness of bodily sensation or in recognition of emotions as feeling states. Although this progress represents a continuum of a trait-level ability, Emotional Awareness is conceived as having five levels. (For further information the reader is directed to (15, 19).

Level 1: Awareness of bodily sensations: the individual's experience of emotion will only be reflected in a report of the sensations from their body

Level 2: Awareness of the body in action: emotional experience is through action tendencies and sensation; the ability to experience emotion does not reach the level of feeling

Level 3: Awareness of feeling states: the quality of emotional experience changes to include somatic experience as well as psychologic experience

Level 4: Awareness of blends of feelings: there is an increased range of emotional awareness and this is more coherent and can be recognized to change over time; yet the recognition of other's emotional states is still unidimensional

Level 5: Awareness of blends of blends of feelings: there is greater capacity to recognize and make distinctions in emotions, with descriptions more nuanced and linguistically complex; and the ability to differentiate self from other is most available

Lane and colleagues have incorporated into their model of Emotional Awareness current neuro-cognitive and neurocomputational theories to proposes how different elements of affective processing "*interact to produce self-reportable emotional experience*" [(29), p. 474]. They call this the Three Process Model (24, 30, 31) and assert that disturbances in the elements of affective experience, described within this model (which may be created by various mechanisms that are dependent on the individual's life history), are reflected in lower Levels of Emotional Awareness. First, however, in order to allow deeper insight and understanding by clinicians, it is necessary to review the recent neuroscientific concepts and theories that underpin such models.

OVERVIEW OF RELATED NEUROSCIENTIFIC CONCEPTS AND RESEARCH FINDINGS

Interoception, Homeostasis, and Allostasis

Neuroscience is generating increasing research into how the synthesis of bodily sensation with other sensory input (as well as top-down influences) creates emotion and feelings. Fundamental to this is "interoception," which is the set of senses that sends information from all the tissues of the body to the brain, through neural and blood-borne pathways (32), being formally defined as the "the process by which the nervous system senses, interprets, and integrates signals originating from within the body, providing a moment-by-moment mapping of the body's internal landscape across conscious and unconscious levels" (33).

The insular cortex is an area that has widespread importance regarding interoception and emotional experience (34, 35), with interoceptive signals primarily entering the posterior aspect, and the anterior aspect more important relative to the multitude of connections that support subjective experience. The anterior insula cortex (AIC) and the Anterior Cingulate Cortex (ACC) play important complementary roles regarding experience and behavior, serving as interdependent arms of a coordinated system (32). The anterior insula is functionally important towards the generation of feeling states and subjective awareness, while the anterior cingulate is related more to motivation and behavior (34, 36).

In addition to the coordinated activity between the AIC and the ACC, each is also involved in activity with other areas that function together more generally as networks. The resulting connectivity of these networks generates specific functional activities which are dependent on activity within and between linked areas. It has been proposed that the Default Mode Network² (DMN), "is in charge of processing self-related content" [(38), p. 55]. This network is most active when the brain is "idling." Fluctuation in its activity are thought to be related to the degree to which individuals are thinking introspectively (39). Utilizing fMRI, Liemburg and colleagues (40) found different levels of activity in alexithymic subjects when compared to healthy control subjects. Notably, there was lower connectivity in the anterior area of the DMN that is thought to be most active in emotional processing. They attribute this to the decreased emotional awareness in alexithymia (40, 41).

Crucially for our discussion, it is now understood that the subjective experience and awareness of emotion relies on interoceptive signals from visceral, autonomic, hormonal, and immunological systems that indicate bodily changes [e.g.,

²Brain regions identified as DMN include medial prefrontal cortex, posterior cingulate cortex, ventrolateral prefrontal cortex, lateral temporal lobe 37.

(32–34, 42–44)]. It is generally accepted that emotion involves the integration of interoceptive sensations (which provide information about the current state of the body) together with exteroceptive information from the external world (which contextualizes how the state of the world is likely to impact on the state of the body). This integration is performed by top-down brain processes that involve information (i.e. what is known or understood) about the person's past expectations and their understanding of the probable affordances, or possibilities for action within the present environment (45). We will consider the aspects of physiological process for which interoception forms the foundation, before addressing how the deficits noted in alexithymia can be considered in this light.

The continuous flow of interoceptive signal from the body to the brain necessarily provides information about the homeostatic state of the body (which is mostly unconscious). Homeostasis is conceived as a reactive process that is constantly countering an inherent biologic instability within the organism (46).

A more useful characterization of bodily stability is allostasis [(47), p. 1192], which is the process by which the organism prospectively avoids disruptions to homeostatic set points (47-50). Interoceptive information is utilized by allostatic processes to control bodily states by anticipating perturbations (such as energy demands) and implementing allostatic mechanisms within the internal milieu, through ANS reaction or motoric actions within the environment, heading off potential homeostatic changes before they actually occur (51). Interoceptive sensations, therefore, are signals to the brain regarding the motivational state of the individual, with ANS activity acting as the effector arm of this processing (32). Thus, the interoceptive signals that underpin homeostasis and allostasis play an essential role in motivated behavior (34, 52, 53). For example, interoceptive signals that indicate falling body temperature will motivate an organism to search for warmth and shelter before any vital homeostatic set point is breached. Importantly for this paper, significant allostatic needs are always present, in some form, in a person's social environment, and must be responded to $(50)^3$.

To better comprehend how sensations interact with topdown influences to create emotional experience and awareness in healthy individuals, as well as those with alexithymia, we must follow a path through neuroscientific theory and research that appears complex at first. However, if the reader contextualizes this information with some personal reflection from their daily experience, it will become increasingly understandable.

COMPUTATIONAL NEUROSCIENCE: PREDICTION, PROBABILITY, AND INFERENCE

Recently, computational neuroscience and the use of mathematical modelling has suggested a radical way to understand brain processes. The utility of this approach has great potential in psychiatry and psychosomatic medicine (57, 58, 59).

Crucially, we start from the fact that the human brain does not have direct access to the world. Therefore, in order to make sense of its internal environment (its own body) and the external environment (the world it inhabits), it has to infer the causes of the sensory signals it receives from the inner and outer world, in order to decide how best to react, in order to enhance the organism's chances of survival. Predictive processing theory starts from this point and asserts that our brains use our previous experience as the basis for "predicting" (i.e. inferring or hypothesizing) what is the most likely cause (i.e., meaning) of incoming sensations from both our internal and external worlds (60-62). This inferential activity produces what are called "generative models," "which attempts to predict each wave of sensory input before it arrives" [(24), p. 30]. Our brain builds these models, throughout our lives, and continuously modifies them in the light of incoming sensory signals, hopefully so that they provide increasingly accurate approximations of the reality in which the individual finds themselves, at any given moment in time, in order to guide behavior. In other words, we learn and adapt by continually updating our generative models for what are the most likely causes of any particular set of incoming sensory information.

Predictive processing describes this model-building in the brain by using Bayes' Theorem, to illustrate how our generative models (also sometimes-confusingly-called hypotheses, predictions, priors, expectations, or beliefs) are built and then tested against the incoming interoceptive and exteroceptive sensory streams. Frith (63) explains Bayes' Theorem thus: "Given some phenomenon (A) that we want to know about, and an observation (X) that is evidence relating to A, Bayes' Theorem tells how much we should update our knowledge of A, given the new evidence X" [(63), p. 121]. If we assume that the brain behaves as a "Bayesian observer," we can assume that it is constantly attempting to "know about" the hidden causes of its internal and external sensations (i.e. phenomenon A, using incoming sensory data X). Previously learned predictions (or priors) are thus continually being evaluated against the incoming flow of sensation (i.e. observation X) and being potentially updated. Prediction, in this context, is a technical term, not the cognitive "act" of predicting. It is a, generally unconscious, quantitative, and probabilistic attempt to match best examples from previous learning to what the sensory organs are currently receiving. Bayesian inference thus allows the brain to predict (i.e. hypothesize) what is the mostly likely cause of a given (set of) sensation (whether coming from within the body or from the outside world).

³While most interoceptive activity occurs outside of conscious awareness, some sensation rises above the brainstem, such that most people are more or less aware of sensation from at least four interoceptive channels which are: cardiovascular; respiratory; visceral (the gut); and urogenital. The research findings that have looked for a relationship between sensitivity to, or awareness of, interoceptive signals and alexithymia unfortunately have failed to reach a consensus. This is due to significant methodological differences and different measurement instruments. The interested reader is directed to the literature for more detail, for example: (13, 16, 54–56).

This Bayesian process occurs throughout the brain, in a stepwise manner. Thus, the generative models it creates are termed hierarchical. Predictions (i.e. our prior beliefs or expectations) essentially flow down the hierarchy, meeting upcoming sensation from interoceptive, exteroceptive, and proprioceptive sources. When any given prior prediction (the likelihood that sensory inputs would be observed under a given model) is compared against sensory data, further activity in the hierarchical processes determines whether to update that prediction in the light of this new, incoming evidence. To do so it utilizes the difference between the prediction and the sensory evidence. This difference is referred to as "prediction error"-i.e., how wrong the prediction appears to be, when compared to the current sensory data. This hierarchical activity is occurring across multiple levels of the brain at any given instant. Whether any prediction error will update a prior prediction, or whether actions will be generated, following the sensory evidence, depends on the relative salience/reliability of the prior prediction compared with that of the sensation.

To understand this, it is important to reiterate that the words expectation, prior, or belief, do not denote consciously held beliefs, but refer to activity occurring in neurons in the brain. Referring back to our Bayes' example above: all priors (beliefs regarding phenomenon A); incoming sensory information (observation X); prediction errors generated (if phenomenon A doesn't match X); and resulting posterior beliefs (updated beliefs about phenomenon A), are assumed to be held in the form of probability distributions. There is, necessarily, uncertainty associated with each of these probability distributions, reflected mathematically by its relative spread. The inverse of this spread is known as its "precision," which denotes the salience (confidence or reliability) associated with a particular prior or prediction error (64). The precision (salience) imparted to the prior/ prediction and also to the incoming sensation is modulated by many factors (e.g., neurochemical, motivational, strength of sensory signal). Crucially, this salience is used by the brain to weight the priors vs. prediction errors. The relative weight (i.e. precision) of the prior belief vs. the incoming interoceptive sensory information, determines whether the prior gets updated (or not). If the prior is precise, it will tend not to update in the light of imprecise prediction error. By contrast, highly precise incoming sensation can update an imprecise prior. Updating results in a new (hopefully more accurate) belief known as the "posterior" belief. Such updating of beliefs/ predictions occurs across all biopsychological domains, including: perception; motor control; emotion; and decision-making.

Predictive processing has been applied within a wider theory of adaptive functioning known as the "Free Energy Principle" (61, 64). This principle asserts that organisms' adaptive changes are *always* in the service of minimizing unexpected (or unpredicted) sensations. Failure to do so will tend to lead to dis-homeostasis, with increasing disorder (entropy) that is dangerous to the organism, ultimately likely to cause death. Through the process of Bayesian updating, therefore, the organism is constantly improving its ongoing modeling of its inner and outer sensory world. By minimizing unexpected sensations, it maintains the body in stable homeostatic/ physiologic states. Human beings thus form and update predictions (beliefs or expectations), throughout our lives, about all aspects of our inner and outer worlds. For example, we have prior beliefs/predictions about: homeostatic set points; the meaning of a pain in our body; and our social experience regarding the intentions of another person in the world.

It is important to note that our beliefs (priors), and thus our (generative) models of the world and ourselves in it, can never be veridical but they must be good enough to allow us to survive.

The power of the Free Energy Principal is that it goes beyond providing an account of how the brain adjusts its perceptions (61). This Principal also explains how actions are generated by a process known as active inference (61, 65, 66). In this perspective, motor reflexes are enslaved by predictions about the results of the movement. For example, a generative model of movement involves a prediction that a particular set of muscles will contract in a particular way to produce a particular set of sensations from interoceptive, proprioceptive, and exteroceptive sources, with the prediction errors resolved only if the muscles comply with these predictions to bring the actual sensations in line with the predicted sensations. It is important to note that an "action" taken for the purpose of minimizing prediction error in a generative model can be from: the major muscle groups of the body; the viscera or internal organs of the body; and also through actions of the autonomic nervous system.

Significantly for our purposes, active inference processes are thus also relevant to interoception, homeostasis, and allostasis. The homeostatic set point is itself a prediction. If one considers that allostatic stability is an absolute necessity for the human organism, the brain must constantly be one step ahead of what the incoming sensation implies regarding *future* homeostasis, using its prior predictions based on our past experience to do so. Any deviation from such homeostatic set points produce prediction errors will actively engage allostatic responses to maintain energy regulation (49). Some examples are, visceromotor reactions such as autonomic reflexes (e.g., heart rate, vasodilation, release of hormones), or behavioral actions (reaching for food or water), thus creating a new posterior prediction and continuing the generative process [e.g., (67)]. The hierarchical belief updating that refers specifically to interoceptive signals from the body is known as interoceptive inference (68).⁴

A further aspect of this process is that, ideally, the individual should regularly be seeking further evidence for its models, through its own action or perception, in order to check that its models of the world (and body) are reasonably fit for purpose, thus resolving present and future uncertainty. This seeking is termed "*epistemic foraging*" (61). An important corollary is that epistemic foraging actions will only occur during times when the individual perceives the environment as safe; otherwise its energy will be directed entirely toward protective activity, with no remaining energy available for seeking out new data.

⁴For the purposes of this paper active inference will be considered synonymous with interoceptive inference.

THE BODY IN INTEROCEPTIVE INFERENCE

In light of the theories outlined above, we can now bring together the theoretical perspectives that indicate the crucial importance of the body in the interoceptive inference process that is responsible for generating elemental aspects of experience, such as emotional experience, emotional awareness, and a sense of self.

As described above, interoceptive inference processes occur through a constant hierarchical monitoring of changes in bodily state. Their effect on interoceptive predictions, and subsequent adjustment of homeostatic and allostatic processes, is what engenders emotional content (49, 68, 69). The insular cortex is a vital hub regarding emotion, because interoceptive sensations from the body and predictions about the world, as well as from "higher" brain areas are integrated here. This "*primary interoceptive cortex*" (67) is thus a clearing house, comparing predictions against afferent interoceptive information. As beliefs, or priors, are updated, emotions are consequently generated (49, 69). Further iterations of interoceptive inference of emotional state will ultimately lead to emotional awareness (70).

Moreover, the Free Energy Principle implies that the highest priority will be given to the self-regulating mechanisms of the body, i.e. to homeostatic and allostatic processes that maintain survival (71). Allen and Tsakiris claim that this privileged status, which is a function of the necessity for the body to maintain stability, dictates that the homeostatic functions of the body are, in their words, the *"first prior."* In other words, the salience of any sensory stimulus will always first be evaluated in relation to the impact it will have on regulatory survival processes.

Finally, the result of this high precision afforded to visceral sensations allows visceral sensations to become a consistent "anchor' on which to lodge a more permanent feeling of bodily self" [(71), p. 41]. Thus, visceral sensations provide an implicit sense of self-awareness that may not always be available to conscious access but, pertinently, may still be an important influence in the hierarchical modeling process. Notably, for our patients with alexithymia, the balance between the relative strength (the precision) of prior beliefs vs. interoceptive information is elemental to aspects of health and psychopathology regarding emotional experience and awareness.

FACTORS IN THE EARLY ORIGINS OF THE INTEROCEPTIVE INFERENCE PROCESS

Infancy is recognized as a vital time in the formation of links between interoceptive processes and experience. Attuned caretakers are an absolute necessity to maximize the emerging capabilities of the infant. How the child's and adult's emotional life will unfold depends on how this early vital inference process occurs (72). Close repetitive embodied interactions act as homeostatic regulators for the infant, and the quality of that interaction amidst the origins of inferential processing is the basis for the development of early expectations, or priors, about the causes of our sensory states. Furthermore, these early interactive physical activities stimulate the development of *"embodied mentalization"* in the infant which is the basis for an early sense of self and directly impacts the ability of the growing child to develop their own models of their interoceptive states and subsequent adaptive strategies for free energy minimization (72).

The import of relationships in infancy in developing beliefs about our body and sense of self is highly applicable to alexithymia. For example, if there is a sudden unexpected change in an infant's somatic sensation and this is not resolved within the consistent presence of a caretaker, the effect of the "surprising" interoceptive sensations in the resulting hierarchical inference processes is magnified, and may be negatively compounded over time. If cognition is as much affected through embodied experience as Allen and Tsakiris (71) assert, then these unsupported changes in the infant's embodied perception of the world will also have important effects on future cognitions. With very limited resources available to the infant who is experiencing emotion (and who has no ability to comprehend cause and effect), life is a constant surprise. One can see how important the original caretaking relationship is for an individual's tendency to expect safety in the world and thus for their ability and willingness to engage in epistemic foraging. Attuned caretakers are an absolute necessity to maximize the emerging capabilities of the infant. How the child's and adult's emotional life will unfold depends on how this early vital inference process occurs (72).

The power of such experiences can be imagined in the example of an individual who suddenly experiences a strong sense of danger to their bodily state. This is often experienced as a change in visceral sensation (muscles tensing quickly, a sense of distress in the gut), which gives rise to sudden highly precise interoceptive prediction errors, which then impact on generative models, activating priors unique to each individual in that present moment experience. Exteroceptive contextual elements, embedded in this experience, may also stimulate highly precise visceral predictions about what these sensations mean, generalizing to the whole body's response. While in adult life an individual may be able to have cognitive/verbal associations to such physical sensations, and comprehend/express that they feel fear, there are innumerable events in infancy that are experienced as immediately unsafe, per se, suddenly overwhelming the infant's physiologic homeostatic processes, with such sensory experience entirely pre-verbal. Such experiences, and the infant's caretakers response to such experiences, as interactions between the body and the world (and other bodies), are the origins of the generative models (predictions/priors/beliefs) and access to interoceptive information (sensation/awareness), that we carry throughout life, about the safety of our body/ourselves in the world.

As noted in psychological theories, it follows that if the alexithymic individual cannot generally recognize bodily signals (for whatever initial reason in early life or through later trauma), bodily sensations that do manage to breach the level of

conscious sensation and are experienced, are more likely to be felt as surprising than by those people who are not alexithymic. The effect on cognitive processes is likely be evidenced in the symptoms described as Difficulty Identifying Feelings (DIF), and Difficulty Differentiating Feelings (DDF), as such "surprise" will readily disrupt the coherence of a narrative focus of experience, and therefore any verbal ability to express emotion as feeling states, affecting the individual's level of emotional awareness. Moreover, if this surprising sensation is hierarchically evaluated by a prior for physical illness or frailty, that happens to have high precision, the expression of the experience would be somatically oriented. Indeed, the lack of embodied sensation as an "*anchor*" would support the alexithymic individual's tendency to focus on the external world, in order to create an external anchor, leading to externally oriented thinking.

EMOTIONAL AWARENESS AND THE THREE PROCESS MODEL

Crucial to alexithymia is the question of how best to characterize emotional awareness. Smith, Lane, and colleagues' solution is their Three Process Model (TPM) (24, 31, 45) which incorporates interoceptive inference, learning and brain processes, to propose how "an emotion episode is initiated" within the individual, in response to events that are "real, remembered, or imagined" [(24), p. 35]. The Three Process Model breaks down the elements of emotional experience into three factors (see below), which depend on predictive processing, neural network, and global workspace theories of brain functioning (24, 31). The authors create a cohesive model of how different aspects of: the initial response to the event; the bodily sensation; cognitions; motivated behavior; and the recognition of the response that fits an emotion-concept category (e.g., fear, sadness, etc.) may all ultimately become available to conscious awareness. The three processes (steps) designated by the model are (24, 31, 45):

- 1. Affect Response Generation (ARG): somatovisceral and cognitive processes are modulated through interoceptive inference, in a context-dependent appraisal of the salience of a real or imagined stimulus (which is often implicit), based on for example: the metabolic and behavioral demands; goal-achievement needs regarding elements such as the expectedness/novelty, or a sense of agency related to the event.
- 2. Affect Response Representation (ARR): the somatovisceral component of the affective response that has been generated is "*perceived via afferent sensory processing*" [(45), p. 5] and is then updated and conceptualized as a certain feeling category that describes the current emotional experience (e.g. fear, anger, etc.).
- 3. Conscious Access (CA): a process that grants access to domain general cognition for somatovisceral perceptions and emotion concepts, and are thus available for verbal expression and voluntary emotional regulation strategies.

The TPM allows a thorough evaluation of each patient's symptoms and their individualistic expression of alexithymia. In their computationally modeled clinical presentations, Lane and colleagues are able to account for the differences in symptomatology evidenced in alexithymic patients, with a view to improving individualized treatment approaches (24, 29, 30, 45). There is a strong emphasis on the importance of prior experience (and thus on predictions/expectations regarding internal and external states) and also on the inferential process of any emotional experience (24). If there is disturbance in any element of the TPM, the resulting Level of Emotional Awareness will be affected. For example, if a person is limited in their ability to appraise a situation, due to strong priors that quickly "cement" their expectations, the ARG would be circumscribed and they would have a limited range of emotional experience. If there were meager sensory signals available, for reasons associated with trauma and associated somatic disturbance that persists, then emotion concept labeling would result in emotion not being represented (ARR). Finally, a paucity of emotional language could be an indicator that other domain-general processes have created disturbances in how the networks necessary for conscious access (CA) co-operate. (The interested reader is directed to their research that models the influence of the multitude of interactive components of internal state and contextual processes [e.g., 22, 24, 30, 68]).

THE INTERSECTION OF THEORY AND CLINICAL PRESENTATION

As the Three Process Model assumes, each individual has a personal history that is vital to the expression of their symptoms and their available health. Nemiah (73) stresses that we must allow the individual to tell us their life story and their illness in their words, as they inevitably will put their illness within the context of that story, thus, *"The proper study of psychiatry, is biography"* [(73), p. 460]. While the collection of data and neurobiological etiology is fundamental to psychiatric research and practice, we should always address the patient as a unique individual who develops within relationships (73).

By way of illustration, I now present several clinical vignettes in order to consider alexithymia through an examination of how the theories presented above intersect at the clinical level. Each clinical example will be outlined regarding how the individual's history, symptomatic presentation, and clinical interaction best evidences: 1.) psychometric evaluation, 2.) psychological dynamics, 3.) Level of Emotional Awareness, and 4.) the Three Process Model.

The patients described here were treated in psychodynamicallyoriented psychotherapy, comprising one individual and one group session per week. Attention in the sessions is paid to the patient's feeling states, with every attempt made to allow full expression while maintaining a self-observant posture. The patient is encouraged to contextualize their emotional experience within the relationships they have had in their past and those that they are currently involved in. The therapeutic

Alexithymia: Multi-Disciplinary Evaluation and Treatment

alliance is considered to anchor the patient within the process, through real relationship aspects associated with the therapists. Among other relevant goals, therapeutic intentions are to improve: the emotional awareness of the patient; their functional cognitive abilities; and the effective contribution of prior beliefs and feelings to their perspective of themselves and their relationships in the present moment.

There is an initial psychiatric diagnostic evaluation by the therapist/psychiatrist (PD), with an absolute exclusionary diagnosis for treatment, which includes psychosis. The focus of the therapist is directed toward the psychodynamic presentation of the patient, and the links to early relationships and events. The patient is told at the outset of therapy that there is a commitment required of them during the therapy that they not act on feelings, but rather make every attempt to explore, experience, and verbalize them in the therapeutic process. Their individual therapist (PD) is in the weekly group session, together with a co-therapist. The groups are on-going and process oriented, with the members remaining in the same groups throughout their treatment. Treatment length varies.

Each patient gave informed, written consent to be included in this paper. Various aspects of patients' history and experience have been changed, to protect their identities.

BOX 1 | Clinical Case Presentation.

The most common topic of conversation in Jill's therapy is the state of her body. She has descriptive words for the most minute change in its physical sensations but very few for her feeling states. When Jill speaks, her eyes dart around the room evaluating everyone's response. She will hesitate and change course, in reaction to perceived annoyance or disapproval from others, often making self-deprecating comments. When asked how she feels emotionally, she responds in physical description terms, focusing on her heart rate, fullness in her abdomen, fatigue, and feeling like her thoughts are "cloudy," before concluding that she feels anxious. She believes that her body's strong sensations are indicative of a stress response which will take a physical toll. and that as a result she will get a severe illness or die young. When she began therapy she was encouraged to get a thorough medical evaluation. She was identified as having Irritable Bowel Syndrome and put on a simple regimen by her gastroenterologist. She regularly follows up with her primary care doctor and has been found to have no organic findings in any organ system on multiple screening exams.

Jill has two siblings, one younger by 17 months and the other by 3 years. A prominent memory that Jill reported was of being in a double stroller at about the age of 3 or 4, sitting behind her younger sibling, her mother talking to the sibling and handing him something. This was one of the only early memories she reported originally in her therapy. She didn't recall saying anything but she was able to associate this memory with a sense of her body being drained of energy, as she watched her mother and sibling interact. She reported that her mother was kind and *"tried to help me,"* but she remembers her mother as very anxious and just *"smoothing over"* the worries that Jill voiced about her friendships at school with simple responses that didn't feel comforting. If Jill did complain of feeling sick, she remembers her mother would let her stay home from any event.

In one group session, after the therapist had been engaged with another patient, Jill spoke with insight, noting compassionately to the patient that while she could empathize with her feeling response, she thought the therapist was making an important point that she would do well to consider. Jill spoke with clarity, then blushed and ended her response with, "Oh, I just don't know, I'm just all confused and feel more nauseated." When her therapist asked how she felt emotionally at that moment, Jill blushed and claimed loudly, "I can't feel anything else, especially when I get like this." When asked what "like this" means, she fluttered her hands in front of her abdomen, as if to describe motion moving up her abdomen towards her neck, and said that her heart "is racing and feels".

flippy." She then became quiet and didn't speak for the rest of the group session.

In her next individual session, Jill was asked about the interaction, and why she had become so quiet in the group after that interaction. She claimed that she didn't know why, but it seemed like "my body just flared up and that was all I could think of and I didn't want to keep on going on about that." She then began listing other stressors in her life, claiming that she "just makes everything a mess." Her therapist remarked that she had heard her speak clearly and kindly to the other patient in the group, and that didn't sound like a "mess." She blushed and said, "you're just trying to reassure me, like it was in my family, just reassurance, but I was always the one who was treated like the 'sickly one." The therapist asked her how it was that she would have been "the sickly one." Jill then reported memories in detail that she had only alluded to in the past.

Jill described a trip when she was 12 to visit family in another state. Her father was dropping them off and returning back home to work. The families were in a restaurant, all the adults talking, and Jill remembered feeling like she was going to choke and maybe die, since because everyone was busy talking they wouldn't see her choking. She did stop choking, and didn't say anything at the table. A few days later, Jill felt light-headed, nauseous, and as if *"my heart was just racing out of my chest."* She told her mother, who took her to the emergency room, where there were nothing physical found to explain her symptoms. Her father was called to return early and take the family home. She could only describe feeling *"just upset"* and notes that this was her earliest memory of experiencing strong physical symptoms in the presence of others and withdrawing from them and ruminating on her fears.

The therapist was aware that Jill had spoken for some time without stopping herself to make some self-denigrating comment or to focus on her bodily sensations. She offered this observation to Jill, who looked at her and then quickly looked away.

"Why did you look away so quickly?" the therapist asked.

Jill glanced back and said, "It seems 'icky."

The therapist paused a minute, then asked "What does 'icky' mean, is that a thought or a feeling?"

"Sort of both, maybe I'm afraid you're going to leave because I am "icky"?" "Well, I am still here, but I realize when you look away, it is as if I am gone to you because you can't see me."

"That's true," Jill said, and slowly but then purposely brought her eye contact to meet the therapist's eyes.

"What do you make of telling me these stories now? I don't remember you ever telling me them before."

"Something that was said in the group, about how I always imagine the negative. I remember those times as the first times I felt all this in my body, and how much I was focused on how all those sensations felt so bad, but nobody asked me how I was feeling really, not feelings, and all I had was how my body felt to tell me anything, and that left me just feeling 'icky,'" Jill said this pensively while keeping eye contact.

"And how do you feel now?"

"Scared, I think." Her eyes began to water with tears.

"Do you also feel a bit hurt? You have tears in your eyes?"

"Maybe." Jill then described further her deep concern about her elderly mother and how she would be so "upset if she dies." When asked what upset meant to her, she first said, "Oh, upset like anyone is when their parent dies." When pressed to try and use more words specific to her, she paused. She said, "I know that I have always lived as if my parents are always going to be here, sometimes that seems like it's absolutely necessary—that I just can't lose them, but other times, like right now, I know that I would feel sad if I didn't have them, but I would keep on going." Her tears welled up as she said this, and rolled down her face, but she didn't make any movement to wipe them away. The therapist commented that Jill had made a very clear statement describing her strong feelings without defaulting to her usual bodily focus. Jill replied, "I know, and they seem true, and for once I am just saying them and not looking back in to see how my body is reacting as I say them."

The session was nearly over, but Jill recounted a few more times when she had been pre-occupied with her bodily sensations and missed out on experiences in life. Her voice was not harsh and she appeared to be reflecting with some compassion for herself. In clinical case presentation #1 (**Box 1**), Jill's history and symptoms appear to match the TAS-20 factor Difficulty Identifying Feelings (DIF). She uses bodily-based sensations as descriptors of her emotional state, such as that her heart is racing, or makes body movements to indicate the nature and experience of her feelings (e.g. fluttering her hands). She struggles to differentiate her bodily sensations from emotions, and frequently does not identify distinct feelings. Jill also persistently voices complaints of bodily-based symptoms that have been medical evaluated, with no pathology determined, such as her nausea and cardiac complaints. However, she does have a diagnosis of Irritable Bowel Syndrome (IBS) with no detectable organic pathology noted during screening evaluations.

Addressing Jill's presentation from a psychological perspective, one relevant aspect is the difficulty that she has in using the signals from her body effectively regarding emotions—especially in relation to any organized storyline that could create narrative cohesion for her experience. Jill represents her mother as kind but minimally able to engage in any verbal consideration of her child's affective or bodily state: only *"smoothing over"* Jill's physical and social concerns with vague reassurance. Jill recalls the early memory of watching her mother tend to her sibling, while she sat nearby anxious with desire then deflated in resignation. Notably she remembers it in a manner that highlights her bodily experience. Her description of the family trip and her distress focuses on the physical experience, to the exclusion of the relational.

Jill's descriptive style for her somatic experience, especially when she is trying to express an emotion, has been described by researchers as indicative of an inability to recognize how certain physical states are likely to indicate distinct feeling states (6). McDougall (74) has claimed that this form of speech is "an act, rather than a symbolic means of communication of ideas or affect" (p. 178). The therapist must recognize this style of communication as a signal reflecting the depth of the patient's alarm, as she comprehends that the therapist is asking for words to describe feelings, yet she has no words available for these but only somatic experience. The therapist must not only tolerate the expressed alarm but also work to discern and comprehend the layers underneath the changing somatic symptoms expressed. It is often necessary for the therapist to utilize their countertransferential experience to discern the actual affective experience of the patient (5, 74).

It is worth noting that Jill has been diagnosed with IBS, a Functional Somatic Disorder (FSD) considered to result from a complex interaction between the individual and their environment (75). Psychodynamic considerations of such syndromes propose that patients use, "so-called secondary attachment strategies (i.e., attachment deactivating and attachment hyperactivating strategies)" [(75), p. 252], in reaction to experienced stressors. This decreases their ability to mentalize feeling states, thereby increasing the sense of both somatic and experiential distress, heightening attachment distress (28, 76). Jill expresses such by persistently wanting reassurance yet certain that her "icky" feelings will cause others important to her to leave her.

The Level of Emotional Awareness at which Jill operates is often between Levels 1 and 2 (15). Her focus on her bodily feelings is prominent, with a significant discordance between her above-average intelligence and her diminished vocabulary for feelings. Her level of emotional awareness is low because her affective states are not adequately attended to, in the context of her focus on the somatic. However, as she progressed through the period described in the vignette, she did have periods of Level 3 ability, as she was able to engage relationally with the therapist and to direct her attention more purposefully. When encouraged to seek different descriptive language rather than rely on habitual word choices, Jill moved further into Level 4, acknowledging blends of feelings. She was able to reference the somatic sense of *"ickv"* to the expectation that the therapist would leave. Furthermore, she was able to verbalize awareness that she often imagines the negative, with her body as a focus, as "nobody had asked how I was feeling really." She then verbalized a specific feeling state of sadness, regarding the potential loss of her mother, and noted that she was aware that she was then intentionally stating emotional feelings, and not referencing somatic experience, which she found encouraging.

Using the Three Process Model (24, 29, 31) to designate which processes related to emotional awareness might be disrupted the Affect Response Representation (ARR) process seems to be a significant limiting factor for her. Considering that "the body is the first prior" (71), it is notable, in Jill's historical retelling of her life, that her sense that visceral reactions are sudden and portend something negative is prominent in each memory. The hierarchical processing in situations like this, suggests that there is a salient prior, with all new incoming interoceptive sensation interpreted according to this highly precise belief (prior), thus not allowing for alternative possibilities. There are disturbances in her attention regarding the social connections to which Jill has access. Therefore, incoming sensation from these connections that could lead to comforting emotional states is accorded very low precision, limiting her experiential response to her body only. This persists in Jill's reaction in her group and is furthermore reified by her diminished effort to forage for new sensation, as evidenced by her speaking clearly in group and then not interacting further, later claiming that her body "flared up" and that was all she could think of at that moment. She also originally dismissed the therapist reaching toward her compassionately in the individual session-specifically, she looked away from heragain decreasing any new socially conveyed sensory information that might alter the high precision of her belief.

BOX 2 | Clinical Case Presentation.

Anna is a woman in her mid-50's, unmarried with no children, who works as an executive in a large insurance company. She presented for therapy with complaints of *"things just aren't going right."*

Originally Anna reported she had no on-going illnesses, but when she was uncharacteristically late for a session she explained that she had "one of those headaches." As her therapist probed for the symptoms of this recurring headache, it was clear that she probably suffered from migraines which had not been evaluated or treated. The patient was referred to a neurologist and was

diagnosed with recurrent migraine. She has found relief from them with medication to preempt them, although she often does not take the medication in a timely manner. Anna paid close attention to her personal finances, was highly responsible with her bills, and didn't buy herself very much beyond necessities. She remembered events in people's lives very clearly, and she was always the first person in the waiting room before her weekly group session. She participated in a woman's golf league every summer, keeping close watch on her score from week to week and very frustrated with her play if she does not score well.

While Anna is considered to be very kind and giving by those in her life, at work and by her friends, she has often felt as if she "were on the outside looking in" during social encounters. In therapy Anna often appears highly reserved, sitting stiffly in either group or individual sessions, often with her eyebrows knitted in thought and her mouth forming the shadow of a smile. When asked to describe her feelings, she usually first speaks in simple generalities. "Meh" is a common descriptor, which she claims is "not good, not bad, and just not much of anything."

Anna's mother figured prominently from the beginning in the telling of her history. She described her mother as chronically anxious, likely depressed, and emotionally unavailable to Anna from a young age. There were other significant familial issues. Her father abused alcohol and although he worked regularly, he would drink daily, often ending up on the couch, asleep and drunk. Her young ar sibling, born 1 year after Anna, had behavioral disturbances from a young age and Anna was held responsible for managing this, whether they were in the home or out in the neighborhood. Anna's memories of her mother centered on demands that she be compliant, that she control her sibling's behavior and not ask questions.

Her mother resented any attempt by Anna to act independently and was constantly critical, when she might have felt pleasure or pride. Anna often references her mother's severely disapproving look and being told in a harsh voice "Who do you think you are?" She commonly hears this phrase echoing in her head: when she is involved in her therapy; when she is describing an experience that was pleasurable; when she is describing anything she wants in her life; or when she is experiencing strong feelings in an intimate relational interaction.

If Anna announces that she can't discern any feelings during an event that would seem to have associated affect, she has been encouraged to describe any feelings she is aware of in her body. At first, she would frown more deeply and then conclude she could feel no sensations beyond some tension in her shoulders. Over time, Anna has begun to describe feelings of anxiety and hurt. Associated with such feelings she also describes a "feeling like I have this empty space in my chest and there is strong pressure over my shoulders pressing me down into the chair, almost like there are hands on my shoulders." She has verbalized how these sensations seem like a physical expression of the frequent harsh admonishments from her mother and her earlier necessary response to limit any expression of her emotions.

In a session a few weeks after Anna had helped to land a big contract at her office, an event that had been both exciting and pleasing to her, she was asked in her group session how she was feeling and replied, "Oh, I am just back at 'Meh.' I don't have any friends, don't do anything but go to work and home, there is just nothing to my life."

A group member pleasantly said that she remembered a few sessions back Anna had been visibly pleased with her work and the compliments that she had received. Her current expression seemed discordant to the observing patient compared to that recent session. She described several qualities Anna had, that make her a good friend, and several interests she knew Anna had, such as politics and history. Other patients in the group concurred verbally, remembering interactions they had with her. Anna responded with a selfdeprecating comment and went silent.

She was asked by her therapist to describe any bodily sensations that she felt. She described the space in her chest as before, and then she stopped. Encouraged to imagine if there was anything surrounding the space, she paused and then replied, "It's like there is rubber around it, just pushing and compressing everything into a smaller space inside." She made a crushing movement with her hands.

The therapist asked Anna how she felt regarding the other patient's compliments to her. She said, "I just hear her like she is just telling facts, I don't feel anything."

Anna nodded, and then she appeared to tense more and her frown deepened.

"What's going on?" asked the therapist.

"I don't know, maybe like I am frozen still, like I just shouldn't say or do anything?" "Hmmm, what might happen if you did?"

"It's like I would be found out."

"Found out how?"

"Like I'm not good enough." Anna said this with a severe frown, then plopped her hands into her lap and looked down.

The other patient spoke to Anna again, "That sure would leave me feeling 'meh' Anna, but it does sound like you are kinda stuck in a 'Who do you think you are?' moment." Anna listened with a frown on her face and when asked what she felt she said, "I don't know what I feel, but it seems like there is just a force field around me. I can make an argument how each of my group members is wrong compared to what I see of my life, and could give them concrete examples. They just see snippets of it, not all of it."

Her therapist decided to take a tack that might elicit an experience of pleasurable sensation in Anna, which might then allow Anna to develop some awareness of associated affect, and then move on from there to other affect. She asked Anna if she ever reached out and felt the clothes in a store when she goes shopping "to get a feel of the material?"

Anna grinned slightly and said she did.

"Can you describe the sensation that you might feel as you touch the clothes? Is there a sensation that you prefer?" the therapist asked.

Anna paused and said, "I do like the sensation of soft cotton, or really soft wool, but I don't have money to spend on things that aren't necessary, so I don't usually go through the stores just looking at things." Anna was looking up, with a frown on her face, her hands pressed tightly against the arms of the chair.

"But you do have some sense of the sensation of the material and you do like the feeling of some materials more than others. You're imagining that now, aren't you—how these clothes feel good as you walk by and touch them?"

Anna smiled briefly and then returned to frowning. Another patient noticed the brief smile and asked her, "What was that?" Anna looked back at him and said, "I was in a 'Who do you think you are?' place, and when she asked me to imagine that, how the clothes feel good, I then heard even more loudly in my feelings, "Don't you even think of going there!" She said this with a smile and then guickly guieted and frowned. Her therapist said, "Wow, so not only "Who do you think you are?' but you had better not move towards anything good or there will be hell to pay-but you can hear it so clearly, so how about you say it again, see what might happen?" Anna repeated the phrase, "Don't you even think of going there!" and was encouraged to do so several more times. Her group members looked on supportively, at times encouraging her verbally by accenting different parts of the sentence in between her statements. By the fifth time that she said it, she was speaking very directly to her therapist and loudly pronouncing the words, accenting the end of the sentence threateningly. At the end of the repetitions her posture was less tense, arms not braced, shoulders back, and her voice louder. She was smiling broadly.

"How does that tight feeling inside seem now?"

"It is different inside. It's more like a container, softer plastic almost." "What might you feel?"

"Scared I think, it seems like that would be what I feel, I can feel it as tension, and I think that is scared."

The group member who spoke to her originally said, "It's as if you are more open to us, as if your eyes are seeing us here in the room, and I can see your feelings in your eyes, so much more after you were so clear in your speaking." Anna then looked directly at the other patient and thanked her. Over the group she was interactive and commented on other's experiences readily. At the end of the group her therapist returned to how, in repeating a phrase that seemingly told her not to go towards something that was good, Anna was more able to let go of that stance, and let herself be more open. Her therapist asked if she could further describe and express what she had experienced emotionally earlier. Anna paused for quite some time, and then said, "It must have been fear

because it is really easier now to "be on the inside of the group" and I can even imagine other things that I want to go toward. And that force field doesn't seem to be here at all right now. I can say I feel kind of like 'Meh' plus, plus, now and that is actually pretty good."

Anna appears to experience the cognitive difficulty described by the TAS-20 facet, Externally Oriented Thinking (EOT). Her cognitive style matches Marty and de M'Uzan's (4), *pensee operatoire*, as elaborated by Nemiah and Sifneos (6). Her thoughts are presented in a pragmatic manner, such as focusing more on her golf score than the pleasure of the game. She can be concrete in her interpretation, focused on the external, (only hearing *"facts"* when people are emotionally expressive towards her). *"Meh"* is her experiential description, describing a lack of affective vitality (8).

From a psychological perspective, Anna's uber-focus on reality is underlain by a paucity of imagination, notably about herself. Krystal (5) notes the importance of the mother's consistent presence in early life. The mother must seem to the infant to exist as an "invisible holding environment," "just" long enough. This relational experience is described by Fotopoulou and Tsakiris (72) as if the caregiver's body "provide[s] sensory data that can plausibly be experienced by infants as their own." If this mother-infant body-to-body exchange changes too abruptly, and the mother is not available to the infant, the infant is suddenly left only with deprivation and unmet needs, and does not develop their ability to contextualize such. In other words, the ability to mentalize bodily sensations does not develop (72) and the patient is then unable to imagine that bodily sensations might reflect a need or a desire. This seems applicable to Anna, both regarding her presentation of her history (only 1 year between her and younger sibling-who is also noted as requiring more of the mother's attention), and her description of her mother's persistent critical responses to Anna's expression of self-efficacy and emotional distance. Anna cannot be readily pleased with her accomplishments and has great difficulty in accepting other's encouraging perspectives to seek what she needs or desires. She degrades each interaction by insisting she is not what the person says of her, she is "just not good enough," thereby creating a barrier to her inner experience which (unconsciously) seems fraught with the danger of seeming abandonment.

In the household, Anna experienced her mother as persistently demanding that Anna take responsibility for minimizing disturbance in the house (e.g., limiting her active younger sibling). Experiencing ongoing admonishments as her mother's efforts to limit her affective independence, Anna was presented with the option of repudiating fantasy or repudiating reality [(5); citing (77), p. 283]. Anna's alexithymic presentation makes clear how this forced choice unfolded in her life; she had to repudiate fantasy, she cannot use her imagination, or express wants and desires, even to herself. She can't even let herself imagine the pleasurable feeling of clothing she might buy and she immediately applies a possible

reality-based reason as to why she doesn't allow herself to shop, and therefore does not encounter any possible opportunity to imagine pleasure at such sensation.

The Level of Emotional Awareness (15) at which Anna generally operates is Level 2. Her over-focus on attending to reality, all diminish her emotional range. She does move towards Level 3 Emotional Awareness, expressing a muted experience of desire, when she is encouraged to imagine the feel of cloth against her skin. She then returns quickly to the place she knows well, vividly feeling her mother as present and that if she were even to imagine something pleasant to her senses she would be in great danger. So much so, that in Anna's experience of the moment she spoke, as if a prohibition to herself, that she must "not even think of going there." She has introjected her mother's forbidding demand, leaving herself unable to formulate her own experience. She cannot just overcome, or let go of the fear, she must repeatedly, "inch by inch," formulate her own experience. Yet, after interventions that specifically increase her body's engagement and active support to take a more self-reflective stance, she is able to label the experienced bodily tension as fear, maintaining Level 3 emotional awareness.

With regard to the TPM (22, 24, 45), Anna has difficulty with the process of Affective Response Generation (ARG). The constriction of affect commonly seen in alexithymia is readily evident in her facial expression. However, as the session unfolds, deeper embodied roots regarding ARG become clear. As Anna describes her experience of the severely limited quality of her life, when an observant group member comments on the discordance between those statements and her very positive experience of Anna as a person who is kind and friendly, Anna first denigrates herself and then falls silent. Subsequently when asked about her bodily experience she can express the sensations, but she continues to remain withdrawn and without affective response, invoking the image of a seemingly physical "force field" that limits any view of herself as having positive qualities. She experiences again her mother's statement, "Who do you think you are?" as a strong prior injunction against evaluating such interactions as available to her, i.e., not safe to explore. For example, during the interaction with her group member, Anna is unable to attend to novel stimuli and to be curious about what the other person is saying to her, sharply stopping the generation of positive affect and returning her to a self-deprecating and dismissive state regarding herself.⁵

BOX 3 | Clinical Case Presentation.

Her father was the more emotionally available of her parents, her mother prone to withdrawal. Susan described her mother with, "her head in a book if

Susan is in her early 40's, married, with a son. She has a college degree, and works as a librarian, after having tried several other professions. Recently she became a certified yoga instructor. She entered therapy complaining of feeling *"rudderless"* and as if she *"just couldn't make a decision about anything"* and was stumbling around.

⁵One could make the case for fear being generated and causative in this interaction. However, this would be a confound within the Affective Generation Response process, as fear is an affect and is also the most common denominator in any situation in which an individual does not feel safe.

she wasn't cooking or cleaning." If Susan wanted her attention, it was hard to get. She describes her mother as "self -involved, my whole life." Her father was congenial and pleasant. She remembers him taking her to softball practice regularly, following up on her school work, letting her wash his car, and taking her with him as he ran errands. Susan felt as if he took real interest in her and her activities.

A highly significant event in her early life was her father's death when she was age 12. On the day of his death, Susan was home alone with her mother, her siblings were elsewhere. Her father was at an event in another city. The patient describes the event in the following exchange between the patient and her therapist.

This sense of waiting while something bad is about to happen, something over which she feels a sense of powerlessness, has been a prominent theme in Susan's therapy. She has had periods when she was very quiet, with notable anhedonia. She complained that nothing made her happy, not her job, not her relationships. Group sessions were especially difficult for her, she felt as if no one was interested in what she had to say if they didn't ask her directly, and she would remain quiet throughout. On leaving she would cry in her car all the way home. Arriving at her house she would inevitably start a fight with her husband, who would at times remain calm and at other times said that she was acting crazy and clearly her therapy wasn't helping.

As an individual session began, Susan immediately began tensing up, and crying, harshly wiping the tears off her face, she said, "I'm in that place again, that same damn place, all wound up tight and can't feel anything, but my body is feeling something because my neck on the left side is starting to tighten." Her face contorts into a characteristic expression, with her mouth tightened, her pupils appearing almost fixed and not really seeing the therapist. She sobs in short bursts, holds her breath and has very deep horizontal furrows across her forehead. She says at these times, "I can't feel my forehead. It just feels like there is a blob over the front and top of my head, like I am just a blob."

Susan continued to cry and speak angrily about how she was "back in that place" and that she should "not have to go there anymore." Stan (her husband) takes the brunt of it, "last night I was just yelling again, I just lost it and kept on yelling about everything and nothing."

Her therapists asked Susan if she was "willing to try something with me?" She agreed. The therapist then asked "What sensations do you feel in your body?"

Nothing really ... something at my throat, tightness in my throat.

Yeah? Tightness there, tightness how?

I don't know ... like someone is trying to strangle me. Really tight at my throat and my neck, and I feel that blob over my forehead, that is all I can feel. Can you feel your feet on the floor?

(Moves her feet) A little, I can feel the soles of my feet a little.

Can you feel your bottom in the chair?

(Squirms a little) Yeah, I can feel my bottom in the chair.

How about you feel what else you can feel as sensations, just sensations, in your body.

(She begins to become tearful, her mouth grimacing, her breath is limited as she is holding her breath, body tense.) *I don't know if I want to feel my body.*

No? It's just sensations, what could happen? I don't know ... It just feels like I am this blob and I just want to run away. I

can feel like my legs just want to run. And if I feel my body more there is just going to be more feelings like this and it is already really bad. I know that I have felt my body before and it even gets me out of this place, but I hate this place, everything seems so impossible.

Ok. There is all that, the blob can take over if you let it. But how about you try to see what you can sense in your body, just see if anything comes to the fore?

(Silent for a bit) *Maybe something in my chest, maybe a tightness.* Yes, a *tightness here.* (Motioning over the middle of her chest.)

How is that tightness, is it keeping something in, or keeping something out? Keeping something in.

Yeah? How about you look at me as you try to feel any kind of sensation. (Her eyes look at the therapist and then look away just over her shoulder, a habitual kind of eye movement for her.) Are you here with me, or in there with you? (The therapist points to her head.) (She chuckles, and also tears come to her eyes.) More in here with myself... The feeling in my throat is changing a little. A little less tight. And that feeling in my chest, it is moving a bit now. Like swirling. (Motions with her hand.) I can feel my shoulders and how tight they are. And my neck, you know how the left side of my neck always freezes up after my mother does her stuff. It feels like it is stiffening. (Holding breath and squirming in her chair as she grimaces and cries.) It is like no one is there, out there!!

Breathe. Just breathe. (Susan lets out short sharp breaths.) Breathe deeper, and try to keep your eyes on me. (Therapist keeps direct eye contact and she looks back a bit more steadily but still looking away a bit, then she starts to weep and tears fall down her face). Can you see me?

Yes.

Can you see my eyes, what color are my eyes?

Brown? Yeah brown with a little lightness.

What else is your body saying now?

It is fighting to shut down but I can feel my legs a little more, and my hands, my shoulders. (Moves them around.)

(Her breath is less constrained and she is looking out of her eyes more, not inside to herself.) How is the blob right now?

More on my forehead, not all over my head. I can feel it as if it is just up here now, not all over my body as it was when I got here, just stuck there alone, like I am in a bubble and everything feels meaningless. Then I can feel like there is something at the back of my neck pulling all the muscles of my head. (She puts her hand to the back of her neck as if pulling on a scarf, and she points to the prominent creases in her neck.) It is as if all the muscles get so tight and I can't think at all, about anything. The left side of my neck gets so tight, I can feel it now, but it is different than last night, it is softer now.

What feeling would you describe that experience as, are there words for it? It's scared, but no, no, it's hurt too. A lot of hurt, and I can feel some anger. There are flashes of images moving through my mind.

(She cries as she is looking at the therapist, her breath sometimes shallow,

and then deepening. Her eyes look inside and then outside at the therapist.) What are the images?

Some have to do with that day that my dad died. Some are just colors, and then an image pops out.

seems not so scary, your breathing and eyes look less scared, the therapist said compassionately.

It isn't, it's more interesting now. I can look at it, and not just keep on fighting against the looking and pulling away.

How did it happen again? That day, when your dad died. The phone call you always remember when you get upset and pull inside like this?

The phone rang and my mom answered it. The look on her face just changed so quickly. She dropped the phone back so quickly and I said, "What happened?" She stared straight ahead and said, "Dad had a heart attack, they are taking him to the hospital." I yelled, "What, what?" But she just said "They said to wait to hear something." She just sat there staring straight ahead, we both just sat at the table for so long. Then the phone rang again. It was ringing and ringing, she wouldn't pick it up. I yelled at her to pick up the phone!! She wouldn't. Finally I picked it up and Grandpa said, "Your dad died, they couldn't save him." My mom still wouldn't take the phone! She just said "what are we going to do" over and over again. I remember that I was on the floor crying and pounding and she said, "Stop that, just stop that." She sat there at the table, just saying over and over, "What are we going to do?" but she wouldn't tak to me.

So you just shut down. But you have images in your mind today?

Now I can see the phone ringing on the counter, and me screaming at her to answer the phone, and seeing myself answer it and then nothing. I couldn't see or hear anything after that, seems like for so long. It was like after that I had to be squashed, just squashed, nothing could go out.

And nothing could come in.

(Cries heavily.) Yeah. I didn't know what to do, how to be, I just had to put my head down and read in school, but I didn't learn anything. I went to school but I just went through the motions. I was so scared all the time, and just did exactly as I was told. I studied and gave it back to them how they wanted it but didn't know what I wanted. I did everything by rote, I didn't know what I was doing, and there was no one to ask. And then that day, she didn't say anything for all that time. It just seems to get like that kind of quiet in my head and then I get all bound up and I just get all tight and fuss and keep people out, like I am squashed again in all this silence, and I won't let anyone in. Do you remember when I came to therapy and I didn't know what I wanted to do, I was just wandering. I thought I would be a teacher, or maybe a doctor, or maybe just stay at home and take care of our son.

Yes, I do, and I also remember how you would find something you really liked then suddenly leave it.

It was like I couldn't let anything just "be," I would be lost in this silence. I couldn't make any choices, and if I did make a choice when it was good I would have to just quickly leave it. But I can see now that I was just waiting, waiting for something to pass, or something to happen I don't know, I couldn't stand the feeling of waiting but the idea of moving towards something was just overwhelming.

Without your dad with you?

It must have been, I know that my feelings seemed so muted for such a long time. I couldn't feel anything a lot of the time, or I knew there was something but didn't know what. At least last night when I got in a fight with Stan, at least then I could say, wait a minute, and I told Stan that I was just going to take a walk, I would be back. I took a walk down the street, smelled the fall air, and came back, and apologized for the yelling. Stan said ok, and he even said that he had "fallen into it too."

"Today you were able to come out of the squashed place and tell me what was happening inside. And even have some images to see, not just silence. And the blob that seems to take over your thinking and feelings isn't doing that now. Your eyes are clearly looking at me. You were able to move through the feelings, even call them something, and that tightness in your muscles seems a lot less, the lines in your forehead are even less. How is that for you?"

"It is good. I do feel movement in my muscles, my breathing, as if I have some say in things and can say it, and even feel too. Breathing does help. I know I say it in my yoga classes a lot, sometimes I hear it too, even!"

The TAS-20 factor that fits Susan's symptoms is Difficulty Describing Feelings (DDF). She initially describes her emotional experience only as a sense that she "*just a blob.*" There are long periods during which she experiences severely restricted affect, interspersed with intense sudden periods of dysregulated action, which have been noted to occur in alexithymic patients. For example, Taylor, Bagby, and Parker (8) state that when such outbursts occur, if patients are asked what they feel, they are often unable to link such activity with feelings. Affect is expressed only as action. In the midst of strong feeling states, Susan can comment that agitated activity is likely related to feeling experience, but she cannot label what the feelings might be, even when there are clear antecedents that can be tied to memories of earlier events.

From a psychological perspective, her father's death and the events she remembers surrounding that event, echoed through Susan's life in many different ways. Susan describes this affective regression in clear terms: she "did everything by rote"; she used action instead of words to describe her distress; and "I would just be lost in the silence." She could not gain conscious awareness of her feelings due to this anhedonia, which was self-reinforcing. Significant anhedonia associated with alexithymia is noted by Krystal (5) as likely to result from a trauma occurring later in life and is a "regression of affect," resulting in a severe disruption of subjective experience due to the "dedifferentiation, deverbalization, and desomatization of affects" [(9), p. 1010]. Susan describes every aspect of this experientially:

dedifferentiation—she feels as if "*I am just a blob*" unable to describe individual feelings; deverbalization—"*I was just lost in the silence*"; desomatization—when asked what sensations she feels in her body she claims "*Nothing really*." Susan's Level of Emotional Awareness (15) appears to have variability functionally. She can be stuck at Level 1, where she is only aware of the tension in her body and her anhedonia, and is quiet in her group only to cry in the car, without identifying any associated feelings. At times, she also reaches Level 3 and then Level 4, expressing awareness of feeling angry, scared, and hurt, which are blends of feelings, and blends and blends of feelings.

Regarding the Three Process Model (TPM) (22, 24, 73), Susan struggles with allowing affective experience into conscious awareness (CA). She initially can only describe her experience with somatic description and she readily berates herself, "I'm in that place again, that same damn place, all wound up tight and can't feel anything." While in conversation, Susan can readily remember the events surrounding her father's death and will then describe how she experienced her mother's refusal to answer the phone and her leaving Susan to be told the news. Susan repeatedly re-enacts this event with her family and outside the group (periods of waiting silently and then behavioral disruption)-without placing her state or the actions she undertakes within the context of this event-although she ultimately does so in the safety of the individual therapy session described. This again highlights the necessity of the therapeutic relationship as an anchoring presence for patients who are in the throes of strong feelings, in order to allow feelings into awareness and pursue emotional regulation strategies (78). We will consider in the next section how important this process is for the patient, to encourage attentional shifts and allow for deepening mentalization processes to support change in the patient.

THERAPEUTIC CONSIDERATIONS

There are, of course, many psychotherapeutic treatments for the disturbances in alexithymia. My specific focus in this paper, however, has been on how comprehending of recent advances in the understanding of the neurobiological processes, when applied within the context of the therapeutic relationship, can enhance the clinician's treatment of the alexithymic patient, within any psychotherapeutic protocol. I hope that clinicians will be interested in these elements and adapt them appropriately, in accordance with their personal theoretical standpoint and psychotherapeutic treatment process.

The core of the insights from the theory presented in this paper is that the relative precision of prior beliefs or sensory evidence is vital to the accuracy of the interoceptive inference processes that are continuously unfolding in all individuals at all times. It is my contention that patients with alexithymia function with suboptimal interoceptive inference processes, because their priors (predictions/beliefs) are resistant to change. These patients' attention to their current sensations (and to use these to refine their beliefs) is hampered by their heavily entrenched, habitual interoceptive inference processes. There are distinct reasons for this, unique to each individual and developing from infancy onward.

While we may not be privy to the direct causes of our patients' suboptimal predictions that are so resistant to change, there are entry points available within the therapeutic relationship that can help the patient to increase their sampling of the evidence currently available to their senses, and thus improve their inference processes, and increase their emotional awareness. One important purpose in this paper is to propose that improving the flexibility of patients' attentional control is a key entry point.

Attention can be regarded as a volitional "direction of consciousness" (79, 80). For our purposes, we start with the premise that the Bayesian brain is attempting to "optimize the evidence for its model of the world" [(81), p. 16]. Within this framework, attention is activity that infers the precision of the sensory input relative to the predicted state of the world (i.e. to the prior belief). Feldman and Friston (81) also note that attention highlights information from a certain source and that this will increase the precision of that sensory information relative to the top-down prior. To this end, directed attention to sensation vs prior belief will affect the weight of prediction errors as they move up the hierarchy, thus affecting the precision of that stream of sensory stimuli relative to the prior prediction (81).⁶

Patients' models of the world rest on the relative precision that their prior beliefs have relative to the precision of incoming sensation. As described above, in alexithymia, there are various ways in which the precision of over-learned priors may gain excessive strength throughout development, which is later expressed in adulthood. Linson et al. (82), for example, describe instances in which an "over-fitting" of sensations occurs, with over-weighted (over-precise) interoceptive sensory experience driving the predicted state, such as in somatic preoccupation (as for Jill, in case study #1). By contrast, in states dominated by precise predictions that stem from prior trauma, there is likely an "under-fitting" of sensory information relative to the prediction (70), with a lack of sensory sampling resulting in low precision of sensory information and a predicted state that is highly uncoupled from the actual environment [as for Susan, in case study #3 (Box 3)]. Within each of these examples, it is the flexible application of attention between interoceptive and exteroceptive signals and between the sensory information and the patient's habitual priors that can generate changes in precision and allow updating. This flexibility is a skill vital to develop in patients, supporting active changes in the generative models of interoceptive inference, and allowing emotional experience to reach awareness. Important aspects of the therapeutic relationship are essential to provide a much needed, felt sense of safety in our patients, in order to allow this flexible deployment of attention. We will now consider application of these ideas and principles utilizing the case studies described above.

Addressing Jill's (case #1) symptomatic presentation from a predictive processing perspective, her persistent attention to bodily sensations (as well as her interpretation of them) reinforces the precision (the salience) of a high level prior for illness. It also diminishes Jill's ability to infer and identify feeling states (79, 81). Her attention being largely directed toward priors that are illness-related beliefs has the effect of increasing the precision of these priors, thereby further magnifying Jill's attention to her body (that she expects to exhibit symptoms of illness). An initially weak (imprecise) interoceptive signal indicating any kind of illness in her body will therefore become more precise (by the attention she focuses on it), thereby increasing the salience (precision) of the original prior prediction for illness. This results in a "self-perpetuating cycle" (83), where worrying about potential illnesses increases the precision of the associated prior and thus the person's belief that they have an illness becomes stronger. Van den Bergh et al. (83), propose that "symptoms are experienced when the generative model with the lowest overall prediction error represents an interoceptive event with an abnormal (typically disease) cause" [(83), p. 194]. Conversely, interoceptive signals that may simply signify affect are ignored, or are misinterpreted as sickness. In Jill's case, even with negative objective test results, somatic sensations are insistently expressed as a subjective belief that she is still probably sick.

Meditative practices could support Jill's efforts at de-centering from her bodily experience. They promote a "disciplined attention" (84), increasing compassionate and non-judgmental approach to bodily sensation that can support stability in the homeostatic range of the individual. This could be important for Jill, who experiences any change in physiological sensation as threatening. Meditation enhances an individual's ability to manage such processes, thereby decreasing the expected position (the prior) that they are powerless to control the efforts of their mind or, at a more direct level, their thinking (as Jill insisted at first). Such changes in modulation of interceptive information, and subsequently in self-experience, can also affect the compassion and regard the individual holds for themselves and that they are able to accept from othersimportant features of change (85). Jill could eventually speak more kindly about her sadness, regarding the experiences she had missed while preoccupied with her bodily experience, expressing an increased level of emotional awareness.

The purposeful direction of attention (with relational support) to physical sensation described in Susan's case (case #3) supports epistemic foraging. The purposeful shifting of her attention from exteroceptive to interoceptive sensation greatly increases the flow of sensory information, allowing her to use more personally relevant and descriptive language regarding her somatic experience. There is increased conscious access to old priors that she is reacting to, with expressed insight into those priors, and increasing levels of emotional awareness. As Smith (24) asserts, this attentional process promotes a reappraisal of her situation (such as is intended in therapies such as Cognitive

⁶ Such activity as described here actually occurs within the brain through changing levels of cellular activity, with individual cells and networks of the brain activated or inhibited.

Behavioral Therapy), which affords Susan the opportunity to explore new priors or alternative explanations for these (now attended) bodily sensations, producing "*a different and more adaptive affective response*" [(24), p. 45]. Furthermore, this could lead to such old memories (or habitual priors) becoming linked predictively with the new and healthier affective responses, altogether changing how they are stored and recalled (24, 29, 45).

The focus on the interoceptive sensation of breathing, and compassionate body interest promoted by her yoga practice, invokes a new experience of self-care for Susan. It alters the old prior, established with her mother, that there is no available care for her, which stimulates her to dismiss all interoceptive sensations. She reports that yoga has been a meaningful place for her to gain a sense of agency, expressed as her purposeful breath focus, which reminds her that she has "some say in things." She describes using such self-calming practices at home, albeit sometimes after she has been too reactive to her prior beliefs regarding others, such as her husband. This increase in agency is accompanied by increasing emotional awareness, with blends of feelings being verbalized. As this shift in bodily experience allows a loosening of the hold that the generative model of an absent mother has on her physical reactions, Susan can now also describe a generalization of such change in cognitions.

The effect of highly precise priors on cognitive style and bodily state are evidenced in Anna's presentation [clinical case #2 (**Box 2**)]. Her strong prior for interpreting most interactions as involving her mother's exhortations (the strongly prohibitive *"who do you think you are?"*) limits any attention to interoceptive sensation, keeping her attentional focus on the external, which greatly limits awareness of her emotional state and that of others. Her limited seeking of new experiences, of any kind that might instigate emotional response, does not allow for the mentalization of affect, leaving her only with the sense that life is *"not good, not bad,"* or with the vague descriptor *"meh,"* with which to express her feeling state.

Nevertheless, as Anna responds to the invitation to loudly express the prohibition that she constantly experiences, the attention this affords to her bodily sensations increases the precision of these sensations relative to the precision of the habitual prior. As a result, alternative priors that she would not previously have entertained, can now "get a hearing," for example, that it is safe for her to actively move and express herself loudly, without the expected rejection. Having alternative priors to select between induces conscious awareness and enables interoception to be mentalized; thereby providing therapeutic access (51). Anna's group members support her expression of her own power. They are encouraging as they describe meaningful changes in her physical presentation and emotional availability, thus further increasing attention to (i.e. the precision of) this new conscious prior, while challenging her habitual reactions as no longer fitting. As prediction errors are resolved between this new high level prior for safety, which now matches the low level sensory data in the present moment, Anna steadily calms down and even smiles. She concludes with an increase in emotional

awareness, elevating her experienced sense of feelings from "meh" to "meh, plus, plus," and that is pleasing to her.

Importantly, as the therapist endeavors to help the patient direct attention to current experience, in order to affect change in habitual priors that are overly precise, increasing uncertainty is generated. This therapeutic activity therefore requires vital experiential anchoring over time, actively promoted within the therapeutic relationship. This is provided by readily available aspects in the relationship-such as the authentic and genuine qualities of the therapist, which can be described as elements of the "real relationship" (78). Morgan et al. (86) notes that the interactional elements based in the real relationship, available to the patient, increases their experienced sense of safety. Thus, the real relationship allows "a space for departure from past experiences with other people" [(86), p. 327]. For the alexithymic patient, a therapist's honest expression of curiosity, emotional availability, and reflective stance are powerful resources with which to change overlearned suboptimal priors. The therapist's use of emotionally-valenced language also increases the patient's lexicon for such language. The real presence of the therapist is fundamental to patients' efforts to effect change in their process of living, with themselves and others, regardless of which element is disturbed in the initiation of an emotional episode (or in awareness of emotional experience), or what habitual reaction stifles emotional expression.

CONCLUSION

The disturbance in emotional awareness in alexithymia can be described in many ways. Ongoing research is throwing light on the processes that underpin this disruption and likely means to remediate the difficulties of alexithymic patients. In this article I have described how our patients' unique presentations of alexithymia, and their limitations in emotional expression and awareness, are the result of the hierarchical interoceptive inference processes, by which the brain actively attempts to discern the cause of incoming sensory stimuli. In alexithymia, this process takes place under the ongoing influence of: strongly held suboptimal prior beliefs; dysfunctional attentional control; and diminished ability to seek alternative evidence (known as epistemic foraging). In the light of recent innovations in neuroscientific theory and its application to psychotherapy, I have argued in this article for the vital importance of enhancing our alexithymic patients' ability to flexibly switch their attention between: their incoming interoceptive sensations; exteroceptive sensory signals from the world, in the current moment (i.e. the context); and their own habitual and deeply held prior beliefs about the causes or meanings of sensations. Among other therapeutic benefits, the patient will exhibit increased emotional awareness, affective expression, and mentalization, and improve their relational experiences on many levels. I hope that this characterization, and the recommendations that follow from it, will be of values to therapists of all persuasions, in their attempts to alleviate the difficulties that bring such patients to us.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets for this manuscript are not publicly available because: The information was attained in psychotherapy sessions that are confidential. The author received express written consent from each individual(s) regarding the clinical material that is disguised as to the individual's identity.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical approval was not provided for this study on human participants because the paper involves case studies of patients in private treatment. Written, informed consent was gained from

REFERENCES

- Sifneos P. The prevalance of "alexithymic" characteristics in psychosomatic patients. Psychother Psychosom. (1973) 22(2):255–62. doi: 10.1159/000286529
- Sifneos P. Alexithymia: past and present. Am J Psychiatry (1996) 153(7 Suppl), 137–42. doi: 10.1176/ajp.153.7.137
- 3. Damasio A. (1999). The Feeling of What Happens: Body and Emotion in the Making of Consciousness New York, NY: Harcourt.
- Marty P, de M'Usan M. La pensee operatoire. Rev Fr. Psychoanal. (1963) 27:345-56.
- Krystal H. Integration & Self-Healing: Affect, Trauma, Alexithymia. Hillsdale, New Jersey: Analytic Press; (1988).
- Nemiah J, Freyberger H, Sifneos P. Alexithymia: A view of the psychosomatic process. In: Hill OW, editor. *Modern Trends in Medicine*, vol. 3 . London: Butterworth; (1976). p. 430–9.
- Taylor GJ. The alexithymia construct" conceptualization, validation, and relationship with basic dimensions of personality. *New Trends Exp Clin Psychiatry* (1994) 10:61–74.
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Parker DA. Disorders of Affect Regulation. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press; (1997).
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM, Parker JDA. What's in the name 'alexithymia'? A commentary on "Affective agnosia: Expansion of the alexithymia construct and a new opportunity to integrate and extend Freud's legacy". *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2016) 1;68:1006–20. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.05.025
- Primmer J. Understanding the Dimensional Nature of Alexithymia. Jour. Conscious St. (2014) 20(9–10):111–31.
- Van der Velde J, Van Tol MJ, Goerlich-Dobre KS, Gromann PM, Swart M, De Haan L, et al. Dissociable morphometric profiles of the affective and cognitive dimensions of alexithymia. *Cortex* (2014) 54(1):190–9. doi: 10.1016/ j.cortex.2014.02.017
- Parker J, Keefer K, Taylor GJ, Bagby M. Latent structure of the alexithymia construct: A taxometric investigation.: EBSCOhost. *Psychol Assess* (2008) 12 (4):385–96. doi: 10.1037/a0014262
- Goerlich KS. The multifaceted nature of alexithymia A neuroscientific perspective. Front Psychol (2018) 9:1–7. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01614
- Davey S, Halberstadt J, Bell E, Collings S. A scoping review of suicidality and alexithymia: The need to consider interoception. J Affect Disord (2018) 238:424–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.06.027
- Lane RD, Schwartz G. Levels of emotional awareness: A cognitivedevelopmental theory and its application to psychopathology. *Am J Psychiatry* (1987) 144:133–43. doi: 10.1176/ajp.144.2.133
- Lumley MA, Gustavson BJ, Partridge RT, Labouvie-Vief G. Assessing alexithymia and related emotional ability constructs using multiple methods: Interrelationships among measures. *Emotion* (2005) 5(3):329–42. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.5.3.329
- Maroti D, Lilliengren P, Bileviciute-Ljungar I. The relationship between alexithymia and emotional awareness: A meta-analytic review of the correlation between TAS-20 and LEAS. *Front Psychol* (2018) 9:1–10. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00453

each patient, and all identifiable material was changed to protect their identity.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PD contributed solely to this work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

PD wishes to thank Dr. Vivien Ainley for her insightful help editing the manuscript.

- Lane RD, Weihs KL, Herring A, Hishaw A, Smith R. Affective agnosia: Expansion of the alexithymia construct and a new opportunity to integrate and extend Freud's legacy. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2015) 55:594–611. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.06.007
- Subic-Wrana C, Beutel ME, Garfield DAS, Lane RD. Levels of emotional awareness: A model for conceptualizing and measuring emotion-centered structural change. *Int J Psychoanal.* (2011) 92(2):289–310. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-8315.2011.00392.x
- Chhatwal J, Lane RD. A cognitive-developmental model of emotional awareness and its application to the practice of psychotherapy. *Psychodyn. Psychiatry* (2016) 44(2):305–25. doi: 10.1521/pdps.2016.44.2.305
- Smith R, Lane RD. The neural basis of one's own conscious and unconscious emotional states. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2015) 57:1–29. doi: 10.1016/ j.neubiorev.2015.08.003
- Smith R, Killgore WDS, Lane RD. The structure of emotional experience and its relation to trait emotional awareness: A theoretical review. *Emotion* (2018) 18(5):670–92. doi: 10.1037/emo0000376
- Smith R, Thayer JF, Khalsa SS, Lane RD. The hierarchical basis of neurovisceral integration. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2017) 75:274–96. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.02.003
- Smith R. The Three-Process Model of Implicit and Explicit Emotion. *Neurosci Enduring Change* (2020) 89(3):25–55. doi: 10.1093/oso/9780190881511. 003.0003
- Lumley MA, Neely LC, Burger AJ. The assessment of alexithymia in medical settings: Implications for understanding and treating health problems. J Pers Assess. (2007) 89(3):230–46. doi: 10.1080/00223890701629698
- McDougall J. Alexithymia, psychosomatosis, and psychosis. Internat. J Psycho-Anal. (1982) 9:377–88.
- 27. Jurist EL. Mentalized affectivity. *Psychoanalyt. Psychol* (2005) 22(3):426–44. doi: 10.1037/0736-9735.22.3.426
- Taylor GJ, Bagby RM. Psychoanalysis and Empirical Research: The Example of Alexithymia. J Am Psychoanal. Assoc (2013) 61(1):99–133. doi: 10.1177/ 0003065112474066
- Smith R, Lane RD, Parr T, Friston KJ. Neurocomputational mechanisms underlying emotional awareness: insights afforded by deep active inference and their potential clinical relevance. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2019) 107:473– 91. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2019.09.002
- Smith R, Kaszniak AW, Katsanis J, Lane RD, Nielsen L. The importance of identifying underlying process abnormalities in alexithymia: Implications of the three-process model and a single case study illustration. *Conscious Cogn.* (2019) 68:33–46. doi: 10.1016/j.concog.2018.12.004
- Smith R, Killgore WDS, Lane RD. The structure of emotional experience and its relation to trait emotional awareness: A theoretical review. *Emotion* (2018) 18(5):670–92. doi: 10.1037/emo0000376
- Craig AD(Bud). How do you feel? An interoceptive moment with your biological self. Princeton, New Jersy: Princeton University Press; (2015).
- Khalsa S, Adolphs R, Cameron O, Critchley H, Davenport PWPW, Feinstein JS, et al. Interoception and Mental Health: A Roadmap. *Biol Psychiatry Cognit Neurosci Neuroimaging* (2018) 3(6):496–98. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2018.04.007

- Craig AD. How do you feel now? The anterior insula and human awareness. Nat Rev Neurosci (2009) 10:59–70. doi: 10.1038/nrn2555
- Critchley HD, Wiens S, Rotshtein P, Öhman A, Dolan RJ. Neural systems supporting interoceptive awareness. *Nat Neurosci* (2004) 7(2):189–95. doi: 10.1038/nn1176
- Medford N, Critchley HD. Conjoint activity of anterior insular and anterior cingulate cortex: awareness and response. *Brain Structure Funct* (2010) 214:535–49. doi: 10.1007/s00429-010-0265-x
- Oosterwijk S, Touroutoglou A, Lindquist K. The neuroscience of construction: What neuroimaging approaches can tell us about how the brain creates the mind. In: . *The Psychological Construction of Emotion*. New York, NY: The Guilford Press; (2015). p. 111–43.
- 38. Northoff G. Neuro-Philosophy and the Healthy Mind: Learning from the Unwell Brain. 1st Edn. New York, NY: Norton; (2016).
- Singh KD, Fawcett IP. Transient and linearly graded deactivation of the human default-mode network by a visual detection task. *Neuroimage* (2008) 41(1):100–12. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.01.051
- Liemburg EJ, Swart M, Bruggeman R, Kortekaas R, Knegtering H, Ćurčić-Blake B, et al. Altered resting state connectivity of the default mode network in alexithymia. *Soc Cognit Affect Neurosci* (2012) 7(6):660–6. doi: 10.1093/scan/nss048
- Lane RD, Reiman EM, Axelrod B, Yun LS, Holmes A, Schwartz GE. Neural correlates of levels of emotional awareness: Evidence of an interaction between emotion and attention in the anterior cingulate cortex. J Cognit Neurosci (1998) 10(4):525–35. doi: 10.1162/089892998562924
- Paulus MP, Stein MB. An insular view of anxiety. *Biol Psychiatry* (2006) 60 (4):383–87. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.03.042
- Harrison NA, Gray MA, Gianaros PJ, Critchley HD. The embodiment of emotional feelings in the brain. J Neurosci (2010) 30(38):12878–84. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1725-10.2010
- Gu X, Hof PR, Friston KJ, Fan J. Anterior insular cortex and emotional awareness. J Comp Neurol (2013) 521(15):3371–88. doi: 10.1002/cne.23368
- Smith R, Parr T, Friston KJ. Simulating emotions: an active inference model of emotional state inference and emotion concept learning. *Front Psychol* (2019) 10:2844. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02844
- 46. Cannon W. The Wisdom of the Body. New York, NY: Norton; (1932).
- Sterling P. Homeostasis vs allostasis: implications for brain function and mental disorders. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2014) 71:1192–3. doi: 10.1001/ jamapsychiatry.2014.1043
- Sterling P. Allostasis: A model of predictive regulation. *Physiol Behav* (2012) 106(1):5–15. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.06.004
- Barrett LF, Quigley KS, Hamilton P. An active inference theory of allostasis and interoception in depression. *Philos Trans R. Soc B. Biol Sci* (2016) 371 (1708):20160011. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0011
- Stephan KE, Manjaly ZM, Mathys CD, Weber LAE, Paliwal S, Gard T, et al. Allostatic self-efficacy: A metacognitive theory of dyshomeostasis-induced fatigue and depression. *Front Hum Neurosci* (2016) 10:550. doi: 10.3389/ fnhum.2016.00550
- Duquette P, Ainley V. Working With the Predictable Life of Patients: The Importance of "Mentalizing Interoception" to Meaningful Change in Psychotherapy. Front Psychol (2019) 10:2173. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02173
- Strigo IA, Bud Craig AD. Interoception, homeostatic emotions and sympathovagal balance. *Philos Trans R Soc B. Biol Sci* (2016) 371:20160010. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0010
- Critchley HD, Garfinkel SN. Interoception and emotion. Curr Opin Psychol (2017) 17:7–14. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.04.020
- Murphy J, Brewer R, Catmur C, Bird G. Interoception and psychopathology: A developmental neuroscience perspective. *Dev Cogn Neurosci* (2017) 23:45– 56. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2016.12.006
- Pollatos O, Schubö A, Herbert BM, Matthias E, Schandry R. Deficits in early emotional reactivity in alexithymia. *Psychophysiology* (2008) 45(5):839–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2008.00674.x
- Vorst H, Bermond B. Validity and reliability of the Bermond-Vorst Alexithymia Questionnaire. *Pers Individ. Dif.* (2001) 30(3):413–34. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00033-7
- Smith R, Weihs KL, Alkozei A, Killgore WDS, Lane RD. An Embodied Neurocomputational Framework for Organically Integrating Biopsychosocial Processes: An Application to the Role of Social Support in Health and Disease. *Psychosom. Med* (2019) 81(2):125–45. doi: 10.1097/PSY.000000000000661

- Friston KJ, Stephan KE, Montague R, Dolan RJ, Friston KJ, Stephan KE, et al. Computational psychiatry: the brain as a phantastic organ. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2014) 1(2):148–58. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(14)70275-5
- Petzschner FH, Weber LAE, Gard T SK. NComputational psychosomatics Differential, and computational psychiatry: toward a joint framework for differential diagnosis. *Biol Psychiatry* (2017) 82:421–30. doi: 10.1016/ j.biopsych.2017.05.012
- Clark A. Whatever next? Predictive brains, situated agents, and the future of cognitive science. *Behav Brain Sci* (2013) 36(3):181–204. doi: 10.1017/ S0140525X12000477
- Friston K. Life as we know it. J R. Soc Interface (2013) 10(86):20130475. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2013.0475
- Hohwy J. The Predictive Mind. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; (2013).
- 63. Frith C. Making up the Mind: How the brain creates our mental world. Hoboken, New Jersey: Wiley and Sons; (2007).
- Friston K. The free-energy principle: A unified brain theory? Nat Rev Neurosci (2010) 11:127–38. doi: 10.1038/nrn2787
- Parr T, Friston KJ. Generalised free energy and active inference. *Biol Cybern*. (2019) 5(1):1–15. doi: 10.1093/nc/niz012
- 66. Seth AK, Friston KJ. Active interoceptive inference and the emotional brain. *Philos Trans R Soc B.: Biol Sci* (2016) 371:20160007. doi: 10.1098/ rstb.2016.0007
- Barrett LF, Simmons WK. Interoceptive predictions in the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci (2015) 16:419–29. doi: 10.1038/nrn3950
- Seth AK. Interoceptive inference, emotion, and the embodied self. Trends Cogn Sci (2013) 17:565–73. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2013.09.007
- Quadt L, Critchley HD, Garfinkel S. The neurobiology of interoception in health and disease. Ann NY Acad Sci (2018) 1428:1120126. doi: 10.1111/ nyas.13915
- Linson A, Friston K. Reframing PTSD for computational psychiatry with the active inference framework. *Cognit Neuropsychiat*. (2019) 24(5):347–68. doi: 10.1080/13546805.2019.1665994
- Allen M, Tsakiris M. The body as first prior : Interoceptive predictive processing and the primacy of self- models. In: Tsakiris M, De Preester H, editor. *The interoceptive mind*. Oxford, United Kingdom: Oxford University Press (2019). p. 27–45.
- Fotopoulou A, Tsakiris M. Mentalizing homeostasis: The social origins of interoceptive inference, *Neuropsychoanalysis* (2017) 19(1):3–28. doi: 10.1080/ 15294145.2017.1294031
- 73. Nemiah JC. The varieties of human experience. Br J Psychiatry (1989) 154:459–66. doi: 10.1192/bjp.154.4.459
- McDougall J. Primitive communications and the use of countertransference. Contemp. Psychoanal. (1978) 14:173–209. doi: 10.1080/00107530. 1978.10745534
- Luyten P, Van Houdenhove B, Lemma A, Target M, Fonagy P. Vulnerability for functional somatic disorders: A contemporary psychodynamic approach. J Psychother Integr (2013) 23(3):250–62. doi: 10.1037/a0032360
- 76. Fonagy P, Gergely G, Jurist EL, Target M. Affect Regulation, Mentalization, and the Development of the Self. New York, NY: Other Press (2002).
- 77. Ogden T. On potential space. Internat. J Psycho-Anal. (1985) 66:129-41.
- Duquette P. Reality matters: Attachment, the real relationship, and change in psychotherapy. Am J Psychother (2010) 64(2):127–51. doi: 10.1176/ appi.psychotherapy.2010.64.2.127
- Edwards MJ, Adams RA, Brown H, Parees I, Friston KJ. A Bayesian account of "hysteria". Brain (2012) 135(11):3495–512. Available from: https://academic. oup.com/brain/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/brain/aws129.
- 80. James W. The Principles of Psychology. New York, NY: Henry Holt (1890).
- Feldman H, Friston KJ. Attention, Uncertainty, and Free-Energy. Front Hum Neurosci (2010) 4:215. Available from: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/ 10.3389/fnhum.2010.00215/abstract
- Linson A, Parr T, Friston KJ. Active inference, stressors, and psychological trauma: A neuroethological model of (mal)adaptive explore-exploit dynamics in ecological context. *Behav Brain Res* (2020) 380:112421. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbr.2019.112421
- Van den Bergh O, Witthöft M, Petersen S, Brown RJ. Symptoms and the body: Taking the inferential leap. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2017) 74:185–203. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.01.015

- Lutz A, Mattout J, Pagnoni G. The epistemic and pragmatic value of nonaction: a predictive coding perspective on meditation. *Curr Opin Psychol* (2019) 28:166–71. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2018.12.019
- Farb N, Daubenmier J, Price CJ, Gard T, Kerr C, Dunn BD, et al. Interoception, contemplative practice, and health. *Front Psychol* (2015) 6 (763):1–26. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00763
- Morgan AC, Bruschweiler-Stern N, Harrison AM, Lyons-Ruth K, Nahum JP, Sander L, et al. Moving along to things left undone. *Infant Ment Health J* (1998) 19(3):324–32. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0355(199823)19:3<324::AID-IMHJ9>3.0.CO;2-L

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Duquette. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

